
ACV DL 43  Michael Frossard clericus et burgensis Melduni juratus 

ballivie Vuaudi et castellaniarus eiusdem, 1496-1533, FHL 

Microfilms #0922331, 0922332, 0922353, and 0922354. 
 

Abstracts prepared by John W. McCoy (RealMac@aol.com) © 2025. 

 

The records of this notary have been digitized on www.familysearch.org:   Image Groups 

009165369, 009165370, 009165391, and 009165392 

 

The extensive output of the notary Michael Frossard is one of two very important sources for 

genealogy for Moudon in the 16th Century, the other being that of Rod, Rodolphus, or Roulx 

Demont.  Six registers or minutaires survive for Michael Frossard, as well as a seventh, artificial 

register consisting of miscellaneous transactions signed by Frossard, copies of documents 

recorded by other notaries, and some signed by other notaries, described by the ACV as “actes 

judiciaires de la cour”.  The script is often very rapid and uneven, but mostly legible unless the 

ink has faded or the paper has been damaged.  However, some pages are very messy, especially 

after about 1525, and likewise most of the court records.  Some of the registers may have been 

assembled from smaller ones, and there are some irregularities in the numbering and sequence of 

the folios. 

 

 
 

DL 43/1: (Image group 009165369, image 6) 

 

1 Registrum mis Michaelis Frossard clerici et burgensis Melduni juratum ballivie Vaudi et 

castellanarium eiusdem.  Introductory material, biblical and other religious quotations. 

 

2 Heading at the top of the page:  “Existentis ballive Vaudi Nobili Johanni d’Estaviaco 

domino de Bussy et condomino de Mexieres”. 

 

2 13 jan 1496, Margarita filia quondam Glaudii Blan de Brenles sciens, has received from 

Anthonius Aymonod de Brenles, a bridal dress, with signature and paraphe of Michael Frossard.  

Essentially every item in this register is signed this way. 

 

2 24 dec 1496, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens owes Nicodus de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum 4 florins for purchase of a ½ share of a brown horse.  In the script of this scribe, the 

distinction between the ligatures st and sc is often possible; a small upward-facing loop 

connecting the s and t can be distinguished, but no such loop for the combination sc. 

 

2v 27 dec 1496, Dispute, Vuilliermus Rubat et Petrus Gasconel, referring to an instrument 

recorded by Johannes Saloz, 20 dec 1496. 
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2v 12 mar 1497, Guilliermus Blan de Brenles owes Nycodo de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum ex causa finalis computi, 18 sols. 

 

3 (same date ?), Claudius Cugiez burgensis Melduni owes predictus Nycodus de Tecto 12 

sols 6 deniers ex causa justi mutui. 

 

3 12 mar 1497, Jacobus de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens has recevied from Johannes Blan 

de Brenles full payment of all that Blan owes him. 

 

3 06 apr 1497, Johannes Demont burgensis Melduni et sutor parte ex una, et Johannes 

Genti de Villanova partibus altera, loan. 

 

3v 19 may 1697, Glaudius de Sarsens sells to Stephanus Baddo de Cremyn, a woodlot. 

 

3v 15 dec 1497, Marriage:  Franciscus filius quondam Jaquetus de Canali de Ursy, and 

Jacobus et Guilliermus Monachi burgenses Rote acting for their sister Guillierma. 

 

5 Die festi Sancti Galli 1497, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens owes Jacobus Rubat 26 sols in 

exchange for a horse. 

 

5 18 feb 1497, Providus vir Boniffacius Briderii clericus et burgensis Meldun, quod cum 

Johannes Grivat et Philippus Pini burgenses Melduni tradiderint Petro Bralliard circa animalia 

tam bovina quam equina, now Petrus returns the animals to Briderii. 

 

5v 08 feb 1497, Michael Guex habitans ou Plan owes Boniffacius Briderii 40 florins for 

livestock. 

 

5v 31 mar 1497, Franciscus Meystre de Corevont sells to Providus vir Johannes Mistralis de 

Tierrens, with reachept. 

 

6 (same date), further transactions for Franciscus Meystre. 

 

6 09 apr 1498, Vuilliermus Rubat de Mollens has received from Petrus Rubat 6 florins in 

deduction from a greater sum that is owed. 

 

6 16 aug 1498, Johannes Ganti et Johannes Demont, provisions concerning the previous 

debt. 

 

6 28 aug 1498, Glaudius Cugie and his wife Marguereta sell to Johannes Plaignyt ? 

burgensis Melduni. 

 

6v 22 sep 1498, Vuilliermus Rubat de Mollens has received from Petrus Rubat 58 sols in 

deduction from a larger sum owed. 

 

6v 09 oct 1498, Roletus Gremoz de Vuarmarens sells to Vuilliermus Rubat, with further 

transactions for the same parties. 



7 02 dec 1498, Loysa filia quondam Petri Rolaz parrochie de Promassens, with her brother 

Jacobus Rolaz, quitclaim to Petrus et Anthonius de Curia fratres super omnibus hiis in quibus 

sibi teneri possent. 

 

7v 02 dec 1498, Petrus et Anthonius de Curia alias Guin ? (written gu͞ı, but in at least one 

other record apparently Quin) clerici et burgensis Melduni recognize a debt to Loysa Rolaz, 

relating to her prospective dowry when the time comes for her first marriage. 

 

7v 11 dec 1498, Securities are named for the debt owed to Johannes Mistralis de Tierrens. 

 

8 Die festi Sancti Anthonii Confessoris 1498, quod cum Petrus Rubat de Mollens 

procuraverit et se fecisse cessare ab omnibus actu…, concerns Franciscus Marmo mistral de 

Mollens. 

 

8 Die Jovis post supradictum festum, dispute, Vuilliermus Rubat and Petrus Rubat his 

brother. 

 

9 Die Lune post octabas festi Sancti Petri in Cathedra 1499, dispute, Nobilis Jacobus 

Vallacrest domicellus Melduni and Petrus Romey et Johannes Rey de Forel, very messy script, 

uncertain. 

 

9v 02 may 1499, dispute:  Petrus Cusaugie ? do Chaganye ? et Franciscus Bevoujat ? 

burgensis Melduni. 

 

9v 12 may 1499, Dominus Johannes Bollion cappellanus Melduni sells to Williermus et 

Franciscus Grivet fratres de Cultilliis. 

 

10  18 may 1499, Agnes relicta quondam Guilliermi Blan de Brenles tanquam tutrix et 

gobernatrix Michaelis et Rodulphi their children ex una parte, et Anthonius Lombard filius 

Girardus Lombard de Cabanis subtus Rotam parte ex altera, 9 year lease on property etc. 

 

11v 02 aug 1499, Johannes Novilliez ? de Melduno, quod cum ipse intendat ire ad guerram, 

testament, naming as his heir Petrus Vuaniere alias de Tolles. 

 

12 Marginal notation:  Die Veneris ante festum Nativitatis Beate Marie Virginis, que fuit 06 

sep 1499, at noon, birth of Janna, daughter of the notary and his wife Maria, baptised in ecclesia 

Beate Marie Virginis de Melduno superius, baptismal date not given, but possibly the same date.  

The church was at the top of the hill among the châteaux of the nobles, separate from the church 

of St. Stephen in the main part of the city. 

 

12 03 aug 1499, Dominus Johannes Vaulereti cappellanus de Lucens, donation to be made 

upon his death to the charitable hospital of Lucens, unum cultile situm in territorio de Lucens. 

 

12 13 dec 1499, Dispute, Gabriel Limat de Bressonaz, and Petrus Rolaz filius quondam 

Francisci Rolaz alias Milliard. 

 



12v 03 jan 1499, Providus vir Glaudius de Curia clericus et burgensis Melduni sold property 

to Dominus Petrus Jugi ? cappellanus Melduni, a secured loan, with further proceedings. 

 

13v 26 jan 1499, Marriage:  Franciscus filius quondam Providi viri Lamberti Bectez de 

Combremondo Parvo, et Jaquetus Munerat de Novilliez nomine Glaudie filie sue dicti Jaqueti.  

 

14 10 feb 1499, Jacobus Monachy clericus et burgensis Melduni leased to Hugoninus 

Briderii for a term of 9 years. 

 

14 10 feb 1499 (die et anno quibus proxime supra), Jacobus Monachy leased to Pantheleo de 

Berthon for 9 years. 

 

14v 10 feb 1499, Jacobus Monachi leased to Ludovicus Paschit burgensis Melduni for 9 

years. 

 

14v 13 feb 1499, Marriage:  Jacobus Morel de Escublens nomine et pro parte Nycodi eius 

filii, and Anthonius Chappuys de Rospra nomine et pro parte Amedee filie quondam Nycodi 

Chappuys de Rospra sororis sue dicti Anthonii. 

 

15v Amedea filia quondam Nycodi Chappuys, quitclaim for her inheritance from her parents, 

to Anthonius and Johannes her brothers in return for her dowry. 

 

16 03 mar 1499, Nobilis Johannes de Villarzel filius quondam Nobilis viri Boniffacii de 

Villarzel domicelli de Lucens, Jacobus de Sarsens, Johannes de Sarsens, Vuilliermus Frossard de 

Sarsens, acting for the commune of Sarsens, pasturage, many separate items described. 

 

19 17 mar 1499, Jaqueminus de Luchit grangerius Glaudie uxoris Anthonii Jayet burgensis 

Melduni, owes Johannes Berthod de Porsel junior. 

 

19 17 mar 1499, Anthonia filia quondam Jaqueti Guillierit burgensis Rote relicta quondam 

Providi viri Johannis Monachi clerici et burgensis Rote, testament, many bequests and 

provisions, universal heirs her sons Ludovicus cappellanus, Jacobus notarius, and Guilliermus. 

 

22 27 feb 1499, and die Mercuri post Dominicam de Occuli 1499, Dispute and settlement, 

Guilliermus Ensis (=Espaz) domicellus et burgensis Melduni actor et petens ex una, et Glaudius 

Cavin et Jacobus Cavin de Vuicherens ex alia partibus, regarding liability for a cense that had 

been recognized by the late Jaquetus Male, ut constabat de dicta recognitione manu quondam 

Anthonii Guilliez et ex commissione levata per Magistrum Johannem Crespy burgensem et 

clericum Melduni, recounting a long process of arbitration.  The result was that the Cavin 

brothers could pay off the obligation for a price of 18 livres, and if they did not, they would owe 

the annual cense.  Followed by an acknowledgement of expenses payable to the arbiters by the 

Cavin brothers, die Mercuri post Dominicam de Occuli 1499. 

 

24v (no date, only the first page of this transaction remains), Nobilis Jacobus de Prez 

domicellus tutor et gubernator Rodulphi filii quondam Guilliermi Blan et Agnetis eius uxoris de 



Brenles, lease of the tenement of the late Guilliermus Blan to Anthonius Lombard for the term of 

9 years, for the benefit of the said Rodulphus. 

 

 

DL 43/2: (Image group 009165369, image 31) 

 

Cover:  Primum registrum Michaelis Frossarda extraordinem, 1506-1512.  

 

(Folio numbers have been added much later, apparently in pencil.  The ink has faded 

significantly, and there is some damage to the edges of the pages, likely from mice.  However, 

the register is to some extent artificial, as the second leaf is in fact a separate, isolated document 

oriented at right angles that had been unfolded for insertion here.) 

 

1 02 nov 1506 Style of the Nativity, Indiction 9, Quod cum Nobilis Mya relicta Nobilis 

Johannis Monachi civis Gebennis et Nobilis Johannes Monachi eorundem conjugum filius de 

auctoritate Meye eius matris tunc presentis tam conjuncti quam divisim quilibet per se 

principaliter et insolidum, established a dowry for Guicharda (who is not present), daughter of 

Mya and her husband, for the use of Petrus de Curia de Lustriaco, husband of Guicharda.  Actum 

Melduni in carreria publica supra pontem Melduni ante domum honesti Francisci Destriez 

burgensis Melduni, presentibus ibidem Jacobo Mongneir ? , Petro Porchet, et Petrimando 

Creaturas testibus ad premissa vocatis et specialiter regatis, with signature and paraphe of 

Michael Frossard.  A marginal insertion notes that this Petrus de Curia is the brother of Nobilis 

Anthonius de Curia.  Also, the text names Anthonius and Bernardus de Curia, burgenses 

Melduni, as securities for the dowry.  The leaf or folio numbered 2 is a personal letter from 

Pierre de la Cort (i.e., de Curia), in French, but poorly legible, from Lausanne, in the month of 

April, possibly requesting the documentation of securities for the dowry. 

 

3 06 aug 1508 Style of the Nativity, Indiction 11, Perroneta relicta Johannis Chastellani 

alias Bursodi de Maresches Gebennensis diocesis, Ayma et Roleta filie dicti quondam 

Chastellaini alias Bursodi et dicte Perronete, the daughters with the approval of their mother and 

of Petrus Mugnier alias Chastellani who is acting as their guardian, sale to Nobilis Jacobus et 

Franciscus de Cresto filii quondam Aymonis de Cresto parrochie Sancti Pauli supra Aquianum 

dicte Gebennensis diocesis, the said Jacobus being absent and represented by the said Franciscus, 

all their property at Maresches, Aquiano, and Lugryns, for 80 florins (quater viginti florines auri 

parviponderis), actum Melduni in stupha domus Stephani Clert, presentibus ibidem Stephano 

Cornaz alias Chieres, dicto Stephano Clert, Petro Danget parrochie Melduni, et Petro Moctyn de 

Aquiano testibus ad premissa vocatis et rogatis. 

 

(Fol. 4v is blank, apart from a tiny notation iiiixx ix ff visis.) 

 

5 13 jan 1506, Johannes Doy (elsewhere De or Dey) alias Mont sutor et burgensis Melduni 

and Claudius filius Petri dou Bos de Vuycherens, lease of a tenement, with provisions about 

farming. 

 

6 Die Lune post festum Beate Vaulpulge Virginis 1507, Rodulphus Decimatoris burgensis 

et vicedompnus Melduni, quod die Lune post festum Beate Vaupulge Virginis 1507, Girardus de 



Joy fecit clamam in mainbus Petrimandi Creaturaz nuncii catellanie Melduni de Petro Guex 

sutore et burgense Melduni virtue cuius clame dictus nuncius citavit et assignavit ipsas partes 

coram me dicto vicedompno, scilicet dictum Petrum Guex in eius propriam personam ad eandum 

diem Lune hora vesperorum supra ontem Melduni sive loco Melduni placitare solitis…, 

accusation of assault. 

 

9 19 may 1506, Nobilis Guilliermus Ensis (=Espaz) domicellus et burgensis Melduni, and 

Philippus Cretet et Johannes Anthoennoz parrochie de Giez diocesis Gebennensis, lease to them 

for 6 years, farm, many detailed conditions. 

 

(Fol. 13v is blank.) 

 

14 19 may 1506, Johannes Cretet et Johannes Anthoennoz recognize obligation to 

Guilliemus Ensis, with further proceedings. 

 

(Fols. 15v and 16 are blank.  Fol. 16v is blank except for a small notation at the top, Beatus qui 

intelligit super egenum et pauperum, in die mala liberabit eum Dominus (Psalm 40:2).) 

 

17 07 jan 1506, Nobilis Johannes de Villarsel dominus de Deley, and Claudius Millet 

habitator de Cabanis supra Meldunum, lease to Millet for the term of 9 years, his tenement, 

apparently not further described, except for the dîme to which Villarsel is entitled, detailed 

conditions.  

 

(Fol. 18v is blank.) 

 

19 Primum registrum Michaelis Frossardi extra ordine jurati ballivie Vuaudi et 

castellanarum eiusdem ac officialis curie Lausanne…, with very large paraphe (title page only, 

another indication that this volume is an artificial compilation of diverse papers). 

 

(Fol. 19v is blank.) 

 

20 Le Lundi prest feste Translacion Sainct Nycolay 1501, (In French)  Guid dou Teyt d’une 

part et Jehan Jaquod dou Villard de l’aultre part, font pasches et convenantes qui s’ensuyvent… 

 

 Premierement, ledict Jehan doit fayre audict Guyd l’ovrage que se soyt en laz mayson 

doudict Guy sité à Chavanes appellant en laz maison de Coster. 

 

 Item, en laz chambre chaude une traveson desoub. 

 

 Item, en laz traveson dessus ladicte chambre chaude contenent xxxiiii piez de long ? 

planaez dessus et desoub et entretaez…, apparently detailed descriptions of remodeling or 

construction, Juraint et donné à Moudon le Lundi prest feste Translacion Sainct Nycolay en l’an 

mille vC ung. 

  

 (In a different ink, in Latin)  Solvit Guido de Tecto Johanni Jaquod, videlicet sexaginta 

solidos Lausannenses bonorum die Lune ante festum Beate Marie Magdellene anno quo supra. 



 

 Solvit magis idem Guido Johanni, videlicet xviii soldios. 

 

 Solvit magis idem Guido die dominico Bordarum dicto Johanni, videlicet iii florines vi 

solidos. 

 

 Solvit magis xxiiii solidos. 

 

21 (In French)  Le jour fyste Sainct Pierre et Sainct Pol Appostre 1502, Soit faite lettre que 

provide honnorable Guid de Tey d’une part et Jehan Jaqueod habitan de Chavanes chappuys de 

l’aultre part font pasches que s’ensuyvent,  

 

 Et premierement, ledict Maystre Jehan doit faire une traveson sus le poyle de la mayson 

dudict Guid de Chavannes appellée la mayson de Coster … (apparently another contract, very 

similar that on fol. 20), jurant et donné le jour fyste Sainct Pierre et Sainct Pol Appostre l’an mil 

vC et deux.. 

 

22 Die dominico post festum Sanctorum Petri et Pauli Appostolorum 1496, dispute, 

Vuilliermus Rubat et Petrus Rubat, the said Petrus acting for the said Vuilliermus, versus Petrus 

Gasconel, Johannes Levet, and Roletus Grimoz, the latter two acting for Gasconel, concerning 

debts, arbitration, various dates of approvals, the last as indicated above. 

 

25 20 apr 1504, Johannes Marrel filius quondam _____ (blank space) Marrel et Franciscus 

Marrel filius quondam _____ Marrel de Mougueta ? parrochie de Yvonant, reconnaissance for 

property that had come from Petrus de Sassel alias Briaud of Yvonant, and then held by their 

respective fathers, the censes payable to Guilliermus Ensis.  Includes names of some censiers. 

 

26 (The folio itself is blank, but there is a separate folded document attached to it:  Die 

Veneris post festum Sancte Lucie 1496, Nobilis Urbanus de Compesio domicellus ? Perugini et 

de Granco… in manibus Nobilis Andree de Bruello domini Montis… viceballivi Vuaudi, request 

? regarding a judgement, script very messy, subject not clear.) 

 

27 09 aug 1507, Anthonius Lombard acknowledges that he has two documents relating to 

the guardianship of Loysa filia quondam Johannis de Plan, which are apparently to the benefit of 

Humbertus de Sarandens. 

 

27v Die Lune post Dominicam de Letare 1514 Style of the Annunciation, Petrus de Belloforte 

dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, coram nobili Jacobo Cattellani domicello 

Staviaci, appeared Anthonius Jayet de Hermenges, donation of all his property to his son 

Anthonius Jayet, actum Melduni. 

 

29 09 feb 1497, Vuilliermus Rubat and Petrus Rubat de Mollens, settlement. 

 

(Fol. 30v is blank.) 

 



31 Die Veneris post Dominicam de Reminiscere 1501, post decessum Venerabilis Aymonis 

Gavillieti curati de Mollens, Guido de Tecto, Nycodus de Tecto, Nycodus Veyrit, Glaudius 

Veyrit, Glaudius de Tecto, Johannes Bellaz, Humbertus Bellaz, Mermetus Bellaz de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum, Franciscus Conet, Petrus Decimatoris, Johannis Decimatoris, Jacobus 

Decimatoris, Glaudius Decimatoris de Montet, Johannes de Tecto, Glaudius de Tecto, Nycodus 

Cons, Glaudius Marsens de Vuarmarens, Nycodus Reschoz, Petrus de Chinaulx, Johannes de 

Chinaulx, et Aymonetus de Chinaulx de Ursy, Jacobus Rubat, Petrus Rubat, Vuilliermus Rubat, 

Johannis Rubat, Petrus Rubat de Mollens, Jacobus Reschoz, Jacobus Jacod de Vouderens, die 

Veneris predicta fuissent in ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Mauricii de Mollens c…armis tam pro 

custodia ornamentorum, reliquarum, calicis et alium jocalium ? dicte parrochialis ecclesie quam 

requisacioni et s… Venerabilis viri Domini Glaudii Capientis curati de Promassens et de 

Chastillions decanum Novicastri ad sibi favorem et … prestarent et in dicta parrochiali ecclesia 

remanerent et … , quiquidem requisicioni prefati curati omnes supra nominati …. 

 

31v 02 mar 1501, Testament, Glaudia relicta quondam Amedei Hastrie alias de laz Portaz 

uxor honesti Stephani Clert burgensis Melduni, but there is also an additional date 24 may 1506, 

stating that the said Glaudia sana mente licit debilis corpore suum fecit testamentum ut supra. 

 

32 24 feb 1502 Style of the Nativity, Providus vir Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum et Johannes de Tecto de Vuarmarens nominibus suis necnon Nycodi de Tecto, Nycodi 

Veyrit, Glaudii Veyrit, Glaudii de Tecto, Johannis Bellaz, Humbeti Bellaz, Mermeti Bellaz de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, Francisci Conet, Petri Decimatoris, Johannis Decimatoris, Jacobi 

Decimatoris, Glaudii Decimatoris de Montet, Glaudii de Tecto, Nycodi Cons, Glaudii Marsans 

de Vuarmarens, Nycodi Reschoz, Petri de Chinaulx de Ursy, Johannis de Chinaulx, Aymoneti de 

Chinaulx de Ursy, Jacobi Rubat, Petri Rubat, Vuilliermi Rubat, Johannis Rubat, Petri Rubat de 

Mollens, Jacobi Reschoz, Jacobi Jacod de Vouderens, quiquidem Guido de Tecto et Johannis de 

Tecto suis et quibus supra nominibus post plurima acta facta gesta et requita tam supra 

cimisterium parrochialis ecclesie de Mollens quam extra ibi prope Lausannensis diocesis per 

Nobilem virum Johannem de Albona vice castellanum Rote quam suos clientes et afficiarios seu 

nuncios super custodia predicte parrochialis ecclesie de Mollens, quiquidem vice castellanus in 

custodiam dederat Jacobo Boveir nuncio suo eundem, quod nuncium loco sui ponendo in 

custodia predicte parrochialis ecclesie, et inde super venerunt, Primo Venerabilis et Egregius vir 

Jacobus d’Estaviaco curatus Melduni petens apperturam porte ecclesie predicte de Mollens qui ut 

asserebat et dicebat habere titulum super dicta parrochiali ecclesia virtute certorum bullarum 

appostoliquarum, ex adverso Venerabilis vir Glaudius Sapientis curatus de Promassens et de 

Chastilliens decanati Novicastri dicebat et affirmabat jus et titulum habere in dicta cura virtute 

certorum suorum titulorum ut asserebat habere, unde eciam petabat apteram sibi fieri de dicta 

ecclesia pro possessione sua adipiscenda ?, quibus quidem curati tam Melduni quam Promassens 

actentis eorum differenciis … , arbitration ? , et prefatum Dominum Glaudium Sapientis curatum 

de Promassens in dicta ecclesia conducit et posuit unde prefati Guido de Tecto, Johannes de 

Tecto, et omnes superius nominiati non contenti ut decebant de introitu et adectione ipsius 

ecclesie per dictum dominum curatum de Promassens facte, qui sit latenter et occulte…, outcome 

not clearly stated here, this may be a record of the objections up to this point. 

 

33 26 may 1501 Style of the Nativity, Michael Guex de Vallon habitator dou Plam, 

testament, universal heirs his sons Johannes, Petrus, Humbertus, et Glaudius Guex, also 



provisions for his daughters Humberta, Catherina, et Colleta, appointing as their guardian Petrus 

Guex sutor morans Melduni, lists debts owed to him by others. 

 

34v 18 feb 1514, quod cum Nobilis et Potens Johannes de Blonay dominus ipsius loci 

dominus de Carrojoz et condominus de Mexieres texerit (=taxerit ?) et detinerat ? Otthonynum 

Chappuiys alias Rolz et eum carceres securum minime … ad eumdem secure detinerendum et 

incarcerendum requisisse ? ipse prefatus dominus de Blonay Nobili Jacobi Catellani castellano 

con… sibi prestaret carceres illustrissimi domini nostri Sabaudie ducis etc., et clames grosse 

turris Melduni ad eundem Otthonynum detynendum castellanus libenti …, script very small and 

indistinct, subject not easily discerned, presentibus in premissis nobili Jacobuo Cerjat domino de 

Dinisii, et Provido viro Anthonio de Curia burgensis Melduni testibus ad premissa vocatis et 

rogatis.  Below this, in the same hand, Pro copia lictere testimonialis potentissimi domini 

Blonay? 

 

35 11 jun 1515, Petrus de Belloforti dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, 

supplicavit nobis Nobilis et Potens Nycodus de Gogonay ballivus Lausanne dominus Sancti 

Martini Quercus, quod cum ipse sit detentus quibusdem infirmitatibus tam internetis quam 

externetis in eius corpore urgentibus taliter que in infirmitate constitutum … and so he is not able 

to appear in person, Prout nos ballivus prefatus Melduni vistavimus in domo sue habitacionis 

Lausanne endumque Nobilem Nycodum comerimus fore egrotante et debilitatum, et cum ipse 

Nobilis Nycodus quam plurimuas causis in consuetudine contra plures personas coramm diversis 

judicibus tam … , messy script, outcome is not clear, but Petrus de Constantina had some role as 

coadjutor. 

 

36 11 jul 1517, Venerabilis Jacobus Grangaleti curatus Sancti Martini Quercus, and a 

number of other clerics lease ? to ? Humbertus Meystre de Tierrens for 9 years, property at 

Tierrens. 

 

37 19 jan 1499, Johannes de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens, testament, bequest to his wife 

Johanneta, daughter of the late Mermeti de Tecto; to Johanneta wife of Glaudius Gabat de 

Novilliez his sister, from the estate of their late mother Glaudia quondam uxoris … Nycolleti de 

Sarsens, list of amounts owed to him by others, but the ends of about 10 lines may be missing, as 

that page is torn. 

 

39 (also numbered xi) 

 

 13 dec 1499, Gabriel Limat de Bressonaz parte ex una, et Petrus Rolaz filius quondam 

Francisci Rolaz alias Milliard dicti loci de Bressonaz partibus ex altera, partage, generalities, no 

specific properties seem to be described. 

 

41 Registrum mis Michaelis Frossardi clerici et burgensis Melduni extra ordine ballivie 

Vuaudi juramentum et omnium catellaniarum eiusdem necnon officatis curie Lausanne et 

omnium decanum eiusdem ac auctoritate imperiali et existens ? ballivie Vuaudi Nobili Johanni 

d’Estaviaco domino de Bussy et condomino de Mexieres etc. 

 



41 Die festi Sancti Stephani 1499, Glaudius Olaviger ? (uncertain script), Rodulphus de 

Rivo, Franciscus de Bulo, Vuilliermus Cavyn, Ludovicus de Martherenges, Franciscis Destriez, 

Johannes de Mont, Petrus Jayet, Glaudius Porschet, Nycodis de Gazel, Humberus Pin, Petrus de 

laz Neritevuyt ? alias Andri, Glaudius Paschon, Johannes Bertod, et Petrus Guex… tanquam 

confratres elemosinarum candole Sancti Stephani Prothomartiris de Melduno, subject not very 

clear, very messy script. 

 

41v 28 dec 1499, Franciscus Bertex de Combremondo Parvo had ceded ? to Glaudius Collon 

habitator dicti loci totum suum tenementum, now Glaudius returns them. 

 

41v 23 mar 1499, (Invictum est auctoritate domini officialis curie Lausanne ?) Anthonius 

Breyssaud, subject not clear, highly abbreviated, very small and messy script.  Possibly a citation 

for a debt? 

 

41v (Attached to this page, a smaller piece of paper with two items signed by Michael 

Frossard: 

03 mar 1499, Nobilis et Potens vir Humbertus de Moleria dominus de Font receptor et 

exactor subsidii sive donon gratuiti illustrissimi domini nostri duci Sabaudie, has received from 

Johannes and Petrus Rubat de Mollens, hominibus nobilium de Prez, 24 sols racione 12 florines 

pro quolibet foco. 

Nobilis et Potens vir Humbertus de Moleria dominus de Font receptor et exactor subsidii 

sive donon gratuiti illustrissimi domini nostri duci Sabaudie, has received from Johannes Blan 

junior de Brenles et Anthonius Aymonoz dicti loci hominibus Nobilium de Prez, 24 sols ad 

racionem duodecim solidos pro quolibet foco.) 

 

42 26 mar 1500 ? , similar transaction, Roletus Pictet, possibly cited for debt to Jordanus 

Wuarnierre. 

 

42 03 feb 1500 ? , Johannes Boveti et Johanneta eius uxoris, debt to Nycodus … ?  

 

42 12 feb 1500, Andrea Planchet, debt to Jacobus Perret alias Chaneaz ? 

 

42v Die Lune post festum Sancti Lucie Virginis 1500, clamam et instancium Marie relicte 

quondam Nobilis Jacobi de Glana domini de Vallardens, Franciscus de Putheo nuncius domini 

castellani Melduni barraverit et sayserit ? Glaudio de Tecto de Vuarmarens, hinc est quod dictus 

Glaudius de Tecto … dictam barram in … dicti nuncii per Glaudium de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, qui Glaudius promissit juramento suo etc. et obligacione bonorum suorum etc., … 

messy script, uncertain subjet matter. 

 

42v Die Lune post Dominicam de Ramispalmarum 1501, Johannes Grivet de Lucens, cited 

for debt to Agnes uxor Vuilliermi de Tecto licet absentis, 12 florins. 

 

42v 07 may 1501, Guilliermus Jaquonier ? parrochie de Selanche, debt to Stephanus Clert ?  

 

43 Die Martis Sancti 1501, Thomas Mistralis, debt to Glaudius Symoni, 16 florins ex causa 

finalis computi inter ipsos facti. 



43 Die Martis post festum Sancti Johannis ante Portam Latinam 1501, Johannes Blan junior, 

debt to Nobilis Aymo de Prez, 4 florins. 

 

43 Nobilis Aymo de Prez has received from Rodulphus filius quondam Guilliermi Blan licit 

absens… 

 

43v 03 may 1501, Johannes Deserens de Prez parrochie de Dompnomartino owes Vuilliermus 

dou Teyt 10 sols. 

 

43v 29 jun 1500, Glaudius Sort (Fort ?) alias Chommaz ? habitator de Chavanes owes Agnes 

uxor Vuilliermi dou Teyt licet absens 4 florins. 

 

43v 23 apr 1501, Noblis et Potens Humbertus de Moleria has received from Johannes Rubat, 

Petrus Rubat his brother, Anthonius Aymonoz, and Johannes Blan junior, each for 12 sols, 

subsidy pro quolibet foco. 

 

44 30 apr 1501, Anthonius Burdin, Hudriodus Girod, Johannes Nardin, Anthonius Nycod, 

Anthonius Oddet alias Burdet, Humbertus Beneyt, Anthonius Challet, Anthonius Clerc, et 

Johannes de Praz, homines et incoli Nobilis et Potentis viri Johannis de Gebennis domini de 

Lullins et de Vuilliens nominibus suis et omnibus proborum hominium de Vuilliens, et 

castellanie eiusdem, de laude, consensu, et voluntate providi viri Francisci de Buloz clerici et 

burgensis Melduni castellani de Vuilliens, establishing fines for causing injuries ? – messy text, 

highly abbeviated. 

 

44v 20 jun 1501, Johannes Tappy owes Jacobus Monachi clericus et burgensis Melduni. 

 

44v 20 jun 1501, Johannes Mochant ? owes Johannes Tappy. 

 

44v 26 jun 1501, Anthonius Aymonod de Brenles owes Johannes Gaschet de Syviriez. 

 

44v 06 jul 1501, Petrus Girard de Dinisiez owes Johannes dou Fort. 

 

45 26 jun 1501, Anthonius Aymonod de Brenles owes Petrus Rubat saltori de Mollens. 

 

45 26 jun 1501, Anthonius Villard de Tretorens owes Nycodus Cons junior de Vuarmarens 4 

florins for purchase of a horse. 

 

45 21 sep 1501, Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat domicelli Melduni owes Jacobus Cornaz 6 florins. 

 

45v 09 sep 1501, Franciscus Destrier burgensis Melduni owes Jacobus Carnaz (=Cornaz) 

alias Cheres mercator et burgensis Melduni. 

 

45v 01 jun 1501, Johannes do Plan de Mont et Johanneta eius uxor owe Jacobus Rubat de 

Mollens. 

 

45v 14 jun 1501, Boniffacius Briderii has received from Francesia uxor Johannis Grivat. 



46 Die Martis ante festum Sancti Barnabe que fuit die octava mensis Junii 1501 (08 jun 

1501), birth of notary’s son Bernardus filius Michaelis Frossardi et Marie eius uxoris hora sexta 

post meidien, baptised at the church of St. Stephen etc. 

 

 11 jun 1501, Johannes Foucaz et Anthonius Jaquinoz tanquam principales et Petrus de 

Evannes fidejussor, owe Ludovicus de Martherenges. 

 

46v Die dominico ante festum Sanctorum Symonis et Jude Appostolorum 1501, Glaudius 

Mievillaz habitator de Mont owes Johannes Rubat de Mollens. 

 

46v Die festi Sancti Martini Yemalis 1501, Nicodus Sonney parrochie Melduni habitator in 

grangie Thome Martin owes Glaudius Mievillaz. 

 

46v 10 jun 1502, dispute, Jaquetus Malliet and Magister Johannes Berthod de Porsel, 

regarding the dowry of Roleta filia quondam Nycodi dou Vernex (now wife of Jaquetus), quia 

dictus Johannes Berthod tenet et possidet bona dicti quondam Nycodi dou Vernex. 

 

48v Die Dominico ante festum Sancti Mauricii 1502, Petrus dictus Fawages ? parrochie de 

Villecta owes Jacobus Rubat de Mollens. 

 

48v Die Lune post festum Sancti Martini Yemalis 1502, Ludovicus filius Henrici Vaulet ? 

owes Stephanus Clert burgensis Melduni. 

 

49 Die Lune post festum Sancte Trinitatis 1502, Girardus Saulge de Villario Comite ? owes 

Johannes Guillion. 

 

49 13 jun 1502, Glaudius Cardinaul parrochie de Promassens owes Nycodus Cons junior. 

 

49 30 dec 1502, Humbertus et Boniffacius Pin burgenses Melduni owe Glaudie relicta 

quondam providi viri Petrus Phillipon. 

 

49 Die festi Sanctorum Petri et Pauli Appostolorum 1502, Franciscus de Puteo alias Guy has 

received from Johannes et Petrus Rubat fratres de Mollens 24 sols. 

 

49v Die Lune post festum Nativitatis Beate Johannis Baptiste 1502, Nobilis Jacobus 

Vallacrest domicellus, lease ? to Petrus de Curia alias Quin ? et Jacobus Burichet burgensis 

Melduni. 

 

49v 12 sep 1502, Petrus Bicholley de Chesalles owes Phillipus de Mediavilla. 

 

49v Die Lune ante festum Sanctorum Symonis et Jude Appostolorum 1502, Glaudius Rubat 

habitator de Mollens owes Glaudius Decimatoris de Montet. 

 

50 07 apr and 02 may 1502, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor sell to 

Nobilis vir Johannes Championis dominus de Romanens et de Billens, duas posas terre sitas in 

territorio Rote. 



50v 29 apr 1502, Franciscus Mougneir grangerius de Challabru leases for 6 years to Amedeus 

Cordey de Cappella Voudana. 

 

50v Die Martis ante festum Pentechostis 1502, Petrus Gasconel et Anthonia eius uxor owe 

Glaudia filia quondam Petri Phillippon. 

 

51 Die Lune ante festum Sancti Georgii 1502, Nycodus Vuicherens burgensis Melduni 

leases for 3 years to Glaudius de Gazel burgensis Melduni. 

 

51 Die Lune ante festum Sancte Katherine 1502, Petrus Vuilliamoz et Johannes Joli owe 

Franciscus Connet de Montet. 

 

51v Die Sabbati ante festum Omnium Sanctorum et die Dominico predicta 1501, Dispute, 

Petrus et Nycodus Cuanet alias Emery fratres, et Nobilis Jacobus de Villens domicellus 

Rotondimontis, concerning a dîme. 

 

52v Die Lune ante festum Sancti Bernardi et die festi Sancti Bernardi 1502, Dispute, 

Ludovicus Chappuys de Vuilliens and Anthonius Clot dicti loci de Vuilliens, arbitration. 

 

53 14 apr 1502, Dompnus Glaudius Cuaneti cappellanus de Mollens leases for 1 year to 

Jacobus Rubat de Mollens. 

 

53v 14 apr 1502 (die et anno quibus supra), Nobilis Petrus de Prez de Buloz has received 

from Jacobus Rubat de Mollens, full payment of a debt owed by Rubat to Nobilis Janna mother 

of the said Petrus de Prez. 

 

53v 25 sep 1502, Dispute, Petrus Faye de Cappella Voudana, and Marguereta uxor Glaudii 

Boudin et Anthonius filius quondam Jaqueti de Arsilliez. 

 

54v 15 jan 1501, Johannes Martin habitator Melduni has received from Colleta uxor sua filia 

Johannis Renchit ? , for her dowry. 

 

55 Die Sabbati post festum Beate Marie Magdellenes 23 jul 1502, Bernardus de Curia filius 

quondam Glaudii de Curia burgensis Melduni, testament, universal heirs his brothers Petrus and 

Anthonius de Curia, substituary heirs Petrus and Anthonius de Curia his nephews, sons of his 

late brother Guido de Curia, many religious bequests and conditions. 

 

56v 23 jul 1502, Bernardus de Curia owes Johannes Gaschet. 

 

57 28 dec 1501, Johannes Vuicherens curatus de Actallens sells to Glaudius Jaquinet de 

Melduno nunc residens Viviaci ? (written apparently Vici), vines, with further proceedings. 

 

58v 18 dec 1503, Johannes Rossat alias Avoux burgensis Rote nunc habitator Melduni sells to 

Anthonius Fabri habitator Rote, the reachept for a house in villa Rote. 

 



59 02 jan 1502, Andreas de laz Vaux barbitonsor habitator Melduni with Jacobus Morel et 

Glaudius Decimatoris fidejussores owe Stephanus Clert et Glauda eius uxor, videlicet unum 

bonum bancinum barbitonsoris aut pro dicto bancino 20 sols. 

 

59 18 nov 1504, quod cum Henricus Garney chappellarius olim morans Melduni sold to 

Venerabilis Dominus Vuilliermus Rubat cappellanus Melduno et eo nomine venerabilis cleri 

Melduni 44 sols rent etc., for a house in Planis Borgellis in Moudon, that sale recorded by 

Jacobus de Bulo 19 nov 1489, now Dominus Aymo Malliardo procurator et eo nomini 

venerabilis cleri Melduni has received from the said Stephanus Clert and Glaudia his wife the 

said 44 livres principal. 

 

60 13 mar 1502, Gabriel Limat de Bressonaz owes Petrus de Marcello et Glaudius Cavin 

tanquam rectores confratrie Sancti Spiritus de Syens, cense, with further proceedings. 

 

60v 01 oct 1503, Testament:  Francesia relicta quondam Bartholomei Leveti clerici et 

burgensis Rote, universal heirs her children Nycodus, Petrus, Michael, Anna, Colleta, Perroneta, 

and Anthonia. 

 

61 08 feb 1503, Francesia relicta quondam Bartholomei Leveti clerici et burgensis Rote, and 

Johannes de Tornyaz, lease of farm, with further proceedings. 

 

62 10 jul 1503, Nobilis Henricus Saulcey ? of Moudon and Petrus Fabri de Hermenges, lease 

for 3 years. 

 

63 02 nov 1503, Jacobus de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens and Johannes de Sarsens his 

nephew, settlement. 

 

63 10 nov 1503, Alexander Pictet, Petrus Peguard, et Aymonetus Enguilon ? omnes de 

Nerioux, appointed scindics and governors for term of 3 years ? 

 

63v 12 dec 1504, Marmetus Bellaz alias de Costel de Cabanis supra Meldunum, exchange 

with Petrus de Tecto dicti loci de Cabanis, in loco dicto ou Bruyt.  

 

63v Die Veneris post Dominicam de Lectare 1501, quod cum Johannes Novilliez citaverit 

coram Domino Officiati curie Lausanne Johannem Bacuyt et Petrimandum Creaturaz, they agree 

not to dispute between themselves?  

 

64 14 jul 1504, Nobilis Henricus Saultcet habitator Melduni and Petrus Fabri de Hermenges, 

lease of property for 2 years. 

 

64v Die Sabbati ante festum Omnium Sanctorum and Die Dominico ante festum Sancti 

Martini Yemalis 1504, Dispute, Johannes Bonamy de Cugiez nomine Janne uxoris sue, and 

Jacobus Burdey ? (name suspected to be Bindey, but the script discovered so far is indistinct) de 

Lucens. 

 



65v Die Dominico ante festum Sancti Martini Yemalis, dowry for Marguerita filia Petri Vex 

antenati de Cugiez, wife of Vuilliemus de Sarsens filius quondam Aymoneti de Sarsens de 

Lucens; also, Janna, wife of Johannes Bonamy de Cugiez, is the daughter of the same Petrus 

Vex, through whom the dispute above connects to the de Sarsens family. 

 

67 19 feb 1506, Nobilis Guilliermus Espaz leased to Petrus, Franciscus, and Johannes 

Jaquod fratres habitatores de Cultillis, a tenement. 

 

68 13 jul 1502, Johannes Petitpan faber Melduni and his wife Philliberta made a donation of 

property to Dominus Johannes Generis cappellanus curatus de Dinisiez rectorque cappelle Sancti 

Bernardi Montisjovis fondata in villa Melduni, now the said Dominus Johannes Generis sells the 

bequest to Johannes Girod de Molondin (in effect, a secured mortgage?), with further 

proceedings. 

 

70v Aymo Pictet de Cuarnens et Franciscus Pictet de Melduno fratres, quod cum Bernardus, 

Johannes, Margarita, Jaquema, et Francesia liberii quondam Allexandris Pictet de Nerieux fratris 

nostri sunt in minor etate et impuberes, appointment of guardians for them. 

 

71v 25 mar 1507, Jaquetus Mestraul de Chappallaz Voudannaz residens Suprapetram et 

Sibilla eius uxor sold to Johannes Pillet de Chappallaz, cense, with further proceedings. 

 

73v Die Lune post festum Decollacionis Beati Johannis Baptiste 1506, quod cum Nobilis 

Amedeus Fabri alias Margnyns de Nyviduno fecerit clamam coram Spectabili viro Johannis de 

Staviaco domino de Bussy et condomino de Mexieres gubernatore ballivo Vuaudi, de Nobili et 

Potenti Glaudia de Sancto Triverio ? relicta quondam Spectabilis et Potentis viri Domini de 

Brember ? militis eandumque traxerit in causam apud Meldunum coram prefato domino 

ballivo…, settlement ?  

 

74 03 mar 1503, Humbertus Pin, reconnaissance for Boniffacius Brideri.  

 

74 (same date ?), Dompnus Bernardus Basseti, Humbertus Pyn, et Rodulphus Chappuys, 

reconnaissance for Boniffacius Brideri. 

 

75 19 mar 1506, Katherina relicta quondam Rodulphi dou Russel alias Veyrit nunc uxor 

Anthonii Ramel burgensis Rotondimontis, et Francesia, filia dicti quondam Rodulphi et dicti 

Katherine, uxor et sponsa Nycodi filii predicti Anthonii Ramel, sell to Rodulphus Chappuys et 

Petrus filius Petri Riguet de Melduno. 

 

76 Die Sabbati post festum Epiphanie Domini 1506, Jacobus Cerjat domicellus de Melduno 

sindicus et gubernator tocius villet et communitatis dicte ville et eo nomine, with approval of the 

small council of Moudon (list of names), appoint Johannes Crespi and Rodulphus Joliveti as 

procurators for the confratria Sancti Spiritus Burgellorum Inferius de Melduno. 

 

77 03 dec 1507, Jacobus de Staviaco curatus ecclesie perochialis Sancti Stephani 

Prothomartiris de Melduno, regarding appointments for the chapel of St. Catherine in that 

church. 



 

78 26 may 1508, Margarita uxor Glaudii Broschon burgensis Melduni, testament, she is the 

daughter of the late Petrus Frossard, universal heir her son Jacobus, substituary heirs her 

daughters Glaudia and Johanneta. 

 

81v 16 aug 1507, Humbertus de Sarrandens owes Rodulphus Joliveti clericus et burgensis 

Melduni. 

 

82 15 may 1508, Nycodus Criblet et Reymondus Criblet eiusdem Nycodi filii sell to Petrus 

Trolliet de Chesalles, with further proceedings. 

 

83v 30 jan 1509, Johannes filius quondam Michaelis Guex, lease to Johannes Guex de 

Vallanjauz for 3 years. 

 

84 08 nov 1509, Dispute, Anthonius alumpnus quondam Anthonii Nemard, and Petrus 

Chevalley alias Billaud antenatus de Vuycens, property dispute, with additional history, 

settlement. 

 

86v 04 and 11 apr 1504, Anthonius Aymonod de Brenles et Agnes eius uxor filia Glaudii Blan 

dicti loci de Brenles sell to Glaudius Almeir de Chesalles. 

 

87 Die Lune ante festum Sancti Dominico ? (uncertain abbreviation) 1501, Nobilis Jacobus 

Vallacrest domicellus has received from Nycodus Guilliet 32 sols. 

 

87v 22 oct 1512 Style of the Annunciation, Baptista de Aycardis juris utriusque doctor 

canonicus et officialis Lausanne dilecto nostro Nycolao Caniveti clerico de Thononis 

Gebennensis Dyocesis, uncertain subject, appointment as notary. 

 

88v 30 oct 1512, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussi condominus de Mexieres, 

appointment of Nycolaus Caniveti as notary. 

 

89 04 oct 1512, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et condominus de Mexieres 

domicellus ballivus Vuaudi, appointment of Humbertus filius quondam Johannis Nycati clerici et 

burgensis Melduni as notary. 

 

90 04 oct 1512 (datum ut supra), Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et condominus de 

Mexieres gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, dilecto nostro Humberto Nycati cappellano Melduni 

notario ballivie Vuaudi, appointing him to take custody of the registers of his father the late 

Johannes Nycati. 

 

90v 05 feb 1512, Petrus Lugard alias Bersyn de Tierrens acting for himself and for his 

nephew Anthonius Lugard alis Bersyn, whose late wife was Perroneta filia quondam Humberti 

Berthet de Combremondo Parvo et Johanneta his wife filia et heir of the late Johannes Contoz 

junior de Tierrens, cense owed to the children of the said Anthonius and his late wife Perroneta. 

 



91 12 nov 1514, Magister Benedictus Curnilionis mercator et burgensis Lausanne has 

received from Rodulphus Joliveti clericus et burgensis Melduni et Glaudia eius uxor filia 

quondam Discreti Johannis Griset notarii et burgensis Lausanne absente 9 florins, relating to 

previous debts. 

 

91v 21 feb 1512, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy condominus de Mexieres 

gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, appointment of Jacobus Gaudini as notary. 

 

92v 18 jan 1514, dispute, Humbertus Bruschet burgensis Lausanne, and Johannes Alaz, 

Alexander Curt, et Johannes Curt eius filius burgenses eciam Lausanne, criminal complaint of 

assault, damages.  (See below, DL 43/7, fol. 180, for more on this criminal complaint.) 

 

96 16 jul 1513, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et condominus de Mexieres 

gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, appointment of Franciscu Babacti ? clericus de Sancto Jorio 

Gebennensis Diocesis, with further proceedings. 

 

98 25 nov 1512, Stephanus Cornaz alias Cheres mercator et burgensis de Melduno and 

Jacobus Cornaz alias Cheres vexillifer et burgensis Melduni, father and son, having previouly 

made a partage and division, now declare that they hold everything jointly – an act of 

“association”. 

 

103 Die Martis ante festum Penthecostes 1512, dispute, Nobilis Johannes dominus de Blonay 

dominus de Carrojoz et condominus de Mexieres, and Anthonius de Curia burgensis Melduni, 

regarding certain debts. 

 

103v Die Lune post Dominicam de Reminiscere 1514, Petrus de Belloforte dominus Boschi 

gubernator et baillivus Vuaudi, proceedings as a result of the infirmity of Stephanus Cornaz, 

unable to appear in court, appointment of “coadjutor”? 

 

105v 06 dec 1514, dispute, Jacobus de Dini ? domicellus tanquam tutor et eo nomine Nobilium 

Bernardi, Claudii, et Jacobi de Aventhica dominorum Combremondi Magni comdominorumque 

ProvondaVallis et de Cronex ? , and Petrus Decrevel clericus dicti loci principal et Glaudius 

Decrevel fidejussore, very long and complicated. 

 

111 04 dec 1516, Petrus de Belloforti dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, 

appointment of nuncius. 

 

112 Die Sabbati post festum Sanctorum Symonis et Jude Appostolorum 1513, Petrus de 

Belloforti dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, regarding a dispute held recently 

coram castellano Rote seu eius locumtenente between Nobilis Franciscus de Glana dominus de 

Vallardens et de Rospraz and Johannes Planchet burgensis Rote. 

 

114v 04 jan [1513 ? – year not stated], Petrus de Belloforti dominus Boschi guberator et 

ballivus Vuaudi, “coadjutor” for Johannes Oddeti mercator et burgensis Yverduni, who is totaliter 

in infirmitate constitutum. 

 



115v Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et condominus de Mexieres gubernator et 

ballivus Vuaudi, transcript of a donation to Nobilis Scutiffer Michael de Viry filius legitimus 

Magniffici Amedei baronis et dominus Viriaci, dated 04 apr 1505 Style of the Nativity (and at the 

end, Die Lune post festum Nativitatis Sancti Johannis Baptiste 1505) and signed by Johannes 

Nycati clericus Melduni.  Subscribed “Copia”, but no signature or paraphe for the copy. 

 

118 Petrus de Belloforti dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, concerns a homocide, 

but the names are left blank.  No date, this may be a sort of form letter. 

 

118v 07 sep 1501, Appointment of Jacobus Cornaz as vexillifer, “copia licterarum bandereti”. 

 

120 20 mar 1511, Karolus Dux Sabaudie, Chablasii, et August Carri Romini Imperii 

Princeps… (many titles), approving the appointment of Jacobus Cornaz as vexillifer and 

banderetus Melduni, “copia”. 

 

120v 21 may 1511 Style of the Nativity, “Protestatio”, “copia”, concerns dispute of Venerabilis 

vir Frater Petrus de Dinisio prior conventus de Cossoney ordinis Santi Benedicti, and Petrus 

Calliez monnerius de Cossonay. 

 

121 Die Sabbati post festum Sancti Mathei Appostoli 1513 Style of the Annunciation, 

introductory letter ? and copy of judgement ? , Petrus de Belloforti etc., Dilecto nostro Rodulpho 

Picteti notario clerico jurato ballivie Vuaudi ac omnium castellaniarum eiusdem, concerns 

Gabriel Colleti, who obtained a judgement against Petrus dou Marsez, Petrus de Marnaye, 

Petrus, Perrodis, Guilliermus, et Martinus Gay, and Glaudius de SubtusEcclesiam, nature of 

dispute not clear and possibly not stated. 

 

121v 22 sep and Die crastina festi Sancti Francisci 05 oct 1513, dispute, Johannes de Molleria 

dominus de Cheres and Johannes de Alingio dominus de Langin et Sancti Martini Quercus, 

boundaries ? 

 

123 15 may 1514, mutual quitclaim, Johannes Grivat habitator Melduni et Francesia eius 

uxor, and Philipus de Mediavilla etiam habitator Melduni, Francesia cedes the mill inherited 

from her father Jacobus Pini… 

 

123v 22 may 1513, Johannes Bralliard burgensis Melduni leases for 6 years to Anthonius 

Lugard aliter Berzyn de Tyerrens. 

 

124 07 jun 1514, Anthonius Lymat, Thomas douz Bryt, Petrus douz Bryt, Guilliermus Canez, 

Glaudius douz Bryt, Johannes Bralliard, Johannes Sovajat alias Monier, et Petrus Mistralis, probi 

homines incole et habitatores villagii et communitatis de Soctens, lease to Petrus Bralliard for 3 

years. 

 

125 17 apr 1510, Partage, Petrus de Bicholley de Chesalles and Glaudius Rolaz (acting also 

for his brothers Franciscus and Vuilliermus) etiam de Chesalles, unspecified property to remain 

undivided, and the source of the jointly held properties appears not to be mentioned. 

 



126v 16 nov 1511, Jacobus Catellani domicellus Staviaci castellanus Melduni, dispute 

involving Boniffacius Brideri burgensis Melduni and Petrus Riguet antenatus et junior, father and 

son, concerning connected buildings, the mill of Brideri and the quoquina domus ipsorum patris 

et filii supra tectum molendini dicti Boniffacii Brideri. 

 

127v 06 oct 1508, Testament:  Petrus Rubat de Mollens filius quondam Hugoneti Rubat de 

Mollens, universal heirs his sons Michael and Rodulphus, dowry for his daughter Stephana, 

many other bequests and provisions. 

 

128v 06 may 1513, Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni curatus Capelle Voudanne, quod cum 

Jacobus Challet de Hermenges acquisierit a Nobili viri Petro Nybuli burgense Melduni de laude 

Stephanete eiusdem Nobilis Petri Nybuli sororis, and later Jacobus inherited ? through quondam 

Nobilis vir Anthonius Nybuli pater dictorum Petri et Stephaneta, then Jacobus ceded to the 

Nybuli, now Jacobus cedes his interest to Anthonius Mistralis de Hermenges. 

 

130 06 apr 1514, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez domicellus Rote sells to Johannes Phillipon 

burgensis Melduni, certain censes owed by others to the said Nycodus, with further proceedings. 

 

133v 02 may 1515, Johannes et Hugo duz Bos de Roscinzes parrochie de Syens, quod cum 

Petrus Fouchierres burgensis Melduni sold to him, Hugo douz Boz de Roscinzes… unum 

morsellum prati situm in finagio de Hermenges… for the price of 16 florins (in effect, a secured 

loan?), recorded by Johannes Gaulé, 16 apr 1509, now Johannes and Hugo sell the said letter of 

vendition (i.e., the mortgage) to Johannes Detard (=Deytard) habitator Melduni filius quondam 

Nycodi Detard. 

 

135 27 nov 1515, Venerabilis vir Dominus Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni curatus 

Cappelle Voudanne, procurator et eo nomine venerabilis cleri Melduni, and Petrus Chambet alias 

Tronchon vitticola Lustriaci, agreement.  Monachi, with approval of several other cappellani 

(Jacobus de Staviaco Sancte Sedis Appostolice prothonotis curatusque Melduni, Johannes 

Vuycherens curatus de Actallens, Aymo de Balma, Petrus de Rapa, Petrus Jugi ? (or Ingi ?) 

Jacobus de Pona ? , Aymo Malliardo, Anthonius Branchon, Rodulphus Gillieron, Jacobus 

Fraschat, Jacobis Excofferi, Anthonius de Mont, Humbertus Creaturaz), lease to the said 

Tronchon for 3 years, vines at Savuyt, Montagnyez, and Chastallet, with many provisions and 

conditions. 

 

136 17 oct 1512, Marriage:  Johannes filius Nycodi Detard (=Deytars) dou Plan nomine meo 

proprio, and Anthonia filia quondam Anthonii Clot nomine meo propria. 

 

137 22 feb 1512, Anthonius de Curia burgensis Melduni et Hugo Buchet de Roczenges, lease 

to Humbertus Clot de Bresonaz, all their tenement at Vallarcrest, for 6 years. 

 

138 30 mar 1512, Partage:  Johannes dou Boz filius quondam Jaqueti dou Boz de Roscenges 

et Bernardus filius quondam Glaudii dou Boz filii quondam predictis Jaquetis dou Boz frater 

dicti Johannis dicti loci. 

 



139 01 aug 1513, Boniffacius Brideri clericus et burgensis Melduni and Johannes Cusset de 

Suchie et Johannes Cussit eius filius, lease for 9 years, tenement or farm at Greschon. 

 

(Fol. 141v is blank.)\ 

 

142 06 feb 1515, Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni curatus Capelle Voudanne, sale to 

Dominus Guilliermus de Montedracone (cense payable to the latter in return for loan of 60 livres 

?), fidejussor Discretus Anthonius Boree (Borea, =Bise, Bize in French) clericus de Tretorrens 

burgensis Melduni. 

 

143v Die Sabbacti post festum Translacionis Sancti Martini 1515, Nos, Petrus de Belloforti 

dominus Boschi gubernator et baillivus Vuaudi, coram Nobilis Jacobus Cattellani domicellus 

Staviaci locumtenens, appeared Nobilis Guilliermus Ensis condominus de Villarriard et de 

Chastonays, for his minor sons Franciscus and Anthonius, seeks appointment of guardian for 

them, Johannes Bussignier textor et burgensis Melduni. 

 

144v (no date found), Spectabilis Phillipus de Staviaco condominus ipsius loci dominus de 

Bussy et condominus de Mexieres, has received from Spectabilis Aymo de Gebenis dominus 

Lullini, de Vuilliens, Bressone, Parcioz ? , Sarroz ? , et Grangetes, tanquam nomine suo quam 

tutorio nomine Nobilis Margarete filie sue et quondam Nobilis Generose Glaudie de Montagnier 

consortis sue prefati domini Lullini, videlicet licteras inferius narratas (various obligations 

involving noble relatives), of which the said dominus Lullini retains copies with the consent of 

the said (con)dominus Staviaci. 

 

145v 13 sep 1516, Testament:  Ludovicus Savateroz (Savateri) alias de Martherenges sutor et 

burgensis Melduni, universal heirs his sons Glaudius, Johannes, Benedictus, et Rodulphus, their 

guardian to be his eldest son Glaudius, daughters Glaudia and Perneta, wife Jaqueta, additional 

daughters not yet old enough to marry, Guillierma, Johanneta, and Francesia, with signatures and 

paraphes of Michel Frossard and Rodulphus de Monte, and approved by Petrus de Belloforti 23 

oct 1516. 

 

148v 17 oct 1513, Humberta uxor Boniffacii Brideri filia quondam Petri filii quondam Jacobi 

Pini notarii et burgensis Melduni, lease of tenement dou Plam to Anthonius Mistralis de 

Hermengiis, many conditions. 

 

152 15 may 1513, Dispute, Rodulphus Joliveti clericus et burgensis Melduni tam nomine meo 

proprio quam nomine Guilliermi Gillaird burgensis Lustriaci, versus Nycodus Vouter de Bussy, 

regarding ownership of a tenement at Bussy, very messy and highly abbreviated, not examined in 

detail. 

 

157v 26 feb 1519 Style of the Annunciation, Dispute, Bernardus Basseti et Johanneta uxor 

Humberti Pini, versus Jcobus Vuanyerres alias Jordan conjunctorio nomine Francesie eius uxoris, 

de et super bonis et heredietate quondam Johannis Drugnyens barbitonsoris Melduni, 

relationships not clear, arbitration. 

 



159 17 mar 1515, Humbertus Motitaz alias Jenier et Anthonius Lugard alias Bersans 

gubernatores et sindici tocius vaillagii et communitatis de Tierrens, with approval of members of 

the town council (list of names), sale to Johannes Mistralis de Tierrens. 

 

160 24 jul 1513, Testament:  Janna filia quondam Nobilis Glaudii de Staviaco domini ipsius 

loci de Staviaco relicta quondam Nobilis viri Ludovici Cerjat domini Combremondi Parvi.  

Universal heirs her sons Nobiles Petrus, Bernardus, et Guido Cerjat, as well as her daughters 

Perronella, Anthonia, Maria, et Ysabella. 

 

(Fol. 163v is blank.) 

 

164 (In French)  17 may 1514, Testament:  Charlote de Vergiez relaxée de feu Noble et 

Puyssant Jehan d’Estavayer seigneur de Bussy et conseigneur de Mexieres gouverneur et ballif 

de Vuaud, many bequests, universal heir her grand-daughter Marguerite, fillie de Noble et 

Puissant Aymé de Genneve seigneur de Lulliens, Prissiez, et conseigneur de Vulliens and 

daughter of Noble Glaude de Montagniez ma fillie. 

 

(Fol. 167v is blank.) 

 

168 01 mar 1512, Dispute, Ludovicus Creaturaz antenatus, and his sons Glaudius and 

Anthonius, versus Petrus filius Petri Riguet burgensis Melduni, very messy. 

 

170 12 jan 1512, Dispute, Johannes filius Glaudii dou Bos de Mexieres, and Jacobus Moraz, 

assault. 

 

(Fol. 171v is blank.) 

 

172 13 nov 1508, Dispute, Glaudius Gondoz burgensis Morgie and his brother Matheus 

Gondoz, regarding an obligation payable to the dominus de Collombier. 

 

173v 26 mar 1517, Aymo de Balmis cappellanus Melduni, quod cum Johannes Vuycherens 

cappellanus Melduni et curatus de Actallens procuratorio nomine venerabili universitatis cleri 

Melduni, with approval of a list of other chappelains that includes Franciscus Gacheti, sold a 

house to the said Aymo de Balmis for 14 livres, for which he owed cense, now he sells to 

Claudius de Martherenges sutor et burgensis Melduni, many provisions. 

 

(Fol. 175v is blank.) 

 

176 Die Dominico post festum Sancti Bartholomei Apostoli 27 aug 1514…, dispute, officials 

from Nyon attempted to arrest a fugitive living at Arnex, in the jurisdiction of the said Moudon, 

contrary to their authority and jurisdiction, damages, needs to be studied in detail. 

 

179v 28 apr 1523, Settlement, Claudius Cavin de Vuycherens and Petrus Bralliard de Soctens 

tanquam amici, affines, et consanguinei et eo nomine Girardi et Petri Perdonet filii quondam 

Johannis Perdonet, versus Blasius de Lex et Marmetus de Costel alias Bellaz amici et arbitri et 

consanguinei Glaudie relicte quondam dicti Johannis Perdonet nomine et pro parte filiorum dicti 



Johannis et Glaudie, regarding the dowries of the daughters, payment required to Franciscus 

Perdonet, brother of the unnamed daughters to constitute their dowries. 

 

(Fols. 180-181v are blank.) 

182 21 mar 1511, Testament, Anthonius Clot de Melduno filius quondam Anthonii Clot, 

mother Agnes, widow of his father Anthonius Clot, universal heirs his sons Franciscus, 

Humbertus, and Johannes, long and very detailed, but very messy. 

 

184v 03 dec 1512.  Nycodus Mossu burgensis de Melduno et Katherina (Catherina) eius uxor 

had sold to the late Petrus de Buloz, faber et burgensis Melduni, cense on a loan of 48 livres, 24  

and 26 oct 1467, cession of this obligation by Jacobus et Franciscus de Bulo notarii et burgenses 

Melduni to ? Anthonius de Curia.  (Attached here, a small slip of paper dated 03 dec 1512, the 

same cession, without the detailed history.) 

 

186 23 nov 1512, dispute, Stephanus Cornaz mercator et burgensis Melduni versus Jacobus 

Cornaz vexillifferus mercator et burgensis Melduni son of the said Stephanus, requesting a 

partage or division of their property, very long and detailed, quite messy. 

 

195 29 jan 1512, Humberta uxor Boniffacii Brideri burgensis Melduni filia quondam Petri 

Pini clerici et burgensis Melduni, sale to Stephanus Cornaz alias Cheres mercator et burgensis 

Melduni. 

 

196v Die Lune post festum Sancti Galli 1513, Petrus de Belloforti dominus Boschi gubernator 

et ballivus Vuaudi, to Michael Frossard, on behalf of Discreti viri Rodulphi et Petri Joliveti 

brothers, sons and heirs of the late Discretus vir Johannes Joliveti notarius et burgensis Melduni, 

whereas Discreti viri Petrus Ensis, Anthonius Crostelli, and Michael Rogeri notarii et burgenses 

Melduni recorded many transactions for the Joliveti that were never “levati” (written out in full), 

Frossard is requested to do so from the surviving protocols of the said notaries. 

 

197 04 nov 1513, Humbertus Nycati cappellanus Melduni rector et eo nomine rectorio 

capellanie Sancti Georgii fondate et erecte in ecclesia Gloriose Virginis Marie superius Melduni, 

et Stephanus Nycati, fratres, filii quondam Discreti viri Johannis Nycati clerici et burgensis 

Melduni, donation to the chapel of St. George, with further proceedings.  

 

199 Die Sabbati post festum Omnium Sanctorum 05 nov 1513, guardianship for Nobiles 

Bernardus, Glaudius, et Jacobus de Adventhica. 

 

200 11 oct 1513, Agreement, Anthonius Voudam civis Augustensis tanquam generalis 

receptor et exactor omnium censuum et tributorum debitorum in tota patria Vuaudi Illustrissime 

Domine Margarite archiducessa Austrie, ducisse et comitessa Burgundie, vidue Sabaudie 

comitesse Quadrilegii, Baugiaci, et de Villariis etc., and Johannes Luysii clericus morans 

Melduni, the said Johannes Luysii is named as receptor in toto mandamento et castellania 

Melduno for one year, with description of his obligations and duties, with further proceedings.  

 

201v 30 jan 1512, Stephanus Cornaz cedes the property he had purchased from Humberta wife 

of Boniffacius Brideri on 02 feb 1496 (recorded by Johannes Saly), to the said Boniffacius. 



 

202 10 jul 1514, Nobilis Aymo de Gebennis miles dominus Lullini et de Vulliens tam nomine 

suo proprio quam tutorio nomine Nobilis Margareta filie sue et quondam Nobilis Glaudie de 

Montagnye dominus de Brissongnye in dyocesis Augustensis et domine Grangetarum in dyoceis 

Lausannensis, sale to Dominus Jacobus de Staviaco curatus Melduni, Petrus Jugi (or Ingi ?), 

Symon de Cambrex, Aymo Malliardo, Jacobus Excofferi, Anthonius Branchon, Georgius 

Sarrandens, et Humbertus Creaturaz capellani venerabili cleri Melduni. 

 

(Fol. 203v is blank.) 

 

204 Die festi Sancti Nycollay Confessoris 06 dec 1514, Dispute, Nobilis Jacobus de Duin ? 

tutor et eo nomine Nobilium Bernardi, Glaudii, et Jacobi de Adventhica, versus Glaudius et 

Petrus de Crevel (=Decrevel) de Combremondo Magno. 

 

206v “Fiat licetera cum clausulis suis opportunis quod Venerabilis vir Dominus Johannes 

Vuycherens curatus de Actallens”, incomplete, no more text. 

 

(Fols. 207-207v are blank.) 

 

208 08 aug 1514, Jacobus Foguilliez burgensis Friburgi persona conjuncta Katherine uxoris 

mee filie quondam Providi viri Jacobi de Bulo notarii et burgensis Melduni, quitclaim of any 

interest his wife may have in the estate of her father, to Discretus vir Franciscus de Bulo notarius 

et burgensis Melduni frater dicti Jacobi de Bulo soteri mei. 

 

(Fols. 209-209v are blank.) 

 

210 21 and 23 oct 1513, Dispute, Jacobus Foguilliz burgensis Friburgi tanquam persona 

conjuncta sive conjunctorio nomine Katherine uxorie mee filie quondam viri providi Jacobi de 

Bulo…, arbitration, settlement (partage), very long, in a close, neat script and dark ink. 

 

218 09 may 1515, Probos homines de Dinisiez (long list), based on a prior sale approved by 

Humbertus Cerjat, recognize obligation, with further proceedings. 

 

220 10 dec 1526 Style of the Nativity, quod cum ita sit quod Nobilis Claudius Michonis 

mandamenti Lullini ? teneat et possideat various properties subject to Aymo de Gebennis, subject 

to various sales etc., it appears from this that Aymo de Gebennis transfers these properties to the 

said Claudius Michonis, with further proceedings, ending on fol. 223.  (Margin:  Le present 

instrument a esté relevé per verus du mandemant icy annexé et audict exposant expedié par moy 

Roulx Demont commissaire ayant faict le serment requis à la forme du mandement.) 

 

(Inserted at this point, before fol. 222, in French, 02 feb 1562, letter from Wollffgang Mey 

bourgeois de Berne ballifz de Mouldon et du pays de Vaud, to Discret Roulx Demont notaire et 

bourgeois de Mouldon tant comme commissaire des registres et prothocoles de feu Egrege 

Michel Frossard aussi notaire et bourgeois de Mouldon, on behalf of Egrege Jehan François 

Michon tant à son nom propre que de Claude et Phillippe ses freres filz de feu Noble et Egrege 



Claude Michon, requesting that a copy of the donation by Aymé de Genesve to the said Claude 

Michon be made. 

 

223v 10 dec 1526, Marriage:  Nobilis Claudius Michonis habitator Lullini and Margarita filia 

Nobilis Philippus de Berenisio ? (Berenesio ? , or perhaps Benevisio etc.?), with quitclaim. 

227 11 dec 1526, Settlement ? (further proceedings relating to the donation or cessions of 10 

dec 1526, above), Aymo de Gebennis and Claudius Michonis, with marginal notation by 

Rodulphus de Monte that he has copied it. 

 

(Fols. 229-229v are blank.) 

 

 

DL 43/3: (Image group 009165370, image 6) 

 

Cover:  Secundum registrum Michaelis Frossardi inceptum anno 1501. 

 

Flyleaf: Secundum registrum Mis Michaelis Frossardi clerici Melduni.  Biblical and other 

religious quotations and prayers, “In principio erat Verbum et Verbum erat apud Deum et Deus 

erat Verbum. Hoc erat in principio apud Deum. Omnia per ipsum facta sunt et sine ipso factum 

est nihil quod factum est. In ipso vita erat et vita erat lux hominum. Et lux in tenebris lucet et 

tenebre eum non comprehenderunt”, and others. 

 

1 Existente ballivo et gubernatore Vuaudi Nobili viri Johannis de Staviaco domino de 

Bussy et condomino de Mexieres. 

 

1 19 feb 1501, Jacobus Monachi filius quondam Jacobi Monachi clerici et burgensis 

Melduni, and Glaudius Broschon burgensis Melduni et Marguerita eius uxor, exchange. 

 

1v 22 feb 1501, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens, lease to Jacobus Rubat de Mollens and 

Nycodus Cons de Vuarmarens for 1 year. 

 

(Attached to fol. 1v, a small piece of paper:  12 jul 1507, Nobilis Ludovicus Cerjat dominus de 

Combremond owes Venerabilis vir Frater Vuilliermus Marsens prior claustralis abacie Altecriste 

10 florins for censes in arrears for 4 years.) 

 

2 22 feb 1501, Nobilis Glaudius filius quondam Nobilis Ybleti de Cultillia domicelli sells 

to Stephanus Cornaz alias Cheres mercator et burgensis Melduni, annual cense of grain in return 

for 60 livres (in other words, a loan), with further proceedings. 

 

3 25 feb 1501, Inventarium bonorum mobilium ecclesie de Mollens, Venerabilis Dominus 

Glaudius Sapientis decanus Novicastri curatus de Mollens, de Promassens, et de Chastilliens 

sciens etc., pro se etc., confitetur et recognoscit tenere et habere per inventarium a Provido viro 

Johanne dou Tey de Vuarmarens gubernatore et sindico ? tocius parrochie de Mollens et eo 

nomine, res mobilia que secuntur pertinentes et pertinere debentis ecclesie parrochialis Sancti 

Mauricii de Mollens,  

 



 Et primo, custodium in qua tenetur Corpus Domini Nostri Jhesu Christi. 

 

 Item, unam manum argenti fini in qua sunt reliquie Sancti Grati. 

 

 Item, reliquias quorundem sanctorum non intitulatarum. 

 

 Item, unam bursam reliquiarum in qua nichil est. 

 Item, unum caliceum et unam patinam argenti fini. 

 

 Item, archam in qua tenentur reliquie cum una servieta super dictam archam. 

 

 Item, unas endas ? ad baptizandum et pro infirmis. 

 

 Item, unum misale. 

 

 Item, tria candelabra lectori. 

 

 Item, unas endas auriguas. 

 

 Item, duas crucis quarum una est de lectori. 

 

 Item, unum vesallum novum et unam a… ? 

 

 Item, unum graduale et unum salterium ad dicendum matutinas et vesperas. 

 

 Item, decem casulas. 

 

 Item, unum paliz. 

 

 Item, unam au… … ? 

 

 Item, unam casulam honestam et albam. 

 

 Item, duas traliez galicere obroyez. 

 

 Item, quatuor aubes. 

 

 Item, certa manipolloz. 

 

 Item, unum massalae et unum salterium. 

 

 Item, unum alium salterium. 

 

 Itme, unum parvum missale. 

 

 Item, unum catellarium. 



 

 Item, unm librum vigilliarum. 

 

 Item, duas chavetas. 

 

 Item, vessillium crucis. 

 

 Item, duo sorepillit. 

 

 Item, tres chavetas pauci valoris. 

 

 Item, unam lucernam. 

 

 Item, unam aliam casulam. 

 

 Item, ymagine Beate Marie Virginis, ymagine Sancti Grati, et ymagine Sancti Mauricii, 

que predicta omnia prefatus dominus curatus accepit per inventarium et voluit et promissit 

juramento suo etc. et obligacione bonorum suorum etc. bene et decenter custoriere et bonum 

computum reddere dicto Johanni dou Tey quo supra nomine et suis successoribus cum dampnis 

etc., renunciat etc., jurat etc., datum die vicesima quinta mensis Februarii anno domini millesimo 

quingentesimo primo, with signature and paraphe of Michael Frossardi.  

 

3v 28 feb 1501, Jacobus Boveir de Corevont sells to Stephanus Cornas alias Cheres mercator 

et burgensis Melduni, cense of grain in return for 100 sols (in other words, a loan), with further 

proceedings. 

 

4 21 mar 1502, Testament:  Maria uxor Johannis Blan junioris de Brenles, burial in the 

church of St. Maurice of Mollens, universal heirs her children Petrus, Jacobus, Glaudius, 

Jaquetus, Aymo, Johanneta, Agnes, Michaela, et Jaquema, substituary heir Anthonius filius 

Johannis Blan senioris. 

 

5 31 mar 1502, Roletus Gremoz et Glaudius eius filius de Vuarmarens sell to Jacobus 

Rubat de Mollens, with further proceedings. 

 

5v 01 apr 1502, Glaudius Broschon burgensis Melduni has received from his wife 

Marguarita 24 livres dowry, for which he pledges super omnia bona sua mobilia et immobilia. 

 

6 02 and 04 apr 1502, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor sell to Jacobus 

Rubat de Mollens. 

 

6 04 apr 1502, Johannes dou Tey de Vuarmarens leases to Franciscus Connet de Montet for 

3 years, unum morsellum clausi situm in fenagio de Montet loco dicto in Clauso supra Fontem. 

 

6v 04 apr 1502, Aymo Clert alias Gavilliet sells to Anthonius Falliez de Mont, with further 

proceedings. 

 



7 08 apr 1502, Humbertus Pin et Johanneta eius uxor sells to Rodulphus Chappuys 

burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

7v 11 apr 1502, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens leases ? to Jacobus Rubat, with another similar 

transaction of the same parties. 

 

8 24 apr 1502, Nycodus Creaturaz, Ludovicus Creaturaz, Anthonius, et Humbertus 

Creaturaz filius dicti Ludovici Creaturaz, the said Humbertus with approval of his father 

Ludovicus, quitclaim to Petrus Bicholley de Chesalles, Glaudius, Franciscus, Vuilliermus, et 

Roleta children of Jacobi Rolaz et Perroneta his wife daughter of the late Vuilliermus Bicholley 

de Chesalles, for their share of the estates of the late Vuilliermus, Jaquetus, and Anthonius 

Bicholley. 

 

8v 12 may 1502, Nobilis Glaudius Gonelli antenatus, Petrus Gonelli et Glaudius Gonelli 

fratres nepotes predicti Glaudii Gonelli antenati, lease to Nobilis Johannes Champion dominus 

de Romanens et de Billens for 6 years, their tenement in territorio et fenagio deys Chavanes 

subtus Rotam, et specialiter grangiam dictorum fratrum, with further proceedings.  

 

9v 15 may 1502, Henricus Vaulet sells to Petrus Perriard de Vuybroyt, with further 

proceedings. 

 

10 17 may 1501, Colleta uxor Johannis Martin habitatoris Melduni, quitclaim to Rodulphus 

Conchit ? her brother for her share of any paternal, maternal, or fraternal inheritance to which 

she might be entitled, with assignal. 

 

10v 19 may 1502, Nycodus Cons junior de Vuarmarens sells to Nobilis Johannes Champion 

dominus de Romanens et de Billens, with another similar sale for the same parties. 

 

11 22 may 1502, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor sells to Johannes dou 

Tey de Vuarmarens, with further proceedings. 

 

12 22 may 1502, quod cum Petrus de Costel antenatus made a reconnaissance for Jacobus 

Pin notarius et burgensis Melduni for property, videlicet unam bonam posam terre in duabus 

peciis sitam in territorio de Cabanis loco dicto in laz Fin, quarum prima est just terram Guilliermi 

Rappit a parte occidentali, terram Johannis Paschit a parte orientali, terram Roleti dou Tey a parte 

boree, Item, alias est juxta terram Glaudii Murisat a parte orientali, terram Johannis Paschit a 

parte occidentali, et terram Roleti dou Tey a parte boree, the said reconnaissance recorded by 

Jacobus Cognard 17 apr 1460, now Humberta filia quondam Petri Pin uxor Boniffacii Brideri 

burgensis Melduni sells the said letter of reconnaissance to Johannes de Mont burgensis Melduni 

for 13 florins. 

 

12v 28 may 1502, Franciscus et Petrus Conet (in the title written ꝯnet, interpreted as Connet) 

de Montet, fratres, sell to Glaudius filius Anthonius dou Tey, videlicet unum morsellum terre 

continens circa duas posas terre et prati sitas in territorio de Vuarmarens loco dicto ou Marest de 

Glez ? juxta pascua communia de Vuarmarens ab oriente, viam publicam et terram Glaudii 



Marsens ab occidente, viam publicam a vento, terram Nycodi Cons ? junioris et Roleti Gremoz a 

borea. 

 

12v 30 may 1502, Nobilis Petrus Nybuli has received from Jaquetus de Giez burgensis 

Melduni, payment of debt ?  

 

13 13 jun 1502, quod cum Girardus Buctet had sold to Jacobus Pin burgensis Melduni a 

cense for 4 livres (i.e., a loan) recorded by Jacobus Cognard 03 feb 1460, and then Humbertus 

Buctet de Roczinges made a reconnaissance for that obligation for Jacobus Pin recorded by 

Petrus de Curia clericus et burgensis Melduni 30 mar 1487, now Humberta uxor Boniffacii 

Brideri burgensis Melduni filia quondam Petri Pin has received from Johannes Buctet filius dicti 

quondam Humberti Buctet repayment of the original debt of 4 livres. 

 

13 22 jun 1502, Glaudius Marsens de Vuarmarens sells to Clemens Bucty de Ursy, with 

further proceedings. 

 

13v 20 and 24 jun 1502, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor sell to Johannes 

dou Tey de Vuarmarens. 

 

14 02 jul 1502, Bernardus de Curia filius quondam Glaudii de Curia burgensis Melduni and 

Johannes Gaschet de Couflens ? , lease for 9 years, the mill of Bernardus de Curia at Ermenges 

loco dicto en Ruvinyel juxta aquam de laz Bressonaz ab oriente, communitas de Hermenges ab 

occidente… 

 

14v 10 jul 1502, Vuilliermus Frossard de Sarssens and Johannes Pictet alias Milliard de 

Olens, reciprocal quitclaim, concerns property ? of Rosa uxor Anthonii Bonduz ? de Ogens, 

complex obligation apparently originating in an instrument recorded by Petrimanus Burichet 

clericus Melduni data die Lune post Dominia Bordarum 1465. 

 

15 28 jul 1502, Bernardus de Curia filius quondam Glaudii de Curia burgensis Melduni 

constitutes as his procurator Dominus Petrus Jugi (or Ingi ?) cappellanus Melduni for 3 years. 

 

15v 04 sep 1502, Glaudia uxor Petri Burjat burgensis Yverduni filia quondam Rodulphi Conet 

de Montet quitclaims to providi viri Guido de Tecto [and … – the grammar uses the plural, so 

there should be another name here; later in the text, the brother is identified as Nycodus de 

Tecto] fratres de Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet omnia universa et singula bona sua dicte 

Glaudie paterna, materna, et fraterna omnesque et singulas actiones et raciones, porciones, et 

legitimas suas sibi competentes et competere debentes tam in bonis providi viri Vuilliermi de 

Tecto quam in bonis Agnetis uxoris dicti quondam Rodulphi Connet matris dicte Glaude qua 

teneri possent dicti fratres ac in dictis omnibus et singulis dictis bonis suis paternis, maternis, et 

fraternis quibuscunque, et est facta presens quictactio pro bono et justo precio viginti florenorum 

auri boni parviponderis etc. per dictam Glaudiam a dictis Guidone et Nycodo habitorum etc. in 

presencia dicti Vuilliermi avi sui, deventiens se etc., pro se etc., prenominates Guidonem et 

Nycodum de Tecto et suos quos supra realiter et perpetue investiendo per presentes faciens 

pactum expressum etc.  (Glaudia Connet, wife of Petrus Burjat, was the daughter of Rodulphus 

Connet and Agnes de Tecto, both deceased, and Agnes in turn was the daughter of Vulliermus de 



Tecto, grandfather of Glaudia.  As of this date, 1502, Vuilliermus was apparently still living.  The 

relationship of the brothers Guido and Nycodus de Tecto to Vulliermus is not stated, apart from 

the fact that Guido and Nycodus were apparently the surviving representatives of the late Agnes, 

daughter of Vuilliermus, conceivably the nephews or brothers of Vulliermus, if not his sons.  

Presumably there was a claim on the estate of Vulliermus because Glaudia’s mother Agnes had 

never relinquished her own interest in that estate.) 

16v 12 sep 1502, Colleta, Johannes, et Petrus filii Phillipi de Mediavilla et Ysabelle eius 

uxoris filie quondam Humberti Creaturaz et Anthonie uxoris dicti Humberti Creaturaz sororis 

quondam Vuilliermi Bicholley, Anthonii Bicholley, et Jaqueti Bicholley de Chesalles de tamen 

laude, consensu, voluntate, et auctoritate dicti Phillipi de Mediavilla eorum patri, quitclaim for 

partage. 

 

16v 13 sep 1502, Noblis Petrus de Prez filius quondam Nobilis Petri de Prez de Buloz sells to 

Nycodus Cons junior filius quondam Rodulphi Cons de Vuarmarens, cense. 

 

17 13 sep 1502, quod cum Mobilis Petrus de Prez filius quondam Nobilis Petri de Prez sold 

to Jacobus Rubat de Mollens certain censes with reachept, recorded by Johannes Sali clericus et 

burgensis Melduni 24 aug 1497, now the said Petrus de Prez sells the reachept ?  

 

17v 14 sep 1502, quod cum Petrus Oliveir de Staviaco sold to Glaudius Symon de Melduno 

unam posam tere sitam in teritorio de Staviaco, the sale recorded by Johannes Sali 04 apr 1501, 

and Agnes widow of the late Johannes Oliveir sold to the said Glaudius Symon with approval of 

her son Michael Oliveir recorded by the undersigned 22 mar 1500, now the said Glaudius Symon 

sells to Johannes Glaudius Din filius quondam Johannes Din de Staviaco. 

 

18v 19 sep 1502, Roletus de Buloz de Nerieux with approval of his wife Mermeta sells to 

Petrus Pignard habitator de Nerieux. 

 

19v 14 nov 1502, Glaudius Cordey de Cappella Voudanaz principal et Ludovicus Bussiniez 

eius fidejussor owe Ludovicus Creaturaz alias Michie junior 6 florins. 

 

19v 14 nov 1502, Guilliermus Grivet burgensis Melduni et Jaquema eius uxor owe 

Venerabilis vir Dominus Henricus de Saulens ? cappellanus Melduni, with reachept. 

 

20v 01 dec 1502, Glaudius Blan de Prevonloup sells to Anthonius filius Johannis Blan de 

Brenles, his tenement de Prevonloup quod aquisit a Anthonio Grivet de Cultilliis, with further 

proceedings. 

 

21 05 dec 1502, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor owe Jacobo Rubat for 

sale of property. 

 

21v 08 dec 1502, Boniffacius Brideri clericus et burgensis Melduni leases tenement for 9 

years to Anthonius Clot de Vuilliens, many provisions and conditions. 

 

23 08 dec 1502, Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum has received from Aymonetus 

de Canali de Ursi 63 sols, et hec de quadam licteram in qua quondam Dominus Aymo Gavillieti 



erat obligatus dicto Guidonem de summa tresdecim florenorum cum dimidio parviponderis etc., 

que quibus sexaginta et tres solidis ipsum Aymonetum quictat cum pacto etc., renuncians etc., 

jurat etc., datum ut supra. 

 

23v Die festi Sancti Thome martiris 1502, Petrus Caviot de Mollenduno ? owes Petrus Borron 

de Melduno. 

23v 06 jan 1502, Glaudius Boudin de Cappella Voudana et Marguerita eius uxor sell to 

Stephanus Cornaz alias Cheres mercator et burgensis Melduni, cense for loan of 10 livres, with 

further proceedings. 

 

24 02 feb 1502, Marriage:  Jaquetus filius Anthonii Jayet de Hermenges and Humbertus 

filius quondam Perroneti Monachi de Marterenges acting for his sister Glaudia, daughter of the 

said Perronetus, with quitclaim. 

 

25v 10 feb 1502, Dompnus Bernardus Basseti cappellanus Melduni sells to Johannes 

Drugnyens barbitonsor et burgensis Melduni. 

 

26 22 feb 1502. Jacobus Mistralis de Villario Commicte ? sells to Johannes Perrett ? (the 

name has been altered wherever it occurs, possibly to or from Perreyt) dicti loci de Villario 

Commicte, with further proceedings. 

 

26v Die perultima Februarii 1502, Ludovica relicta quondam Johannis Boveir filii quondam 

Aymonis Boveir de Corevont filia quondam Petri Pictet alias Milliard de Olens, quitclaim to 

Johannes Pictet alias Milliard de Olens et liberi Anthonii Pictet alias Milliard fratris dicti 

Johannis, in dictis bonis suis paternis, maternis, et fraternis quibuscunque cum predicto Johanni ? 

et heredibus dictorum Anthonii…, apparently Ludovica must be the sister of Johannes and 

Anthonii Pictet. 

 

26v 27 feb 1502 (die et anno quibus prope supra), Johannes Pictet alias Miliard de Olens 

owes Jacobus Boveir de Corevont, who is the son of the late Johannes Boveir and Ludovica 

Pictet. 

 

(Attached to bottom corner of fol. 26v, folded sheet of paper, written on both sides, in French: 

 Front:  16 aug 1533, Hanns Frisching ballifz de Moudon et du Pays de Vaud:  Egrege 

Michiel Frossard bourgeoys et jasdict notayre de Moudon et Françoys filz de feu Françoys filz de 

feu Jehan Perrin chappuys habitant de Villard le Contoz, nous vous saluons.  Par devers nous est 

venus Françoys Gantin dudict lieu de Villard, lequel cause et tiltre ayant de Vuillierme Mestraulx 

et de son filz nous a exposée que Jaques Mestraulx dudict lieu de Villard a venduz per la main de 

vous ledict Michiel Frossard soub grace de reachet audict Jehan Perrey allors present et stipullant 

pour luy et les syens, c’est asçavoir deux poses de terre sises au territoyre dudict Villard au 

lieudict eys Trochettes…, with reachept, recorded 22 feb 1502.  Gantin has lost the document 

and requests a copy.  Below this, subscription signed by R. de Monte.  Back:  Nous Hanns 

Frisching ballifz de Moudon …, before us appeared Françoys Gantin cause ayant de Vuillierme 

Mestraulx et de son filz, … signed by R. de Monte, with wax seal.) 

 



27v 26 feb 1502 Style of the Annunciation, Franciscus Paccocton burgensis Melduni sells to 

Johannes Buctet filius quondam Humberti Buctet de Roscinges. 

 

28 26 feb 1502, Boniffacius Brideri burgensis Melduni has received from Johannes de laz 

Crousaz grangerii sui, full payment.  The wife of Johannes is Philliberta. 

 

(Inserted here:  irregularly cut and folded piece of paper:  25 mar 1508, Petrus Julliard antenatus, 

Claudius et Franciscus Julliard de Mexieres propre Joretum sell to Stephanus Cornaz burgensis 

Melduni, vines, in vinobio Lustriaci loco dicto en Fontannaz Marseil, with signature and paraphe 

of Michael Frossard.) 

 

28v 06 mar 1502, Uldriodus Girod de Vuilliens sells to Petrus Tonney antenatus dicti loci de 

Vuilliens, with further proceedings. 

 

28v 13 mar 1502, Girardus filius quondam Michaelis Charpillioz et Nychodus filius quondam 

Johannis Charpillioz de Vuicherens nominibus suis propriis et nominibus Anthonii, Petri, 

Vuilliermi, Rodulphi, Ludovici Charpillioz ac heredum quondam Glaudii Charpillioz, sells to 

Glaudius Cavin dicti loci de Vuicherens. 

 

29 14 mar 1502, quod cum in contractu matrimonium quondam Amedei Meystre alias de laz 

Portaz et Glaudie eiusdem Amedei relicte nunc uxoris Stephani Clert burgensis Melduni, the said 

Amedeus augmented the dowry…, now Johannes Meystrez filius predictorum Amedei et 

Glaudie, and acting for his brothers Petrus et Glaudius Meystrez, cede the said dowry to their 

mother Glaudia, secured by various properties, with further proceedings. 

 

29 24 mar 1502, Testament:  Perroneta relicta quondam Petri Pictet de Nerioux, universal 

heir her son Franciscus. 

 

30 27 mar 1503, Petrus Rosset de Villarbramaz owes Anthonius Duc dicti loci.  (Note that 

the calendar in use at this point is Style of the Annunciation.) 

 

30v 28 mar 1503, Exchange:  Johannes Guillion, Aymo et Alexander Pictet fratres, Petrus 

Pignard, omnes de Nerioux and representing the commune of Nerioux, and Jacobus son of the 

late Jacobus son of the late Nycodus Monachi antentati notarii et burgensis Melduni. 

 

32 01 apr 1503, Reachetum Anthonii Aymonod, quictacione nomine Agnetis eius uxoris et 

Rodulphi filii quondam Guilliermi Blan, quod cum Humbertus Blan de Brenles et Glaudius eius 

nepos tanquem scientes et spontanei pro se et suis heredibus quibuscunque perpetue vendiderint 

Johanni et Anthonio de Mont de Chesalles fratribus, this sale recorded by Nycodus Escofferii 14 

dec 1467. 

 

33 04 apr 1503, Anthonius Feney de Nerioux sold to Petrus filius quondam Jaqueti Guillion. 

 

33v Die Lune Sancta 1503, Glaudius Essenat owes Johannes Gastabin (=Gatabin) parrochie 

Sancti Girvaisii diocesis Gebennensis. 

 



33v 03 apr 1503, Glaudius Mouriez alias Bouvin de Combremondo Parvo sold to Franciscus 

filius quondam Humberti Bertex dicti loci, with right of reachept. 

 

34 03 apr 1503 (die et anno quibus supra), promise to pay Nobilis Guilliermus Ensis for 

censes in arrears, by Petris de Chinaulx de Ursy. 

 

34 Die Lune Sancta 1503, quod cum Gaudius Marsens de Vuarmarens acting as fidejussor 

for Petrus Rubat de Mont erga Franciscum Destriez. 

 

34 Die Veneris Sancta 1503, Humbertus filius Anthonii Creaturaz rector cappelle Sancti 

Georgii fondata in ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Stephani de Melduno has received full payment 

from Glaudius Marsens. 

 

34v 22 apr 1503, Marriage:  Rodulphus filius quondam Nycodi Mongneir burgensis Melduni 

nomine suo proprio, and Jacobus Rolaz nomine et pro parte Ludovici sororis sue relicte quondam 

Johannis Bacuyt ?  

 

34v 22 apr 1503 (datum ut supra), Rodulphus Mongneir has received an inventory of the 

property that came from the late Colleta filie quondam Johannis Bacuyt et Ludovice nunc uxoris 

predicti Rodulphi Mongneir, i.e., dowry. 

 

35 22 apr 1503 (datum ut supra), Petrus Joliveti burgensis Melduni has received from 

Glaudius Boveir, all that he was owed. 

 

35 01 may 1503, donacio inter vivos, Dompnus Johannes Chometi filius Nycodi Chometi 

burgensis Melduni, to Blasius Chappuis.filius quondam Petri Chappuys burgensis Melduni. 

 

36 03 may 1503, Roletus Gindroz ? de Montagnyez owes Aymonetus Paschit et Petrus 

Paschit faber. 

 

36 15 may 1503, Glaudius Mievillaz de Ramuflons ? nunc habitator de Vouderens sells to 

Nycodus Sonney de Rogevuyt parrochie de Santi Martini Vaudi, with reachept. 

 

36v 15 may 1503, inventory of the estate of Johannes Rubat de Mollens, prepared by 

Perroneta his widow, Jacobus Rubat, Glaudius Mont, et Stephanus Detard amici consanguinei 

heredum et liberorum dicti quondam Johannis, with quitclaim by Perroneta for her share. 

 

37 02 jun 1503, Petrus Boccon ? de Melduno et Johanneta eius uxor sold to Rodulphus 

Chapuys burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

37v 12 jun 1503, Johannes Jaquier de laz Raspaz owes Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat for the 

purchase of wheat. 

 

38 04 jun 1503, Aymonetus de Chinaulx de Ursy sells to Johannes Reschoz dicti loci de 

Ursy, with reachept. 

 



38 04 jun 1503, Henricus Vaulet habitator de Villanova subtus Suprapetram sells to Glaudia 

relicta quondam Petri Phillipon. 

 

39 12 jun 1503, Franciscus filius Johannis Tappy de Pigney leases to Glaudius de Gazel for 

3 years, with further proceedings. 

 

39v 12 jun 1503 (datum ut supra retro), Petrus Tappy de Pigney leases to Glaudius de Gazel 

for 3 years. 

 

39v 13 jun 1503, Anthonius Aymonod de Brenles owes Anthonius Lombard dicti loci. 

 

39v Die Lune post festum Euchariste Christe 1503, Anthonius Creaturaz burgensis Melduni 

has received from Fransicus Connet de Montet full payment of amounts owed. 

 

40 Die Lune post festum Euchariste Christe 1503 (datum ut supra), Anthonius de Curia 

burgensis Melduni and Rodulphus Charvet (clear), contract for Anthonia, sister of Rodulphus to 

be employed as a servant for Anthonius for one year, very messy, but potentially worth 

transcribing in full.  Period of contract begins Die festi Nativitatis Beati Johannis Baptiste. 

 

40 18 jun 1503, Humbertus Burichet and Petrus de Oppens de Combremondo (but see next 

item, where apparently Petrus Dappens), apprenticeship for Petrus to learn the trade of 

cossanderius for 2 years. 

 

40v 18 jun 1503, Petrus Dappens filius quondam _____ (blank space) Dappens de 

Combremondo Parvo sells to Handi uxoris Providi viri Johannis Nycodi clerici et burgensis 

Melduni. 

 

41 25 jun 1503, Anthonius de Curia burgensis Melduni et Nycolleta eius uxor sell to 

Johannes Buctet de Roscenges, with further proceedings. 

 

41v 25 jun 1503 (die et anno quibus retro), Glaudius Mievillaz habitant de Vouderens owes 

Mermetus de Costel de Cabanis supra Meldunum. 

 

41v 25 jun 1503 (die et anno quibus proxime supra), Marriage settlement:  Andreas de laz 

Vaux mandamenti Solanchie parrochie de Marlina ?, and Jacobus Challet junior de Ermenges 

acting for his sister Johanneta filia quondam Johanns Challet now the wife of the said Andreas, 

quitclaim for her share of inheritance, with further proceedings. 

 

42v 05 jun 1503, Petrus Malliet parrochie de Chastilliens sells to Petrus Perriard de Vuybroyt, 

with further proceedings.  

 

43 02 sep 1503, Johannes de Vaux burgensis de Lucens sells to Nobilis Johannes de Villarsel 

domicellus de Lucens. 

 

43 Die festi Sancti Mauricii 1503, Petrus Rubat saltor de Mollens owes Jacobus Rubat dicti 

loci. 



 

43v 02 oct 1503, Venerabilis Dompnus Ludovicus Monachi cappellanus Rote et Guilliermus 

Monachi fratres have received from Francesia relicta quondam Bartheolomei Leveti clerici et 

burgensis Rote acting as tutrix liberorum dicti quondam Bartholomei, various valuables which 

they will hold in custody. 

 

43v 04 sep 1503, Dispute and settlement:  Jacobus de Sarsens antenatus dicti loci de Sarsens, 

and Johannes filius quondam Nycolleti de Sarsens dicti loci. 

 

45 06 nov 1503, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Generis curatus de Dinisiez has received 

payment from Johannes Girod, 10 livres from a larger sum owed. 

 

45v 07 nov 1503, Partage:  Glaudius Rotaz de Combremondo Magno and Perroneta soror 

dicti Glaudii, with further proceedings. 

 

46v 16 nov 1503, quod cum Jacobus Vallacrest burgensis Melduni had sold to Glaudius de 

Curia burgensis Melduni, the sale recorded by Johannes Escofferii 22 jan 1469, and then 

Anthonius son of the said Glaudius de Curia sold the said instrument to Nobilis Jacobus 

Vallacrest domicellus et burgensis Melduni, in a transaction recorded by Rodulphus Joliveti 05 

may 1503, and Johannes Mistralis faber de Tierrens held 2 poses adjacent to property of 

Vallacrest, who quitclaims his interest in them to Mistralis ?  

 

47 20 nov 1503, Dompnus Jacobus Escofferii cappellanus Melduni and Johannes Sarrectaz 

de Bussy, reciprocal settlement. 

 

47v 20 nov 1503, Nobilis Petrus de Sancto Germano quondam receptor Nobilis Johannis de 

Staviaco domini de Bussy et condomini de Mexieres… has received from Ludovicus Corboz 7½ 

florins. 

 

47v 27 nov 1503, Settlement, Huguetus (or Hugo) filius quondam Vuilliermi Huguet habitator 

de Cabanis supra Meldunum and Glaudia relicta quondam Laurencii Fallioz de Mont, negotiated 

by Guido de Tecto and Johannes Jaquod carpentator habitator de Cabanis supra Meldunum, 

apparently the two parties are to be married, it may be that their marriage settlement was in 

dispute. 

 

48v 27 nov 1503, Marriage, Hugo filius quondam Vuilliermi Huguet nunc residens de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, and Glaudia relicta quondam Laurencii Fallioz de Mont. 

 

49 28 nov 1503, Phillippus de Mediavilla de Melduno has received from Petrus Bicholley de 

chesalles full payment. 

 

49v 14 dec 1503, Petrus Rappit de Cabanis supra Meldunum nunc residens de Melduno sells 

to Guido de Tecto, several parcels, with further proceedings. 

 



50 01 jan 1503, Marriage, Petrus de Tecto de Vuarmarens filius quondam Anthonii de 

Tecto de Pallexioux, and Glaudius filius Petri Gasconel de Mollens nomine Rolete filie dicti 

Petri Gasconel his sister. 

 

51 25 jan 1503, Marriage, Glaudius filius quondam Johannis Chevalley de Chamtouroz, and 

Franciscus filius quondam Humberti Bectex de Combremondo Parvo nomine Francesie filie 

predicti quondam Humberti Bectex, with assignment of dowry and quitclaim. 

 

53 31 jan 1503, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez de Rota has recived from Alexandrus Pictet de 

Nerioux 60 sols in deduction from censes in arrears that Pictet owes. 

 

53 05 feb 1503, Johannes filius quodnam Humberti Buctet de Roscenges and Anthonius 

Limat de Soctens nomine Marguerite neptis sue filie quondam Nycodi Limat de Cappella 

Voudana, with quitclaim. 

 

54v 05 feb 1503, Hugo filius quondam Humberti Buctet de Reoscinges and Petrus filius 

quondam Nycodi Limat de Cappella Voudana nomine Anthonie sororis sue filii predicti quondam 

Nycodi Limat, with quitclaim. 

 

55v 06 feb 1503, Hudriodus Girod de Vuilliens sells to Glaudius Cavan de Vuicherens. 

 

56 26 feb 1503 and 28 oct 1504, Lictera communitatis de Cabanis:  Fiat licteram cum 

omnibus et clausulis opportunis, quod Anthonius Fallioz de Mont, Jaqueta eius uxor filia 

quondam Petri Caschat, et Glaudius filius quondam Nycoleti Caschat de Mont, scientes etc., pro 

se etc., dicta Jaqueta de laude, auctoritate, et voluntate predicti Anthonii Fallioz viri sui, vendunt 

perpetue seque debere et solvere teneri legitime confitentur providis viris Guidone de Tecto, 

Nycodo Veyrit, Petro Veyrit alias dou Russel, et Glaudio de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum 

tanquam actores et gubernatores ville et communitatis dicti loci de Cabanis nomineque et ad 

opus dicte communitatis pro reparacione cappele Beate Marie Virginis dicti loci de Cabanis 

presentibus pro se et suis successoribus quibuscunque, videlicet quatuor solidos Lausannensium 

bonorum annui et perpetui redditus census.  Est autem facta presens vendicio pro bono justo et 

legitimo precio quatuor librarum bonarum Lausannensium bone monete cursibilis in patria 

Vuaudi habitarum etc., quequidem quatuor libre sunt de legatis inferius desi[g]natis,  

 

 Primo, viginti solidi monete predicte sunt de legato predicti Guidonis de Tecto et 

quondam Nycodi de Tecto eius fratris, viginti solidi sunt de legato dicti Nycodi Veyrit, alii viginti 

solidi sunt de legato quondam Nycodi Veyrit patris dicti Petir Veyrit, alii vero viginti solidi sunt 

de legato dicti Glaudii de Tecto qui legavit nomine suo et predecessorum suorum, et … 

(uncertain script, presumably meaning “the remaining”) quatuor solidi Lausannensium bonorum 

census predicti Anthonius, Jaqueta, et Glaudius venditores semper de auctoritate quo supra 

solvere premictunt juramentis suis etc., et obligacione bonorum suorum etc., quilibet ipsorum 

insolidum predictis gubernatoribus de Cabanis et suis successoribus aut gubernatoris qui pro 

tempore futuro fuerit seu probis hominibus de dictis Cabanis semper et perpetue in quolibet festo 

Sancti Martini Yemalis omni exceptione remote, pro quibus quidem melius persolvendos 

dederunt prenominati venditores bonos et ydoneos fidejurrores, scilicet Glaudium Marsens de 

Vuarmarens, et Hugonem Nuguet habitatorem de Mont…, with reachept. 



 

56v 26 feb 1503, similar sale by the above to the confratria Sancti Spiritus de Mollens, with 

reachept. 

 

57v 04 apr 1504, Magister Johannes Crespi has received from Johannes Creaturaz burgensis 

Melduno 60 sols. 

 

57v 14 apr 1504, Marriage:  Petrus filius Glaudii Jaquier alias Davin de Mexieres, and 

Johannes Tissot parrochie de Giez Gebennensis dyocesis nunc habotator Melduni nomine 

Anthonie filie quondam Rodulphi Berthod dicte parrochie con[g]ate sue dicti Johannis. 

 

58v 14 apr 1504, Venerabilis vir Dominus Jacobus de Staviaco curatus Melduni conveys to 

Stephanus Clert burgensis Melduni and his wife Glaudia, unam sepulturam in ecclesia Sancti 

Stephani de Melduni juxta parvam portam a parte campanille ante altare Sancti Jacobi, de 

longitudine et latitudine septem pedum jure tamen quarumcumque personnarum …, for annual 

rent of 12 denarios. 

 

58v 30 apr 1504, Jacobus Monachi clericus et burgensis Melduni has received from 

Franciscus Frossard de Sarsens filius quondam Petri Frossard, full repayment of an obligation 

owed by the late Nycodus Monachi burgensis Melduni to the late Petrus Frossard 

 

59 01 may 1504, Petrus Rosset de Villabramay owes Johannes Duc filius Francisci Duc 15 

florins for a loan. 

 

59 01 may 1504, Anthonius Vaulet dou Crespillioux sells to Petrus Perriard de Vuybroyt 

 

59v 10 may 1504, Dispute and settlement, Aymo Clert alias Gavilliet de Mont, and Hugo 

filius quondam Vuilliermi Huguet nunc habitator de Mont, right of redemption from a sale, with 

further proceedings. 

 

61 12 apr 1504, Jacobus de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens et Anthonius eius filius sell to 

Nobilis Johannes de Villarsel de Lucens. 

 

61v 12 apr 1504 (datum ut supra), Glaudius Magnynens alias de Pagnissieaz de Chardonaz 

owes Johannes de laz Fontannaz. 

 

61v 22 mai 1504, Dispute and settlement, Nobilis Guilliermus Ensis and Johannes Martin de 

Aglerain. 

 

62 22 may 1504, Fiat licteram cum omnibus clausulis suis opportunis, quod Nycolletus de 

Tecto de Villar lez Terrioux filius quondam Glaudii de Tecto filii quondam Jacobi de Tecto sciens 

etc., pro se etc., quictat perpetue et dimictit Glaudium de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum 

presentem pro se etc., videlicet omnia universa et singula bona sua dicti Nycolleti paterna, 

materna, et fraterna omnesque et singulas actiones, raciones, portionesque, et legitimas suas sibi 

competentes et competere debentes cum dicto Glaudio in dictis omnibus et singulis bonis suis 

paternis, maternis, et fraternis quibuscunque, salva tamen et reservata sibi dicto Nycolleto et suis 



heredibus legitima excheta dum modo evenire contingint.  Est autem facta presens huiusmodo 

quictacio pro bona et legitima satisfacione habita etc., devestiens se etc., promictens juramento 

suo etc., et obligacione bonorum suorum etc., premissa omnia et singulia quictata rata grata 

habere tenere etc., pactum facimus etc., renuncians etc., jurans etc., datum ut supra.  (This 

transaction gives the origin of the Dutoit family at Villars-le-Terroir.) 

 

62v 01 sep 1504, quod cum Petrus de Costel alias Bellaz et Johannes de Costel alias Bellaz 

eius filius de Cabanis supra Meldunum… confessi sunt de tenere et possidere ad censum annuum 

perpetuum a Boniffacio Brideri et Humberta eius uxore filie quondam Providi vidi Petri Pin 

clerici et burgensis Melduni… , videlicet res et possessiones infralimitatas sitas et jacentes in 

fenagio et territorio dicti loci de Cabanis supra Meldunum,  

 

 Et primo, unum morsellum prati situm loco dicto auz Praz dou Passioux juxta pratum 

Guilliermi Rappit ab oriente, pratum Roleti Veyrit ab occidente, et affrontat les marests de 

Orgevaux a vento, et pratum dicti Roleti et Petri Bralliard a borea. 

 

 Item, unum alium morsellum prati situm loco dicto eys Communallies juxta pratum 

Glaudii Murissat ab oriente et borea, pratum Jacobi de Tecto a vento, prout partitur ad rubat. 

 

 Item, unum alium morsellum prati situm loco dicto ou Bruyt subtus villam juxta 

planchiam Petri de Costel a parte ville de Cabanis, pratum Petri Bralliard et dicti confitentis a 

parte inferiori, et affrontat prato Johannis Paschit ab oriente, et pratum Johannis Aguex alias 

Moctet ab occidente, qui morsellus partitur ad rubat cum Johanne Paschit cum uno alio morsello 

prati sito in eodem loco prope de longitudine prati Johanis Paschit et dicti Petri de Costel a parte 

ville de dictis Cabanis juxta pratum dictorum confitentium a parte inferiori, et affrontat prato 

Jacobi de Tecto ab oriente. 

 

 Item, unum alium morsellum prati situm loco dicto ouz Pra Dyn subtus villam de Cabanis 

prout partitur ad rubat cum Johanne Paschit juxta pratum Jacobi de Tecto quem acquisit a 

Rodulpho Cerjat domicello Melduni, et pratum Roleti Veyrit ab oriente, pratum dictorum 

confitencium et Glaudii Murissat ab occidente a parte ville de Cabanis. 

 

 Item, tale jus quem habent in uno morsello prati sito loco dicto eys Communallies ou 

Bruyt de dictis Cabanis juxta pratum Jacobi de Tecto ab oriente, pratum dictorum confitencium 

ab occidente. 

 

 Item, unum morsellum prati situm loco dicto en Crousaz subtus iter de Crousaz juxta 

ochiam illorum de Curia ab occidente, ochiam dictorum confitencium ab oriente, et affrontat 

ochie Petri Bralliard et Anthonii de Costel a vento. 

 

 63 Item, unam peciam terre sitam loco dicto en Durel juxta terram Guilliermi Rappit 

ab oriente, terram Petri Bralliard et dicti Petri de Costel ab occidente, affrontat terre Johannis 

Paschit a vento, et iter publicum a borea. 

 



 Item, en laz Fin circa unam posam terre loco dicto ou Sendeir juxta terram Petri Bralliard 

ab oriente, terram Rodulphi Veyrit ab occidente, affrontat terre Glaudii Murissat a vento, et 

terram Anthonii de Costel a borea. 

 

 Item, eys Trou ? dimidiam posam terre juxta terram Johannis Paschit ab occidente, terram 

Rodulphi Veyrit ab oriente, affrontat prato dicti Petri de Costel a borea. 

 

 Item, tale jus, accionem, racionem, quas habent in decima de Curia de dictis Cabanis. 

 Item, duas posas tam terre quam parti sitas in Campos de Balma juxta pratum Rodulphi 

Veyrit, Glaudii Murissat, et juxta pratum dicti Johannis de Costel a vento, et justa (sic) iter de 

Balma a borea, et affrontat clauso Johannis Moctet alias Aguex ab oriente, terram Jacobi de 

Tecto et Petri Bralliard ab occidente. 

 

 Item, en laz Puczat circa unam posam terre juxta terram Johannete uxoris Johannis de 

Sarvion domicelli Melduni ab oriente, terram Jacobi de Tecto ab occidente, et affrontat iteneri de 

Plan a borea, terram Petri Bralliard a vento. 

 

 Item, en laz Biolleyrit unam posam terre juxta terram Johannis Aguex ab oriente, terram 

dicte Johannete ab occidente, et affrontat terre dicti Petri confitentis a borea, et terram Guilliermi 

Rappis a vento. 

 

 Item, en Ferrajoz dimidiam posam terre juxta terram Petri Bralliard ab oriente, terram 

dicti Petri confitentis ab occidente, et affrontat terre Rodulphi Veyrit a borea, et terram Anthonii 

de Costel a vento. 

 

 Item, in eodem loco au Ferrajoz unam posam tere vel circa juxta terram Roleti Veyrit ab 

oriente, planchiam Johannis Paschit ab occidente, et affrontat terre dicti Johannis confitentis a 

borea, terram Rodulphi Veyrit a vento. 

 

 63v Item, loco dicto supra Fayt unam posam cum dimidia terre juxta terram Johannis 

Aguex ab oriente, terram Petri Bralliard ab occidente, affrontat terre dicti Petri confitentis a 

vento, et loz Boz dou Devens a borea. 

 

 Item, unam posam terre sitam eys Chanel Soulemon juxta terram Roleti Veyrit ab oriente, 

terram Johannis Moctet ab occidente, affrontat terre predicte Johannete a borea, et metodem ? de 

Mollens a vento. 

 

 Item, en Rion Bos medietatem quinque posarum nemoris juxta nemus Guilliermi Rappit 

ab oriente, nemus Nycodi de Costel a vento, de longitudine nemoris Johannis Aguex ab 

occidente, nemus hospitalis Melduni a borea. 

 

 Item, en Vautinyerez medietatem duarum posarum nemoris juxta nemus Anthonii de 

Curia ab oriente, nemus dicti hospitalis a borea, et nemus dicte Johannete ab occidente, nemus 

eciam Guilliermi Rappit ab occidente, affrontat nemus Johannis Paschit et Anthonii Carrel ? a 

vento. 

 



 Item, unum morsellum terre continentem circa quatuor posas tam terre quam prati sitas in 

Balma supra iter ab occidente, et loz Devens ab oriente, terram Johannis Bollion clerici a vento, 

et terram Johannis Joliveti notarii et burgensis Melduni a borea, prout dicti res et possessiones in 

longum protendunter et in latum, cum suis fondis etc., et hoc sub censu annuo perpetuo trium 

cuparum et unius quarteroni messelli ad mensuram Melduni annui et perpetui redditus census, 

quem censum predicte pater et filius recognoscentes solvere promiserunt pro se etc. juramentis 

suis etc., et obligacione rerum et possessionum predictarum prefatis Boniffacio Brideri et 

Humberte conjugibus et suis heredibus annis singulis et perpetue in quolibet festo Sancti Martini 

Yemalis omnia exceptione remota, prout hoc omnia alias in lictera dicte recognictionis recepta 

levata et signata per Providum virum Johannem Nycati clericum et burgensem Melduni data die 

ultima mensis Apprilis anno domini millesimo quatercentesimo nonagesimo nono (30 apr 1499) 

plenius continetur. 

 

 64 Successive, vero Boniffacius Brideri filius quondam Anthonii Brideri clerici et 

burgensis Melduni et Humberta eius uxor filia quondam Petri Pin filii quondam Providi viri 

Jacobi Pin notarii et burgensis Melduni tanquam scientes et spontanei pro et etc. quictunt 

ipsorum insolidum, dicta Humberta de laude et auctoritate dicti Boniffacii viri suis, vendiderunt, 

cesserunt, et dimiserunt Provido viro Guidoni de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum presenti 

ementi pro se etc., videlicet predesi[g]natum censum meselli unacum rebus et proprietatibus pro 

quibus ipse census debentur, una eciam cum omnibus juribus, actionibus, racionibus, et querelis 

ipsis et heredibus suis in premissis omnibus per ipsos conjuges habentibus et in futurum habituris 

quibuscunque, et fuerit facta dicta vendicio pro precio triginta duorum florenorum auri 

parviponderis, quilibet floreno valente duodecim solidos monete Lausanne, per dictos conjuges a 

dicto Guidone emptore habitorum et receptorum in bona pecunia munerata, devestaverunt se etc., 

mandaverunt etc, promisiant juramentis suis etc., et obligacione bonorum suorum etc., dicta 

Humberta de auctoritate qua supra, perpetue manuteneri ab omnibus et contra omnes in omnis 

judicio et extra puri et liberi acque facere valere …, prout hec omnia et alia in lictera dicte 

vendicionis recepta levata et signata per Providum virum Rodulphum Joliveti clericum et 

burgensem Melduni ballivie Vuaudi juratum, date die duodecima mensis Novembers anno 

deomini millesimo quinquagesimo secundo (12 nov 1502) plenius continetur,  

 

 Hinc est quod Guido de Tecto predictus sciens etc., pro se etc., vendit, cedit, et dimictit 

perpetue predicto Johannis de Costel alias Bellaz dicti loci de Cabanis supra Meldunum presenti 

pro se etc., videlicet censum predictum cum rebus et propretatibus pro quibus devetur, et est 

facta presens huiusmodo vendicio pro bono justo precio quadraginta florenorum auri boni 

parviponderis etc., per ductum Guidonem venditorem a dicto Johanne emptore habiturum etc., 

devestiens se etc., promictens juramento suo etc., et obligacione bonorum suorum etc., … datum 

die prima mensis Septembris anno domini millesimo quingentesimo quarto (01 sep 1504), with 

signature and paraphe of Michael Frossard. 

 

64v 02 sep 1504, Marriage:  Glaudius Cavin de Vuicherens nomine Glaudii Cavin filii sui 

parrochie de Syens, and Jaquetus Pisczon ? de Rueriz parrochie de Sales nomine Jaquete filie 

sue, with assignation and quitclaim. 

 

65v 05 oct 1504, Dispute and settlement, Humbertus Broyt alias Clemenczat de Profondavalle 

and Petrus Mirissat de Combremondo Magno. 



 

66v 27 oct 1504, Rodulphus Fraschat alias Chastellain sutor et burgensis Melduni, donation to 

his wife Ysabella. 

 

67 19 oct 1504, Petrus filius Glaudii Jaquier alias Cavin has received from Anthonia his 

wife, assignation of dowry. 

 

67v 01 dec 1504, Dispute and settlement, Nycodus Creaturaz burgensis Melduni et Jacobus 

Burdey ? (name suspected to be Bindey, but the script discovered so far is indistinct) de Lucens 

and Rodulphus Raboz de Cultilles. 

 

68 02 dec 1504, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens leases to Roduldphus Chavet de Mont for one 

year. 

 

68 02 dec 1504 (datum ut supra), Vuilliermus filius Glaudii Cardinal de Sancto Martino 

Vuaudi owes Johannes doux Brex de Tierrens. 

 

68v 03 dec 1504, Johannes Bel burgensis de Lucens sindicus et gubernator ville et 

communitatis de Lucens et eo nomine leases to Jacobus Besectaz burgensis de Lucens for one 

year, hospitale pauperum Beatorum Marie, Anthonii et Elegii de Lucens, for 44 livres. 

 

69 09 dec 1504, Stephanus Cornaz has received from Johannes Cordey de Cappella Voudana 

full payment. 

 

69 22 dec 1504, Marriage:  Jacobus Rubat de Mollens, and Vuilliermus filius quondam 

Nycod dou Russel de Chesalles nomine Perrissone sororis sue filie dicti quondam Nycodi dou 

Russel, with further proceedings. 

 

(Fol. 69v is followed by fol. 80, a not uncommon numbering error.) 

 

81 08 jan 1504, Petrus Bellaz, Guido de Tecto, Glaudius de Tecto, Nycodus Veyrit, Nycodus 

Reschoz, Aymonetus de Chinaulx, Johannes de Chinaulx, Petrus Girard, Nycodus Cons, 

Rodulphys Saloz, Petrus Gasconel, Jacobus Rubat, Glaudius Rubat, Humbertus Frossard, 

Anthonius Aymonod, Glaudius Decimatoris (=Demierre), Petrus Charvet, et Petrus Rubat de 

Mont probihomines et parrochiarii ecclesie Sancti Mauricii de Mollens nomine et ad opus dicte 

parrochie hominibus suis et aliorum proborum hominium dicte parrochie de Mollens, consilium 

tenentes pro negociis dicte parrochie, appoint Petrus Decimatoris et Glaudius Dey alias Mont as 

procuratores, sindicos, et gubernatores ac nuncios dicte parrochie et communitatis eiusdem, for 1 

year. 

 

81v 03 feb 1504, Humbertus Monachey filius quondam Perroneti Monachey de Martherenges 

has received from Glaudia uxor sua filia quondam Johannies Ogueyz de Brenles per manum 

Providi viri Humberti Frossard, dowry. 

 

82 (no date, “nichil valet, verte folium”), Jaquetus Mongneir de Escublens sells to Petrus de 

Sancto Germano domicellus Melduni. 



 

82v 05 feb 1504, Jaquetus Mongneir de Escublens sells to Petrus de Sancto Germano 

domicellus Melduni, with reachept. 

 

83 16 feb 1504, Petrus Bicholley de Chesalles has received from Jacobus Clot de 

Preyvondyn for dowry of Stephana soror dicti Jacobi uxor dicti Petri. 

 

83 17 feb 1504, dispute and settlement, Glaudius Broschon burgensis Melduni and 

Richardus et Anthonius Broshon dicti Anthonii nomine suo et Johannis Broschon, with further 

proceedings. 

 

84 22 feb 1504, Vuilliermus Rebatel de Arlens and Glaudius Perusset de Gillarens, 

agreement. 

 

85 22 feb 1504, Johannes Jouraz alias Chebre de Curson ? parrochie de Villettaz sells to 

Johannes Buctet filius quondan Humberti Buctet de Roscinges, vines, with further proceedings. 

 

85v 22 feb 1504 (die et anno quibus supra), Jacobus Burichet burgensis Melduni has received 

from Petrus Encroz filius quondam Petri Encroz junioris… 

 

85v 05 mar 1504, Ludovica relicta quondam Johannis Bacuit carpentatoris Melduni nunc uxor 

Rodulphi Mongneir, Jacobus Rolaz nominibus suis et Collete filie dicti quondam Johannis 

Bacuyt et dicti Ludovice, and Glaudius Juguet de Corselles (Corsalles), regarding marriage of 

Colleta to Glaudius, with further proceedings. 

 

86 10 mar 1504, Nobilis Petrus de Prez filius quondam Nobilis Petri de Prez domicelli de 

Buloz sells to Johannes de Mont sutor et burgensis Melduni, all the censes that Johannes and his 

wife Francesia owe to the noble Petrus, not individually specified. 

 

86v 10 mar 1504 (die et anno quibus retro), Johannes Burgnat ? filius quondam Anthonii 

Burgnat ? de Sancto Ciriaco wells to Glaudius filius quondam Johannis Dyn dicti loci de Sancto 

Ciriaco. 

 

86v 17 mar 1504, Jacobus Limat de Cappella Voudana nomine suo proprio et Petri Limat eius 

nepotis sells to Johannes Buctet filius quondam Humberti Buctet de Roscinges, with further 

proceedings. 

 

87v 14 apr 1505, Nobilis Johannes de Villarsel dominus de Deley, and Franciscus Frossard 

filius quondam Petri Frossard de Sarsens, exchange. 

 

88 14 apr 1505, Petrus Rubat saltor de Mollens leases for 9 years from Rodulphus filius 

quondam Johannis Rubat de Mollens. 

 

88v 14 apr 1505 (datum ut supra), Johannes Conchit et Rodulphus Conchit eius filius testores 

(=textores) Melduni sell to Venerabilis vir Jacobus Fraschat cappellanus Melduni rector et eo 

nomine cappelle Sancti Elegii de Melduno. 



 

89 14 apr 1505, Nobilis Jacobus Vallacrest domicellus et burgensis Melduni sells to 

Venerabilis vir Dominus Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni, various censes owed by others, with 

further proceedings. 

 

90 21 apr 1505, Jacobus Pin notarius et burgensis Melduni, accensation for Guilliermus 

Forestier residens apud Tierrens, various properties at Tierrens. 

91v 22 apr 1505, Anthonius Martini alias de Agleran with approval of his wife Maria leases 

for 15 years to Reymondus Perrinnier ? mercator Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

92 02 may 1505, Henricus Pasxie dou Sougi sells to Hugo Huguet habitator de Mont ?  

 

92 03 may 1505, Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat domicellus Melduni sells to Stephanus Cler 

burgensis Melduni. 

 

92v 04 may 1505, Anthonius Phillipon de Montelleir parrochie Sancti Simphorani sells to 

Johannes filius quondam Petri Phillippon frater suus. 

 

92v 05 may 1505, Ludovicus Chappuys munerius de Vuilliens et Glaudius eius filius sell to 

Petrus dou Bos de Vuicherens, with further proceedings. 

 

93 08 may 1505, Petrus de Tecto antenatus de Cabanis suipra Meldunum sells to Glaudius de 

Tecto nepos suus dicti loci de Cabanis, videlicet unum morsellum prati situm in fenagio dicti loci 

de Cabanis loco dicto eys Planches Françoys juxta pratum Francesie uxoris Johannis de Mont ab 

oriente, terram Johannis de Mont et dicti emptoris ab occidente, pratum Guidonis de Tecto a 

borea et vento, for 25 florins, with further proceedings.  (Here we learn that one Glaudius de 

Tecto is the nephew of Petrus de Tecto antenatus, who is elsewhere identified as the father of the 

other Glaudius de Tecto.  The Glaudius who is the son of Petrus is Glaudius junior, and the other 

Glaudius, antenatus or senior, is the son of Nycodus de Tecto, from the present document a 

brother of Petrus.) 

 

93v 02 jun 1505, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor sell to Jacobus Rubat de 

Mollens. 

 

93v 28 oct 1505, Rodulphus Mongneir et Ludovica eius uxor, and Glaudius Jugnet de 

Corsalles nomine Collete filie quondam Johannis Bacuyt, partage. 

 

94 09 oct 1505, quod cum Jacobus Pin notarius et burgensis Melduni made an accensation 

for Guilliermus Foresteir residens apud Tierrens, in a document recorded by Anthonius Brideri 

clericus et burgensis Melduno 03 apr 1473, now Francesia filia quondam Jacobi Pin uxor 

Johannis Grivat sells these censes to Anthonius filius quondam Vuilliermi Foresteir de Tierrens. 

 

95 12 nov 1505, Petrus et Anthonius de Curia fratres filii quondam Glaudii de Curia 

burgensis Melduni nominibus suis et fratrum suorum sell to Johannes Bacuyt et Henrieta eius 

uxor, their house in Moudon. 

 



96 17 nov 1505, Petrus Chappuys antenatus et Petrus Chappuys junoir de Olens 

acknowledge that they hold certain properties that were from the estate of Jacobus and Anthonius 

Chappuys de Olens for 30 years. 

 

96v 20 nov 1505, quod cum Dompnus Boniffacius Crespy curatus Castelli in Fruencia tam 

nomine suo quam nomine Providi viri Magistri Johannis Crespy virtute acte habere per dictum 

Johannem eodem Domino Boniffacio … sold to Jacobus Pin burgensis Melduni, videlicet totum 

tenementum dicti Magistri Johannis Crespy situm apud Cuiltilliez…, citing a document recorded 

by Rodulphus Joliveti 10 aug 1474, and then prefatus Magister Johannes Crespy as heir of the 

said late Dominus Boniffacius sold the letter of reachept to Boniffacius Brideri, recorded by 

Jacobus Monachi clericus Melduni 05 jun 1501, now the said Boniffacius Brideri sells to Nobilis 

Johannes de Villarsel domicellus de Lucens dominus de Delley. 

 

97v Die Lune post festum Sancti Andree 1505, quod cum Humbertus de Sarandens clericus et 

burgensis Melduni traxerit in causam coram domino castellano Rote Anthonium Fallioz de Mont 

de et super uno arreo alias pertinente quondam Anthonio et Johanni dou Plan, hinc est quod 

mediante tractatu amicabili certorum proborum hominum dictus Humbertus de Sraandens sciens 

etc., pro se etc. quictat perpetue dictum Anthonium Fallioz presenti pro se etc. de dicto arreo… 

 

98 05 dec 1505, Johannes Marco de Vuilliens sells to Petrus dou Bos de Vuycherens. 

 

98v 12 jan 1505, Stephanus Cornaz alias Cheres burgensis Melduni, considering his mortality, 

donation to the clergy of the church of St. Stephen Protomartyr to be used for the foundation of a 

requiem mass. 

 

100v 12 jan 1505, Venerabilis Petrus de Rapa procurator et eo nomine venerabilis cleri 

Melduni sells cense to Venerabilis Jacobus de Staviaco curatus Melduni, with further 

proceedings. 

 

101 26 jan 1505, Glaudius Porchet de Melduno et Petrus Porchet eius filius sell to Johannes 

Buctet filius quondam Humberti Buctet de Rosczinges. 

 

102 17 jan 1505, Johannes Gilliand faber Melduni and Johannes Buctet filius quondam 

Humberti Buctet de Rosczinges, exchange, with further proceedings. 

 

103v 11 feb 1505, Petrus Jayet filius quondam Roleti Jayet sutor et burgensis Melduni with 

approval of his wife Stephana sells to Johannes de Mont sutor et burgensis Melduni. 

 

104 16 feb 1505, Marriage:  Jacobus de laz Crousaz habitator de Brenles parrochie de 

Mollens, and Perroneta relicta quondam Petri Mocquan ac Sermodus filius dictorum conjugum 

nomine Glaudie filie dictorum conjugum sororis dicti Sermodi, with quitclaim. 

 

105 05 mar 1505 and Die Dominico de Occuli 1506, Dispute and settlement, Nobilis 

Guilliermus Espaz domicellus et burgensis Melduni, and Jacobus Burdey ? (name suspected to 

be Bindey, but the script discovered so far is indistinct) de Lucens. 

 



107v 30 mar 1506, Petrus filius quondam Johannis Chollet de Lovatens sells to Glaudius filius 

Johannis Germon dicti loci, with further proceedings. 

 

108v 30 mar 1506, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor sell to Jacobus Rubat de 

Mollens, with further proceedings. 

 

109 06 apr 1506, Johannes Grivet de Lucens sells to Katherina relicta quondam Rodulphi 

Veyrit sutoris et burgensis Melduni, property at Curtilles, with further proceedings. 

109v 09 apr 1506, Jacobus de Sarsens antenatus dicti loci de Sarsens et Jacobus eius filius sell 

to Glaudius Oliveir de Chesalles, with further proceedings. 

 

110 16 apr 1506, Johannes Marco de Vuilliens sells to Johanes Bovet ? de Auborenges, all of 

his tenement at Vuilliens, with further proceedings. 

 

111 01 may 1506, Johannes Buctet filius quondam Humberti Buctet de Roscinges and Hugo 

dou Bos filius quondam Glaudii dou Bos dicti loci de Roscinges, donation to Venerabilis 

Dominus Johannes Carradi curatus de Syens nomine et ad opus ecclesie Sancti Martini de Syens, 

for the establishment of an annual requiem mass for the said Johannes Buctet die Jovis post 

festum Sancti Petri in Cathedra, and for the said Hugo dou Bos die crastina festi Sancti Georgii. 

 

111v Johannes de Praz de Vuilliens sells to Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Carrad curatus 

parrochialis ecclesie de Syens nomine et ad opus dicti parrochialis ecclesie, censes funded by the 

donations in the previous item (thus establishing an income from that donation), with further 

proceedings. 

 

112 11 may 1506, Hudriodus Girod de Vuilliens sells to Glaudius Cavin de Vuicheren, with 

further proceedings. 

 

112v 19 may 1506, Anthonius Clemenczat alias Broyt de Profondavalle sells to Venerabilis 

Dominus Johannis Generis curatus de Dinisiez rector cappelle hospitalis cappelle Sancti 

Bernardi de Melduno nomine et ad opus dicte cappelle Sancti Bernardi, censes based on previous 

bequests, notably from the late Girardus Buctet and from the late Anthonia uxor Ludovici de 

Martherenges, with further proceedings. 

 

113v 25 may and 02 jun 1506, Ludovicus Paschit faber et burgensis Melduni sells to Stephanus 

Clert chappellarius et burgensis Melduni. 

 

114 15 jun 1506, quod cum Johannes Pictipan faber Melduni et Philliberta eius uxor donated 

to Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Generis cappellanus curatus de Dinisiez rectorque cappelle 

Sancti Bernardi Montisjovis fondata in villa Melduni, this donation recorded by Johannes Sali 

clericus et burgensis Melduni 09 jan 1500, and successively prefatus Dominus Johannes Generis 

predictus virtute dicti donacionis sold to Johannes Girod de Molondin various properties 

recorded by the undersigned [Michael Frossard] 13 jul 1502, now the said Johannes Girod de 

Molondyn sells to Aymo Guidoz ? parrochie de Abere diocesis Gebennensis the said properties, 

with further proceedings.  (See above, DL 43/2 fol. 68, for the sale of 1502.)  

 



116v 25 jun 1506, quod cum Humbertus de Sarandens with approval of his mother Glaudia 

relictaque Henrici de Sarandens clerici et burgensis Melduni sold to Johannes Julliard many 

properties, with additional right of reachept, these transactions recorded by Johannes Sali 

clericus et burgensis Melduni 20 oct 1489, and then the said Humbertus de Sarandens with 

appropval of his wife Guilliermeta sold to Bartholomeus Leveti alias de Orons clericus et 

burgensis Rote the said properties and rights along with others specified here, again recorded by 

Johannes Saly 05 jun 1493, now Nycodus filius quondam Bartholomei Leveti clerici et burgensis 

Rote nomine suo et Petri et Michaelis fratrum suorum sells to Petrus filius quondam predicti 

Johannis Gilliard (=Julliard !) the said rights, with further proceedings. 

 

121 29 jul 1506, Marriage:  Petrus filius quondam Anthonii de Tecto de Vuarmarens and 

Jacobus Rubat de Mollens nomine Rolete filie sue, with quitclaim, no other family members 

mentioned. 

 

122v 29 jul 1506 (datum ut supra), Glaudius filius Roleti Gremoz de Vuarmarens sells to 

Nycodus Cons dicti loci, unam ochiam sitam in villa de Vuarmarens loco dicto in Lochit devant 

laz Grangyt juxta viam publicam a borea, terram Johannis dou Tey ab oriente et vento, ochiam 

dicti emptoris ab occidente. 

 

122v 29 jun 1506, Nobilis Guilliermus Espaz de Melduno sells, lictera recognicionis hodie 

facta non obstante, to Glaudius Jorant de Villarbrama, cense. 

 

123 29 jun 1506 (datumut supra), Nobilis Guilliermus Espaz sell to Franciscus Jorant de 

Villarbrama, cense, with further proceedings. 

 

123v 29 jun 1506 (datum ut supra), Petrus Gasconel de Mollens and his wife Anthonia sell to 

Jacobus Rubat de Mollens, a letter of reachept from 30 mar 1506. 

 

124 02 aug 1506, Anthonius de Curia burgensis Meldun with approal of his wife Nycolleta 

sells to Glaudius Mestraul de Melduno. 

 

124v 26 aug 1506, Nobilis Guilliermus Espaz domicellus Melduni sells to Glaudius Oliveir de 

Chesalles, cense, with further proceedings. 

 

125 22 sep 1506, Petrus Frossard de Romanens filius quondam Glaudii Frossard dicti loci de 

Romanens, and Glaudius Frossard filius dicti quondam Glaudii Frossard frater dicti Petri 

Frossard, partage, many properties, with further proceedings. 

 

130v 22 sep 1506, Petrus Frossard de Romanens filius quondam Glaudii Frossard owes his 

mother Glaudia relicta quondam dicti Glaudii Frossard 15 livres, and a similar transaction by 

Glaudius brother of Petrus. 

 

131v Additional transactions relating to the above partage. 

 

132 Die festi Sancti Clementis 1506, Johannes Reys de Combremondo Magno owes 

Franciscus Bectex de Combremondo Parvo. 



 

132v 25 nov 1506, Glaudius Jaquinet filius quondam Nycodi Jaquynet burgensis Viviaci et 

Ludovica eius uxor sell to Glaudia relicta quondam Petri Phillippon, with further proceedings. 

 

133 13 dec 1506, Marriage:  Anthonius Liard barbitonsor habitator Melduni, and Nycodus 

Burdet burgensis Melduni nomine Anthonie filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

134v 27 dec 1506, Petrus filius quondam Francisci Rubat de Mont, quitclaim to his uncle 

Petrus Rubat de Mont. 

 

(Inserted here:  a small piece of paper, 25 jun 1506, Petrus Costel de Orons owes Stephanus 

Cornaz et Ludovicus de Martherenges burgenses Melduni 60 sols for a loan.) 

 

134v 21 jan 1506, Marriage:  Glaudius Jordannaz de Carrojoz parrochie de Mexieres nomine 

Johannis Jordannaz eius filii, and Johannes Buctet filius quondam Humberti Buctet de 

Rosczinges parrochie de Syens nomine Henriete sororis sue filie dicti quondam Humberti Buctet 

parrochie de Syens, with quitclaim. 

 

137 21 jan 1506, Marriage:  Glaudius Jordannaz de Carrojoz nomine Glaudii Jordannaz filii 

sui, and Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum nomine Glaudie filie sue, with quitclaims 

by both parties. 

 

139 22 jan 1506, Marriage:  Anthonius filius quondam Jacobi Placyt de Hermenges, and 

Johannes Buctet de Roscinges nomine Agnetis filie quondam Humberti Buctet sororis sue, with 

further proceedings. 

 

141 22 jan 1506 (datum ut supra), Petrus de Praz de Vuilliens et Johannes de Praz eius frater 

sell to Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

141v 22 jan 1506, Glaudius Nardyn de Vuycherens, Glaudia et Johanneta filie quondam Petri 

Nardyn dicti loci, dicte Glaudia et Johanneta de laude et auctoritate Johannis de Costel alias 

Bellaz et Johannis Gerbaz tutorum suorum, sell to Petrus dou Bos dicti loci de Vuycherens, with 

further proceedings. 

 

142 25 jan 1506, Glaudius Nardin de Vuycherens sells to Petrus dou Bos. 

 

142v 07 feb 1506, Marriage:  Roletus Gremoz de Vuarmarens nomine Glaudii Gremoz sui filii, 

and Glaudius de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum nomine Glaudie filie sue, with further 

proceedings, no other family members mentioned. 

 

144v 07 feb 1506, Marriage:  Johannes Detard (Dettard) de Vuycherens and Glaudius Oliveir 

de Chesalle nomine Perronete filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

146 21 feb 1506, Marriage:  Johannes Contoz de Aruffens parrochie de Billens nomine 

Glaudii filii sui, and Anthonius Blan de Brenles filius quondam Johannis Blan de Brenles nomine 

Francesie sororis sue filii dicti quondam Johannis Blan, with further proceedings. 



 

147 21 feb 1506, Marriage:  Johannes Contoz predictus nomine Jacobi filii sui, and predictus 

Anthonius Blan nomine Johannete sororis sue, with further proceedings. 

 

148 26 feb 1506, Jacobus de Sarsens antenatus et Jacobus de Sarsens eius filius dicti loci de 

Sarsens sell to Glaudius Oliveir de Chesalles, with further proceedings. 

 

149 06 mar 1506, Nobilis Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et condominus de 

Mexieres gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, visis legalitate et industria ac probitate Providi viri 

Francisci Bersodi clerici et burgensis Gruerie, appointed juratus ballivie Vaudi ac castellaniarus 

eiusdem. 

 

149v 08 mar 1506, Petrus Perriard alias dou Crouz de Granvaux sells to Johannes Buctet filius 

quondam Humberti Buctet de Rosczinges, vines, with further proceedings. 

 

(Inserted here, a small piece of paper, Die Sabbati post festum Sancti Gregorii 1506, with 

approval of Petrus Perriard alias dou Crouz ? de Granvaux, approving the preceding transaction 

?) 

 

150 18 mar 1506, Dominus Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni sells to Dominus Jacobus Pone 

cappellanus Melduni, and a reciprocal transaction, with further proceedings. 

 

150v 25 mar and 26 mar 1507, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor sell to 

Johannes dou Tey de Vuarmarens, a letter of reachept. 

 

151 26 mar 1507, Jacobus Poblan de Lucens sells to Jacobus Besectaz dicti loci, with further 

proceedings. 

 

151v Aymo Monod de Orons Villa sells to Glaudius Perriard de Vuybroyt, 29 mar 1507, with 

further proceedings. 

 

152v 03 apr 1507, Stephanus Cornaz burgensis Melduni, quitclaim to Petrus Guex de 

Melduno. 

 

152v 17 apr 1507, Vuilliermus Czuard ? (=Chuard ?) de Ursy sells to Nycodus Cons de 

Vuarmarens, with reachept, apparently lined out. 

 

153 17 apr 1507, Vuilliermus Czuard ? de Uray sells to Nycodus Cons de Vuarmarens, 

apparently the same as the previous lined out transaction, with reachept. 

 

153v 21 apr 1507, Nobilis Jacobus Vallacrest sell to Nobilis Johannes de Villarsel dominus de 

Deley, cense. 

 

(Attached here, small slip of paper, 12 may 1499, Franciscus Grivet de Cultilles, reconnaissance 

for Nobilis Jacobus Vallacrest, notation about debt on verso, apparently referring to 1498.) 

 



153v 30 may, 1507, Marriage:  Jacobus filius quondam Johannis Sarretaz de Bussy, and Petrus 

Fouchieres de Bussy nomine Ludovice filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

155 31 may 1507, Franciscus Connet de Montet sells to Roleta uxor Petri de Tecto de 

Vuarmarens with approval of her husband, a letter of reachept granted by Glaudius de Tecto 

brother of the said Petrus to the said Franciscus Connet and Petrus Connet, de uno morsello terre 

et prati sito in territorio de Vuarmarens loco dicto ou Marest de Gley juxta pascua communia de 

Vuarmarens ab oriente, viam publicam et terram Glaudii Marsens ab occidente, viam publicam a 

vento, terram Nycodi Cons junioris et Roleti Gremoz a borea, the said reachept dated 28 may 

1502. 

 

155v 31 may 1507, Nobilis Petrus de Sancto Germano domicellus Melduni has received from 

Jaquetus Mongneir de Escublens 100 florins, in redemption of a census. 

 

156 06 jun 1507, Johannes Gremoz de Chesalles filius uquondam Petri Gremoz leases for 9 

years to Ludovicus filius quondam Glaudii Gremoz de Mont, a tenement that came from Petrus 

and Roletus Gremoz brothers of Johannes, with further proceedings. 

 

157v 12 jun 1507, Petrus Chollet de Lovatens sells to Glaudius Gremoz de Lovatens. 

 

158 15 jun 1507, Nobilis Jacobus Vallacrest et Anthonia eius uxor relicta quondam Alexandri 

Pictet has received from Aymo Pitet tutor et eo nomine heredum quondam Alexandri Pictet, with 

further proceedings. 

 

158v 15 jun 1507 (datum ut supra), quod cum Johannes Gillion de Nerioux certum obtinuerit 

passamentum contra Bessenczonium Perrusset tanquam grangerium et bonatenentem heredum 

quondam Alexandri Pictet de Nerioux, et cum ad instancium et requisicionem Nobilis Jacobi 

Vallacrest et Anthonie eius uxoris tutorum et eo nomine dictorum heredum Nobilis Petrus de 

Sancto Germano taxerit dictum passamentum in manibus domini castellani Melduni…, now 

Aymo Picet de Cuarnens avunculus paternus dictorum heredum et liberorum agrees to serve as 

security ? 

 

158v 27 jun 1507, Marriage:  Anthonius filius quondam Johannis Gillieron de Peyre parrochie 

de Dompnomartino, and Jacobus de Bulo notarius et burgensis Melduni, Johannes Oddet 

burgensis Melduni, et Johannes Pisczon de Grangetes nomine Ysabelle filie quondam Johannis 

de Bulloz de Villario Commite relicte quondam Johannis Perreyt carpentatoris dicti loci. 

 

161 25 jul 1507, Guilliermus filius quondam Anthonii filii quondam Discreti Girardi 

Reignaud burgensis Rotondimontis suo et Nycodi filii quondam predicti Anthonii fratris sui, 

Ysabelle et Perrissone sororum suarum, necnon Bernarde, Guillierme et Anthonie filiarum 

quondam Johannis filii predicti Discreti Girardi Reignaud, with approval of Perrissona relicta 

quondam predicti Girardi Reignaud tutrix dictorum liberorum necnon Venerabilis Domini 

Guiliermi _____ blank space) ac Johannis Segnaudi burgensis Rotondimontis consanguineorum 

dictorum liberorum, quitclaim to Franciscus de Buloz clericus et burgensis Melduni, de et super 

termini associacione et affraternacione emptionis et vendicionis pannorum et aliarum rerum inter 



ipsos dictum quondam Johannem Reignaud et dictum Franciscum de Bulo factorum, with further 

proceedings. 

 

164 06 and 09 aug 1507, Humbertus de Sarandens burgensis Melduni, Dompnus Georgius 

Sarandens cappellanus, et Henricus Sarandens filii predicti Humberti de Sarendans, with 

approval of Ludovica wife of the said Humbertus, sell to Anthonius Lombard habitator de 

Brenles, with further proceedings. 

 

166 23 aug 1507, Glaudius Marsens de Vuarmarens sells to Johannes de Costel alias Bellaz de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, with further proceedings. 

 

167 07 oct 1507, Johannes Guilliez burgensis de Lucens has received from Johanneta relicta 

quondam Nycodi Monachi clerici et burgensis Melduni, represented by her son Glaudius 

Monachi, full payment of censes in arrears. 

 

167 09 and 11 oct 1507, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor sell to Petrus filius 

quondam Hugonis Rubat de Mollens, a letter of reachept for specified properties, with further 

proceedings. 

 

168v 11 oct 1507, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor sell to Johannes dou Tey 

de Vuarmarens, letter of reachept for una posa cum dimidia terre sita in territorio de Vuarmarens 

loco dcito subtus Adraz (in other records, Ardraz) juxta terram dicti Johannis emptoris ab oriente, 

nemus d’Adraz ab occident, terram Glaudii Marsens a vento, et terram Roleti Gremoz a borea, 

the sale recorded by the undersigned (Michael Frossard) 24 jun 1502 (see above in DL 43/3, fol. 

11), with further proceedings. 

 

169 13 oct 1507, Marriage:  Petrus de Saulens de Bretygnyel parrochie de Acens nomine 

Glaudii de Saulens filii sui, and Humbertus filius quondam Perroneti Monachon de Martherenges 

parrochie de Cappella Vaudana nomine Anthonie sororis sue filie predicti quondam Perroneti, 

with further proceedings. 

 

171 13 oct 1507, Petrus de Saulens de Bretygnyer parrochie de Acens nomine Johannis filii 

sui, and Humbertus filius quondam Perroneti Monachon nomine Agnetis soriris sue filie predicti 

Perroneti Monachon, with further proceedings. 

 

172v 17 oct 1507, Nobilis Franciscus de Cossonay dominus de Rurey, accensation for Claudius 

filius Guilliermi Ballif de Villa Nova subtus Suprapetram, with further proceedings. 

 

174 26 oct 1507, Humbertus de Sarandens burgensis Melduni et Dompnus Georgius de 

Sarandens filius predicti Humbertis sell to Anthonius Lombard habitator de Brenles, various 

properties, with further proceedings. 

 

175v 02 nov 1507, Boniffacius Brideri clericus et burgensis Melduni gubernator et sindicus 

ville Melduni leases for 1 year to Jacobus Cornaz alias Cheres burgensis Melduni, videlicet 

abolos et languellum ville et castellanie Melduni for quatuor decim viginiti et trium librarum, 

with further proceedings. 



 

176v 02 nov 1507, Franciscus de Bulo clericus et burgensis Melduni and Blasius Certor alias 

Chappuys textor et burgensis Melduni, water rights. 

 

178 08 nov 1507, Franciscus Conet de Montet sells to Glaudius Decimatoris filius quodnam 

Marmeti Decimatoris de Montet, with further proceedings. 

 

178 12 nov 1507, Nobilis Ludovicus Cerjat dominus de Combremondo Parvo, accensation for 

Petrus Gautier de Lucens, unam domum cum grangia, cultina ante, et parvo gerdilli circumcira 

simul contiguis sitam in villa de Lucens, with further proceedings. 

 

179 01 dec 1507, quod cum Johannes Petipan faber Melduni et Philliberta eius uxor, 

considerantes dicti conjuges multis gratis serviciis dulcedinibus et obsequiis et curialitatibus 

(etymologically, courtesies) per Venerabilem virum Dominum Johannis Generis cappellanum 

curatum de Dinisiez rectorem cappelle Sancti Bernardi Montisjovis fondate in villa Melduni 

dictis conjjgibus multiplicitier factis … made a donation recorded by Johannes Sali clericus et 

burgensis Melduni 09 jan 1500, and successive virtute premissorum prefatus Dominus Johannes 

Generis curatus predictus rector predicte cappelle Sancti Bernardi vendiderit Johannis Girod de 

Mollondin various properties recorded by the undersigned 10 jul 1502, now the said Johannes 

Girod sells to Anthonius Clot, videlicet domum, ortum, et vigultum superius limictatis, and 

Johannes Girod also transfers the said letters of vendition etc. 

 

181 01 dec 1507 (datum ut supra), predictus Anthonius Clot sells to Dominus Johannes 

Generis curatus de Dinisiez rector cappelle Sancti Bernardi Montisjovis fondate in villa Melduni, 

the cense from the preceding transaction, with further proceedings. 

 

182 01 sep 1507, quod cum Ludovicus Bussynier textor Melduni sold to Nycodus Semoraul 

sutor Melduni, the sale recorded by Johanns Saloz clericus et burgensis Melduni 29 nov 1484, 

now Francesia relicta quondam Georgii Alamand sciens etc. pro se etc. confitetur quod rector 

hospitalis Melduni habuit et recepit a dicto Ludovico Bussynier sexaginta solidos Lausannenses 

bonorum in rehemptione duorum solidorum dicte monete census in deductione predictorum 

quatuordecim solidorum dicti census nencnon confitetur se habuisse et realiter recepisse a 

predicto Ludovico Bussynier pro et sec. videlicet sex libras dicte monete et hoc in rehemptione et 

satisfacionem sex solidorum dicte monete dicti census … 

 

183 08 dec 1507, Nobilis Benedictus de Glana dominus de Vallardens owes Jaquetus 

Borgonyon 20 florins for work done in his house. 

 

183 16 dec 1507, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez domicellus Rote sells to Venerabilis Dominus 

Johannes Vuycherens curatus de Actallens, censes, with further proceedings. 

 

183v 21 dec 1507, Marriage:  Johannes Sovajat de Villario Tiercellens parrochie de 

Dompnomartino nomine Glaudii Sovajat eius filii, and Petrus dou Bos de Vuycherens parrochie 

de Syens nomine Perronete filie sue, with further proceedings.  

 



185 27 dec 1507, Michael Barjat filius quondam Johannis Barjat and Humbertus Monachon 

filius quondam Perroneti Monachon de Marterenges, agreement.  Michael donates all his 

possessions to, and will serve and work faithfully in the household of Humbertus, who will care 

for him and after his death make donations for celebration of mass etc., and Michael wishes to be 

buried in the tomb of the said Monachon family, all contingent on cooperation of the curate of 

Cappella Voudanaz. 

 

186 02 jan 1507, Glaudius Broschon burgensis Melduni et Jacobus eius filius sell to 

Rodulphus Conchyt alias Borron, with further proceedings. 

 

187 04 jan 1507, Marriage:  Petrus dou Bos de Vuycherens parrochie de Syens nomine 

Anthonii dou Bos eius filii, and Johannes Nardyn nomine Glaudie filie sue, with further 

proceedings. 

 

188v 01 and 08 jan 1507, Marriage:  Johannes Gremoz filius quondam Petri Gremoz de 

Chesalles, and Glaudius de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum nomine Francesie relicte 

quondam Glaudii Girard filii quondam Francisci Girard parrochie de Promassens, and the said 

Francesia is the daughter of Glaudius de Tecto.  Mention of Petrus Tolliet de Chesalles, Glaudia 

uxor dicti Petri Trolliet filia quondam Vuilliermi filii quondam Anthonii dou Russel relicta 

quonam Petri Gremoz mater dicti Johannis Gremoz, and Glaudius filius dicti quondam Petri 

Gremoz frater dicti Johannis Gemoz, and Petrus filius dicti Petri Trolliet, many provisions and 

relationships in support of the present marriage, with further proceedings. 

 

190 10 jan 1507, Marriage:  Petrus Vuarat de Vuarat parrochie de Actallens, and Anthonius 

Danget de Nerieux nunc habitator de Cabanis supra Meldunum nomine Johannete filie sue.  

Petrus Danget is brother of Johanneta.  With further proceedings. 

 

192v 25 jan 1507, quod cum Venerabilis Dominus Nycodus Vuycherens cappellanus de 

Melduno rector et eo nomine cappelle Sancte Trinitatis sive altaris Sancte Trinitatis fondati in 

ecclesia Beati Stephani de Melduno concesserit quondam Jacobo Vuycherens patri suo pro se et 

suis heredibus quibuscunque quod ipse et sui qui supra possint et valeant semper et perpetue ab 

ipso rectore et suis successoribus quibuscunque tociens quociens voluerint in quolibet parte anni 

reddimere rehabere et reachetare sexaginta solidos Lausannenses bonorum census, et unam 

veturam vini census per quondam Johannem et Petrum Cavin de Vuycherens fratrum filiorum 

quondam Jaqueti Cavin de Montet prope Joretum de jussu et licencia predicti Jacobi 

Vuycherens,… as recorded in a letter for the said reachept by Petrimanus Burichet clericus 

Melduni 10 jan 1454, now Venerabilis Dominus Johannis Vuycherens curatus de Actallens et 

Nycodus Vuycherens fratres filii quondam Jacobi Vuycherens heredesque dicti quondam Jacobi 

Vuycherens sell to Glaudius et Jacobus Cavin de Vuycherens the said letter of reachept for 20 

florins. 

 

193v 25 jan 1507, Jacobus Cavin de Vuycherens owes Glaudius Cavin dicti loci de 

Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

194 25 jan 1507, quod cum Perrodus Gerbaz de Vuycherens, Anthonius eius filius confessa 

fuerint et recognoverint se teneri et solvere debere de jussu, voluntate, et licencia Jacobi 



Vuycherens filii quondam Nycodi Vuycherens burgensis Melduni racione et ex causa grangie 

dicti quondam Nycodi site apud Vuycherens certarisque rerum tam terrarum, pratorum, ortorum, 

vigultorum, ochiarum, clausorum, nemorus quam aliarum rerum ad ipsam grangiam 

pertinencium sitarum in villa, territorio, finagio, et confinibus de Vuycyherens, et ecciam 

mistralie dicti loci de Vuycherens, et cum ipse Jacobus Vuycherens teneatur altari Sancti 

Trinitatis fondati in ecclesia parrochiali Beati Stephani de Melduno et rectori eiusdem in 

sexaginta et duodecim solidis Lausannensium bonorum census pro grangia predictia, rebus, 

possessionibus ac mistralia predictis, et cum Johannes et Petrus Cavin fratres predicti tanquam 

scientes et spontanei de precepto, voluntate, et licencia prefati Jacobi Vuycherens confesse 

fuerint et recognoverint se tenere et possidere a Venerabili viro Domino Nycodo Vuycherens 

rectori altaris predicti Sancte Trinitatis et suis successoribus quibuscunque nomine et ad opus 

dicti altaris omnes res et possessiones superius descriptis prout in longum protenduntur et in 

latum cum suis fondis, juribus, fructibus, inhanciis, pertinenciisque et appendenciis suis 

universis, pro quibus deberi et solvere promisserint prefacto rectori et suis successoribus nomine 

et ad opus dicti altaris, videlicet sexaginta solidos Lausannensium bonorum seu bone monete 

cursibilis in patria Vuaudi annui et perpetui reddictus census, quosquidem sexaginta solidos 

census predictos dicti fratres solvere promisserint juramentis suis et obligacione bonorum 

suorum prenominato Domino Nycodo rectori dicti altaris et suis quibus supra singulis annis et 

perpetue in festo Sancti Martini Yemalis, necnon facere eidem Domino Nycodo rectori et suis 

successoribus nomine et ad opus dicti altaris unam veyturam a valle Lustraci usque ad domum 

dicti rectoris sitam in villa Melduni cum curru et animalibus eorundem fratrum singulis annis et 

perpetue termino predesi[g]nato cum restitucione dampnorum, missionum, et expensium, que 

predicta dictus Jacobus Vuycherens laudaverit et ratifficaverit in a letter of reconnaissance 

recorded by Petrimanus Burichet clericus Melduni 10 jan 1454, et veyture vini census prefatus 

Dominus Nycodus Vuycherens rector et eo nomine dicti altaris Sancti Trinitatis concessit 

predicto Jacobo Vuycherens patri suo pro se et suis quibuscunque heredibus licteram reacheti et 

graciam rehemendi et rehabendi ab eodum rectore et suis successoribus quibuscunque 

predesignatos sexaginta solidos Lausannensium bonorum census et veyturam vini census semper 

perpetue in qualibet parte anni pro precio sexaginta et duodecim librarum bonorum 

Lausannensium, as recorded by Petrimanus Burichet 10 jan 1454, et cum Venerabilis Dominus 

Johannes Vuycherens et Nycodus Vuycherens fratres filii et heredes quondam Jacobi Vuycherens 

pro se et suis heredibus quibuscunque vendiderint perpetue predictis Glaudio et Jacobo Cavin de 

Vuycherens pro se etc. licteram reacheti prenarratam predictorum sexaginta solidorum et veyture 

vini census cum omnibus clausulis suis pertinenciisque et appendenciis universis et singulis et 

fuerit facta dicta vendicio pro bono et justo precio viginti florenorum auri boni parviponderis, 

quolibet floreno valens duodecim solidos Lausannensium bonorum, per dictos venditores a dictis 

emptoribus habitorum et receptorum, seque et suos devestierint dictos emptores et suos 

investierint et promisserint juramentis suis et obligacione bonorum suorum dictam licteram 

reacheti manutenere, deffendere, et guerentire prout hec omnia et plura alia in lictera ipsius 

vendicionis recepta et signata per juratum subscriptum data die et anno quibus infra plenius 

continetur, NOW Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens curatus de Actallens rector et eo 

nomine predicti altaris Sancte Trinitatis sciens etc., pro et et suis in dicto altari successoribus 

quibuscunque virtute prenarrate lictere reacheti ac lictere vendicionis eiusdem confitetur se 

habuisse et realiter recipisse a prenominatis Glaudio et Jacobi Cavin presentibus pro se etc., 

videlicet prenarrataas sexaginta et duodecim libras bone monete predicte, et hoc in 

rehemptionem et pro rehemptione predictorum sexaginta solidorum Lausannensium bonorum 



census et veyture vini census per eosdem dicti cappelle debitorum, de quibus quidem sexaginta 

et duodecim libris acque sexaginta solidis census et veyture vini census prefatus rector dicti 

altaris Sancti Trinitatis et eo nomine dictos Glaudium et Jacobum Cavin et suos heredes 

quoscumque quitat cum pacto etc., renucians etc., jurans etc., with further proceedings. 

 

196 27 jan 1507, Marriage:  Petrus Gautier de Lucens and Jacobus Chevalley nomine 

Perrissone filie quondam Johannis Chevalley de Chantouroz. 

197 29 jan 1507, Ludovicus Rey de Sarvion sells to Petrus Paschit faber de Ferlyn, with 

further proceedings. 

 

198 30 jan 1507, Marriage:  Ludovicus filius Johannis de Praz de Vuilliens and Moneta filia 

Glaudii Cardinal de Bressonaz, with further proceedings. 

 

199 31 jan 1507, Glaudius Marsens de Vuarmarens sells to Clemens Bucty de Ursy, with 

further proceedings. 

 

200 04 feb 1507, Johanneta dicta Pugynat, donatio inter vivos to Venerabilis Dominus 

Johannes Vuycherens curatus de Actallens, omnia universa et singulia bona sua dicte Johannete 

mobilia et immobilis quecumque, et est facta presens huiusmodi donacio pro multis gratis 

serviciis et et curialitatibus per dictum Dominum Johannem dicte Johannete, with further 

proceedings. 

 

200v 16 feb 1507, Guilliermeta filia quondam Girardi Malliard parrochie de Syens, donation to 

Petrus Rolaz, considerans et actendens plurimus gratis serviciis curialitatibus et obsequiis sibi 

dicte Guilliermete per dictum Petrum, with further proceedings. 

 

201v 18 feb 1507, Nobilis Petrus de Prez de Bey diocesis Sedunensis filius quondam Nobilis 

Guilliermi de Prez sells to Petrus du Russel alias Veyrit, videlicet omnes census omnes redditus 

tam rurales quam cum directo dominio per dictum Petrum emptorem, Nycodum Veyrit, ac 

heredum quondam Rodulphi Veyrit dicti Nobili Petro debitos pro rebus et possessionibus quas 

inde tenent in villa, territorio, finagio, finibus, et confinibus de Cabanis supra Melduni, et licit in 

presenti lictera non limitentur tamen pro limitatis habere voluit… , est autem facta presens 

vendicio pro bono, justo, et legitimo precio viginti quatuor solidis Lausannensium bonorum 

habitorum etc., necnon presentem vendicionem laudari et ratifficari facere per Nobilem 

Margueritam relictam quondam Providi viri Petri de Vallon sororem suam dicti venditoris by the 

next Easter.  (Here Petrus de Prez seems to be selling this perpetual income back to his censiers, 

in order to obtain needed funds for present expenses, the first of many such transactions in this 

notarial register.) 

 

202 22 feb 1507, Gabriel Lymat has received from Petrus Rolaz full payment of rents in 

arrears. 

 

202v 23 feb 1507, Humbertus Pyn saltor Melduni and Johanneta his wife sell to Ludovicus 

Pischon barbitonsor Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 



203v 24 feb 1507, quod cum Venerabiis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens curatus de Actallens 

rector cappelle Sancte Trinitatis fondate in ecclesia Sancti Stephani de Melduno et eo nomine 

receperit et recuperaverit a Glaudio et Jacobo Cavin de Vuycherens suuuam sexvinginti 

florenorum auri boni parviponderis quolibet floreno valens duodecim solidos Lausannensium 

bonorum, et hoc in rehemptionem et pro rehemptione sexaginta solidorum Lausannensium 

bonorum census et unius vecture vini census per predecessores dictorum Glaudii et Jacobi Cavin 

quondam Venerabili viro Domino Nycodo Vuycherens rectori et eo nomine dicte cappelle Sancte 

Trinitatis recognictorum, now the said Dominus Johanns Vuycherent, guarantees for the 

transaction. 

 

204 27 feb 1507, Nycodus de Gazel alias Clement burgensis Melduuni and his wife Glaudia 

sell Anthonius Jayet de Hermenges, with further proceedings. 

 

205v 27 mar 1508, Johannes Gaule notarius et burgensis Melduni sells to Nycodus de Gazel 

burgensis Melduni. 

 

206 03 apr 1508, Nobilis Petrus de Prez filius quondam Nobilis Guilliermi de Prez de Aliez 

sells to Dompnus Georgius de Sarandens cappellanus Melduni, all the censes that de Sarandens 

owes to de Prez, pro bona a justa satisfacione habita. 

 

206v 05 apr 1508, Nobilis Petrus de Prez de Aliez (or Alioz ?) filius quondam Nobilis 

Guilliermi de Prez sciens etc., pro se etc., vendit perpetue nomine suo et Nobilis Margarite 

sororis sue Provido viro Guidoni de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum presenti ementi pro se 

etc., videlice omnes census et rectentas eiusdem per dictum Guidonem de Tecto dicto Nobili 

Petro debitos quovismodo pro rebus et possessionibus quas tenet et tenere posset in villa, 

territorio, fenagio, finibus, et confinibus de Cabanis supra Meldunum, prout in longum 

protenduntur et in latum cum suis fondis etc., necnon laudat idem Nobilis Petrus de Prez eidem 

Guidoni emptori pro se etc. videlicet omnes vendiciones que et quos quondam Nobilis Ludovicus 

et Glaudius de Prez fratres dicti venditoris quondam fecerunt dicto Guidoni emptori.  Est autem 

facta presens huiusmodi vendicio pro bona et legitma satisfactione habita etc., devestiens se etc., 

promictens juramento suo etc., et obligacione bonorum suorum etc., premissa vendita et laudata 

eidem emptori manutenere pure et libere ac de puro franco et libero allodio …  (What were the 

properties and other assets that were thus transferred to the citizens of Chavannes-sur-Moudon 

by the de Prez family?  It seems likely that these transactions must involve shares of the dîme of 

Chavannes that was already associated with the Dutoit (de Tecto) family long before the 16th 

Century.) 

 

206v 05 apr 1508, Prefatus Nobilis Petrus de Prez nomine suo et nobilis sororis sue sells to 

Glaudius de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, omnes census et rectentas eisudem … (same 

conditions as above), pro bona satisfacione habita. 

 

207 05 apr 1508, Nobilis Petrus de Prez (same as the preceding item) sells to Johannes de 

Costel alias Bellaz dicti loci de Cabanis supra Meldunum, same conditions as above, pro bona 

satisfacione habita. 

 



207v 07 apr 1508, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez domicellus Rote sells to Johannes Dey alias Mont 

sutor et burgensis Melduni, videlicet quatuor denarios Lausannensium bonorum census inclusa 

certa particula certi caponis census in pecunios redducta nencnon quarta partem unius denarii 

oboli et posegies census cum directo domino eorundem censuum per Francesciam filiam 

quondam Petri de Costel de Cabanis supra Meldunum dicto Nobili Nycodo debitorum et 

recognitorum pro rebus et possessionibus quas ipsa Francesia tenet et tenebat a dicto Nobili 

Nycodo venditore cum directo dominio earundem rerum et possessionum…, et est facta presens 

huiusmodi vendicio pro bono, justo, et legitimo precio viginti quinque solidos Lausannensium 

bonorum habitorum… 

 

(Inserted here:  23 jun 1518, Nobilis Ludovicus de Ruffino dominus de Bottens exhibuit Nobili 

Ludovico Pomelli viceballivo Vuaudi certam sentenciam seu sententias in papiro ut prius per 

precedentem ? testimonialem promisis pretendo sibi administrari justiciam et fieri contentum 

mandati seu licterarum magnifico et dominorum Bernensium …, subject not clear.) 

 

208 07 apr 1508, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez sells to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, videlicet octo denarios unum obolum una pogesiam census inclusa certa particula 

certi caponis census in peccuniis redducta cum directo dominio eorundem censuum per dictum 

Guidonem de Tecto emptoris dicto Nobili Nycodo venditore debitorum et recognitorum pro 

rebus et possessionibus quas idem Guido emptor ab eodem venditore ante presentem vendicione 

tenebat et possedebat cum directo dominio earundem rerum et possessionum…  Est autem facta 

presens vendicio pro bono, justo, et legitimo precio quadraginta quinque solidorum 

Lausannensium bonorum habitorum etc. 

 

209 07 apr 1508, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez sells to Petrus Veyrit de Cabanis supra Meldunum, 

videlicet quindecim denarios Lausannensium bonorum census cum directo dominio eorundem 

per dictum Petrum emptorem et per quondam Roletum Veyrit, Rodulphum Veyrit, et per 

quondam Roletum Veyrit et per quondam Johannem et Humbertum Moctet dicto Nobili Nycodo 

debitorum et recognitorum pro bonis et possessionibus quas idem Petrus et heredum dictorum 

Roleti et Rodulphi Veyrit tenent et recognoverunt sitis in villa, territorio, et fenagio de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum…  Est autem facta presens vendicion pro bono et just precio sex florenorum 

auri boni parviponderis… 

 

209v 07 apr 1508, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez domicellus Rote sells to Petrus de Tecto antenatus 

de Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet sex denarios Lausannensium bonorum census inclusa rata 

census certi capponis in argento conversatis cum directo dominio eorundem per dictum Petrum 

emptorem dicto Nobili Nycodo venditore debitorum pro rebus et possessionibus quas idem 

emptor tenet et que fuerunt de bonis deys Murissat sitis in villa, territorio, fenagio, finibus, et 

confinibus de Cabanis…, pro bono et justo precio triginta solidos Lausannensium bonorum 

habitorum. 

 

210 07 apr 1508, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez sells to Glaudius de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, videlicet sex denarios Lausannensium bonorum census cum directo dominio 

eorundem per dictum Glaudium de Tecto emptorem et per Dompnum Jacobum Escofferi prefato 

Nobili Nycodo venditore debitorum pro rebus et possessionibus quas ab eodem venditore tenent 



cum directo dominio…, pro bono, justo, et legitimo precio triginta solidorum Lausannensium 

bonorum habitorum. 

 

210v 07 apr 1508, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez sells to Johannes de Costel alias Bellaz de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum, videlicet septem denarios Lausannensium bonorum census cum directo 

dominio eorundem per dictum Johannem de Costel emptorem dicto Nobili Nycodi venditore 

debitorum et recognitorum pro rebus et possessionibus quas idem Johannes tenebat cum directo 

dominio a prefato Nobili Nycodi venditore sitis et jacentibus in villa, territorio, finagio, finibus, 

et confinibus de Cabanis supra Meldunum… Est autem facta presens vendicio pro bono justo 

precio trigenta quinque solidis Lausannensibus bonorum habitorum. 

 

211 20 apr 1508, Franciscus Connet de Montet tam nomine suo proprio quam Jacobi et 

Glaudii nepotum suorum filiorum quondam Petri Connet fratris dicti venditoris sells to Nycodus 

Cons de Vuarmarens, videlicet circa terciam partem unius pose terre site in teritorio de Montet, 

with further proceedings. 

 

211v 01 may 1508, Nobilis Johannes de Villarsel dominus de Deley sells to Johannes de 

Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens, with further proceedings. 

 

212 13 may 1508, Nobilis Johannes de Blonay dominus ipsius loci de Blonay filius quondam 

Nobilis et Potentis viri Georgii de Blonay sells to Clemens Bucty de Ursy, property at Carrojoz 

and Rospraz. 

 

213 15 may 1508, Nobilis Francesia filia quondam Vuilliermi Cavin uxor Nobilis Jacobi 

Cerjat sells to Nycodus Criblet. 

 

213 18 jun 1508, Marriage:  Glaudius filius quondam Anthonii Crousaz de Hermenges and 

Anthonius Pictet de Senyeux nomine Johannete filie sue et Johannete quondam uxoris dicti 

Anthonii Pictet, with further proceedings. 

 

215 18 jun 1508, Anthonius Hemard alumpnus quondam Anthonii Hemard alias de Mastriis ? 

sells to Handi uxor Johannis Nycati clerici et burgensis Melduni. 

 

215v 19 jun 1508, Hudriodus Girod de Vuilliens sells to Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens, with 

further proceedings. 

 

216 19 jun 1508, Petrus Falconier de Vuilliens sells to Ludovicus Chappuys munerius de 

Vuilliens. 

 

216v 26 jun 1508, Hudriodus Girod de Vuilliens sells to Venerabilis Dominus Petrus Jugi 

cappellanus Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

217 24 jul 1508, Anthonius Chappuys de Rospra nunc residens apud Syens owes Glaudius 

Cavin de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 



217v 09 aug 1508, Petrus Joliveti clericus et burgensis Melduni sells to Thomas Martin 

burgensis Melduni et Alixia eius uxor filie quondam Anthonii Planchet burgensis Melduni, with 

further proceedings. 

 

(Attached at the bottom of fol. 218:  Symon Wurstemberger bourgeoys de Berne ballifz de 

Mouldon et du pays de Vuaud, à vous Egrege Roulx Demont notayre et bourgeoys de Mouldo[n], 

request to copy a transaction from the registers of Michael Frossard regarding a sale by Pierre 

Jolivet (oncle paternel de Ysabel, femme de feu Discret Roulx Jolivet, and Ysabel is now the 

wife of George Bardet), dated 15 feb 1554.) 

218v 29 aug 1508, Marriage:  Jacobus Rolaz de Chesalles nomine Glaudii Rolaz eius filii, and 

Petrus Vuilliquier de Olens nomine Anne filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

219v 31 aug, 1508, Marriage:  Aymonetus Perret alias Chaneaz textor et burgensis Melduni, 

and Jacobus Rolaz nomine Rolete filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

220v 11 sep 1508, Johannes Poblam de Lucens, quitclaim for Glaudius Perryn de Bectens for 

all he may owe. 

 

220v 17 sep 1508, Petrus Rappit sutor Melduni sells to Glaudius de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, videlicet unum ortum situm in territorio de Cabanis loco dicto eys Chenevyres prope 

Fontem juxta viam publicam ab oriente, clausum Guidonis de Tecto a borea, clausum dicti 

emptoris ab occidente et vento…, est facta presens vendicio pro precio decem florenorum auri 

parviponderis, with further proceedings. 

 

(Inserted here:  Hanns Frisching ballifz de Mouldon et du pays de Vuaud:  À vous Noble et 

Genereuse Dame Glaudaz de Gilliez dame de la Sarra salut.  Sçaches que à l’instance et 

requisition de Noble et Puissant Marie de Gissiaque (=de Gilliez) de Diesbach femme de Noble 

et Puissant Françoys de Blonay seigneur de Carrojoz avec l’auctorité de sondict mary vous 

nottificions et faysons sçavoir par ses presentes que vous estes citée en assignée icy audict 

Mouldon par devant noustre lieutenant au Lundi iii jour du prochain moys de febvrier à heure et 

lieu accoustumés de playdoyer et à fayre rayson à vous lesdictes parties et plus oultre proceder 

sellon la coustume, vous disant à Dieu.  Donné audict Mouldon soub le seelz de nos cachet 

accoustumé le dernier jour du moys de Decembre l’an de noustre seigneur pris à la Nativité 

courant xvC et xxxix (31 dec 1539).) 

 

221 03 oct 1508, Humberta filia quondam Petri Pin uxor Boniffacii Brideri clerici et 

burgensis Melduni sells to Petrus Clot de laz Fayt, with further proceedings. 

 

222 03 oct 1509 (clear, but this should probably be 1508 ?), Anthonius Hemard alumpnus 

quondam Anthonii Hemard clerici et burgensis Lausanne sells to Franciscus filius quondam 

Humberti Bertet de Combremondo Parvo. 

 

222v 25 oct 1508 ? (anno predicto, but should this be 1508 ?), Anthonius Clemenczat alias 

Broyt de Profondavalle sells to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet tres 

quarteronos bono et pulcri frumenti ad mensuram Melduni annui et perpetui redditus census, et 

est facta presens huiusmodi vendicio pro bono, justo, et legitimo precio sex florenorum auri boni 



parviponderis etc. habitorum etc. quosquidem tres quarteronos dicti frumenti dicte mensure 

census dictus Anthonius venditor solvere promictit juramento suo etc. et obligavionc bonorum 

suorum etc., semper et perpetue dicto Guidoni et suis quibus supra in quolibet festo Sancti 

Martini Yemalis, fidejussores Franciscus et Humbertus Broyt alias Clemenczat, with further 

proceedings. 

 

223 19 nov 1508, Anthonius Mistralis de Hermenges sells to Jacobus de laz Crousaz nunc 

habitator de Brenles, with further proceedings and another similar transaction for the same 

parties. 

224 19 nov 1508, Glaudia filia Petri Mocquand de Pugney uxor Jacobi de laz Crousaz 

habitatoris de Brenles, quitclaim to Ansermodus Mocquan filius dicti quondam Petri Mocquan 

soror dicti Ansermodi (apparently should be frater dicte Glaudie !), with further proceedings. 

 

225 19 nov 1508 (die et anno quibus supra), Octhoninus Amy de Ogens sells to Discretus vir 

Magister Johannes de Chardenoto rector scolarum burgensis Melduni, cense, with further 

proceedings. 

 

225v 20 nov 1509 (should be 1508 ?), Humbertus Clot de Bressonaz en Nardens sells to 

Venerabilis Religiosus Frater Phillipus Petrodi rectori et rectorio nomine hospitalis cappelle 

Sancti Johannis Jherosolemitam de Melduno, cense, pro bono et justo precio sex librarum 

bonarum Lausannensium habitarum etc., quequidem sex libre dicte monete sunt de rehemptione 

facta per Johannem Buctet filium quondam Humberti Buctet de Rosczinges heredum quondam 

Girardi Buctet textoris et burgensis Melduni per dictum quondam Girardum Buctet dicte cappelle 

debere recognictorum manu quondam Petrimandi Bruschet (=Burichet), with further 

proceedings. 

 

226 20 nov 1508 ?, Dompnus Jacobus Escofferi cappellanus Melduni sells to Glaudius de 

Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, with further proceedings. 

 

226v 18 dec 1508, Petrus Rappit de Melduno sutor sells to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis, 

videlicet unam ochiam sitam in territorio de Cabanis supra Meldunum loco dicto in Crousaz 

juxta viam publicam a borea, clausum Nycodi et Petri Veyrit ab oriente, clausum dicti Guidonis a 

vento, ochiam Johannis de Costel ab occidente. 

 

 Item magis, unum clausum situm in dicto territorio loco dicto Leyderey juxta clausum 

Nycodi et Petri Veyrit ab oriente, clausum et ochiam Petri de Tecto antenati quod fuit de Murissat 

ab occidente, viam publicam tendentem a villa Melduni ou Devens a vento, terram dicti 

venditoris a borea, et est facta presens vendicio puro bono et justo precio viginti florenorum auri 

boni parviponderis, with further proceedings. 

 

227 19 dec 1508, Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi cappellanus Melduni procurator et 

eo nomine has received from Johannes Buctet de Rosczinges filius quondam Humberti Buctet 

dicti loci 8 livres pro octo solidis census alias debere recognitorum per quondam Petrum Garney 

residentem in grangia quondam Jaqueti Monachi supra montem Melduni et per Nycolletam eius 

uxorem tanquam principales et per quondam Girardum Buctet tanquam fidejussorem quondam 

Petro Geneverii olim procuratori venerabilis cleri Melduni debitis constans lictera recepta, 



levata, et signata manu quondam Nycodi Escoffey 12 dec 1447, with list of clergy approving the 

present transaction. 

 

227v 17 jan 1508, Petrus Rappit de Melduno sells to Anthonius Oliveir de Chesalles, videlicet 

unam posam terre sitam in territorio de Cabanis supra Meldunum loco dicto in Pontey juxta viam 

publicam tendentem a villa de Cabanis apud Chesalles ab oriente, terram et pratum dicti Petri 

venditoris ab occidente, terram Nycodi et Petri Veyrit a borea, et viam publicam a vento, for 8 ½ 

florins. 

 

228 21 jan 1508, Marriage:  Anthonius filius quondam Johannis Charpillioz de Vuycherens 

parrochie de Syens, and Johannes de Costel alias Bellaz et Johannes Nardin nomine Glaudie filie 

quondam Petri Nardin de Vuycherens. 

 

229 21 jan 1508, Marriage:  Rodulphus filius quondam Johannis Charpillioz de Vuycherens 

parrochie de Syens, and Johannes de Costel alias Bellaz et Johannes Nardin nomine Johannete 

filie quondam Petri Nardin dicti loci de Vuycherens. 

 

230 22 hab 1508, Venerabilis Dominus Ludovicus Bruneti cappellanus Melduni sells to Petrus 

filius Petri Riguet de Melduno. 

 

231 07 feb 1508, Boniffacius Brideri clericus et burgensis Melduni et Humberta eius uxor 

filia quondam Petri Pin clerici et burgensis Melduni, accensation for Petrus Trolliet de Chesalles, 

for their tenement of Monczendon, with further proceedings. 

 

232v 07 feb 1508, Dompnus Henricus Finalis cappellanus Melduni, quitclaim to Boniffacius 

Brideri for their tenement of Monczendon (inserted by reference mark I :  alias per dictum 

Boniffacium et per Humbertam eius uxorem Nycodo Criblet venditem et inde per dictum 

Nycodum quondam Magistro Jacobo de Montagniez … ? venditum). 

 

232v 07 feb 1508 (datum ut supra), Nycodus Criblet, quitclaim to the said Boniffacius Brideri 

for his interest in the tenement of Monczendon, with a reciprocal quitclaim on the same date. 

 

233 19 feb 1508, Petrus Girad (=Girod) filius quondam Francisci Girad de Bressens sells to 

Clemens Bucti de Ursy, properties at Ursy, with further proceedings. 

 

233v 18 mar 1508, Testament:  Roletus Gremoz de Vuarmarens sanus mente licti debilis 

corpore, religious bequests for the church of St. Maurice at Morlens, universal heirs his sons 

Glaudius et Petrus Gremoz in equal portions, bequests for his daughters Anthonia (not yet 

married), Glaudia wife of Aymo Rebitel, and Jaqueta wife of Ludovicus de Lamagruyt ? 

 

234v 19 mar 1508, Anthonius Oddet alias Burdet de Vuilliens et Franciscus eius filius sell to 

Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

235 19 mar 1508, Petrus et Michael fratres filii quondam Bartholomei Leveti clerici et 

burgensis Rote nominibus suis ac Collete, Perronete, et Anthonie sororum suarum filiarum dicti 

quondam Bartholomei Leveti de laude, consensu, assensu, voluntate, et auctoritate expressis 



Jacobi Monachi filii quondam Johannis Monachi clerici et burgensis Rote tutoris et gubernatoris 

dictorum liberorum, sell to Jaquetus Mongneir de Escublens parrochie de Promassens, their 

tenement of Vuillienjaux purchased by their father, quod quondam fuit Nycodi Beschat dicti loci 

de Vuillienjaux, many properties and assets. 

 

239 27 mar 1509, Ludovicus Chappuys et Glaudius eius filius de Vuilliens sell to Glaudius 

Cavin de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

239v 26 mar, 1509, quod cum Petrus Trolliet de Chesalles made a reconnaissance for 

Boniffacius Brideri and his wife Humberta, now the said Boniffacius Brideri and his wife sell to 

Petrus 2/3 of the cense that Trolliet owes to them. 

 

240 26 mar 1509, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens curatus de Actallens tanquam 

causam habentem in bonis quondam Domini Johannis Bollion, quitclaim to Hugo Huguet de 

Mont. 

 

240v 27 mar 1509, quod cum Anthonius Martin alias de Alieran with approval of his wife 

Maria leased for 15 years to Reimondus Perryniez mercerius Melduni an “operatorium” in the 

house of the said Anthonius, recorded by by the undersigned notary 22 apr 1505, now the said 

Remondus Perrignyez sells the lease to Glaudius Michallaez mercerius habitator Melduni. 

 

241v 28 mar 1509, Aymo Clert alias Gavilliet de Mont sells to Anthonius Fallioz dicti loci de 

Mont, a letter of reachept. 

 

242 28 mar 1509, Boniffacius Brideri filius quondam Anthonii Brideri clerici et burgensis 

Melduni et Humberta eiusdem Boniffacii uxor sell to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, videlicet quindecim solidos Lausannensium bonorum census eisdem conjugibus 

venditos et debere confessatos per Petrum Trolliet de Chesalles (and apparently also by Johannes 

Gremoz, presumably as his security) precio quindecim librarum bone monete Lausanne, with 

further proceedings. 

 

243v 02 apr 1509, Venerabilis Dominus Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni sells to Glaudius 

Cavin de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

244 10 apr 1509, Johannes Tappy filius quondam Petri Tappy junioris de Pigney, quitclaim to 

Maria filia dicti quondam Petri Tappi sororis sue for their shares of the estate of their father, and 

reciprocal quitclaim by Maria. 

 

245 14 apr 1509, Aymo Clert alias Gavilliet de Mont sells to Glaudius Caschat dicti loci de 

Mont, with further proceedings. 

 

245v 17 apr 1509, Boniffacius Brideri clericus et burgensis Melduni et Humberta eius uxor 

filia quondam Petri Pin burgensis Melduni sell to Jacobus Clot de Prevondin parrochie de 

Cultillia, with further proceedings. 

 



246 25 apr 1509, Glaudius Marsens de Vuarmarens sells to Nycodus cons dicti loci de 

Vuarmarens, with further proceedings. 

 

246v 27 apr 1509, Discretus Magister Johannes de Chardoneto rector scolarum et burgensis 

Melduni sells to Pantheleo Vuannyeres filius Humberti Vuannyeres alias de Tolles faber et 

burgensis Melduni. 

 

247v 03 may 1509, Nobilis Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et condominus de 

Mexieres gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, visis legalitate, industria, et probitate honesti Francisci 

Frossardi clerici de Romanens, appointed as juratus ballivie Vuaudi ac castellaniarus eiusdem 

ballivatus. 

 

248 07 may 1509, Glaudius Guex alias Bulloz de Combremondo Parvo sells to Discretus 

Magister Johannes de Chardonoto rector scolarum et burgensis Melduni, with further 

proceedings. 

 

249 06 jun 1509, Petrus Rappit de Melduno et Ysabella eius uxor sell to Guido de Tecto de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet tres cupas boni et pulcri frumenti mensure Melduni annui et 

perpetui redditus census, et est facta presens huiusmodi vendicio pro bono justo et legitimo 

precio viginti quinque florenorum auri boni parviponderis, with further proceedings. 

 

249v 18 jun 1509, Johannes Gilliand faber Melduni sells to Johannes Buctet de Roscinges, 

with further proceedings. 

 

250 25 jun 1509, Jacobus Gilliard filius quondam Anthonii Gilliard de Mexieres sells to 

Petrus Semoraud dicti loci de Mexieres, with further proceedings. 

 

250v 13 jul 1509, Boniffacius Brideri clericus et burgensis Melduni et Humberta eius uxor sell 

to Petrus Trolliet, cense or pension. 

 

251 15 jul 1509, Marriage:  Anthonius Marron de Tornyer loz Grand, and Anthonius Blan de 

Brenles filius quondam Johannis Blan antenati nomine Ysabelle sororis sua filie dicti quondam 

Johannis Blan, with further proceedings. 

 

252v 28 jul 1509, Johannes Gerbaz de Melduno sells to Jacobus Bruschet burgensis Melduni. 

 

253 28 jul 1509, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherences curatus de Actallens causam 

habens in bonis quondam Venerabilis Domini Johannis Bollion has received full payment of 

rehemption of 12 solidi census, precio 12 libras, owed by Johannes Gerbaz to the said Dominus 

Johannes Bollion for the property in the previous transaction. 

 

253v 28 jul 1509 (datum ut supra), quod cum Dompnus Johannes Bollion sold to Johannes 

Gergaz morans Melduni a certain property for the price of 12 livres, recorded by Magister 

Johannes Crespy clericus et burgensis Melduni 22 apr 1490, now the said Johannes Gerbaz sells 

to Jacobus Bruschet burgensis Meldui the said property, with further proceedings. 

 



254v 05 aug 1509, Marriage:  Franciscus de Messiaco burgensis Gruerie, and Ysabella filia 

Stephani Cornaz alias Cheres burgensis Melduni relicta quondam Glaudii Clavoz junioris sutoris 

et burgensis Melduni (by whom she has two children, Henricus and Katherina), with further 

proceedings, all with signatures and paraphes of Franciscus de Bulo and Michael Frossard. 

 

255v 12 aug 1509, Girardus Lugard alias Bersyn filius Petri Lugard alias Bersyn de Tierrens 

and Anthonius Lugard sive dou Certor alias Bersyn dicti loci, partage. 

 

257v 29 aug 1509, Stephanus Paschit filius quondam Johannis Paschit filii quondam Aymoneti 

Paschit de Ferlyn parrochie de Mexieres nomine suo necnon Anthonii Paschit de Ferlin avunculi 

sui, reconnaissance for Jacobus Cavin de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

258v 28 aug 1509, Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat domicellus Melduni sells to Johannes Buctet de 

Rosczenges, cense, with further proceedings. 

 

259 Die festi Sancti Yllarii 1510, Petrus Chivaller alias Billiaux de Vuycens antenatus owes 

Michael Frossard the notary 14 florins, with signature and paraphe of an unknown notary, 

possibly Rodulphus Jolivet, with notation at the bottom, Registrata est in papiro debitoris dicti 

Michaelis. 

 

259v 11 sep 1509, Andreas Perret de Lucens has received from Ysabella Quynat prima uxor 

sua, videlicet sexaginta florenos auri bono parviponderis et hoc ultra dotem ipsius Ysabelle sibi 

legitime munerata, quos quidem sexaginta florenos auri ne in futurum pereant pro Jaquema et 

Maria filiabus suis dictis Andree et Ysabelle heredibus ipsius quondam Ysabelle …, secured 

super omnia universa et singula bona sua. 

 

260 11 sep 1509, Prenominatus Andreas Perret, intendens ire ad voagium Beate Marie 

Virginis de Puteo, donation to Jacobus filius suus licet absens.  (The pilgimage was likely to the 

cathedral of Notre Dame de l’Annonciation at Le Puy-en-Velay. France.)  

 

260v 10 sep 1509, Anthonius de Curia filius quondam Glaudii de Curia burgensis Melduni has 

received from Glaudius Sarvyn filius quondam Johannis Sarvyn de Syviriez. 

 

260v 05 oct 1509, Venerabilis Dominus Ludovicus Bruneti cappellanus Melduni sells to 

Johannes Visquerat saltor Melduni, a house at Moudon in Bastia Melduni, and a reciprocal sale, 

same date. 

 

261v 08 oct 1509, Anthonius Clemenczat alias Broyt de Dinisiez sells to Glaudius Crisinel 

antenatus de Dinisiez, with further proceedings. 

 

262 15 oct 1509, Johannes Marco de Vuilliens sells to Johannes Burdyn dicti loci de 

Vuilliens. 

 

262v 15 oct 1509, Humbertus de Sarandens notarius et burgensis Melduni sells to Petrus Tissot 

alias Charvet, with further proceedings. 

 



264 16 oct 1509, Hudriodus Girod de Vuilliens sells to Anthonia filia sue uxor Petri Clot, with 

further proceedings. 

 

264v 28 oct 1509, Marriage:  Petrus Modoz de Promassens, and Glaudius Oliveir de Chesalles 

parrochie de Mollens nomine Anthonie filie sue relicte quondam Vuilliermi dou Russel dicti loci 

de Chesalles. 

 

266 14 nov 1509, Venerabilis Dominus Ludovicus Bruneti cappellanus Melduni sells to 

Anthonius Clot de Melduno et Roletus Pictet ? de Bussy. 

 

267 23 nov 1509, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens curatus de Actallens has 

received from Jacobus Perret alias Chaneaz textor Melduni fill payment. 

 

267 10 dec 1509, Petrus Oliveir de Sancto Ciriaco sells to Glaudius filius quondam Johannis 

Dyn dicti loci de Sancto Ciriaco. 

 

267v 24 dec 1509, Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat domicellus Melduni sells to Johannes Buctet de 

Rosczinges, with further proceedings. 

 

268 31 dec 1509, Johannes Genet ? carpentator Melduni has received from Andrea uxor sue 

filia Henrici Charles. 

 

268v 05 feb 1509, Marriage:  Nycodus Fyvvaz alias Yblet filius quondam Petri Fyvvaz alias 

Yblet de Sassel nomine et pro parte Jacobi Fyvvaz alias Yblet filii predicti Petri fratris dicti 

Nycodi, and Guido de Tecto, Petrus de Tecto filius quondam Nycodi de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum nomine et pro parte Nycollete filie predicti quondam Nycodi de Tecto sororis dicti 

Petri neptisque dicti Guidonis de Tecto. 

 

270v 05 feb 1509 (datum ut supra), Retroscripta Nycolleta filia quondam Nycodi de Tecto de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum de tamen laude, consensu, et auctoritate et voluntate Jacobi filii 

quondam Petri Fyvvaz alias Yblet de Sassel viri et sponsi sui legitimi, quictavit, quictat, dimisit, 

dimictit, ac relinquit seque pro se et suis quibus supra, quictasse, dimisisse, et relinguisse se etc., 

de laude cuius supra confitetur per presentes Petro, Glaudio, et Johanni filibus predicti quondam 

Nycodi de Tecto fratribus suis presentibus pro se etc., videlicet omnia universa et singula bona 

sua dicti Nycollete parterna, materna, et fraterna quecumque omnesque et singulas actiones, 

raciones, porciones,que et ligitimas suas sibi competentes et competere debentes …, with 

specifications and conditions of her dowry. 

 

271v 05 feb 1509, Anthonius Lombard habitator de Brenles sells to Hugo Huguet de Mont, 

with further proceedings. 

 

272 22 feb 1509, Rodulphus de l’Enclosaz de Vuybroyt parrochie de Chastilliens sells to 

Petrus Perriard dicti loci de Vuybroyt, with further proceedings. 

 

272v 05 mar 1509, Anthonius de Curia burgensis Melduni sells to Johannes Buctet de 

Rosczenges, with further proceedings. 



 

273 11 mar 1509, Johannes Thouraz alias Cheybre de Curson parrochie de Villectaz sells to 

Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens, vines, with further proceedings. 

 

273v 22 mar 1509, Glaudius Broschon et Jacobus eius filius burgenses Melduni sell to 

Ludovicus Pischon barbitonsor et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

275v 23 mar 1509, Johannes de Praz de Vuilliens juniori sells to Glaudius Cavin de 

Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

276 23 mar 1509, Boniffacius Brideri clericus et burgensis Melduni et Humberta eius uxor 

filia quondam Petri Pin burgensis Melduni sell to Jacobus Clot de Prevondyn parrochie de 

Cultilia. 

 

277 26 mar 1510, Petrus de Praz antenatus de Vuilliens sells to Petrus dou Bos de 

Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

277v 08 apr 1510, Johannes de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens filius quondam Nycolleti de 

Sarsens et quondam Glaudie uxoris dicti Nycolleti matris dicti Johannis de Sarsens sell to 

Jacobus Burdey ? de Lucens et Glaudius Margueron gener dicti Jacobi, videlicet totum 

tenementum suum dicti Johannis venditoris quod habet et habere posset de bonis dicte Glaudie 

matris sue sitis in villis, territoriis, fenagiis, finibus et confinibus de Lucens et de Cultillia, for 24 

livres, which they promise to defend against the heirs and children of the late Johanneta 

quondam uxor Glaudii Gavat de Novilliez soror dicti Johannis venditoris etc.  (Other possible 

readings of the name include Buidey and Bindey, the latter suspected to be the correct solution.  

The script is vague and ambiguous.) 

 

278 08 apr 1509, Jacobus Burdey ? (name suspected to be Bindey, but the script discovered so 

far is indistinct) et Glaudius Margueron, having purchased the said tenement, now make an 

agreement regarding its future disposition depending on whether Glaudius and his wife 

Ysabella, daughter of the said Jacobus, should have children who survive them. 

 

279 14 apr 1510, Jacobus de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens filius quondam Jacobi de Sarsens 

sells to Glaudius Oliveir de Chesalles, a letter of reachept, with further proceedings, and a sale 

for the same parties. 

 

280 08 apr 1510, Petrus et Johannes Decimatoris fratres de Montet sells to Guido de Tecto de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet unum morsellum prati continens circa duas seytoratas prati 

sitas in territorio de Vuarmarens loco dicto in Vuaz juxta clausum Nycodi Cons et Glaudii 

Marsens ab oriente, pratum dictorum venditorum ab occidente, pratum dictorum venditorum et 

Glaudii Decimatoris a vento, et pascua communia de Vuarmarens a borea, for 60 florins, with 

further proceedings. 

 

280v 30 apr 1510, Aymo Rebitel de Arlens parrochie de Promassens sells to Petrus dou Russel 

alias Veyrit et Johannes Reschoz rectores et eo nomine confratrie Sancti Spiritus de Mollens 

nomine et ad opus dicte confratrie, videlicet quatuor solidos Lausannensium bonorum census, et 



est facta presens huiusmodi vendicionis pro bono justo et legitimo precio quatuor librarum 

bonarum Lausannensium, quequidem quatuor libre dicte monete,  

 

 Primo, quinquaginta solidi sunt de rehemptione facta per Johannem de Mont sutorem et 

burgensem Melduni tanquam persona[m] conjuncta[m] Francesie uxoris sue filie quondam Petri 

de Costel filii quondam Petri de Costel filii (the repeated words should probably be omitted; if 

the statement were correct as it stands, the original bequest would be extremely remote, but it 

may be possible to verify the correct lineage from other records) quondam Johannis de Costel de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, de legato per dictum quondam Johannem de Costel dicte confratrie 

facto. 

 

 Item, viginti solidi sunt de legato quondam Anthonie uxoris providi viri Guidonis de 

Tecto filie quondam Anthonii Reschoz de Vouderens, et de rehemptione per dictum Guidonem 

facte. 

 

 Item, et alii decem solidi sunt de rehemptione facta per Clementem Bucti et per 

Johannem Reschoz pro bonis quondam Ludovici Girad, quiosquidem quatuor solidos 

Lausannensium bonrum census dictus Aymo debitor et venditor solvere promictit juramento suo 

etc., et obligacione bonorum suorum etc., semper et perpetue anno quolibet in quolibet festo 

Sancti Martini Yemalis dictis rectori et successoribus suis semper ad opus dicte confratrie, with 

fidejussores Glaudius Gremoz de Vuarmarens et Jacobus Collon de Arlens filius quondam 

Anthonii Collon, with further proceedings. 

 

281v 01 may 1510, Franciscus Frossard filius quondam Petri Frossard de Sarsens sells to 

Glaudius Oliveir de Chesalles, and another transaction for the same parties, same date, with 

further proceedings. 

 

282v 06 may 1510, Johannes Pictet alias Dyn de Tretorens sells to Jacobus Bruschet burgensis 

Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

283 08 may 1510, Petrus Pictet alias Milliard de Olens filius quondam Anthonii Pictet alias 

Milliard sells to Jacobus Bruschet burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

(Inserted here, a torn piece of paper with writing on both sides, poorly legible and one or the 

other side likely irrelevant, no date, no clear relationship to the contents of this register.) 

 

284 09 may 1510, Maria relicta quondam Johannis Blan junioris lathomi de Brenles, 

intendens uxorari et ad secundas nuptias erga Petrus, Jacobum, Glaudim, Jaquetum, Aymonem 

filiorum suorum et dicti quondam Johannies Blan, quictat pereptue et dimictit et relinquit per 

presentes dictis Petro, Petro (the second Petro is apparently a duplication, in error), Jacobo, 

Glaudio, Jaqueto, et Aymoni fratribus dicto Petro presente pro se etc., et dictis Jacob, Glaudio, 

Jaqueto, et Aymonei absentis, all the properties and assets to which they are entitled. 

 

284v 09 may 1510, Petrus Blan and his brothers, as in the previous transaction, promise to 

support their mother in contracting for her second marriage. 

 



285 13 may 1510, Johannes Porterat de Syens sells to Amedeus Crousaz et Jacobus Challet 

juniori rectores et eo nomine confratrie Sancti Spiritus de Syens, cense, for 8 florins, quiquidem 

octo floreni sunt scilicet quinque floreni de legato quondam Johannete relicte quondam Johannis 

Chactod alias Barin de Mollondin filie quondam Petri Placit de Hermenges, alii vero tres floreni 

sunt de peccuniis dicte confratris quos suctoriebat Hugo dou Bos, with further proceedings. 

 

(Folio numbers appear to end at 285 (xiiiixxv), after which damage to the paper and fading have 

made them illegible, and for the most part completely invisible.) 

285v 03 jun 1510, Anthonius Lombard habitator de Brenles sells to Hugo Huguet de Mont, 

with further proceedings. 

 

[286] 06 jun 1510, Humbertus de Sarandens burgensis Melduni, Dompnus Georgius Sarandens 

et Henricus Sarandens filii predicti Humberti Sarandens, sell to Hugo Huguet de Mont. 

 

[287] 14 mul 1510, quod cum Glaudius Germon filius quondam Johannis Germon de Lovatens 

parte ex una, et Petrus Paccaud et Johannes Paccaud eiusdem Petri filius coram Nobili Johanni 

de Villarsel dominus de Deley castellano de Lucens super eo, videlicet quod dictus Glaudius 

Germon petebat sibi dimicti, relinqui, et habandonari per dictos Petrum et Johannem duas posas 

terre ad pratum redactas sitas et jacentes in territorio de Prevonlop loco dicto in Planches 

Cormengyn…, et hoc virtute certe lictere reacheti per dictum Glaudium Germon a Jacobo 

Borguys ? acquisiti, now by decree of the said Johannes de Villarsel, Petrus and Johannes 

Paccaud quitclaim the said 2 poses to Germon. 

 

[287v] 22 jul and 05 aug 1510, Humberti filia quondam Petri Pin filii quondam Jacobi Pin 

burgensis Melduni uxor Boniffacii Brideri burgensis Melduni, et Francesia filia predicti Jacobi 

Pin uxor Johannis Grivat, sell to Anthonius Challet filius quondam Jacobi Challet de Hermenges. 

 

[288v] 02 sep 1510, Petrus Encroz junior de Combremono Parvo sells to Vuilliermus Ballif dicti 

loci Combremondi parvi sutor et habitator Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

[289] 02 sep 1510 (datum ut supra), Anthonius Fallioz de Mont sells to Henricus Pasgis dou 

Sougi. 

 

[289] 03 sep 1510, Anthonius Visyn sutor Melduni filius quondam Guilliermi Visyn, and 

Anthonius Creaturaz alias Michiez burgensis Melduni et Dompnus Humbertus Creaturaz alias 

Michiez filius predicti Anthonii Creaturaz alias Michiez nomine Margurite filie dicti Anthonii 

sororis dicti Dompni Humberti, with further proceedings. 

 

[291v] 07 oct 1510, Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat domicellus Melduni sells to Anthonius Jayet de 

Hermenges, with further proceedings. 

 

[293] 07 oct 1510, Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat, quitclaim ? for Jaquetus Porchet. 

 

[293] 07 oct 1510, Jaquetus Reys de Combremono Magno sells to Petrus Eygroz antenatus de 

Combremondo Parvo, with further proceedings. 

 



[293v] 22 oct 1510, Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat domicellus Melduni, accensation for Petrus Riguet 

filius Petri Riguet burgensis Melduni. 

 

[294] 28 oct 1510, Andreas filius quondam Humberti Fornachon alias Magnyens de 

Combremondo Parvo sells to Petrus Eygroz antenatus dicti loci. 

 

[294v] 11 nov 1510, Petrus Encroz junior filius quondam Glaudii Encroz de Combremondo 

Parvo sells to Petrus Eygroz antenatus dicti loci de Combremondo Parvo, with further 

proceedings. 

 

[295] 08 dec 1510, Venerabilis Dominus Henricus Sapientis curatus de Promassens sells to 

Venerabilis Dominus Benedicto Germy receptori de Lucens, his house in Moudon, with further 

proceedings. 

 

[295v] 08 dec 1510, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens curatus de Actallens et Dominus 

Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni sell to Johannes Jacod alias de Alinjoz junior sutor Melduni. 

 

[296] 08 dec 1510, Predictus Johannes Jacod alias de Alinjoz junior sutor Melduni, 

reconaissance for Venerabilis Dominus Johannis Vuycherens curatus de Actallens, with further 

proceedings. 

 

[296v] 08 dec 1510, Predictus Johannes Jacod alias de Alinjoz junior sutor Melduni sells to 

Venerabilis Dominus Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni. 

 

[297] 08 dec 1510, Venerabilis Dominus Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni sells to Anthonius de 

laz Crousaz habitator Melduni. 

 

[297v] 08 dec 1510, Anthonius de laz Crousaz habitator Melduni sells to Venerabilis Dominus 

Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

[298] 13 jan 1510, Petrus Falconier de Vuilliens sells to Ludovicus Chappuys munerius dicti 

loci de Vuilliens, with further proceedings. 

 

[299] 13 jan 1510, Johannes de Praz junior de Vuilliens sells to Ludovicus Chappuys munerius 

de Vuilliens, with further proceedings. 

 

[299v] 16 jan 1510, Petrus de Tecto antenatus de Cabanis supra Meldunum sells to Guido de 

Tecto dicto loci de Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet unum parvum morsellum clausi situm in 

territorio de Cabanis loco dicto in Clauso Leyderey juxta clausum dicti emptoris quod fuit Petri 

Rappit ab oriente, terram Nycodi et Petri Veyrit ab occidente, terram dicti venditoris a borea, 

viam tendentem a villa de Cabanis ou Devens a vento, pro justo et legitimo precio decem 

florenorum, with further proceedings. 

 

[300] 20 jan 1510, Petrus de Marcello de Syens et Johanneta eius uxor filia quondam Nobilis 

Vuilliermi Chartrey lease for 6 years to Johannes Placyt de Hermenges. 

 



[300v] 20 jan 1510, Stephanus Paschit de Ferlin, quitclaim to Petrus Ballif alias Troctet dicti 

loci. 

 

[301] 26 jan 1510, Marriage:  Johannes Roscz de Eschiens filius quondam Roleti Roscz de 

Eschiens parrochie de Promassens, and Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum nomine 

Guilliermete filie sue, with further proceedings. 

[302] Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat domicellus Melduni sells to Johannes Buctet de Rosczinges, with 

further proceedings. 

 

[302v] Finis huius secundi registri mis Michaelis Frossardi clerici et burgensis Melduni ballivie 

Vuaudi juratis, with large paraphe. 

 

 

DL 43/4: (Image group 009165370, image 323) 

 

Cover:  Tertium registrum Michaelis Frossardi notarii et burgensis Melduni inceptum anno 1510.  

(Modern foliation begins on the first of five flyleaves, original foliation begins on modern folio 

6.  We follow the original foliation.  The script in this register is unusually clear and the ink 

unusually dark, a very different hand from the preceding register.) 

 

1 (“Folio primo”, but the modern foliation in pencil is “6”)  Die Dominico post festum 

Sancti Bartholomei Appostoli 1510, Johannes Genet carpentator Melduni owes Petrus Blanchard. 

 

1 02 sep 1502, Henricus Pasges owes Anthonius Fallioz. 

 

1v 09 sep 1510, Dispute and settlement, Anthonius Favey burgensis de Cossonay and 

Johannes filius quondam Petri Norissat ? dicti loci de Cossonay. 

 

2 04 dec 1510, Jacobus Broschon filius Glaudii Broschon burgensis Melduni has received 

from Ludovicus Pischon burgensis Melduni 25 florins. 

 

2v 28 dec 1510, Marguerita relicta quondam Magistri Johannis de Chardenoto tutrix et eo 

nomine liberorum predicti quondam Magistri has received from Glaudius Jaquier alias Sellaz de 

Demoret, undecim cupas furmenti mensure Lausanne et hoc in deductione maioris quantitatis in 

quibus idem Claudius erat obligatus dicto quondam Magistro Johanni. 

 

3 30 jan 1510, Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat domicellus Melduni sells to Glaudius et Jacobus 

Cavin de Vuycherens, cense, complicated history involving earlier religious bequests, with 

further proceedings. 

 

3v 10 feb 1510, Aymo Clert alias Gavilliet sells to Anthonius Fallioz de Mont, a letter of 

reachept. 

 

4 10 feb 1510, quod cum lis et differens esset inter Anthonium Mistralis de Hermenges et 

Jacobum Challet dicti loci super eo, videlicet quod dictus Anthonius Mistralis procuraverat 

fecisse certam movitionem in formam malefactorum de et super certis metis suis bonis positi 



inter possessiones dictorum partium pro non nullos malefactis suis malefactum tractis super 

quaquidem movitionem dictus Jacobus se fecerat cessare…, settlement. 

 

4v 17 feb 1510, Glaudius Gremoz de Vuarmarens sells to Glaudius filius Clementis Buctit 

de Ursy, cense, with further proceedings. 

 

5 Die festi Sancti Petri in Cathedra 1510, Hudriodus Girod de Vulliens sells to Glaudius 

filius Ludovici Chappuys mongnerius de Vulliens, with further proceedings. 

 

6 03 mar 1510, Andreas Raschinier de Syens sells to Petrus Porchet burgensis Melduni, 

with further proceedings. 

 

6v 17 mar 1510, Ysabella relicta quondam Anthonii Crousaz morantis Melduni sells to 

Nycodus Voutier de Bussy, a letter of annual pension, with further proceedings. 

 

7v 25 mar 1510 (but this should be 1511 Style of the Annunciation), Petrus Gasconel et 

Anthonia eius uxor sell to Johannes do Tey de Vuarmarens, with further proceedings. 

 

8v 22 mar 1510, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens with approval of his wife Anthonia sells to 

Glaudius Doy (Dey ?) alias Mont de Chesalles. 

 

9 04 apr 1511, Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum sells to Petrus Decimatoris de 

Montet, videlicet licteras subscriptas,  

 

 Et primo, licteram injunctorum ? de contento septem florenorum auri parviponderis etc. 

et duorum solidorum Lausannensium bonorum predicto Guidoni debitorum per quondam 

Franciscum Connet de Montet causa denariatarum suarum etc., prout in lictera injuctorum 

auctoritate domini officialis curie Lausanne recepta et signata per Petrum Michodi clericum die 

Lune ante festum Sancti Michaelis Archangelli 1492 plenius continetur. 

 

 Item, vendit et cedit predicto Petro licteram injunctorum debiti de summa quindecim 

librarum bone monete dicto Guidoni debitarum per quondam Franciscum et Petrum Connet 

causa retentis census bladi, recorded by Johannes Sali 03 apr 1503. 

 

 9v Item magis, vendit et cedit idem Guido predicto Petro Decimatoris, licteram debiti 

de summa viginti sex florenorum et restam eiusdem debiti sibi dicto Guidoni debitorum per 

quondam Franciscum Connet de Montet causa emptionis duorum bovum ? habitorum infra tunc 

sequens festum Sancti Bartholomei Appostoli, recorded by Johannes Sali 02 jan 1489. 

 

 Item magis, vendit idem Guido predicto Petro unam licteram in qua dictus Franciscus 

Connet trat de solvendo infra tunc proximum festum Beati Michaelis Archangelli videlicet 

duodecim florenos auri causa emptionis frumenti, recorded by Johannes Gaule 26 jul 1491. 

 

 Item magis, vendit et cedit idem Guido predicto Petro licteram in qua Franciscus et 

Petrus Connet de Montet are required to pay unum modium frumenti causa retentorum census, 

recorded by the undersigned (Michael Frossard) die Veneris Sancta 1500. 



 

 10 Item magis, vendit et cedit idem Guido dicto Petro, unam leciteram in qua 

Franciscus Connet confessus fuit se debere dicto Guidoni viginti florenos auri causa 

denariatarum suarum habitarum, recorded by Rodulphus Joliveti die Lune Sancta 1508. 

 

 Item, vendit et cedit idem Guido dicto Petro, another transaction recorded by Rodulphus 

Joliveti, at this point the list of items becomes difficult to follow, at least three more recorded by 

Laurencius Comitis in the late 15th Century. 

 

11 10 apr 1511, Johannes Vesyn de Augimont filius quondam Petri Vesyn sells to Glaudius 

Gavat ? de Combremono Magno filius quondam Glaudii Gavaz ? de Novilliez, with further 

proceedings. 

 

12 10 apr 1511, Andreas Fornachon alias Magnyens filius quondam Humberti Fornachon 

alias Magnyens de Combremondo Parvo sells to Vuilliermus Ballif dicti loci, with further 

proceedings. 

 

12v Die Martis Sancta 1511, Vuilliermus Ballif sutor Combremondi Parvi owes Jacobus 

Bruschet burgensis Melduni. 

 

13 01 may 1511, Johannes Bralliard sutor et burgensis Yverduni sells to Anthonius Bersyn 

alias Lugard de Tierrens. 

 

13 03 may 1511, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Generis curatus de Dinisiez rector et eo 

nomine hospitalis Sancti Bernardi de Melduno, accensaction for Nuerius ? (the name is 

consistently written with four minims followed by -erius, appropriately and clearly declined with 

proper grammatical endings, but lacking any diacritical marks, and in one example, the first 

letter is likely not U, V, I, or J), with further proceedings. 

 

14v 07 may 1511, Nobilis Petrus Cerjat dominus de Combremondo Parvo, laudation of sale 

by Glaudius Broschon burgensis Melduni and Jacobus his son, to Rodulphus Conchet alias 

Borron textor Melduni, date of sale not mentioned. 

 

14v 12 may 1511, Johannes filius quondam Petri Poncet de Combremondo loz Pictet sells to 

Vuilliermus Ballif sutor dicti loci habitator Melduni, a letter of reachept. 

 

15v 20 may 1511, Nycodus Baddoz de Provondavalle sells to Nobilis Petrus Cerjat dominus 

de Combremondo loz Pictet tam suo quam Nobilium Bernardi et Guidonis Cerjat fratrum suorum 

nominibus, with further proceedings. 

 

17 02 jul 1511, Glaudius filius Glaudii Gavit de Novilliez sells to predictus Glaudius Gavat 

pater suus de Novilliez et Anthonius Dyn dicti loci. 

 

17v 09 jul 1511, Claudia filia quondam Jacobi Reschoz de Vouderens uxor Anthonii Jayet 

burgensis Melduni sells to Clemens Bucti de Ursy. 

 



18 09 jun 1511, Stephanus Clert burgensis et chappellerius Melduni sells to Ayma filia 

quondam Johannis dou Metem ? uxor Beczonis Perrusset habitatoris Melduni. 

 

18v 09 jun 1511, Anthonius Gillieron tam nomine suo proprio quam persona conjuncta 

predicte (but there is no prior mention in this transaction) Ysabelle uxoris sue has received from 

Johannes filius quondam Nycodi Moctet 8 florins pro restitutione dotis Magdelene quondam 

uxoris Nycodi Victet, and an additional 9 florins for restitution of the trousseau and dresses. 

 

19 09 jun 1511, Girardus Charpillioz has received from Rodulphus Rubat de Mollens, 

videlicet terciam partem dotis Peronete filie quondam Petri Rubat de Mollens quondam uxoris 

Glaudii Cha[r]pillioz matris Glaudii, Anthonii, [et] Guilliermi Cha[r]pillioz et Glaudie [et] 

Marguerite sororum suarum. 

 

19v 11 jun 1511, Anthonius de Curia burgensis Melduni sells to Johannes Buctet. 

 

20 27 jun 1511, Dispute and settlement, Jaquetus Riguet de Combremondo Parvo nomine et 

pro parte Peronete filie sue, and Johannes Jacoz filius quondam Glaudii Jacoz de Yverduno, 

super eo, videlicet quod dicta Peroneta dicebat se esse gravada de dicto Johanne, quare petebat 

relevari debere et dotem sibi constituere, with further proceedings. 

 

21 27 jun 1511, Glaudius Broschon burgensis Melduni et Jacobus eius filius have received 

from Ludovicus Pischon burgensis Melduni, full payment from sale of house. 

 

21 06 aug 1511, Petrus Rappit sutor Melduni sells to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Melduni, videlicet unam posam terre inclusa una chintria prati sitam in territorio de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum loco dicto en l’Espynaz juxta terram in geneperiis reddactam de la Chignaudaz 

ab oriente, terram predicto Guidonis a borea et vento, marescum seu communitatis de Orgeyvaux 

ab occidente, for 10 florins, with further proceedings. 

 

22 18 aug 1511, Petrus Rappit sutor Melduni sells to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, videlicet terciam duas posas terre in tribus morsellis sitis in territorio de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum, quorum primus morsellus est loco dicto en Croschet juxta viam publicam ab 

oriente, terram dicti emptoris ab occidente et borea, terram Glaudii filii quondam Petri de Tecto a 

vento, secundus vero morsellus situs est loco dicto eis Crouses de Plan juxta terram Nycodi et 

Petri Veyrit ab oriente, terram Glaudii de Tecto ab occidente, vias publicas a borea.  Item, tercius 

vero morsellus est ibidem prope loco dicto en Croust de Plan juxta terram Glaudii de Tecto ab 

oriente, geniperia communia ab occidente, viam tendentem Cabanum ou Marest de Plan a vento, 

viam tendentem a villa de Cabanis apud Chesalles a borea, for 16 florins, with further 

proceedings. 

 

22v 24 aug 1511, Humberta filia quondam Petri Pin burgensis Melduni uxor Boniffacii 

Brideri eciam burgensis Melduni sells to Petrus Clot de la Fayt, with further proceedings. 

 

23v 29 sep 1511, Hudriodus Girod de Vulliens sells to Glaudius filius Ludovici Chappuis de 

Vulliens, with further proceedings. 

 



24 09 sep 1511, Glaudia filia quondam Rodulphi Connet de Montet et Agnetis filie quondam 

Vulliermi dou Tey uxor Petri Burjat de Yverduno sutoris scientes etc., de tamen laude, consensu, 

assensu, et auctoritate predicti Petri Burjat viri sui presentis et auctorizantis, quictat per presentes 

dimictit et relinquit semper de laude qua supra providos viros Guidonem de Tecto, Petrum, 

Glaudium, et Johannem de Tecto filios quondam Nycodi de Tecto nepotes predicti Guidonis de 

Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, dicto Guidone presenti et dictis Petro, Glaudio, et Johanni 

dou Tey absentis jura subscriptis vice nomine et ad opus eorundum stipulans et recipiens pro se 

etc, videlicet omnia universa et singula bona quondam Vulliermi de Tecto et Agnetis eiusdem 

Vuilliermi uxoris avorum dicte Glaudie omnesque et singulas actiones, raciones, procionesque, et 

legitimas suas sibi competentes et competere debentis cum predictis Guido, Petro, Glaudio, et 

Johanne in omnibusque et singulis bonis suis paternis, maternis, et fraternis quibuscumque ac de 

omnibus hiis in quibus predicti Guido, Petrus, Glaudius, et Johannes sibi quictatriti ? teneri 

possent quovismodo tam in licteris quam extra licteras salva legali excheta, et est facta presens 

quictacio pro bono et justo precio sexdecim librarum habitarum etc., devestiens se etc., cum 

pacto etc., promictentes dicti conjuges juramentis suis etc. et obligacione bonorum suorum etc., 

contra premissa non venire etc., cum dampnis etc., volentes quod posset reffice ? etc., 

auctorizans etc., jurans etc. 

 

 (This item states clearly that Glaudia Connet, wife of Petrus Burjat of Yverdon, is the 

daughter of Rodulphus Connet and Agnes de Tecto, and the granddaughter of Vulliermus de 

Tecto and his wife Agnes, and that Guido de Tecto and his nephews Petrus, Glaudius, and 

Johannes, sons of the late Nycodus de Tecto, are also heirs of the same Vulliermus de Tecto and 

Agnes, that is, that they are successors in the estates of Vuilliermus and his wife.  It does not 

state that Guido and his late brother Nycodus are also sons of Vulliermus; they could equally 

well be their grandsons.) 

 

24v 05 oct 1511, Compromissium, Glaudius de Tecto antenatus filius quondam Nycodi de 

Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum ex una parte, et Glaudius de Tecto [junior] filus quondam 

Petri de Tecto antenati dicti loci de Cabanis supra Meldunum, de et super eo, videlicet, quod 

dictus Glaudus antenatus decebat et affirmabat quod dictus Glaudius junior debebat solvere 

Clementio Bucti de Ursy trigina libras bone monete pro dote quondam Perrissone uxoris dicti 

Clementis, necnon undecim florenos auri parviponderis sibi dicto Clementio debitos, quia in 

partagiis dicti quondam Petri patris dicti Glaudii junioris fuerat factum quod dictus Petrus 

debebat solvere omnia debita pro semel, quare petebat sibi degravari debere erga dictum 

Clementum Bucti de dictis triginta libris et undecim florenis dicto vero Glaudio de Tecto juniore, 

dicente ad premissa non teneri, quoniam dictus Glaudius antenatus erat injunctus ? dicto 

quondam Petro de Tecto de solvendo predicto Clementio Bucti dictum matrimonium et predictos 

undecim florenos auri et valoris predictorum, quare dicebat quod ipse debebat ipsum degravare 

erga dictum Clementum, tandem dicte partes scientes etc., pro se etc., volentes potius via 

amicabili quam rigorosa predictas questiones tractare et sedare, igitur prenominate partes se 

compromiserunt compromissumque firmum et validum de et super eorum differenciis 

questionibus emergenciisque et contextis ? ex eisdem, scilicet in Venerabilem Dominum 

Jacobum Excofferi cappelanum ac Providum Guidonem de Tecto, Nycolletum de Tecto, et 

Johannem de Tecto, quibus dederunt omnimodum et absolutam potentatem de et super omnibus 

eorum differnciis questiones emergenciisique et contextis ex eisdem pronunciandum, 

declarandum, et ordonnandum etc., tandam predicti Dominus Jacobus Escofferi, Guido, 



Nycolletus, et Johannes de Tecto scientes etc., pro se etc., omnis dicte pronunciacione in se 

assumentis pronunciaverunt in huic qui sequitur modum,  

 

 25v Primo, Christi nomine invocato, quod bona pax sit inter dictas partes. 

 

 Item, pronunciaverunt quod dictus Glaudius de Tecto antenatus teneatur et debeat solvere 

dicto Clementio Bucti pro premissis, videlicet quadraginta florenos auri et valoris predictorum, et 

Thome Martini hospiti Melduni quinque solidos pro unius bibitis tractando de dicte pace, et 

predictum Glaudium de Tecto juniorem de premissis degravare. 

 

 Item, pronunciaverunt quod dcitus Glaudius junior teneatur et debeat solvere prefato 

Clementio Bucti viginti unum florenos auri et valoris predictorum, et predictum Glaudium 

antenatum erga dictum Clementem Bucti degravare, que predicta dicte parte laudant et ratifficant 

per presentes, et promictunt juramentis suis etc., et obligacione bonorum suorum etc. premissa 

solvere actendere, tenere, complere, et observare, cum dampnis etc., renunciantes etc., jurantes 

etc. 

 

 (Clemens Bucty had married Perrissona, daughter of Jacobus son of Nicodus de Tecto.  

The dispute about the expenses of her wedding was still continuing at least as late as 1538, in the 

records of Rod Demont.) 

 

26 20 oct 1511, Anthonius Fallioz de Mont and Aymo Clert alias Gavilliet dicti loci, 

exchange. 

 

26v 01 nov 1511, Petrus Rappit sells to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet 

unum morsellum terre continens circa duas bonas posas terre sitas in territorio de dictis Cabanis 

loco dicto oultre Marest juxta terram dicti Guidonis ab oriente, marescum communem et pratum 

Johannis de Costel et Glaudii de Tecto antenati ab occidente, pascua communia a vento, terram 

Nycodi et Petri Veyrit a borea, for 24 florins, with further proceedings. 

 

27v 01 nov 1511, Johannes Jacod alias de Alingoz junior sutor Melduni sells to Hanni Porchet 

filius ? Jaqueti Porchet de Belflory, with further proceedings. 

 

28v 01 nov 1511, Jacobus de Sarsens filius quondam Jacobo (should be Jacobi !) de Sarsens 

dicti loci sells to Glaudius Olivier de Chesalles, a letter of reachept. 

 

29 30 nov 1511, Bernardus de Curia filius quondam Discreti Glaudii de Curia burgensis 

Melduni sell to Ludovicus Moctaz de Syens, cense, with further proceedings. 

 

29v 01 dec 1511, Nycolletus Jordan deys Culayes sells to Andreas Jordan filius Petri Jordan 

dicti loci. 

 

30 06 dec 1511, Glaudius Marsens de Vuarmarens sells to Nycodus Cons, with further 

proceedings. 

 



31 07 dec 1511, Nycodus Charpilloz et Michael filius quondam Girardi Charpilloz de 

Vuycherens sells to Glaudius Cavin dicti loci, with further proceedings. 

 

31v 07 dec 1511 (datum ut supra), Petrus et Glaudius Fouchieres de Bussy sells to Glaudius 

Mistralis burgensis Melduni. 

 

32 31 dec 1511, Anthonius Charpillioz, Glaudia eius uxor, Rodulphus Charpilloz et 

Johanneta eius uxor de Vuycherens pro medietate, et Glaudius Nardyn pro alias medietate, dicte 

mulieres de laude et auctoritate dictorum virorum suorum, sell to Glaudius Cavin dicti loci, with 

further proceedings. 

 

33 05 jan 1511, quod cum Nycodus Fraschat burgensis Melduni sold to Humbertus Buctet de 

Rosczinges, now Johannes Buctet filius quondam dicti Humberti Buctet has received from the 

said Nycodus Fraschat full payment. 

 

33 23 jan 1511, Francesia filia quondam Jacobi Pin burgensis Melduni uxor Johannes Grivat 

sells to Petrus Clot, with further proceedings. 

 

34 25 jan 1511, Marriage:  Glaudius Oliveir de Chesalles parrochie de Mollens nomine et ex 

parte Johannis Oliveir filii suis, and Johannes Reschoz de Ursy dicte parrochie de Mollens 

nomine et ex parte Jaqueme filie sue dicti Johannis, with further proceedings. 

 

36 Die Lune post festum Sancti Petri in Cathedra 1511, Glaudia relicta quondam Anthonii 

Cachin de Carrojoz et Glaudius filius dictorum conjugum sells to Amedeus Crousaz et Jacobus 

Challiet de Hermenges rectorum et eo nomine confratrie Sancti Spiritus de Syens, cense, based 

on 11 florins principal of which 6 florins are from a rehemption by Anthonius Detard de 

Vuycherens and the other 5 florins from a legagy by Glaudius Cavin to the said confratria, with 

further proceedings. 

 

37 11 mar 1511, Amedeus Cordey filius quondam Glaudii Cordey de Cappella Voudana sells 

to Johannes filius Ludovici Bussynyez burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

38 29 mar 1512, Nobilis Glaudius de Cultillia domicellis Viviaci condominus 

Combremondis Magni sells to Glaudius Gabat filius quondam Glaudii Gabat, with further 

proceedings. 

 

38v 02 apr 1512, Petrus Vernaz has received from Franciscus Destrier burgensis Melduni. 

 

38v 07 apr 1512, Glaudius [junior] filius quondam Petri de Tecto antenati de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum sells to Guido de Tecto dicti loci, videlicet tres cupas boni et pulcri frumenti mensure 

Melduni annui et perpetui redditus census, et est facta presens vendicio pro bono et justo precio 

viginti quinque florenorum auri boni parviponderis, fidejussor Petrus Rappit sutor Melduni, with 

further proceedings.  (In effect, a loan of 25 florins to Glaudius de Tecto junior.) 

 



39v 07 apr 1512, Petrus Jacaud de Cultillie, quitclaim to Dominus Aymo de Balma 

cappellanus Melduni heres quondam Vuilliermi Compatris de Berchiez, with further 

proceedings. 

 

40v 11 apr 1512, Glaudius Gabat de Combremondo Magno filius Glaudii Gabat de Noviliez 

sells to Nycolletus Girard de Dinisiez, with further proceedings. 

 

41 19 apr 1512, Humbertus Motitaz et Anthonius Lugard alias Bersyn sindici et 

gubernatores et eo nomine communitatis de Tierrens, with approval of others (list of 

probihomines de Tierrens) sell to Anthonius Meistre dicti loci de Tierrens, with further 

proceedings. 

 

42 19 apr 1512 (datum ut supra), Glaudius Porchet de Rospraz sells to Johannes Detard de 

Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

43 26 apr 1512, Johannes Gaule notarius et burgensis Melduni scindicus et gubernator 

Melduni et eo nomine with approval of others (list of probihomines de Melduno), with further 

proceedings. 

 

43v 29 apr 1512, Glaudius Nardyn de Vuycherens, Glaudia filia quondam Petri Nardyn uxor 

Anthonii Charpillioz dicti loci, et Johanneta filia dicti quondam Petri Nardin soror dicte Glaudie 

uxor Rodulphi Cha[r]pillioz dicti loci sell to Petrus dou Bos de Vuycherens. 

 

44v 29 apr 1512, Jacobus filius quondam Anthonii Recagnyoz de Vuilliens et Anna uxor 

Glaudii Nardin dicti loci de Vuilliens sell to Petrus dou Bos de Vuycherens, with further 

proceedings. 

 

45 30 apr 1512, Petrus de Praz de Vuilliens sells to Petrus dou Bos de Vuycherens. 

 

45v 15 may 1512, Petrus Gavuyens sartor de Lucens sells to Glaudius Margueron faber de 

Lucens, videlicet unam ochiam ad clausum reddactum situm in territorio de Lucens loco dicto 

oultra Cerjoulam juxta terram Ludovici Quynat ab oriente, ochiam Nobilis Jacobi Mistralis a 

vento, clausum Jacobum Burdey ? (father-in-law of Glaudius, the name suspected to be Bindey, 

but the script discovered so far is indistinct) ab occidente et borea, for 11 florins. 

 

46 17 may 1512, Johannes Rannyaz ? filius quondam Phillipi de Rannyaz ? de 

Monpreveyroz sells to Hugo douz Bos de Rosczinges, with further proceedings. 

 

47 20 may 1512, Agnes uxor Anthonii Aymonod de Brenles sells to Rodulphus Blan filius 

quondam Guilliermi Blan de Brenles. 

 

47v 25 jun 1512, Franciscus filius quondam Petri Frossard de Sarsens sells to Nobilis 

Johannes de Villarsel dominus de Deley, with further proceedings. 

 



48v 30 jun 1512, Boniffacius filius quondam Anthonii Brideri clerici et burgensis Melduni et 

Humberta eius uxor filia quondam Petri filii quondam Jacobi Pin burgensis Melduni sell to 

Ludovicus de Martherenges sutor et burgensis Melduni, many properties. 

 

50 08 aug 1512, Marriage:  Glaudius Collon de Dynisiez filius quondam Jaqueti Collon, and 

Petrus Trolliet de Chesalles nomine Katherine filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

51v 25 aug 1512, Johannes Jacod sutor Melduni alias de Alinjoz junior with approval of his 

wife Glaudia sells to Johannes Porchet filius quondam Jaqueti Porchet de Belflory. 

52v 04 sep 1512, agreement:  Venerabilis Dominus Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni and 

Johannes Phillipon burgensis Melduni, in effect an exchange of property and other assets, with 

further proceedings. 

 

54 13 sep 1512, Petrus Gavuyens saltor de Lucens, quitclaim to Johannes de Villarsel 

dominus de Deley castellanii de Lucens ac Franciscus Gavuyens frater suo de Dompnopetro. 

 

54v 14 sep 1512, Glaudius Tissot habitator Melduni sells to Petrus Doys (or Deys ?). 

 

55 14 sep 1512, Jacobus Perret alias Chaneaz textor Melduni sells to Johannes filius 

quondam Stephani Boveir de Carrojoz textor Meldni, house in Moudon and other property. 

 

55v 14 sep 1512 (datum ut supra), Johannes Boveir sells to Venerabilis Dominus Johannes de 

Vuycherent curatus de Actallens, cense, with further proceedings. 

 

56 15 sep 1512, Agreement:  Anthonius Creaturaz alias Michiez burgensis Melduni and 

Ludovicus Creaturaz alias Michiez antenatus et burgensis Melduni, regarding 3 nut trees. 

 

57v 20 sep 1512, Petrus Rappit sutor Melduni filius quondam Guilliermi Rappit, et Petrus 

eius filius, sell to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet tres cupas boni et pulcri 

frumenti mensure Melduni annui et perpetui redditus census, for 25 florins, with further 

proceedings.  (In effect, a loan to Petrus Rappit of 25 florins.) 

 

58 04 oct 1512, Johannes dou Bos de Rosczinges sells to Hugo Buctet dicti loci de 

Rosczinges, with laudation by Nobilis Petrus Cerjat dominus de Combremondo le Pety nomine 

suo, Bernardi, et Guidonis fratrum suorum dated 05 oct 1512 (anno quo supra). 

 

59 Die Lune ante festum Nativitatis Beate Marie Virginis 1512, Dispute and settlement:  

Nycodus Brugnier ? de Pont ante Vuycherens, and Nobilis Franciscus de Glana dominus de 

Vallardens, property rights, with further proceedings dated 03 oct 1512. 

 

60 12 sep 1512, Johannes de Praz junior sells to Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens. 

 

61 04 oct 1512, Marriage:  Petrus Riguet antenatus et burgensis Melduni and Jacobus Cavin 

de Vuycherens nomine et pro parte Johannete eius filie, with further proceedings. 

 



63 25 oct 1512, Guilliermus de Cresta owes Anthonius Chappuys alias Porchet sutor 

Melduni. 

 

63v 28 oct 1512, Jacobus de Chaul de Chynoul (Chynaulx) parrochie de Villettaz sells to 

Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens, vines, with further proceedings. 

 

64 11 nov 1512, Glaudius filius Petri Porchet sutor Melduni sells to Jacobus Crousaz alias 

Pesex filius Francisci Crousaz alias Pesex de Melduno, with further proceedings. 

 

65 12 nov 1512, Johannes Perdonet faber de Vuycherens owes Stephanus Cornaz burgensis 

Melduni. 

 

65 13 nov 1512, Partage, Stephanus Cornaz alias Cherez mercator et burgensis Melduni and 

Jacobus Cornaz alias Cheres vexilliferus Melduni. 

 

68 18 nov 1512, quod cum Johannes filius quondam Johannis Gerbaz de Melduni received 

from Johannes Guynyet antenatus morans apud Aultcrest parte et nomine Marie eius uxoris tam 

pro dote quam pro pecuniis ultra dotem, that transaction recorded by Johannes Fouchieres 

clericus Melduni die quarta mensis Marcii anno domini millesimo quatercentesimo _____ (blank 

space – the date is incomplete) secundo, now Jaquetus de Giez filius quondam Glaudii de Giez et 

dicte quondam Marie pro tercia parte, Petrus Giex ? sutor et burgensis Melduni tanquam tutor et 

tutorio nomine ipsius Henrici et Marguerite liberorum suorum et quondam Marguerite eiusdem 

Petri uxorem filieque quondam Johannis Gerbaz et predicte Marie pro alia tercia parte, necnon 

Glaudius Jaquinet de Viviaco tanquem persona conjuncta Loysie filie dicti quondam Johannis 

Gerbaz et dicte quondam Marie pro alia tercia parte, sell their interest to Jacobus Bruschet 

burgensis Melduni. 

 

70 23 nov 1512, Partage, Petrus Riguet antenatus et burgensis Melduni and Petrus Riguet 

junior eiusdem Petri filius. 

 

73 22 nov 1512, Petrus Chollet de Lovactyns (Lovactens) sells to Glaudius Germon dicti 

loci de Lovactyns. 

 

73v 24 nov 1512, Johannes filius Nycodi Detard dou Plan has received from Anthonia uxor 

sua filia quondam Anthonii Clot, videlicet viginti quatuor libras bone monete Lausannene, et hoc 

per manus Humberti Clot tutoris et tutorio nomine liberorum quondam Anthonii Clot pro dote, 

maritagio, parte, porcione canonica eiusdem Anthonie, with further proceedings. 

 

75 15 nov 1512, quod cum Stephanus Cornaz alias Cheres burgensis Melduni et Jacobus 

Cornaz eius filius made a partage and division between themselves, now they agree to undo the 

partage and reunite their assets. 

 

75v 11 may 1512, Petrus de Marcello de Syens et Johanneta eius uxor filia quondam 

Vuilliermi Chartrey domicelli de Syens sell to Hugo dou Bos de Rosczinges, with further 

proceedings. 

 



76v 02 dec 1512, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens curatus de Actallens rector et eo 

nomine hospitalis pauperum Beate Marie Virginis de Melduno necnon Petrus Monachi 

consindicus et gubernator Melduni, with approval of Nobiles Petrus Cerjat dominus 

Combremondi Parvi, Franciscus de Glana dominus de Vallardens, ac Providum virorum 

Rodulphus Decimatoris, Petrus de Curia alias Connommina ? , Michael Connet, Ludovicus de 

Savacteroz, Johannes de Mont, Rodulphus Brudeti ? , Glaudiius Paschon, Nycodus Fraschat, 

Ludovicus Porchet consilium …, appoint Discretus Johannes Luysii clericus Melduni as 

commissarius extentis et recognicionum dicti hospitalis. 

 

77 02 dec 1512 (datum ut supra), quod cum Jacobus filius quondam Jacobi de Sarsens dicti 

loci de Sarsens sold to Glaudius Mont alias Doys de Chessalles, as recorded by Johannes 

Guilliez 04 may 1510, and in a further transaction of 29 mar 1512, now the said Jacobus de 

Sarsens sells to the said Glaudius Doys alias Mont all the letters of reachept, with further 

proceedings dated 08 dec 1512. 

 

80v 12 dec 1512, Johannes Boveir textor Melduni tanquam persona conjuncta Jaqueme uxoris 

sua filia quondam Petri Rachinier de Syens has received from Glaudius Perdonet de Vuycherens 

tutor et tutorio nomine Perrissone impuberi filie quondam Johannis Perdonet de Vuycherens, et 

hoc pro augmento dotis Jaqueme uxoris sue dicti Johannis relicte dicti quondam Johannis Boveir 

matris dicti Perrussone, videlicet septem florenos et quatuor solidos Lausannensium bonorum, 

with further proceedings. 

 

82 13 dec 1512, Johannes Mouriez de Soctens sells to Hugo Buctet de Rossens, with further 

proceedings. 

 

83 15 dec 1512, Humbertus Moctitaz alias Juenier ? (also Jenier) et Anthonius Lugard alias 

Bersyn gubernatores et sincidi ville et communitatis de Tierrens et eo nomine de laude, consensu, 

et voluntate providorum virorum Anthonii Meistre, Glaudii Contoz, Petri Piot, Girardi Lugard, 

Benedicti Contoz, Anthonii Foresteir, Johannis filii quondam Mathei Baudin proborum hominum 

de Tierrens sells to Johannes Mistralis de Tierrens, with two more sales for the same parties and 

further proceedings. 

 

85 Testament:  Aymo filius Glaudii Contoz de Tierrens, only the introduction, incomplete, no 

date. 

 

85 13 dec 1512, Humbertus Motitaz alias Juenier et Anthonius Lugard alias Bersyn 

gubernatores et sincidi tocius communitatis dicti loci de Tierrens et eo nomine (with approval of 

a list of residents, see above, fol. 83) sells to Anthonius Meistre. 

 

85v 20 oct 1512, Petrus Rappit de Melduno sells to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, videlicet unam posam terre et unam peciam terre sitam in territorio de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, quarum posa sita est loco dicto in Campo Montagney de Fyn juxta terram Glaudii 

filii quondam Petri de Tecto et Johannis de Costel alias Bellaz ab oriente, terram dicti Johannies 

de Costel ab occidente, terram dicti emptoris a vento, et terram Glaudii de Tecto antenati a borea. 

 



86 Item, dictum morsellum terre situm est loco dicto in Chesaul juxta terram dicti 

emptoris ab oriente, pratum eiusdem emptoris et Glaudii de Tecto antenati ab occidente, terram 

Glaudii de Tecto a vento, terram Petri Veyrit a borea, pro bono et justo precio viginti florenorum 

auri parviponderis, with further proceedings. 

 

86v 20 oct 1512 (datum ut supra), Franciscus Jacaud de Henyt is required to pay Anthonius 

Gillieren. 

 

87 30 dec 1512, Spectabilis et Potens Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy condominus 

de Mexieres gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi has received from Petrus Mistralis domicellus. 

87 15 jan 1512, Anthonius de Curia filius quondam Discreti Glaudii de Curia burgensis 

Melduni de tamen laude [et] consensu honeste mulieris Collete uxoris sue (inserted by reference 

mark ⌅ :  necnon providi virorum Petrus et Bernardi de Curia fratrum suorum dicti Antonii 

presentium consencium et laudacium maxime dicta Nycolleta de laude et auctoritate dicti 

Anthonii viri sui quod verum esse confitetur idem Anthonius), sell to Hugo Buctet de 

Rosczenges filius quondam Humberti Buctet, with further proceedings. 

 

89v 06 jan 1512, Marriage:  Glaudius filius Jacobi Rolaz de Chesalles nomine Vuilliermi 

Rolaz eius fratris, and Roletus Pictier de Bussy nomine Glaudie filie sue, with further 

proceedings. 

 

91v 19 mar 1512, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy condominus de Mexieres 

gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, appointment of Jacobus Gaudin clericus de Monnaz supra 

Morgiam, upon the death of the late Discretus Hugoninus Vigoroux (the name is very clear, not 

Vigniroux or similar) notarius de Cossonay, as custodian of his protocols. 

 

92v 21 mar 1512, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy condominus de Mexieres 

gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, appointment of Franciscus Pilichodi de Nyviduno filius quondam 

Discreti Philliberti Pillichodi notarii dyocesis Gebenensis as notary. 

 

94 17 sep 1512, Glaudius Tilliet faber et burgensis Melduni, quitclaim to Glaudius Milliet 

habitator de Sarsens, for a letter of reachept recorded by Jacobus Monachi 20 jan 1503, this 

quitclaim with witnesses Guido de Tecto and Jacobus Bindey (apparently clear here, with a dot 

over the i, but elsewhere possibly Burdey). 

 

95v 05 feb 1512, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et condominus de Mexieres, 

donation to Novilis Anthonius de Arciis for his many services, with further proceedings. 

 

97v 13 feb 1512, quod cum Spectabilis Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy condominus 

de Mexieres gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi donated to Nobilis Anthonius de Arciis eius servitor, 

now Franciscus de Putheo nuncius … ballivatus Vuaudi ad instancium et requisicionem ipsius 

Nobilis Anthonii de Arciis … (text is very messy, subject uncertain). 

 

98v 06 feb 1512, Nobilis Guiliermus Espaz domicellus Melduni et Petrus Espaz eius filius, 

dictus vero Nobilis Petrus nomine suo proprio ac Nobilis Bernardi Espaz filii predicti Nobilis 



Guilliermi fratris dicti Petri have received from Jacobus Bindey ? (or Burdey ?) faber de Lucens 

10 livres for redemption of censes. 

 

99v 13 may 1513, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et condominus de Mexieres 

gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, apppointment of Humbertus filius Discreti Nycolleti Tacheron 

notarius de Mollondens as notary ? (text is very messy). 

 

101 03 may 1513, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et condominus de Mexieres 

gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, appointment of Johannes Durandi filius quondam Anthonii 

Durandi clerici de Rances as notary. 

 

102 03 may 1513 (datum ut supra), Nobilis Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy et 

condominus de Mexieres gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, appointment of Glaudius filius Johanns 

Richardi clerici de Rances as notary. 

 

(At this point, the script changes to a smaller hand using a fairly coarse quill and a poor quality 

ink that has faded unevenly, with many small stains and spots.  The script is much more difficult 

to read.) 

 

102v Die Lune post festum Eucaristie Christo 30 may 1513, Johannes de Staviaco dominus de 

Bussy et condominus de Mexieres gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, quod cum Nobiles Franciscus 

et Claudius de Glana fratres domini de Villardyn domicelli et burgenses Melduni appeared before 

a tribunal… bearing a parchment dated 15 jan 1364, copied into this record (but very messy), 

apparently setting out the shares of certain fees to be paid to various officials, now presented for 

consideration by a long list of nobles and notaries. 

 

104v 02 may 1513, Perroneta relicta quondam Guilliermi Robin de Oppens filia quondam 

Johannes Pillot ? de Sancto Ciriaco, donation inter vivos of all her estate to her nephew 

Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Baddoz filius Nycodi Baddoz de Sancto Ciriaco, for his many 

services. 

 

105v 29 jun 1511, Johannes Bralliard de Soctens, donation of property for the benefit of the 

church of Soctens filiol ecclesie parrochialis Beate Marie Magdalenes Cappelle Voudanne vel 

rector seu rectores eiusdem presentes et futures, to Venerabilis vir Dominus Johannes de Bruello 

vicarius et rector dicte ecclesie. 

 

106 13 jul 1511, Jacobus Monachi cappellanus Melduni curatusque Cappelle Voudanne, quod 

cum Johannes Bralliard de Soctens donated property inter vivos for the benefit of the church of 

Cappella Voudanne, that transaction recorded by the undersigned 29 jun 1511, now I, the said 

Jacobus Monachi curatus jamdictus, sciens et spontaneus pro me et meis quibus supra volens et 

intendens erga dictum Johannem Bralliard donationem bonamfidem agnoscere causa quo ego vel 

mei qui supra non possemus dictum prati morsellum supra donatium ad utilitatem dicte ecclesie 

ponere et convertere, quod ipse Johannes sit liber et quictus de dicte donacione in hoc etiam 

quod ego et mei qui supra sciens converti et liberi de dictis missis. 

 



107 Die Lune ante festum Purifficacionis Beate Marie Virginia 1513, Petrus de Belleforti 

dominus Boschy gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, quod coram Nobili Jacobo Cattelani domicello 

Staviaci locumjurumtenente in judicio pro tribunali sedente ad testibus infrascriptis cum prefato 

locumjurumtenente sedentibus cognoscentibus et judicentibus, personaliter constitutus providus 

vir Glaudius Griseti burgensis Staviaci tenens per manum Franciscum Griesti eius filium eiudem 

Franciscum a se emancipavit, with further proceedings. 

 

109v Die Sabbati post festum Nativitatis Beate Marie Virginis 1513, Jacobus Catellan 

domicellus Staviaci canonicus ? Melduni, quod Humbertus Meystre et Petrus Boudyn de 

Tyerrens clamam fecerunt in manibus Francisci de Puteo nuncii mei castellanie Melduni de 

Anthonio Clert filio Uldrici Clert, Johanne Billard alias Chevalley, Johanne Vijat, Petro Carrad, 

et Johanne Thomaz vigore clame idem nuncius citavit et assignavit ? dictas partes coram me…  

The text is very messy and uncertain, but appears to involve a claim of slander:  certa die lapsa 

verbis injuriosis maliciosis et villipendiosis ? , and Johannes Vijat is involved through his wife 

Maria, and Petrus Carrad through his wife Anthonia. 

 

110v 04 oct 1514, Nobilis Claudius de Cultilliez domicellus Viviaci dominus de Villard Rabo 

et Katherina eius uxor velut heres universalis quondam Ludovici Asineri (Assigneri) de 

Melduno, sell to Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuicherens capellanus Melduni tanquam rector 

hospitalis pauperum Beate Marie Virginis de Melduno et eo nomine, 12 sols cense owed to the 

said late Nobilis Ludovicus Assigneri by Discretus Johannes Seignyeux burgensis 

Rotundimontis, that transaction recorded by the late Johannes Nycati clericus Melduni, and 

involving also a legacy from the late Nobilis Rodulphus Assigneri father of the said Ludovicus. 

 

(Fols. 111v-116v are blank.) 

 

117 10 jan 1512, Petrus Gasconel de Mollens et Anthonia eius uxor have received from 

Johannes de Tecto de Vuarmarens 48 sols, assigned eidem Johannis de Tecto, videlicet super 

licteram reacheti et prevalencia eiusdem cuiusdam morselli clausi siti in territorio et fenagio de 

Mollens loco dicto ou Pactot juxta terram dictorum conjugum ab oriente, clausum Vuilliermi 

Rubat ab occidente, viam publicam a borea, quandam ruetam et terram ecclesie de Mollens a 

vento, et hoc in augmentate et pro augmentacione precii vendicionis eidem morselli clausi … 

 

117v 28 jan 1512, Petrus Vuannyerre alias de Toles dicti loci de Toles has received from 

Jacobus Rubat de Mollens tanquam tutore et eo nomine liberorum quondam Petri Rubat filii 

quondam Hugonis Rubat, full payment, with further proceedings. 

 

118 07 feb 1512, Nobilis Guilliermus Musardi domicellus Viviaci vexilliffer Turris de Pey 

prope Viviacum et Glaudius de Cultilliis tamquam persona conjuncta Nobilis Katherine filie dicti 

Nobilis Guiliermi Musard, sell to Bernardus de Curia filius quondam Discreti Glaudii de Curia 

burgensis Melduno, videlicet medietatem rerum et possessionum subscriptarum indivisarum cum 

Nobili Nycodo de Prez domicello Rote, several properties, with further proceedings. 

 

119v Die Jovis ante Dominicam Bordarum 1512, quod cum questio et differencia … dispute 

between Johannes douz Bos de Mexieres and Glaudius douz Bos and Dominicus eius filius, 

settlement. 



120 18 feb 1512, Petrus Decimatoris de Montet owes Glaudius filius quondam Petri Conet de 

Montet, with further proceedings. 

 

120v Die Veneris ante Dominicam de Ramisparmarum (=Ramispalmarum) 1512, quod cum 

dominus castellanus Rotundimontis pignoraverit seu pignare vederit Anthonium Grosset et 

Aymonetum (but later Aymonem, thus his name is Aymo, not Aymonetus) Joffrey de Villarraboz, 

videlicet dictum Anthonium de uno equo pilli bron et dictum Aymonem Jofrrey de una equa pilli 

bron, now Anthonius and Aymo make guarantees for Rodulphus Saloz de Chesales as fidejussor. 

 

121v 21 feb 1512, Humbertus Motitaz alias Jenier et Anthonius Lugard alias Bersens 

gubernatores et sincidi tocius villagii et communitatis de Tyerrens et eo nomine gubernatorio 

with approval of other citizens of Tierrens (list of names) sell to Johannes Mistralis dicti loci de 

Tyerrens, with further proceedings. 

 

122 22 feb 1512, quod cum Franciscus Frossard de Sarsens sold to Venerabilis Dominus 

Petrus Jugi capellanus procurator et eo nomine venerabilis universitatis cleri Melduni, cense in 

return for loan, naming fidejussores Glaudius Mont et Glaudius Rolaz de Chesalles, as recorded 

by Jacobus de Bulo notarius et burgensis Melduni, now the said Franciscus Frossard makes 

guarantee for the fidejussores. 

 

123v 22 feb 1512, Jacobus filius quondam Johannis Branchy ? de Lalaex propre Villete sells to 

Glaudius filius Nycodi Thomaz textor Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

124 22 feb 1512 (die et anno quibus supra), Nobilis Petrus Octhonini castellani de 

Suprapetram requires Glaudius Ballif de Villanova to pay Magister Mermetus Collombi lathomi 

morans Meluni. 

 

124v 22 feb 1512, Anthonius Bersin alias Lugard de Tyerrens sells to Johannes Mistralis 

antenatus de Tyerrens, with further proceedings. 

 

125v 22 feb 1512, Partage:  Anthonius dou Certor alias Lugard seu Bersin de Tyerrens and 

Girardus Lugard eius cognatus dicti loci de Tyerrens, their relationship apparently not stated. 

 

128v 26 feb 1512, Johannes Thouraz ? (uncertain script) alias Chexbre de Curson parrochie 

Villete sells to Glaudius Cavin de Vuicherens, vines, with further proceedings. 

 

129 29 (die ultima) feb 1512, Glaudius filius quondam Petri de Tecto antenati de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum owes Johannes Baudaz (but in the title, Baddoz, which is not correct) habitans 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet 12 ½ florins, et hoc racione et ex causa et laboris per ipsum 

Johannem dicto Glaudio facti. 

 

129 03 mar 1512, Partage:  Stephanus Detard filius quondam Glaudii Detard de Vuycherens, 

and Johannes, Anthonius, et Ludovicus Detard filii quondam Johannis Detard dicti loci de 

Vuycherens fratres. 

 



130v 03 mar 1512 (die et anno premissis), prenominati Johannes, Anthonius et Ludovicus 

Detard sell to predictus Stephanus Detard, with further proceedings. 

 

131 07 mar 1512, Petrus Porchet de Melduno nomine Anthonie eius matris, quitclaim to 

Petrus Chollet et Johannes Chollet, for marriage settlement of his mother Anthonia. 

 

131 08 mar 1512, Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni et Glaudius 

Monachi fratres filii quondam Nycodi Monachi junioris clerici et burgensis Melduni sell to 

Petrus Monachi filius quondam Nycodi Monachi antenati notarii et burgensis Melduno, with 

further proceedings. 

 

132 08 mar 1512, Testament:  Nycodus Detard habitator douz Plan, universal heirs his sons 

Petrus, Johannes, Anthonius, and Franciscus, provisions for the dowry of his daughter Katherina 

(Catherina), mention daughter Glaudia now wife of Vuyffredus Clerc, provisions for wife Agnes. 

 

132v 14 mar 1512, Petrus filius quondam Johannis Chollet de Lovactens sells to Glaudius 

Germon de Lovactens, with further proceedings. 

 

133 14 mar 1512, quod cum Stephanus Detard filius quondam Glaudii Detard de Vuycherens 

ex una, et Johannes, Anthonius, et Ludovicus Detard fratres filii quondam Johannis Detard dicti 

loci de Vuycherens partibus ex altera executed a partage, now they promise to uphold its terms. 

 

133v 25 mar 1513, Johannes Chappuis de Rospraz sells to Rodulphus Perret dicti loci de 

Rospraz, with further proceedings. 

 

134 28 mar 1513, Jacobus de Sarsens filius quondam Jacobi de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens 

sells to Johannes de Sarsens predicti loci de Sarsens, with further proceedings. 

 

134v 30 may 1513, quod cum Anthonius de Curia burgensis Melduni with approval of his wife 

Colleta and his brothers Petrus et Bernardus de Curia sold to Hugo Buctet de Rocinges, the sale 

recorded by the undersigned 03 and 04 jan 1512, and successively dictus Hugo concessit 

predicto Anthonio graciem specialem reachet for 400 florins, again recorded by the undersigned, 

now the said Anthonius de Curia has received from Ludovicus Buctet de Rocinges frater dicti 

Hugonis ultra precium predictum quatercentum florenorum, videlicet 20 florenos auri 

parviponderis. 

 

136 01 apr 1513, quod cum Humbertus Motitaz alias Genier de Tyerrens sold to Venerabilis 

Dominus Petrus Jugi capellanus Melduni procurator et eo nomine venerabilis universitatis cleri 

Melduni, cense in return for a loan, with fidejussores named, recorded by Jacobus de Bulo 

notarius et burgensis Melduni, now the said Humbertus Motitaz and his sister Perrussona wife of 

Glaudius Jaquier pledge a certain property in support of that transaction. 

 

137 10 apr 1513, Vuilliermus Mistralis de Cappella Voudanna et Anthonia eius uxor filis 

quondam Nycodi Martin sell to Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens capellanus Melduni 

curatus de Actallens, with further proceedings. 

 



137v 12 apr 1513, Amedeus Cordeir de Capella Voudanna sells to Venerabilis Dominus 

Johannes Vuycherens capellanus Melduni curatus de Actallens, with further proceedings. 

 

138 12 apr 1513 (die et anno quibus proxime supra), Vuilliermus Mistralis de Capella 

Voudanna and Anthonia his wife, further proceedings regarding the item on fol. 137. 

 

138v 01 apr 1513, Johannes Genyer alias Motitaz de Tyerrens nunc habitans apud Roniaz ? 

filius quondam Nycolleti Genyer alias Motitaz de Tyerrens ex una parte, et Humbertus et 

Perrissona Genyer alias Motitaz eciam filius et filia predicti Nycolleti Motitaz parte ex altera, 

partage.  Perrissona is the wife of Glaudius Jaquier. 

 

141 06 apr 1516, Jacobus Mistralis de Villario Comte sells to Venerabilis Dominus Johannes 

Vuycherens curatus de Actallens, with further proceedings. 

 

141v 12 apr 1513, quod cum Jacobus Mistralis de Villario Comte sold to Venerabilis Dominus 

Johannes Vuycherens capellanus Melduni curatus de Actallens tunc presens, recorded by the 

undersigned, now the said Dominus Johannes Vuycherens cedes to Vuilliermus Mistralis predicti 

loci Villarii Comtis nunc habitans in Capella Voudannaz, the related censes etc. 

 

142 30 apr 1513, Anthonius Meystre de Tyerrens and Glaudius Contoz dicti loci de Tyerrens , 

exchange. 

 

142v 30 apr 1513, Testament:  Petrus Bersyn alias Lugard de Tyerrens sanis mente licet debilis 

et langueus corpore, universal heir his son Girardus Berzin alias Lugard, provisions for his 

married daughters Nicolleta uxor Glaudii Joly de Fey, Francesia uxor Petri Boudin de Tyerrens, 

and Perroneta uxor Petri Joli predicti loci de Fey. 

 

143 09 may 1513 (anno quo supra), Michael Frossard filius quondam Vuilliermi Frossard de 

Sarsens sells to Glaudius Oliveir de Chesalles. 

 

143v 06 may 1513, Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni curatus Capelle 

Voudanne sells to Anthonius Mistralis de Hermenges, various properties. 

 

144 09 may 1513, Johannes Perdonet de Vuycherens faber has received from Glaudia his wife 

daughter of the late Jaquetus Moctaz de Syens, per manus Ludovici Moctaz dicti loci de Syens, 

11 livres for the marriage settlement. 

 

144v 15 may 1513, quod cum Johannes Guillion de Nerioux sold to Stephanus Cornaz alias 

Cheres mercator et burgensis Melduni, recorded by the undersigned 07 sep 1501, now Jacobus 

Cornas alias Cheres vexilliffer et burgensis [Melduni] filius predicti Stephani Cornaz has 

received from the said Johannes Guillion 60 livres for redemption of the said census etc. 

 

145 20 may 1513, Johannes Philippon burgensis Melduni and Bernardus de Curia burgensis 

eciam Melduni, partage, various properties. 

 



146 23 may 1513, Petrus Michodi clericus de Lucens sells to Anthonius Oliveir de Chesalles, 

with further proceedings. 

 

146v 30 may 1513, Anthonius Meystre de Tyerrens and Anthonius Berzin alias Lugard dicti 

loci de Tyerrens, exchange. 

 

147 30 may 1513, Guido Pydoux de Combremondo Magno has received from Magdalena 

filia quondam Johannis Chavaleir de Champtourroz uxor sua per manus Petri Chevaleir her 

brother, in augmentation of her dowry. 

 

147v 30 may 1513, quod cum Johannes et Jacobus Bruschet de Tertorens sold to Stephanus 

Cornaz alias Cheres mercator et burgensis Melduni, cense in return for loan, recorded by 

Bartholomeus Leveti clericus Rote 09 feb 1494, with further proceedings recorded by Johannes 

Gaule 12 mar 1497, now Jacobus Cornaz alias Cheres vexilliffer et burgensis Melduni filius 

prenominati Stephani Cornaz has received from Johannes Bruschet redemption of the said sale. 

 

149 02 jun 1513, dispute and settlement:  Johannes de Mont sutor et burgensis Melduni, 

Marmetus de Costel alias Bellaz, Petrus filius quondam Nycodi de Tecto, Humbertus filius 

Johannis de Costel alias Bellaz, Glaudius filius quondam Petri de Tecto, et Glaudius filius 

Glaudii de Tecto nominibus suis ac tocius communitatis de Cabanis supra Meldunu ex una parte, 

et Nycodus Veyriz nomine suo ac Petri Veyriz alias dou Russel dicti loci Cabanis ex altera, super 

eo, videlicet, quod prenominati Johannes de Mont (and the others) dicebant quod ipsi nomine 

tocius communitatis dicti loci Cabanarum construxerant, domifficaverant, et edifficaverant unam 

domum pro pastor seu pastoribus qui pro tempore est et pro tempore futuro fuerunt, quare 

petebant sibi solvi per dictum Nycodum Veyriz suo et dicti Petri Veiriz nominibus ratam grati ? 

sibi comptentem, various objections, such as never in their memory has anything like this ever 

been done….  The dispute was then taken before the town council of Moudon, which held that 

the Veyriz should pay their share etc. 

 

150 02 jun 1513 (datum ut supra), Amedeus Boveir de Carrojoz sells to Jacobus Cavin de 

Vuycherens. 

 

150v 19 kim 1513. Marriage:  Johannes filius quondam Roleti Meystre de Suprapetram, and 

Discretus Bastianus Cornuti filius quondam Discreti Petri Cornuti clerici et burgensis de Clusis 

nomin Michaele sororis sue filie predicti quondam Petri Cornuti, with further proceedings. 

 

152 25 jun 1513, Petrus Combaz de Granges parrochie de Actallens sells to Johannes Gremoz 

de Chesalles. 

 

152v 25 jun 1513, Nycodus Charpillioz de Vuycherens sells to Petrus de Vaud et Anthonius 

Jayet de Hermenges rectores confratrie Sancti Spiritus de Siens et eo nomine, cense in return for 

loan, funded by debt of Amedeus Crousa and also from Georgius et Andreas Raschinier de 

Syens, with further proceedings. 

 



153 27 jun 1513, Venerabilis Dompnus Ludovicus Dey alias Mont filius quondam Petri Dey 

alias Mont sutor Rotondimontis sells to Glaudius Dey alias Mont de Chesalles, with further 

proceedings. 

 

154 10 , 14, and 30 jul 1513, Anthonius de Curia burgensis Melduni sells to Ludovicus filius 

quondam Humberti Buctet de Rocinges, with further proceedings. 

 

155 30 ? jul 1513 (die et anno proxime dictis), prescriptus Ludovicus Buctet, reconnaissance 

for Bertrandus Jayet textor et burgensis Melduni. 

 

155 14 jul 1513, Testament:  Janna relicta quondam Anthonii Planchet burgensis Melduni, 

universal heir Alexia dilecta filia sua et dicti qundam Anthonii Planchet uxorque Thome Martin 

burgensis Melduni, various religious bequests, also to her daughter Anthonia wife of Glaudius de 

Gasel (=Gazel) junior. 

 

156v 19 jul 1513, quod cum Nobilis Ludovicus filius Nobilis Johannis de Villarsel domini de 

Deleir sit detentis et maculatus infirmitate lepre, causaque maculacionis dicte infirmatatis velit 

ire factum mansionem et vitam suam finire in maladerie de Entreres fondata per illustrissimos 

dominos nostros Sabaudie duces, now the said Noble Ludovicus de laude et auctoritate prefati 

sui patris quitclaims omina universa et singula bona sua dicti Ludovici paterna, materna, et 

fraterna quecumque omnesque et singulas actiones, raciones, jura, porciones, et ligitimas sibi 

dicti Ludovico competentes et competere debentis, for 60 florins and for an additional 25 florins 

annual census seu pensionis vita ipsius Ludovici durante, with additional provisions. 

 

157 16 jul 1513, Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni curatus Capelle 

Voudanne sells to Venerabilis Dominus Johannis Vuycherens curatus de Actallens, followed by 

another sale for the same parties, same date. 

 

157v 23 jul 1513, quod cum Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni 

curatus Capelle Voudanne sold to Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens capellanus Melduni 

curatus de Actallens, vines in territorio Lustriaci, the sale recorded by Johannes Crespy 07 may 

1511, now the said Jacobus Monachi has received from the said Johannes Vuycherens 40 livres 

in augmentation of the above sale… 

 

158v 25 aug 1513, Spectabilis Petrus de Belloforti dominus Boschi … adeptus est possesionem 

gubernacionis et ballivatus Vuaudi virtute licterarum dominicalium ab illustrissimo domino 

nostro duce Sabaudie etc. …  

 

159 23 aug 1513, Marriage:  Glaudius Beliar de Monpreveroz and Petrus Gillieron filius 

quondam Johannis Gillieron de Corsellis nomine et pro parte Johannete filie sue.  

 

160v 05 sep 1513, Girardus Lugard alias Berzin de Tyerrens sells to Anthonius Lugard alias 

Berzin dicti loci de Tyerrens, and another reciprocal sale, same date. 

 

161v 26 sep 1513, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens capellanus Melduni curatus de 

Actallens sells to Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 



162 17 sep 1513, Humberta filia quondam Petri filii quondam Jacobi Pyni burgensis Melduni 

uxor Boniffacii Brideri burgensis Melduno sells to Johannes filius quondam Petri Philipon 

burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

162v 09 oct 1513, Marriage:  Marius ? filius quondam Glaudii Pillicier alias Biczat de 

Berchiez, et Petrus Clot de laz Faiz nomine et pro Magdalena eius filia, with further proceedings. 

 

(Fol. 162v is followed without a break in the text by fol. 164.) 

 

165 13 nov 1513, Marriage:  Magister Johannes Bonjor sirurgicus Friburgi, et honesta vidua 

Margareta relicta quondam Magisti Johannis de Chardenoto olim rectoris scolarum Melduni 

nomine et pro parte Katherine filie sue et dicti quondam Magistri Johannis de Chardenoto. 

 

167 19 nov 1513, quod cum Petrus filius quondam Johannis Chollet de Lovatens sold to 

Glaudius Germon dicti loci de Lovatens… , the sale recorded by the undersigned notary 14 mar 

1512, now the said Petrus Chollet has received from the said Glaudius Germon an additional 7 

florins in augmentation of the purchase price… 

 

167v 28 nov 1513 (datum ut supra), Petrus Boudin de Tyerrens sincidus et gubernator eoque 

nomine villagii et communitatis dicti loci de Tyerrens, with approval of a list of probi homines 

dicti loci de Tyerrens, sells, cedes, and grants to Humbertus Meystre predicti loci de Tyerrens, 

videlicet recordum perpetuum duarum posarum terre (in other words, they become enclosed 

“records” or “clausi”), with further proceedings. 

 

168v 29 nov 1513, Petrus douz Bos, Glaudius Cavyn, Jacobus Cavyn, Glaudius Perdonnet, 

Johannes Perdonnet, Anthonius Detard Rodulphus Charpillioz, Nycodus Charpillioz, et Johannes 

Jaquier probi homines et incole de Vuycherens et de laz Rapaz nominibus suis et tocius 

communitatis de Vuycherens vendunt, tradunt, concedunt, et de gracia speciali largiuntur 

Venerabili Domino Amedeo Langini curato Sancte Crucis Lausanne absenti, tanquam presenti 

Venerabili Domino Martino _____ (blank space) curato Sancti Stephani Lausanne unacum 

notario jurato subscripto presentibus, placing “ad clausum” a certain massum terre situm in 

territorio de Vuycherens loco dicto in Clausis supra la Vaulx. 

 

169 02 dec 1513, Marriage:  Petrus Pictet alias Milliard de Olens, and Rodulphus Rubat filius 

quondam Johannis Rubat de Mollens nomine et pro Guillierma eius sorore filia dicti quondam 

Johannis Rubat, with further proceedings. 

 

170v 21 feb 1513, Petrus Rappit antenatus de Melduno et Petrus Rappit junior eius filius, 

dictus Petrus Rappit antenatus de laude et consensu Ysabelle eius uxor, et dictus Petrus Rappit 

junior de laude, auctoritate, consensu, et voluntate dictorum Petri Rappit antenati et Ysabelle 

patris et matris suroum, sell to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet res, bona, 

et possessiones sequentes sitas et jacentes in villa, territorio, et fenagio dictarum Cabanarum, 

videlicet septem posas terre cum uno morsello clausi in pluribus morsellis,  

 

 Et primo, unam posam terre sitam loco dicto in Costa supra Biolex juxta terram dicti 

emptoris et Petri de Tecto eius nepotis ab oriente, nemus de Biolex et terram Glaudii de Tecto 



antenati ab occidente, terram Glaudii de Tecto antenati et Johannis de Costel a borea, et terram 

Francesie uxoris Johannis de Mont a vento. 

 

 Item, duas posas terre sitas loco dicto en la Puczat juxta terram dicti emptoris et Petri de 

Tecto eius nepotis ab oriente, terram Johannis de Costel alias Bellaz ab occidente, viam 

tendentem a Cabanis versus Plan a borea, et terram Glaudii de Tecto junioris et Petri et Nycodi 

Veyriz a vento. 

 

 Item, unam posam terre sitam ante Rion Boz juxta terram Glaudii de Tecto junioris ab 

oriente, terram Petri et Nycodi Veyrit ab occidente, terram Francesie uxoris Johannis de Mont a 

borea, et terram Johannis de Costel alias Bellaz a vento. 

 

 Item, unam posam terre sitam en Ferriol juxta terram dicti emptoris et dicti eius nepotis 

ab oriente, terram dicti Johannis de Costel ab occidente, terram dictorum Petri et Nycodi Veyriz a 

borea, et terram dicte Francesie a vento. 

 

 Item, eis Bioleretes supra Chesaul unam posam terre juxta terram Glaudii de Tecto 

antenati ab oriente, terram dictorum Petri et Nycodi de Rivo (=de Russel, alias of Veyriz) ab 

occidente et vento, et terram Johannis de Costel a borea. 

 

 Item, dimidiam posam terre en la Curraz juxta terram dicti emptoris et eius nepotis ab 

oriente et borea, terram Johannis de Mont et Petri Veyrit que fuit quondam Humberti Aguex ? ab 

occidente, et terram dicte Francesie uxoris Johannis de Mont a vento. 

 

 171 Item, in Campis Leyderrey dimidiam posam terre juxta dictorum emptoris et eius 

nepotis ab oriente, certa geniperia ab occidente, viam tendentem a Cabanis ou Devens a borea, et 

terram Mermeti de Costel a vento. 

 

 Item, unum morsellum clausi situm loci dicto en Secort juxta clausum dicti emptoris et 

eius nepotis, ochiamque eorundem, et clausum Glaudii de Tecto antenati ab oriente, clausum 

dicti emptoris et eius nepotis et Mermeti de Costel ab occidente, viam publicam tendentem a 

Cabanis en Bovarens a borea, et viam dou Bruyt a vento, prout dicte res, bona, et possessiones in 

longum protenduntur et in latum, cum fondis etc., salvis tamen fructibus trium pomorum et 

duorum nucum existentibus et crescentis in dicto clauso a parte itineris de Chamanyola, quos 

frutus, arbores predictorum dicti venditores ad se retinent et reservant, et est facta presens 

vendicio pro bono et justo precio septem viginti et decim florenorum (=150 florins)…, with 

further proceedings. 

 

171v 21 feb 1513 (die et anno quibus supra), quod cum Petrus Rappit antenatus de Melduno 

sold sub tamen gracia rehemptionis perpetue fiende to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum tunc presenti et recipenti, videlicet jus suum et partem suam decime bladi, frumenti, 

siliginis, avene, ordei, pisorum, lentium, favarum, meleti, et canabi quod et quam idem Petrus 

Rapit habet, percipit et sibi pertinet cum aliis suis comparcionariis de Cabanis predictis supra 

Meldunum in villagio, territorio, fenagio, et confinibus dicti lici Cabanarum prout ipe et sui 

predeessores levare et haberi soliti sunt et precepirunt prout ipsa decima in longum et in latum 

protenditur, et prout hactenus consueta est precipi et levari. 



 

 Item magis, unam peciam terre sitam in territorio dicti loci Cabanarum loco dicto en la 

Bioleriz juxta terram Johannis de Costel alias Bellaz ab oriente, terram Petri et Nycodi dou 

Russel alias Veyriz ab occidente et vento, et iter tendens de dictis Cabanis apud Mollens a borea, 

prout etc., cum fondis etc., et fuerit facta dicta vendicio precio viginti sex florenorum 

parviponderis habitorum etc., devestieritque se dictus Petrus Rappit de dictis jus, decime et pecia 

terre cum suis quibus supra dictum Guidonem de Tecto et suos investiendo de eisdem, et 

promissit juramento suo et suorum omnium obligacione bonorum premissis cum suis quibus 

supra eidem Guidonem et suis prepetue manutenere, deffendere, et guerentire pure et libra ab 

omnibus …, prout in lictera vendicionis prenarrate super premissis confecta, recepta, et signata 

per Providum virum Johannem Gaule notarium et burgensem Melduni, data die vicesima quinta 

mensis Augusti anno domini millesimo quintentesimo secundo (25 aug 1502) premisset cum non 

nullis aliis clausulis plenius continetur,  

 

 172 Successive vero dictus Petrus Rapit antenatus et Petrus Rappit junior eius filius 

scientes et spontanei pro se et suis heredibus quibuscumque maxime dictus Petrus Rappit 

antenatus de laude, consensu, et voluntate Ysabelle eius uxoris, et dictus Petrus Rapit juniori de 

laude, auctoritate, consensu, et voluntate dictorum Petri Rappit antenati et Ysabelle conjugum 

eius patris et matris semper sub gracia rehemptionis fiende vendiderunt perpetue predicto 

Guidoni de Tecto presenti et recipienti pro se et suis quibus supra, videlice possessiones 

sequentes sitas et jacentes in villa, territorio, et fenagio predict loci Cabanarum,  

 

 Et primo, unam posam terre sitam loco dicto in Costa supra Biolex juxta terram dicti 

emptoris et Petri de Tecto eius nepotis ab oriente, nemus de Biolex et terram Glaudii de Tecto 

antenati ab occidente, terram Glaudii de Tecto antenati et Johannis de Costel a borea, et terram 

Francesie uxoris Johannis de Mont a vento. 

 

 Item, duas posas terre sitas loci dcito en laz Puczat juxta terram dicti emptoris et Petri de 

Tecto eius nepotis ab oriente, terram Johannis de Costel alias Bellaz ab occidente, viam 

tendentem a Cabanis versus Plan a borea, et terram Glaudii de Tecto junioris et Petri et Nycodi 

Veyriz a vento. 

 

 Item, unam posam terre sitam ante Rion Boz juxta terram Glaudii de Tecto junioris ab 

oriente, terram Petri et Nycodi Veyriz ab occidente, terram Francesie uxoris Johannis de Mont a 

borea, et terram Johannis de Costel alias Bellaz a vento. 

 

 172v Item, unam posam terre sitam en Fornel juxta terram dicti emptoris et dicti eius 

nepotis ab oriente, terram dicti Johannes de Costel ab occidente, terram dictorum Petri et Nycodi 

Veyriz a borea, et terram dicte Francesie a vento. 

 

 Item, eys Bioleretes supra Chesaul unam posam terre juxta terram Glaudii de Tecto 

antenati ab oriente, terram dictorum Petri et Nycodi de Rivo ab occidente et vento, et terram 

Johannis de Costel a borea. 

 



 Item, dimidiam posam terre en laz Curraz juxta terram dictorum emptoris et eius nepotis 

ab oriente et borea, terram Johannis de Mont et Petri Veyriz que fuit quondam Humberti Aguex ? 

ab occidente, et terram dicte Franceis uxoris Johannis de Mont a vento. 

 

 Item, in Campis Leyderrey dimidiam posam terre juxta terram dictorum emptoris et eius 

nepotis ab oriente, certa geniperia ab occidente, viam tendentem a Cabanis ou Devens a borea, et 

terram Mermeti de Costel a vento. 

 

 Item, unum morsellum clausi situm loco dicto en Secort juxta clausum dicti emptoris et 

eius nepotis, ochiamque eorundem et clausum Glaudii de Tecto antenati ab oriente, clausum dicti 

emptoris et eius nepotis et Mermeti de Costel ab occidente, viam publicam tendentem a Cabanis 

en Bovarens a borea, et viam dou Bruyt a vento, prout etc., cum fondis etc., salvis tamen 

fructibus trium pomorum et duarum nucum existencium et crescentium in dicto clauso a parte 

itineris de Chamanyola quos frutus arborum predictarum ad se retinnerunt et reserva… dicti 

venditores, et fuerit facta dicta vendicio precio septem viginti et decm florenorum auri 

parviponderis habitorum etc., devestieuntque se dicti venditores de laude qua supra de premissis 

possessionibus per ipsos venditis dictum Guidonem emptorem et suos, investiendo de eisdem, et 

promisserunt semper de laude et auctorictate quibus supra juramentis suis et obligacione omnium 

bonorum suorum quorumcumque prelimitatas possessiones cum suis quibus supra eidem 

Guidoni emptori et suis quibus supra perpetue manutenere et guerantire pure et liberi sine censu 

nec onere aliquibus, salvus sibi fructibus supra reservatis et retentis… prout in lictera dicte 

vendicionis superius narrata recepta et signata per juratum subscriptum data diebus et annis 

subscriptis premissa cum non nullis aliis clausulis lucidius contineri habentur,  

 

 Hinc est quod prefati Petrus Rappit antenatus et Petrus Rappit junior pater et filius 

scientes etc., pro se etc., de laude et auctoritate predictis volunt et concedunt quod ipsi non 

possint nec valeant nec sui heredes non possint nec valeant nec eis licitum sit redimere nec 

reachetare predictum eorum jus decime de Cabanis et peciam terre prius limitatam manu 

Johannis Gaule venditis nisi prius rehemptis predictis septem posis terre et morsello clausi supra 

ultimo limitatis manu jurati subscripti venditis, promictentes dicti pater et filius de laude et 

auctoritate quibus supra juramentis suis etc., et obligacione ominum bonorum suorum etc. contra 

premissa non facere etc., sed eadem rata habere etc., renunciantes etc., jurantes etc., auctorizans 

etc. 

 

173 21 feb 1513 (anno quo supra), prefatus Petrus Rappit antenatus et Petrus Rappit junior 

pater et filius, videlicet dictus Petrus Antenatus de laude, consensu, et voluntate dicte Ysabelle 

eius uxoris, et dictus Petrus Rappit junior de laude, auctoritate, consensu, et voluntate 

predictorum Petri et Ysabelle conjugum patris et matris suorum … sell to Guido de Tecto, 

videlicet unam posam cum dimidia terre in tribus morsellis sitam in territorio de Cabanis, 

quorum unius morsellus est loco dicto in pecia deys Bas juxta terram Johannis de Costel a borea, 

terram Glaudii de Tecto junioris a vento, terram Francesie uxoris Johannis de Mont ab oriente, et 

terram Johannis de Costel ab occidente. 

 

173v Item, secundus morsellus est loco dicto in campo ante domum in Fine Clausi juxta 

terram Glaudii de Tecto antenati ab oriente, vento, et borea, et terram Glaudii de Tecto junioris 

ab occidente. 



 

 Item, tercium morsellus situs est loco dicto in Campo ou Ferrajoz juxta terram Glaudii de 

Tecto antenati ab oriente et vento, terram Francesie uxoris Johannis de Mont ab occidente, et 

terram Mermeti de Costel a borea, et est facta huiusmodi vendicio pro bono, justo, et legitimo 

precio viginti quatuor florenorum auri boni parviponderis. 

 

174 21 dec 1513, Marriage:  Johannes dou Bos filius quondam Glaudii dou Bos de Rocinges, 

and Ludovicus filius quondam Humberti Buctet dicti loci de Rocinges nomine et pro parte 

Margarete relicte quondam Johannis Buctet eius Ludovici fratris, with further proceedings. 

 

175 21 dec 1513, Marriage:  Glaudius filius quondam Humberti Buctet de Rocinges, and 

Hugo dou Bos filius quondam Glaudii dou Bos dicti loci de Rocinges nomine Katherine sororis 

sue, with further proceedings. 

 

176 21 dec 1513, Marriage:  Ludovicus filius quondam Humberti Buctet de Rocinges, and 

Hugo dou Bos filius quondam Glaudii dou Bos dicti loci de Rocinges nomine et pro parte 

Agnetis sororis sue, with further proceedings. 

 

177 18 juan 1513, Marriage:  Jaquetus filius quondam Glaudii dou Bos de Rocinges, and 

Franciscus filius quondam Jaqueti Porchet de Belflori nomine et pro parte Jaqueme filie sue, 

with further proceedings. 

 

178  (folio number is folded back, visible on the image of fol. 178v)  28 jan 1513, Franciscus 

filius quondam Francisci Quoquard de Vuybroye suo et Johannis fratris sui nominibus sell to 

Petrus Perriard dicti loci de Vuybroye. 

 

178v 10 dec 1513, Anthonius Clemenczat alias Broyt de Profondavalle sells to Glaudius 

Crisinel antenatus de Dinisyez.  

 

179 08 feb 1513, quod cum Johannes et Jacobus de Vaud fratres filii quondam Claudii de 

Vaud de Lucens sold to Jaquetus Malle domicellus Melduni, recorded by quondam Nycodus 

Monachi notarius et burgensis Melduni, et inde ex commissione per Rodulphum Decimatoris 

notarium et burgensem Melduni levata et signata 06 sep 1465, now Nobilis Guilliermus Ensis 

domicellus Melduni universal her of the said Jaquetus Malle cedes the parcel to Petrus Chatellani 

de Lucens. 

 

180 30 jan 1513, Johannes Gilliand faber Melduni et Jacobus eius filius sell to Venerabilis 

Jacobus de Staviaco curatus parrochialis ecclesie Sancti Stephani Prothomartiris de Melduno, 

with further proceedings. 

 

181 09 feb 1513, Venerabilis Dominus Ludovicus Dey alias Mont cappellanus filius quondam 

Petri Dey alias Mont sutoris Rotondimontis, accensation for Glaudius Dey alias Mont de 

Chesalles, videlicet totum tenementum suum situm apud Chesalles in finibus et confinibus 

eiusdem loci de Chesalles sibi in partem et partagium deventum cum Jacobo Dey alias Mont eius 

fratre, with further proceedings. 

 



182 11 feb 1513, Glaudius Decto (error for de Tecto !) junior filius quondam Petri de Tecto de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum sells to Guido de Tecto dicti loci Cabanarum, videlicet unum 

morsellum prati continentem unam bonam setoratam prati situm in territorio de Cabanis loco 

dicto en Chesaul juxta terram Petri et Nycodi Veiriz ab oriente et borea, pratum Glaudii de Tecto 

antenati a vento, nemus domini et pratum dictorum Veyriz ab occidente, et hoc precio viginti 

librarum bone monete, with further proceedings. 

 

182v 26 feb 1513, Marriage:  Glaudius filius quondam Petri Gremoz de Chesalles, and Jacobus 

filius quondam Johannis Baddoz de Cremyn parrochie de Cultilliis nomine et pro parte Ludovice 

sororis sue, with further proceedings. 

 

183v 26 feb 1513, Marriage:  Petrus filius Petri Trolliet de Chesalles, and Rodulphus Saloz 

dicti loci de Chesalles nomine et pro parte Perrissone filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

185 Die festi Sancti Petri in Cathedra 1513, Rodulphus filius quondam Johannis Rubat de 

Mollens agrees not to sell or transfer any of his property without approval of his uncle Glaudius 

Dey alias Mont de Chesalles. 

 

185 27 feb 1513, Uldriodus Girod de Vuilliens sells to Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens, a letter 

of reachept. 

 

185v 12 mar 1513, Petrus Rubat sartor de Mollens and Rodulphus Rubat filius quondam 

Johannis Rubat dicti loci de Mollens, exchange. 

 

186 13 mar 1513, Nobilis Johannes et Glaudius Gonelli fratres domicelli Rote sells to Guido 

de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet unum bichetum frumenti mensure Rote et 

duodecim denarios Lausannensium bonorum census sibi dictis fratribus debitos annuatim per 

dictum Guidonem emptorem pro possessionibus sequentibus,  

 

 Primo, pro una pecia terre in clausum conversa sita in territorio de Mont retro dominum 

et a latere Anthonii Lombard que fuit Johannis de Plano, quodam alio morsello clausi intermedio, 

juxta clausum dicti emptoris ex oriente, clausum quondam Anthonii Fallioz ex occidente, terram 

Hugonis Huguet que fuit Nycodi Flachat ex borea, et clausum dicti emtprois ex vento. 

 

 186v Item, pro uno morsello prati continente dimidiam bonam falcatam prati sito loco 

dicto eis Bornoz juxta domum dicti Anthonii Lombard quodam morsello clausi intemedio juxta 

terram Anthonii Fallioz ex oriente, iter publicum ex vento, clausum dicti emptoris ex occidente, 

et terram Hugonis Huguet ex borea, for 10 florins, with further proceedings. 

 

187 13 mar 1513 (datum ut supra), Johannes Bralliard sutor et burgensis Yverdunum sells to 

Anthonius Lugard alias Bersin de Tyerrens, with further proceedings. 

 

187v 13 mar 1513, Jacobus filius quondam Jacobi de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens sells to 

Johannes de Sarsens eiusdem loci de Sarsens, with further proceedings. 

 



188 13 mar 1513, Anthonius Lugard alias Bersyn de Tyerrens sells to Humbertus Meystre 

filius Anthonii Meystre dicti loci de Tyerrens, with further proceedings. 

 

188v 11 jan 1513, Thomas Martin burgensis Melduni et Alexia eius uxor, and with special 

approval and counsel of Rodulphus Decimatoris notarius et burgensis Melduni (his role in this 

not explained further, apart from the generic statement that the couple finds the money useful) 

sell to Ludovicus de Marterenges alias Savateroz sutor et burgensis Melduni, videlicet totum 

tenementum nostrum seu grangiam nostram situm seu sitam supra montem Melduni et supra 

raspam vocatam Cornye quod fuit Discreto viro Petro Vandelli et per ipsam Petrum Vandelli 

acquisitum a Nycodo Mossu alias Narparil ? burgensis Melduni, et quod quondam fuit Vuilliermi 

Clert alias Rolier de Gleterens heredis quondam Domini Bartholomei Clerici presbiteri Melduni, 

along with several other properties, est autem facta huiusmodi vendicio pro bono, justo, legitimo, 

et reali precio novem viginti et quatuordecim (194) florinorum auri boni parviponderis per nos 

dictos conjuges venditores ac supradictum Rodulphum Decimatoris a dicto Ludovico de 

Marterenges emptore habitorum et realiter receptorum in bona peccunia nobis et dicto Rodulpho 

Decimatoris tradita et legitime manualiter munerata nomine et ob causam justi precii vendicionis 

perpetue antedicte, with extraordinarily detailed and formal yet generic stipulations and repeated 

approvals.  There is one reservation, that 1 modium frumenti mensure Melduni is owed annually 

on half of the tenement to the rector capelle Sancti Bernardi fondate in ecclesie parochiali Sancti 

Stephani de Melduno.  With signatures and paraphes of Michael Frossard clericus et burgensis 

Melduni and Anthonius Guillion clericus de Nerioux.  Followed by further proceedings of the 

same date, Ludovicus de Marterenges acknowledging a debt of 40 florins to Anthonia uxor 

Glaudii de Gasel (=Gazel) junioris burgensis Melduni, and Thomas Martin and Alexia his wife 

releasing Rodulphus Decimatoris for liability of a cense of 30 sols owed to the clergy of 

Moudon.  Further, Rodulphus Decimatoris promises to send to Ludovicus de Marterenges 

videlicet omnes licteras quas habet et habere potest facientes ad opus predicte grangie de Cornye, 

et hoc ad primam requestam dicti Ludovici de Marterenges vel suorum quorum supra quam de 

presenti fecit. 

 

192v 04 apr 1514, Jaquetus Chapellaz de Capella Voudanna sells to Glaudius Paschiz dicti loci 

Capelle Voudanne, with further proceedings. 

 

193 04 apr 1514, Vuilliermus Mistralis de Capella Voudanna sells to predictus Glaudius 

Paschiz, with further proceedings. 

 

193 04 apr 1514, Amedeus Cordeir de Capella Voudanna sells to prefatus Glaudius Paschiz, 

with further proceedings.  

 

193v 10 apr 1514, Petrus Rappit antenatus burgensis Melduni sells to Guido de Tecto de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet unum morcellum prati situm in territorio dictarum 

Cabanarum loco dicto eis Nes juxta pratum dicti emptoris ab oriente, pratum Petri Veyriz ab 

occidente et borea, et pratum Glaudii de Tecto antenati a vento, for 6 florins, with further 

proceedings. 

 

194 10 apr 1514, Aymo Clerc aliais Gavilliet de Mont sells to Hugo Huguet dicti loci de 

Mont, with further proceedings. 



194v 11 apr 1514, Discretus Johannes Aymonetaz notarius de Suprapetram, quitclaim to 

Johannes Meystre residens Melduni filius quondam Roleti Meystre de Suprapetram 

 

195 16 apr 1514, Franciscus Frossard de Sarsens sells to Johannes de Sarsens dicti loci de 

Sarsens. 

 

195 19 apr 1514, Johannes Guex filius Petri Guex sutor et burgensis Melduno suo necnon 

Henrici eius fratris nominibus, et Ludovica filia quondam Johannis Gerbaz de Melduno uxor 

Glaudii Jaquynet habitatoris Viviaci sells to Venerabilis Dominus Johannis Vuicherens curatus de 

Actallens. 

 

195v 15 may 1514, Testament:  Glaudius Contoz de Tyerrens, universal heir Margareta relicta 

quondam Aymonis Contoz filii sui, also bequests inserted by reference mark at the bottom of fol. 

196, for Johanneta uxor Benedicti Espaz alias Jordi, and Amedea uxor Glaudii Mugniczoz ? his 

daughters. 

 

196v 20 may 1514, Johannes Philipon burgensis Melduno with approval of Noble Maria his 

wife sells to Blasius de Lex burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

197v 24 may 1514, Petrus Riguet junior filius Petri Riguet burgensis Melduni has received 

from Johannes de Delleyr burgensis Staviaci. 

 

197v 24 may 1514, prefatus Petrus Riguet junior has received from Contissona (=Contessona) 

dilecta uxor sua filiaque predicti Johannis de Delleyr, her dowry. 

 

198 31 may 1514, Guilliermus Bovet de Campo Munito ? (written beginning with 8 idential 

minims, the last apparently with a dot indiciating an i; this toponym has not been identified) sells 

to Boniffacius Brideri burgensis Melduni, property at Nerioux seu de la Cerjoulaz, with further 

proceedings. 

 

199v 21 jun 1514, quod cum questio, controversie, differencie, debata, et discordie mote forent 

maioresque et graviores in posterium esse sperarentur inter partes subscriptas, videlicet inter 

Roletum Peytre de Bussy actorem et petentum ex una, et Nobilem Jacobum Cerjat dominum de 

Dynysie reum et deffendentem ex altera, Roletus stating that Nobilis Jacobus had granted him a 

perpetual lease on a certain tenement at Bussy, promising to defend the said Roletus against all 

claims to the contrary, and then Nobilis Johannes de Blonay dominus ipsius loci summoned him 

before the dominus officialis curie Lausanne claiming that he, Rodulphus, owed additional 

censes to Blonay for the past 29 years, and that Cerjat had guaranteed the property and the terms 

of the lease to him, for which Cerjat should be liable.  After various arguments on both sides, the 

parties submitted the issue to arbitration before Nobiles Petrus Cerjat dominus Combremondi 

Parvi, Guilliermus Espa dominus de Villarriard, ac providi viri Rodulphus Decimatoris, 

Franciscus de Bulo, Boniffacius Brideri, et Johannes Gaule, who declared that the litigation 

before the curia of Lausanne sunt cassi et nulli nulliusque valoris, that Cerjat and Roletus should 

each pay half of the censes in arrears owed to Blonay, that Cerjat should guarantee Roletus 

against any future claims by Blonay (for the period in arrears, presumably), that the accensation 

by Cerjat to Roletus should remain in force, but the lease itself should be set aside.  (The result 



appears to be that Roletus would now owe annual censes to Cerjat, who in turn owes his own 

censes to Blonay.) 

 

202 26 jun and 04 oct 1514 (anno quo supra), Nobilis Glaudius de Cultilliez domicellus 

Viviaci et Catherina (Katherina) eius uxor sell to Bertrandus Jayet textor burgensis Melduni, with 

further proceedings including another similar sale. 

 

203v 26 jun 1514, quod cum Colletus Clot de Melduno made a reconnaissasnt for Nobiles 

Guilliermus Musard et Francesia eius uxor de Turre de Peyl prope Viviacum, videilcet furnum 

ipsorum dictorum conjugum de Melduno situm in Veteri Burgo Melduni, the sale recorded by 

Petrus de Curia alias Quomandi notarius Melduno 08 jun 1499, now the said Nobiles Glaudius 

de Cultilia sells to the retronominatus Bertrandus Jayet, with further proceedings. 

 

204v 26 jun and 04 oct 1514, Nobilis Glaudius et Catherina conjuges sell to Burnodus 

Benestaz textor morans Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

(Fol. 205v is followed by an unnumbered folio, without a break in the text on either side of the 

insertion, and followed by fol. 206.  It may be that the folio was inadvertently skipped when the 

folios were numbered.  The two folios are therefore designated here as 205a and 205b.) 

 

205a 10 jul 1514, Nobilis et Potens Aymo de Gebennis dominus de Lulliens, de Pressie, et 

condominus de Vuilliens suo et tutorio nomine Nobilis Margarete filie sue et quondam Nobilis 

Glaudie de Montagnye eius consortis owe Venerabilis Frater Philip Petrodi rector et eo nomine 

ecclesie et hospitalis Sancti Johannis Jherusalem de Melduno, videlicet quindecim libras 

bonorum Lausannensium que sunt de legato quondam Nobilis Charlote de Vergeys relicte 

quondam Nobilis et Potentis Johannis de Staviaco domini de Bussi condomini de Mexieres 

gubernatoris et ballivi Vuaudi. 

 

205av 13 jul 1514, quod cum debata, differencie, et discordie forent ulterius maiories et 

graviores moveri, succetari, et esse sperarentur inter partes subscriptas, videlicet Vincencium 

Tollerey [de] Sancti Martini Vuaudi tam nomine suo propris quam Glaudie Viaz uxoris Johannis 

Rappas de Vaurru[z], Glaude Viaz sororis dicte Glaudie uxoris Johannis de Fruencia, Glaudii de 

Fruencia necnon Anthonie sororis sue dicti Glaudii filiarum dictorum Johannis de Fruencia et 

dicte Glaudi nominibus, actorem et petentem ex una, et Johannem Coctyn de Progens parrochie 

loci predicti Sancti Martini Vuaudi reum et deffendentem partibus ex alia, settlement. 

 

206v 26 jun and 04 oct 1514, Nobilis Glaudius de Cultiliez domicellus Viviaci et Katherina 

eius uxor sell to Johannes Gilliand faber burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

207 25 jul 1514, Johannes Sali filius quondam Johannis Saly clerici et burgensis Melduni 

sells to Petrus Clot de laz Fayz, with further proceedings. 

 

208 07 aug 1514, Katherina filia quondam Discreti Jacobi de Bulo notarii et burgensis 

Melduni uxorque Jacobi Foguillyz mercatoris et burgensis Friburgi sells to Glaudius Tilliet faber 

et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 



208v 19 aug 1514, Petrus Rappit antenatus sutor de Melduni sells to Guido de Tecto de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet unum morsellum prati situm in territorio de Cabanis loco 

dicto en Benyeres ? juxta terram dicti emptoris ab oriente, pratum Johannis de Costel ab 

occidente, pratum Petri Veyrit a borea, et mareschum commune a vento, for 16 florins, with 

further proceedings. 

 

209v 31 aug 1514, Marriage:  Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum nomine et pro parte 

Roleti filii sui, and Petrus Tintoris alias Lederrey de Dompnopetro nomine et pro parte Janne filie 

sue. 

 

211  (Introduction to a decree, Nos, Jacobus Cerjat domicellus, dominus de Dynysiez, Petrus 

Cerjat domicellus dominus Combremondi Parvi, Franciscus de Glanna dominus de Vallardens, 

Rodulphus Decimatoris, Franciscus de Bulo, Rodulphus Joliveti, Boniffacius Briderii, Johannes 

Gaule, Michael Conet, Rodulphus Bondeti, Johannies Demonte, et Glaudius Paschon consules 

ville Melduni… , no more text, no date.) 

 

211 Die Jovis post festum Nativitatis Beate Marie Virginis 1514, Johannes Gaule notarius et 

burgensis Melduni sindicus et gubernator ville et communitatis Melduni, with approval of the 

same list of names at the top of the page, appoint Petrus Guex sutor et burgensis Melduni as 

procurator and nuncius for the term of 3 years, directed to recover the assets and payments in 

arrears for the confratria Sancti Spiritus burgellorum superius et inferius de Melduno and 

generally to manage the assets and business of the (combined ?) confratria. 

 

212v 18 sep 1514, Anthonius Lugard alias Bersyn de Tyerrens sells to Petrus Piot dicti loci de 

Tyerrens, with further proceedings added in a different hand. 

 

213 20 sep 1514, Ludovicus Motaz filius quondam Giardi Moctaz de Syens, reconnaissance 

for Bernardus de Curia burgensis Melduni, 2 properties at Siens. 

 

213v 29 sep 1514, Johannes Bralliard sutor et burgensis Yverduni with approval of his wife 

Jaqueta sells to Anthonius Lugard alias Bersyn de Tyerrens, videlicet totum tenementum suum 

dicti Johannis pro indiviso cum liberis suis dicti Anthonii emptoris et Perronete uxoris suis filie 

quondam Humberti Bectex, at Tyerrens, with further proceedings, including the provision that 

the sale must be approved by the sons of Anthonius Lugard, namely Anthonius, Jacobus, 

Humbertus, Johannes, Petrus, et Franciscus. 

 

215 29 sep 1514, Petrus Piot de Tyerrens owes predictus Johannes Bralliard, with further 

proceedings. 

 

216 19 sep 1514, Humbertus Meystre et Anthonius Foresteir de Tyerrens quilibet pro 

medietate, reconnaissance for Bernardus de Curia burgensis Melduni, property at Tyerrens. 

 

216v 11 oct 1514, Andreas Fornachon filius quondam Humberti Fornachon de Combremondo 

Parvo sells to Petrus Chevalley alias Villiaulx dicti loci Combremondi Parvi, with further 

proceedings. 

 



217 17 oct 1514, Nycodus Fraschat burgensis Melduni sells to Margarita relicta quondam 

Discreti Magistri Johannes de Chardenoto rectoris scolarum Melduni tutrix et tutorio nomine 

liberorum suorum et dicti quondam viri sui, with further proceedings. 

 

218 12 dec 1515 (but should the year be 1514 ?), quod cum fuerit tractatum matrimonium 

inter Nobilem Spectabilem et Potentem Tyetrilz d’Englispar quondam militem Friburgi nomine 

Nobilis Tyetreilz d’Eglispar filii sui ex una, et Nobilem et Potentem Karolum de Compesio 

dominum Vulpelleriarum arbeterie de Aug… et Dignens dominumque in sua parte de tota terra 

Viriacum ? et dominum in parrochia de Corsiez nomine Nobilis Janne sororis sue filie Nobilis et 

Potentis quondam Johannis de Compesio domini Vulpilleriarum ex alia partibus, in which a 

dowry of 3,000 florins was established, the contract recorded by Egregii Petrus Gentillis de 

Germagnyer parrochie Viriaci et Ludovicus Catellani notarius et burgensis Staviaci 16 aug 1507, 

now the said Nobilis Tyetrilz d’Englispard has received from Nobilis Karolus de Compesio 

payment in full, with further proceedings. 

 

219v Die Lune post festum Sancte Lucie Virginis 1515, due to the infirmity of Nobilis 

Amedeus baron Viriaci dominus Perrerrie et de Montoux, now in his 70’s, Nobilis Michael 

Barbey alias Mistralis is appointed “coadjutor” to represent him. 

 

221 23 oct 1515.quod cum Anthonius Chartreyr domicellus Melduni with approval of his wife 

Agnes sold to Glaudius de Curia burgensis Melduni, the sale recorded by Johannes Crespy as 

custodian of the registers of the late Anthonius Guilly, dated 03 apr 1439, and successively quod 

cum die Martis post festum Translationis Sancti Martini 1491 Glaudius Maczart nuncius domini 

castellani Melduni noted a settlement between Nobilis Johannes de Lavigniaco tanquam 

coadjutor Nobilis Alexie relicte quondam Nobilis Humberti Cerjat domini de Combremont 

ususfructuarie bonorum prefati quondam Nobilis Humberti Cerjat ex una, et Anthonius de Curia 

filius et coheres Discreti Glaudii de Curia burgensis Melduni ex alia partibus, concerning a 

property containing 4 poses in the territory of Moudon, citing the above sale and asserting that 

the property had been in the hands of de Curia for 30 years (per spacium decem, viginti, et 

triginta annorum – a way of describing a long and continuous duration), and failing to establish a 

documented claim by the other parties, the said Anthonius de Curia was placed in possession of 

the property, recorded by Discretus Johannes Nycati die Lune post festum Nativitatis Beate 

Marie Virginis et anno quo supra (1491, apparently), now the said Anthonius de Curia filius 

quondam Glaudii de Curia burgensis Melduni sells the property to Reverendus Jacobus de 

Staviaco curatus parrochialis ecclesie Sancti Stephani de Melduno suo necnon Nobilis et Potentis 

Phillippi de Staviaco condomini ipsius loci dominique de Bussy et condomini de Mexieres 

nominibus, together with the letters of acquisition of the said property and the judgement cited 

above, for 100 florins, with further proceedings. 

 

224v 25 aug 1518, quod cum lis, questio, differencie, et debata esset ulteriusque overi 

sperarentur inter Petrum Pillicier sindicum et gubernatorem et eo nomine ville et communitatis 

Cudriffini actorem et petentem ex una, et Nobilem Janum de Collumberio nomine et pro parte 

Nobilis Anthonii Voudani ? receptoris generalis patrie Vuaudi reum et deffendentem partibus ex 

altera, requesting reimbursement for expenses of 484 (quatercentum quarter viginti et quattuor) 

florins incurred in a dispute over the jurisdictions of the city of Cudreffin and the dominium of 

Lugnoroz, appointment of a long list of arbiters, who ordered the payment of 240 (duodecies 



viginti) florins.  However, there are extensive marginal notations on the last page, fol. 226, 

mentioning other, smaller sums, but very difficult to read, and whose relationship to the main 

text is uncertain. 

 

226v 24 feb 1519 Style of the Annunciation, Jacobus de Staviaco curatus Melduni tanquam 

collacione ? institutione ? ac regime ? habens in cappellania seu altari fondata et erecta in 

ecclesia parrochialis Sancti Stephani Prothomartiris de Melduno sub vocabulo Beate Katherine 

Virginis …, notum fieri volo acque manifestum cum de presenti predicta cappellania vacare 

dignoscitur per obitum quondam Venerabilis viri Domini Jacobi Pone cappellani ultimi rectoris 

ipsius cappelle…, now Venerabilis Dominus Stephanus Cactellani (Catellani) cappellanus 

Staviaci is appointed to that position, with further proceedings. 

 

227v 14 feb 1519 Style of the Annunciation, quod cum differencie, questiones, cause, et litigia 

mote essent …, inter honestam viduam Jaquemam relictam quondam Johannes Primeti alias 

Peccleti actarem ex una, et Nobilem Andream Festi domicellum et burgensiem Nyviduni reum 

partibus ex altera, regarding a certain judgement before the castellanus Nyviduni that was then 

appealed to the spectabilis dominus gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, concerning a judgement 

obtained by the said Nobilis Andreas Festi against Johannes Primeti alias Pecleti filius dicte 

Jaqueme in curiis Nyviduni et Melduni obtentis, now the said parties agree to arbitration (long 

list of arbiters), who set aside all the previous judgements and rule that the Primeti must pay 160 

florins to Festi and thus settle the matter. 

 

230 Die Jovis ultima mensis Octobris 1521 (=31 oct 1521), Petrus de Belloforti dominus 

ipsius loci et Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi attests that Glaudius de Martherenges and 

Anthonius Visyn sindici et procuratores ville et communitatis Melduni with approval of a long 

list of councillors, have received of Petrus Violaz faber Melduni and his legitimate sons as 

burgenses de Melduno, exceptionally detailed. 

 

231v 19 nov 1505 (for Guilliermus and Franciscus) and Die festi Sancti Bartholomei Appostoli 

1519 (for Maria), Guilliermus Ensis domicellus Melduno dominus de Chastonayes et 

condominus de Villarriard, accensation for Franciscus Jacaud veluti persona conjuncta et eo 

nomine Marie uxoris sue, his tenement in territorio de Hynyt, quod Claudius Girod de Hynyt 

avie dicti Guilliermi tenebat, quod fuit quondam Johanni Girod. 

 

(Fol. 231v is followed by an unnumbered flyleaf, blank on the recto but with a brief but poorly 

legible note on the verso, “Cum Anthonis Baffe Baczans de Sale fuerit pignorit per casttelanum 

de Cossonay de … regarding a metal pot, mention of Petrus Charpillioz, 16 jul 1519, with 

additional mention of Glaudius Hugonet.) 

 

 

DL 43/5: (Inage group number 009165370, image 557)  Quartum Registrum Michaelis 

Frossardi (pencil notation:  1512-1522) 

 

(The first two folios are not numbered, then the third folio is numbered 1.  The first two folios 

are here designated 0a and 0b, then the original foliation is followed.) 

 



0a (There is some damage to the lower right margin of this page, resulting in the loss of 

some letters or words at the ends of the lines, beginning with the word formam.  Some of the 

missing text can be inferred from the conventional terminology of testaments of that period.)  

Guido de Tecto, testament:  In nomine Sancte et Individue Trinitatis Patris et Filii et Spiritus 

Sancti Amen.  Ego Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum parrochie de Mollens diocesis 

Lausanne, sanus mente et corpore, Deo auxiliante, cum tucius sit unum quem tempus sub spe 

bervioris vite testatur vivere quam sub supra logioris vite intestatur decedere considerans et 

actendus humanam naturam diversis subjacere periculis propter horam mortis incertam, et quod 

melius est prevenire quam preveniri cogitans de preteritis et futuris ne decedam intestatus, sed 

dum sensus et racio regunt mentem meam volens de bonis et juribus meis salubriter ordinare 

igitur testamentum meum nuncupativum seu meam unicam et ultimam voluntatem et 

dispositionem facio, condo, et ordino in modum qui sequitur et formam,  

 

 In primus, animam meam reddo et recommendo altissimo creatori meo glorioseque Beate 

Marie Virgini eius mater totique cum celestis superioris, sepulturam vero meis corporis eligo in 

ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Mauricii patronis mei de Mollens in sepultura quondam patris mei 

juxta ? fratrum meum quondam Nycodum de Tecto. 

 

 [Item,] cuiquidem ecclesie seu curato eiusdem et successorum suorum, do et lego ego 

dictus testator pro meo anniversario semel in anno faciendo proque salute anime mee 

animarumque predecessorum meorum, videlicet decem solidos Lausannensium bonorum pro 

semel pro acquirendo sex denarios dicte monete census nomine et ad opus dicte ecclesie. 

 

 0av Item, do et elego ego dictus testator religiosis Sancte Clare Viviaci duos cupas 

boni et pulcri frumenti mensure Melduni semel, quas jubet solvi per heredes suos in claustro 

Viviaci. 

 

 Item, jubet idem testator dixit facere per heredes suos missas Sancti Gregorii et solvi 

sacerdoti qui illas dicet quadraginta quinque solidos Lausannenses semel, 

 

 Et quia heredes institucio est caput et fondamentum tocius boni testamenti nuncupativi, 

igitur heredes meos universales et generales facio, creo, et ore meo proprio nomino in omnibus 

universalis et singulis bonis meis mobilibus immobilibus juribus et actionibus presentibus et 

futuris quibuscunque, videlicet Roletum, Johannem, et Anthonius dilectos filios meos pro se et 

suis heredibus naturalibus et legitimis quibuscunque, in hoc quod decederente uno alii duo 

succedere debeunt, et decedentibus duobus tocius succedere habeat alius. 

 

 Item, do et lego ego dictus testator Johannete uxori Nycodi Cons de Vuarmarens, Glaudie 

uxori Glaudii Jordannaz de Carrojoz, et Guilliermete uxori Johannis Roscz de Eschiens filiabus 

meis dicti testatoris ultra dotis suas pro ad eorum parte, partagio, et porcione canonica et legitima 

excheta sibi competentibus in dictis bonis meis quibuscunque easdem privando ? a dictis bonis 

meis, et quas per presentes (inserted above the line, privo et) prevatis esse volo (inserted by 

reference mark:  pro et mediantibus subscriptis), videlicet cuilibet ipsarum quatuor florenos auri 

boni parviponderis, quolibet floreno valente duodecim solidos Lausannensium bonorum, per 

dictos heredos meos aut suos cito et incontinenti solvendos quilibet ipsarum, omnia bona mea ad 



hoc obligando, renuncians etc., volens etc., datum die decima quarta mensis Maii anno domini 

mo vc duodecimo, with signature and paraphe of Michael Frossard. 

 

 (Attached at the bottom of fol. 0a:  a list of instruments copied from this register, by 

whom, when, or why not specified, with folio numbers, slightly condensed here: 

 

 Levata est, in principio registro testamentum Guido de Tecto 

 

 Lictera Vuiffredi Clert in capiti, 43 

 

 Acquisitio Claudii Margueron, 102 

 

 Reachetum Henrici de Carrojoz, 153 

 

 Testamentum Claudii Oliveir, 165 

 

 Reachetum Domini Georgii Sarrandens, 185 

 

 Matrimonium Johannes Cavin duplex (meaning, perhaps, that 2 copies were made), 188 

 

 Excambium Girardi Nycodi, 210 

 

 Assignatio Symonis Bellin, 216 

 

 Acquisitio G. Macquellin, 231 

 

 Reachetum Claudie relicte Girardi Savari, 235 

 

 Quictatio deis Savateyroz, 240 

 

 Acquisitio Ludovici Buctet, 250 

 

 Quictatio Johannis Boree de Actallens, 254 

 

 Matrimonium Francisci de Prez duplex, 254. 

 

 [below this list, badly faded:  Item, in registro de Gaule ? licteram confratrie Sancti 

Spirutus … / et registrum lictere annullationis Domini de Lullyn.] ) 

 

(At the end of this register, a similar small piece of paper is inserted, listing items and folio 

numbers 14-255 from this register, with an additional item “in fine registri”, see below.) 

 

(Fol. 0bv is blank.) 

 

1 (Page heading Jesus Maria, but the document is in French.) 14 sep 1515, Je Phillippe 

d’Estavayer seigneur dudict lieu d’Estavayer, de Bussy, et conseigneur de Mexieres pres du 



Jorat, has received from Aymé de Genesve seigneur de Lulliens, Vuilliens, la Bastie de 

Bressonye, tan à son nom [et] comme tuteur de Noble Marguerite sa fillie et à celluy nom, c’est 

asçavoyr les lectres cy desoubz narrées,  

 

 Et primyerement, les lectres du gouvernement du conté de Marles et Capitaynerie dudict 

Chasteraulx de Marles faictes et concedées part (=par) feu Monsieur de Rommont au nom de luy 

et de Madame Marie de Lucembourg (Luxembourg) sa femme à feu Spectable Jehan d’Estavayer 

seigneur de Bussy et conseigneur de Mexieres gouverneur et baillif de Vuaud en luy promectant 

res gaiges pour ledict gouvernement et capitaynerie accoustumé et mansionné audict lectres 

sellées des armes dudict seigneur et dame données et faictes en leurs ville de _____ (blank space) 

le vingtiesme jours du moys d’Apvrilz l’an mil iiiiC iiiixx et quatre appres Pasques (20 apr 1484), 

et signée de leur secretayre nommé Canessom. 

 

 Item, … (list of documents, all described in detail, not included here) 

 

4 28 dec 1515, Fondatio cappelle Sancti Claudii Confessoris et Beate Barbare Virginis 

fondate per providum virum Claudium Paschon burgensis Melduni in cappella Beate Marie 

Virginis Superius de Melduno:  Claudius Paschon filius quondam Petri Paschon burgensis 

Melduno, many provisions, very detailed.  Mentions his mother Claudia and his wife Anthonia.  

Cappella to be funded from censes on various properties, most of the censes owed by other 

censiers. 

 

9v Brief reconnaissances by two of the censiers whose properties have become part of the 

foundation of the Cappella, Johannes Brugnat alias Fremont de Sancto Ciriaco 23 may 1516, and 

Glaudius Nardyn de Vuilliens 04 may 1517. 

 

(Fols. 10-13v are blank.) 

 

14 22 oct 1514, Marriage:  Michael filius quondam Girardi Charpillioz de Vuicherens, and 

Johannes Guillion de Nerioux, Aymonetus Enguiczoz de Neryoux, et Petrus Bessenczon alias 

Bovard de Rospraz nomine Rose filie quondam Jaqueti Guillion neptis mee dicti Johannis 

Guillion, with further proceedings. 

 

19 02 feb 1514, quod cum lis, questio, cause, debatum, et litigia mote essent et moverentur 

ulteriusque moveri sperarentur inter nos partes subscriptas, videlicet me Jacobum Cerjat 

domicellum Melduni dominum de Dinisiez ex una, et me Petrum Cerjat domicellum Melduni 

dominum Combremontis Parvi meo ac Nobilium Bernardi et Guidonis Cerjat fratrum meorum 

nominibus partibus ex altera tam actores quam reos super eo, videlicet quod ego dictus Jacobus 

Cerjat petebam dicto Nobili Petro Cerjat nomine quo supra tanquam heredi Nobilis et Potentis 

viri Humberti Cerjat michi reddere computum quinque annorum bonorum meorum quibus dictus 

Nobilis Humbertus Cerjat fuit tutor et gubernator mis dicti Jacobi Cerjat me offerendo ia fuisse 

probaturum in casu negativo aut michi solvi debere per dictum Nobilem Petrum Cerjat nomine 

quo supra quinque centum scuta ad solem auri boni legitimum ponderis cugni regis Francorum. 

 

 Item, super eo, videlicet quod ego dictus Jacobus petebam ut supra dicto Nobilis Petro 

Cerjat fieri juramentum super sanctis dei evvangeliis de michi revelando omnia instrumenta 



ominesque licteras si que et quas dictus Nobilis Petrus Cerjat habeat facientia et facientes ad 

opus mis dicti Jacobi Cerjat et predecessorum eorum quovismodo tociens quotiens ad sui 

noticiam (undertain script) devenerunt seu devenerint de ipsis possim me et valeam innare ad 

jura mea pro sequenda. 

 

 19v Item, super eo, videlicet quod ego dictus Petrus Cerjat nomine quo supra ex altera 

parte petebam dicto Nobili Jacobo Cerjat me degravari debere per dictum Nobilem Jacobum 

Cerjat de decem florenis census auri boni parviponderis, quolibet floreno valente duodecim 

solidos Lausannensium bonorum, venditis per quondam Nobiles et Potentes Johannem et 

Jacobus Cerjat principales insolidum et per quondam predictum Nobilem et Potentem 

Humbertum Cerjat fidejussorem rectoribus cappellanie de Bossonens ut constat per licteram 

ipsius vendicionis necnon michi dicto Petro per dictum Nobilem Jacobum Cerjat restitui debere 

duocentos florenos auri et valoris predictorum tam per me dictum Petrum Cerjat quam per 

predecessores meos pro dictis Nobilibus Johanne et Jacobo Cerjat solutos dictis rectoribus pro 

dicta cautione dictorum decem florenorum census viginiti annorum nuper lapstorum. 

 

 Item magis, ego dictus Petrus petebam michi per dictum Nobiliem Jacobum Cerjat 

restitui debere quingentos florenos auri et valoris jandictorum quos ego dictus Petrus Cerjat solvi 

pro dicto Nobili Jacob Cerjat devotis in Christo dominibus religiosis de Rotondomonte ut constat 

per licteram reddictam per satiffacionem quam ego prefatus Petrus offerebam reddere facta 

solutione. 

 

 Nos vero prefate ambe parte dicentes et respondentes ad premissa una pars nostrum alteri 

et econtra minime teneri pluribus causis et racionibus causa brefietatis obmissis, tandem nos 

prenominate ambe partes scientes, prudentes, gratis, et spontanei de juribus factis et actionibus 

nostris ad plenum informate, post plures et diversis altercationes, lites, questiones, controversias 

pariter, et demandas ut supra habitas…, the matter is submitted to arbitration.  The 

pronouncement of the arbiters begins on fol. 22, in effect requiring each party to fulfill its 

obligations, some of which are treated in the further proceedings that follow. 

 

26v 27 nov 1514, Johannes Gilliand faber Melduni sells to Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus 

Fraschat cappellanus Melduni receptor et eo nomine cappelle Sancti Eligii fondate supra pontem 

Broye de Melduno, with further proceedings, including some involving the fidejussor Burgnodus 

Benestaz textor Melduni. 

 

30 02 dec 1514, Venerabilis Dominus Anthonius Branchon capellanus Melduni sells to 

Stephanus Neret filius quondam Claudii Neret dou Fort dou Planoz Bisuntinensis diocesis 

lathomus nunc residens Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

32 07 nov 1514, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuycherens cappellanus Melduni curatus de 

Actallens rector et eo nomine hospitalis pauperum Beate Marie Virginis de Melduno has received 

from Nobilis Claudius de Cultillia domicellus Viviaci and his wife Catherina, censes in arrears 

for the past 9 years owed to the hospital. 

 



32v 07 nov 1514 (die et anno ultimo scriptis supra), Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Generis 

curatus de Dinisiez rector et eo nomine cappelle Sancti Bernardi de Melduno has received from 

Nobilis Claudius de Cultillia domicellus Viviaci et Catherina conjugibus. 

 

33 10 dec 1514, Marriage:  Henricus filius Petri de Vuaud alias Fioux, and Clemens Bucty 

de Ursy parrochie de Mollens nomine et pro parte Perronete filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

36 18 dec 1514, Petrus Piot et Girardus Lugard alias Berzyn sindici et gubernatores eoque 

nomine tocius villagii et commuinitatis de Tyerrens (with approval of a list of citizens) sell to 

Humbertus Meystre de Tyerrens. 

 

37v 21 dec 1514, Petrus Bicholley et Glaudius filius Jacobi Rolaz de Chesalles, quod cum 

Nobilis Guilliermus Espaz domicellus et burgensis Melduni sold to Glaudius Oliveir de 

Chesalles certain censes previously owed by us, the said Petrus and Glaudius, that sale recorded 

by the undersigned 26 aug 1506, now the said Petrus and Glaudius cede their obligations. 

 

38v Die Martis ante festum Sancti Anthonii 1514, Guilliermus Griveti chappellarius Melduni, 

quitclaim to Johannes Pillet de Cugie. 

 

38v 08 jan 1514, Johannes Saly burgensis Melduni, quod cum ego vendiderim pro me et 

meis… to Petrus Clot de laz Fayt, now ego prefatus Johannes Saly have received from the said 

Petrus Clot payment in augmentation of the sale, with further proceedings. 

 

40 09 jan 1514, Guilliermus de Cresta burgensis Melduni, reconnaissance for Venerabilis 

Dominus Johannes Vuicherens capellanus Melduni curatus de Actallens rector et eo nomine 

capelle Sancte Trinitatis in ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Stephani Prothomartiris de Melduno 

fondate, with further proceedings. 

 

41v 11 jan 1514, Jaquetus Mongneir de Escublens promictit juramento suo etc. et obligacione 

ominum bonorum suorum etc., degravare Venerabilem Dominum Ludovicum Monachi, providos 

viros Jacobum et Guilliermum Monachi fratres de Rota erga venerabilem dominum curatum de 

Promassens. 

 

42 15 jan 1514, Paulus Moret filius quondam Marmeti Moret saltoris Melduni suo et 

Anthonii Moret fratris sui nominibus sells to Vuyffredus Clerc saltor habitator Melduni, with 

further proceedings. 

 

44 17 jan 1514, Testament:  Petrus Clot de laz Fayt, universal heir his daughter Maria, 

provided she in turn provides for the marriages of his daughters Clauda, Johanneta, and Jaquema, 

also his daughter Magdalena uxor Marii Pillicier de Berchiez, and his wife Margareta, his brother 

Jacobus Clot de laz Fayt, his sisters Agnes uxor Ludovici Quynat de Lucens and Stephana uxor 

Petri Bicholley de Chesalles, repayment of specified debts, many other bequests. 

 

49 19 jan 1514, Nos Andreas filius quondam Humberti Fornachon de Combremondo Parvo 

ex una, et Claudius filius quondam Ansermeti Rod meo et liberorum quondam Guidonis 

Fornachon nominibus dicti loci de Combremondo Parvo partibus ex altera, exchange. 



50v 22 jan 1514, Nobilis Petrus Cerjat dominus Combremondi parvi suo et Nobilium 

Bernardi et Guidonis Cerjat fratrum suorum nominibus, accensation for Johannes Detard 

habitator dou Plan suo Anthonii et Francisci Detard fratrum suorum nominibus, many properties. 

 

52v 25 jan 1514, Jacobus, Claudius, Jaquetus, et Aymo Blan ex una, et Petrus Blan, fratres 

filii quondam Johannis Blan junioris lathomi de Brenles ex altera, partage, many properties and 

provisions. 

 

55v 28 jan 1514, Marriage:  Stephanus Neret lathomi residens Melduni, and Claudius 

Chomaz textor Melduni nomine et [pro] parte Claudie filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

58 05 feb 1514, Ludovicus de Martherenges sutor et burgensis Melduni ex una, et 

Franciscus filius quondam Guilliermi Boschard partibus ex altera, agricultural agreement, with 

further proceedings added in a different hand but apparently datum ut supra. 

 

60 15 feb 1514, Marriage:  Johannes filius quondam Anthonii Durand clericus de Rances, 

and Guilliermus de Cresta burgensis Melduni nomine et pro parte Margarete filie mee, with 

further proceedings. 

 

63 19 feb 1514, Dominus Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni curatus Capelle Voudane, et 

Johannes de Praz grangerius ipsius Domini Jacobi de Fremont (i.e., Johannes de Praz runs the 

grangia de Fremont, which is owned by Dominus Jacobus Monachi), reciprocal quitclaim for 

their contract, with further proceedings. 

 

63v 19 feb 1514, (die et anno ultimo supra scriptis) Johannes Saly burgensis Melduni et 

Johannes Deytard grangerius ipsius Johannis Saly dou Plan, reciprocal quitclaim for their 

contract. 

 

64 05 mar 1514, Anthonius Lugard de Tierrens sells to Johannes Mistralis antenatus de 

Tyerrens. 

 

64v 26 mar 1515, Claudius Monachi de Tyerrens and Girardus Lugard dicti loci de Tyerrens, 

exchange. 

 

65v 26 mar 1515 (die et anno quibus supra), Petrus Reguet antenatus has received from 

Jacobus Cavyn de Vuycherens. 

 

66 30 apr 1515, Johannes Jaquier (Jacquier) aliter de laz Rappaz dicti loci de laz Rappaz 

sells to Anthonius Jayet de Hermenges rector et eo nomine confratrie Sancti Spiritus de Syens, 

cense in return for a loan, with further proceedings. 

 

66v 30 apr 1515 (die et anno quibus supra ultimo scriptis), Hugo dou Boz de Rosczymges 

sells to Anthonius Jayet de Hermenges rector et eo nomine confratrie Sancti Spiritus de Syens, 

cense in return for loan, with futher proceedings. 

 



(Inserted here, a single sheet with writing on one side:  Francesia filia Petri Anzonet de Rospra 

nunc residens apud Brenlens (=Brenles), with approval of her husband Colletus Marguet, 

quitclaim to her father Petrus Anzonet, incomplete, no closing text, no date.) 

 

67v 01 may 1515, Aymo Clerc alias Gavilliet de Mont sells to Hugo Huguet dicti loci de 

Mont, with further proceedings. 

 

68 06 may 1515, Marriage:  Guilliermus filius quondam Petri Vulliquier Milliquet (below 

this item, “constat michi notario de glosa ubi dixit Milliquet”, with small paraphe of Michael 

Frossard) de Lucens parrochie de Cultilliis, and Franciscus filius quondam Guilliermi Boschard 

parrochie Melduni nomine et pro parte Collete sororis sue, with further proceedings. 

 

70 21 may 1515, Johannes Leschyerit de Lovatens sells to Claudius Germon dicti loci de 

Lovatens, with further proceedings.  

 

71 21 may 1515, Bernardus de Luschit de Carrojoz sells to Claudius Cavin habitator de 

Carrojoz filius Jacobi Cavyn de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

72v 01 jun 1515, Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus de Staviaco olim admodiator et eo nomine 

prioratus Montispresbiteri, quitclaim to Amedeus Cordeir de Capella Voudanna. 

 

73 01 jun 1515, Amedeus Cordeir de Capella Voudana sells to Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus 

de Staviaco curatus parrochialis ecclesie Sancti Stephani Prothomartiris de Melduno, with further 

proceedings. 

 

74v 25 jun 1515, Marriage:  Franciscus filius quondam Humberti Bectex de Combremondo 

Parvo, and Jacobus et Johannes Pictet fratres filii quondam Johannis Pictet de Cheriez nomine et 

pro parte Perronete filie dicti quondam Johannis Pictet sororis dictorum Jacobi et Johannis relicta 

quondam _____ (blank space) de Sasel. 

 

76 25 jun 1515, Thomas do Bruyt de Soctens sells to Claudius Paschit de Capella Voudana, 

with further proceedings. 

 

77v 05 jul 1515, Ludovicus filius quondam Nicodi Chardollion de Rota Villa parrochie de 

Promassens sells to Nobilis Nicodus de Prez domicellus ipsius loci Rote Ville, with further 

proceedings. 

 

79v 15 jul 1515, Marriage:  Johannes Baudaz de Magevetaz parrochie ipsius loci de 

Magevetaz Gebennensis diocesis, and Colleta filia Petri Favrez de Megevetaz parrochie dicti loci 

diocesis Gebennensis. 

 

81v 16 jul 1515, Rodulphus Charpillioz de Vuicherens sells to Claudius Cavyn dicti loci de 

Vuycherens. 

 



82 02 sep 1515, Marriage:  Petrus filius quondam Anthonii Macquellyn de Billens, and 

Marguareta relicta quondam Petri Clot de laz Fayt parrochie Melduni tutrix et eo nomine Glaudie 

filie sue et dicti quondam Petri Clot nomine et pro parte dicte Glaudie, with further proceedings. 

 

84v 02 sep 1515 (die et anno quibus supra), Marriage:  Johannes filius quondam Georgii 

Macquellyn de Billens, and Margareta relicta quondam Petri Clot de laz Fayt parrochie Melduni 

tutrix et eo nomine Marie filie sue et dicti quondam Petri nomine et pro parte Johannete filie sue 

et dicti quondam Petri Clot.  Maria is mentioned because, in the course of the marriage contract, 

Johanneta agrees to a division with Maria of their inheritance from their late father, with further 

proceedings. 

 

87 02 sep 1515, Marriage:  Vuilliermus Macquellyn de Billens nomine et pro parte Georgii 

filii quondam Georgii Macquellyun dicti loci de Billens neptis sui, and Margareta relicta 

quondam Petri Clot de la Fayt tutrix et eo nomine Marie filie sue et dicti quondam Petri Clot 

heredisque universalis eiusdem Petri Clot nomine et pro parte ipsius Marie, with further 

proceedings. 

 

90 10 sep 1515, Petrus Rappit suctor Melduni et Ysabella eius uxor sell to Guido de Tecto de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet unum morsellum prati continentem circa quinque seytoratas 

prati situm in territorio et fenagio dicti loci de Cabanis loco dicto ou Montellier desus juxta 

pascua communia de Cabanis et de Montet ab oriente, pratum dictorum venditorem, Claudii 

Decimatoris, quodam ruali intermedio per certos lapides seu metas ibidem positos ab occidente, 

et ruetam tendentem a Melduno apud Montet a borea, ac nemus deis Suchet a vento, prout in 

longum et in latum protenditur, et est facta huiusmodi vendicio pro bono, justo, et legitimo 

precio sexviginti florenorum auri boni parviponderis, with further proceedings. 

 

91 15 sep 1515, Dominus Jacobus de Staviaco curatus Melduni, et Nobilis Petrus Cerjat 

dominus Combremondi Parvi, dispute concerning who is responsible for a cense owed to the 

confratria Sancti Spiritus Melduni tam inferius quam superius (i.e, this confratria serves both the 

old, lower church of St. Stephen in Moudon, as well as the newer, upper church of Notre Dame), 

the ownership of a certain stable, and the payment of censes in arrears, arbitration and settlement. 

 

93 01 oct 1515, Claudius Boveir de Carrojoz parrochie de Mexieres sells to Petrus Hugonyer 

dicti loci de Carrojoz, with further proceedings. 

 

93v 05 oct 1515, Hudriodus Girod et Claudius eius filius de Vuilliens sell to Claudius Cavyn 

de Vuycherens. 

 

94v 05 oct 1515 (datum ut supra), Ludovicus Chappuys de Vuilliens sells to Claudius Cavyn 

de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

95 15 nov 1515, Nobilis Petrus Espaz et Stephanus Nycati burgenses Melduni sell to 

Reverendus Dominus Jacobus de Staviaco sancte sedis appostolice prothonotarius curatusque 

parrochialis ecclesie Beati Stephani Prothomartiris de Melduno et eo nomine, cense, with further 

proceedings. 

 



96v 13 nov 1515, Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni curatus Capelle 

Voudanne sells to Johannes Testuz de Arans, videlicet unum morsellum prati situm in territorio 

de Grata Vachyt. 

 

97 25 nov 1515, Marriage:  Petrus Berlyn de Orons laz Villaz, and Petrus Riguet antenatus et 

Petrus Riguet junior filius dicti Petri Riguet antenati burgenses Melduni nomine et pro parte 

Ysabelle filie dicti Petri Riguet antenati sororis dicti Petri Riguet junioris, with further 

proceedings. 

 

99 16 dec 1515, “Lictera borgesie Petri Calliez multoris Cossonay”, Petrus de Belloforti 

dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, notum facimus universis quod die et anno 

subscriptis per Providum virum Michaelem Connet sutorem et burgensem Melduni sindicum et 

procuratorem ville et communtatis Melduni, de laude tamen consilio Nobilium et burgensium ac 

providorum virorum Jacobi Cerjat domini de Dinisiez, Francisci de Glana domini de Villardens, 

Petri de Curia alias Cogniardi vicedompni Melduni, Francisci de Bulo, Johannes Gauley, 

Rodulphi Joliveti, Boniffacii Briderii consilii restricti Melduni, ac Georgii Decimatoris, Johannis 

Saly, Bertandi Jayet, Petri Riguet junioris consilii adjuncti consiliariorum Melduni, Petri Ensis, 

Petri Jayet, Ludovici Paschit, Johannis de Mont, Claudii de Gazel, Francisci Pictet, Petri Guex ? , 

Petri Rappit, Jaqueti de Giez, Claudii Cugiez, Nycodi Fraschat, Claudii Paschon, Johannis 

Phillipon, Thome Martin, Panthalleonis de Tolles alias Vuangnyeres, et Stephani Vuangnyeres ac 

plurium aliorum propter infrascripta cum Nobili Jacobo Catellan locumtenente nostro ballivatus 

Vuaudi unitorum et convocatorum, nobis presentato honesto viro Petro Calliez multore de 

Cossonay tanquam paciffico ydoneo et bone fame inde, requesting that he and his legitimate sons 

be received as burgenses of Moudon, and so decreed, with fees and detailed conditions, and his 

statement of acceptance, with approval by the entire list of notables as above. 

 

100v 31 dec 1515, Petrus de Praz antenatus, Petrus de Praz junior eiusdem Petri de Praz 

antenati filius, Johannes de Praz antenatus, Ludovicus de Praz eiusdem Johannis filius, et 

Johannes de Praz junior frator dictorum Petri et Johannis [de Praz] de Vuilliens, sell to Claudius 

Cavyn de Vuycherens, a letter of reachept. 

 

101 09 jan 1515, Claudius et Johannes filii quondam Jaqueti dou Crest fratres parrochie 

Sancti Martini Vuaudi sell to Jacobus Rubat de Morlens, with further proceedings. 

 

102 14 jan 1515, Matheus filius quondam Johannis de Puteo de Lucens sells to Claudius 

Margueron faber de Lucens, videlicet unum morsellum prati et terre continentem duas posas 

terre et unam seytoratam prati situm in territorio de Lucens loco dicto en Sac juxta terram Jacobi 

Burdey ? (he was the father-in-law of Claudius Margueron, the name suspected to be Bindey, but 

the script discovered so far is indistinct) et dicti emptoris ab oriente, terram Anthonii Germon et 

dicti venditoris ab occidente, terram seu pratum Petri Borogny[on ?] a vento, et terram Anthonii 

Germon et dicti venditoris a borea, for 30 florins, with further proceedings, and a notarion added 

later with signature and paraphe of Michael Frossard indicating that the the said Glaudius 

Margueron sold this property (or the letter of acquisition) to Glaudius Millet fornerius de Lucens 

06 apr 1517. 

 



103 14 jan 1515, Marriage:  Claudius Chomaz textor Melduni nomine et pro parte Johannis 

filii sui, and Claudius Vuilliens de Bolens nomine et pro parte Agnetis filie quondam Johannis 

Marmod de Yverduno et Marie filie predicti Claudii Vuilliens quondam uxoris dicti Johannis 

Marmod, with further proceedings. 

 

104v 16 ? jan 1515 (die sesdecima ? mensis Januarii), Marriage:  Agnes relicta quondam Petri 

Rignyn ? de Ryerrens nomine et pro parte Guilliermi Contoz filii predictorum Petri et Agnetis, 

and Petrus Piot dicti loci de Tyerrens nomine et pro parte Perrissone filie sue, with further 

proceedings. 

 

106v 16 ? jan 1515 (die sesdecima ? mensis Januarii), Franciscus Guddet de Viviaco sells to 

Humbertus Gerbaz fornerius et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings mentioning also 

Janna, wife of Humbertus. 

 

108 23 jan 1515, quod cum Jacobus de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens habeat unum campum 

terre supra terram Glaudii Dey alias Mont de Chesalles situm in territorio de Sarsens… , per 

metas de novo, die date presentium, positas a parte occidentali, now the said Jacobus de Sarsens 

promises not to make certain changes (aliquod tyerdale) in that field, in return for a payment of 4 

livres. 

 

108v 04 feb 1515, Glaudius Villan de Sarvyon parrochie de Mexieres sells to Johannes filius 

Glaudii Paschit dicti loci de Sarvyon, with further proceedings. 

 

109v 13 feb 1515, Nycodus Pictet alias Milliard de Demoret has received from Margareta 

relicta quondam Francisci Connet dilecta uxor sua de bonis suis, assignation of dowry. 

 

110 12 feb 1515, quod cum Nobilis Francesia filia quondam Nobilis Ludovici de Blonay uxor 

Nobilis Guilliermi Musard de Turry de Peys owed Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Jayet 

capellanus Melduni 12 livres 3 sols 6 deniers… with considerable history of the later 

developments involving this debt, now Colletus Clot de Melduno makes a reconnaissance of this 

debt for Bertrandus Jayet, nephew and heir of the said Johannes Jayet. 

 

111 Die Jovis ante festum Sancti Petri in Cathedra 21 feb 1515, “Lictere borgesiarum 

providorum virorum Johannis Luysii clerici de Campo Monito (=Chamonix, in the Département 

of Haute-Savoie, France), Anthonii Visyn [suctoris], et Marmeti Collombi” [lathomi Melduni], 

these three received as bourgeois de Moudon by a list of notables. 

 

111 25 feb 1515, Johannes de Praz et Ludovicus eius filius de Vuilliens sell to Glaudius 

Cavyn de Vuycherens. 

 

112 03 mar 1515, Petrus Fouchieres de Bussy burgensis Melduni sells to Ludovicus Buctet de 

Roczinges. 

 

112v 14 mar 1515, Marmeta relicta quondam Glaudii Rappaz de Vauru, and Aymo Vuychard 

de Mexieres, partage de domo eorumdem parcium sita in villa Melduni loco dicto in Malo 

Burgeto. 



113v 19 mar 1515, Petrus Rappit antenatus de Melduno sells to Glaudius de Tecto antenatus de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum,  

 

videlicet circa unam posam terre sitam in territorio de dictis Cabanis loco dicto in Campo 

Martin juxta ruale deys Medetes ab oriente, nemus Coste Rolie ab occidente, terram et pratum 

Nycodi et Petri Veyrit a borea, et terram dicti Glaudii de Tecto emptoris a vento. 

 

 Item magis, dimidiam posam terre situm in predicto territorio loco dicto eys Tormes juxta 

terram Glaudii de Tecto junioris ab oriente et borea, viam de Chesalles ab occidente, et terram 

dicti Glaudii de Tecto emptoris a vento, for 10 florins, with further proceedings. 

 

115 21 mar 1515, Petrus de Praz antenatus et Petrus de Praz junior eius filius de Vuylliens 

sells to Glaudius Cavyn de Vuycherens. 

 

115v 04 apr 1516, Marriage:  Symon Bellyn de Campomonito parrochie Beati Michaelis 

(Chamonix, Haute-Savoie, France, whose church is dedicated to St. Michael Archangel), and 

Girarda filia quondam Michaudi Rossye parrochie de Alere diocesis Gebennensis. 

 

116v 07 apr 1516, Testament:  Rodulphus Joliveti clericus et burgensis Melduni, universal 

heirs his sons Johannes, Claudius, et Humbertus, provisions for daughters Jaquema et Ysabella, 

and his wife Glaudia appointed as administratrix. 

 

117v 07 apr 1516, Petrus Rappit antenatus de Melduno sells to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum, videlicet tres cuppas boni et pulcri frumenti mensure Melduni annui et perpetui 

redditus census, for 25 florins (in other words, a loan), with further proceedings. 

 

118v 07 apr 1516, Marriage:  Clemens Bucty de Ursy nomine et pro parte Johannis Buty eius 

filii, and Rodulphus Francey, Petrus Mayor de Orons Castro, Jacobus Francey de Viviaco, 

Anthonius Francey de Rota, Ludovicus Francey, et Jaquetus Mongney vexilliferus Rote nomine 

et pro parte Francesie filie quondam Johannis Francey de Promassens. 

 

(Some of the items that follow are unusually messy, suggesting that they were added by a 

different scribe or at a different time.  They are dated in 1515, and no evidence was found to 

dispute that date.) 

 

119v Die Jovis post Dominicam de Judicame 1515, Michael Connet sindicus et gubernator 

ville et communitatis Melduni et eo nomine, with approval of a list of notables, accensation for 

Thomas Mistralis de Melduno, with further proceedings. 

 

120 02 may 1515, quod cum Johannes Sellaz alias Jacquier de Demoret et Petrus eius filius 

sold to Jaquetus Silvent alias Berchier de Quercu, now Petrus Jacquyer antenatus de Demoret 

approves the sale. 

 

120v 20 may 1515, quod cum Claudius de laz Pieraz alias Galliens de Carrojoz sold to 

Venerabilis Dominus Boniffacius Crespy capellanus Melduni procurator et eo nomine venerabilis 

cleri Melduni, that sale recorded by Johannes Crespy 25 may 1477, and then Nycodus Creaturaz 



made a reconnaissance for this debt, recorded by Petrus Sarracens 02 may 1477, and then 

Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Fraschat cappellanus Melduni procurator et eo nomine venerabilis 

cleri Melduni sold to Franciscus de laz Pierraz alias Galleins the said letters of sale, recorded by 

Johannes Gaule die Lune post Dominicam Bordarum 1506, now the said Franciscus de laz 

Pierraz alias Galliens sells to Ludovicus Creaturaz antenatus burgensis Melduni, the said letters. 

 

122 26 may 1515, Nycodus et Michael Charpilliod de Vuycherens, suis et Claudii, Anthonii, 

et Guilliermi filiorum quondam Claudii Charpilliod, ac Petri et Vuilliermi filiorum quondam 

Johannis Charpilliod nominibus, sell to Anthonius Jayet de Hermenges, with further proceedings. 

 

122v 26 may 1515, Anthonius Jayet de Hermenges has received from his wife Anthonia 25 

florins, assignation of dowry. 

 

123 05 jun 1515, quod cum Petrus Gasconel de Morlens donated in a marriage contract to 

Johannes Vincent habitator de Morlens nomine Johannete filie dicti Petri Gasconel uxoris dicti 

Johannis Vincent,videlicet unam posam cum dimidia terre sitam in territorio de Morlens…, now 

the said Petrus Gasconel sells the said property with its letter of reachept to the said Johannes 

Vincent, with further proceedings. 

 

123v 11 jun 1515, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes de Bruello capellanus de Soctens tanquam 

principalis, et Claudius de Bruello dicti loci de Soctens frater eiusdem Domini Johannis ad 

fidejussor predicti Domini Johannis de Bruello, sell with approval of Nobilis Petrus Cerjat for 

himself and his brothers, to Venerabiles Domini Aymo Malliardo et Jacobus Monachi curatus 

Cappelle Voudanne suis et Venerabilium Dominorum Guidonis de Bruello canonici Novicastri et 

Ludovici Brunet curate de Dalliens nominibus rectoribus et eo nomini cappelle Sancti Petri de 

novo constructe per Nobilem quondam Humberti Cerjat condominum Molerie et dominum 

Combremondi Parvi nomineque et ad opus ipsius cappelle fondate in ecclesia Beate Marie 

Virginis superius de Melduno, with further proceedings. 

 

(Here the date changes back to 1516, without explanation.) 

 

124v Die Dominico ante festum Nativitatis Beati Johannis Baptiste 1516, Petrus Trolliet de 

Chesalles and Amedeus Crousaz de Hermenges, dispute, arbitration, and settlement.  In addition 

to various payments due, the dispute involves the marriage contract of Johannes Crousaz and 

Johanneta his wife, daughter of the late Nycodus dou Russel. 

 

125v 28 jun 1516, Glaudia relicta Rodulphi Joliveti notarii et burgensis Melduno, Johannes et 

Glaudius Joliveti filii dicti quondam Rodulphi Joliveti et dicti Glaudie conjugum, sell to 

Johannes Luysii clericus et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

126v 14 jul 1516, Thomas Mistralis notarius residens Melduni sells to Johannes Charles hospes 

residens Melduni. 

 

127 25 jul 1516, Vuyffredus Clert sartor (saltor) Melduni causa habens a quondam Paulo 

Moret filio quondam Marmeti Moret ex una, et Anthonius filius predicti Marmeti Moret de 

Melduno partibus ex altera, partage. 



 

127v 03 aug 1516, Nobilis Glaudia filia Nobilis Nycodi de Prez burgensis Rote, with approval 

of her father, sells to Nobilis Petrus de Prez filius prefati Nobilis Nycodi de Prez frater suus 

carissimus, with further proceedings. 

 

128v 04 aug 1516, Ludovicus Buctet de Roscinges sells to Bernardus Rossat carpentator 

residens Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

130v 26 aug 1516, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes Vuicherens capellanus Melduni curatus de 

Actallens sells to Johannes Luysii clericus et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

131v 18 sep and 13 oct 1516, Johannes de Praz antenatus de Vuilliens, Ludovicus et Jacobus de 

Praz fratres filii predicti Johannis de Praz nunc residentes apud Challabruz sell to Glaudius 

Cavyn de Vuycherens, many properties. 

 

134v 23 sep 1516, Jacobus Gilliard de Mexieres sells to Panthaleo de Tolles alias Vuangnyeres 

faber et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings ? (In a different hand, Die Jovis post festum 

Sancti Mauricii anno quo supra, Petrus Guex burgensis Melduni proclamavit unum ? venale in 

casali predicto … , possibly involving the said Panthaleo (de quibus predictus Panthelis …), the 

script is not very clear. 

 

135v 04 oct 1516, Venerabilis Dominus Henricus Sapientis curatus de Promassens sells to 

Venerabilis Dominus Humbertus Nycati capellanus Melduni, videlicet domum suam de Melduno 

que quondam fuit Domino Henrico Fymals… 

 

136 03 oct 1516, Venerabilis Dominus Ludovicus Dey alias Mont filius quondam Petri Dey 

alias Mont burgensis Rotonduimontis sells to Claudius Dey alias Mont de Chesalles, and a 

reciprocal sale and further proceedings, same date. 

 

137 09 oct 1516, Petrus Rappit sutor et burgensis Melduni, very formal language to the effect 

that it is in his best interest and necessary that he sells to Guido de Tecto de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, videlicet ita que sequuntur,  

 

 Et primo, unum reachetum michi dicto Petro Rappit venditori concessum per dictum 

Guidonem emptorem de una seytorata prati sita in territorio de Cabanis supra Meldunum in 

duobus morsellis, quorum primus est loco dicto eys Cheneveyres modicum supra loz Bruyt juxta 

pratum Glaudii de Tecto ab oriente et occidente, pratum dicti Guidonis de Tecto emptoris a 

borea, et pratum Petri Veyrit a vento, alius vero est loco dicto eys Communalleys alias ou Font 

dou Praz juxta pratum Petru dou Tey ab oriente, pratum Petri Bellaz ab occidente, et modicum 

pratum Petri Bellas et Petri dou Tey quod fuit deys Murissat a borea, pro precio quatuordecim 

florenorum auri boni parviponderis… recorded by the undersigned 14 dec 1503. 

 

 Item, unum alium reachetum michi dicto Petro Rappit venditori concessum per predictum 

Guidonem de Tecto emptoris de una ochia sita in territorio de Cabanis supra Meldunum loco 

dicto en Crousaz juxta viam publicam a borea, clausum Nycodi et Petri Veyrit ab oriente, 

clausum dicti Guidonis emptoris a vento, et ochiam Johannis de Costel ab occidente. 



 

 138 Item, de uno clauso sito in dicto territorio loco dicto Leyderrey juxta clausum 

Nycodi et Petri Veyrit ab oriente, ochiam Petri de Tecto antenati que fuit deys Murissat ab 

occidente, viam publicam tendentem a villa de Cabanis ou Devens a vento, et terram meam dicti 

Petri Rappit venditoris a borea, pro precio viginti florenorum auri… recorded by the undersigned 

18 dec 1508. 

 

 Item magis, generaliter totum tenementum meum dicti Petri Rappit venditoris de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum situm in villa, territorio, fenagio, finibus, et confinibus ipsius loci de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum, necenon omnes licteras reachetorum ominum rerum et possessionum per me 

dictum Petrum Rappit venditorem omnium personarum quarumcumque ingagiatarum et jus 

meum dicti Petri Rappit venditoris decimarum dicti loci de Cabanis sive sit dictum tenementum 

in domibus, grangiis, casalibus, furnis, pratis, terris cultis et nonn cultis, clausis, ortis, ochiis, 

viridariis, nemoribus, raspis, decimis, licteris reachetis, aquis aquarum decursibus, et aliis rebus, 

bonis, et possessionibus quibuscunque prout in longum et latum protenduntur, cum fondis etc., et 

quamvis in presenti lictera dictum meum tenementum non limictatur nec specifficatur tamen pro 

limictato et specificato haberi et teneri volo per presentes ac si de verbo ad verbum possessiones 

predicti mei tenementi specifficarentur et limictarentur, ita tamen quod specialitas generalitati ? 

non deroget nec econtra salvo et michi dicto Petro Rappit reservato pratum meum dou Montellier 

situm in territorio de Montet quod pratum idem Petrus Rappit venditor ad me retineo. 

 

 Est autem facta presens vendicio pro bono, justo, et legitimo precio ducentum florenorum 

auri boni parviponderis… per me dictum Petrum Rappit venditorem a prefato Guidone de Tecto 

emptore habitorum etc., devestiens etc., investiens … (long passages relating to guarantees and 

promisses), the whole to be ratiffied and approved by Ysabella, wife of Petrus, and by his sons 

Petrus and Claudius, and by his daughter Francesia, whose statements of approval are included. 

 

139v 28 pct 1516, Boniffacius Brideri burgensis Melduni, reconnaissance for Venerabilis 

Dominus Georgius de Sarandens capellanus Melduni rector et eo nomine capelle Beate Marie 

Virginis fondate in ecclesia parochiali Sancti Stephani Prothomartiris de Melduno, with further 

proceedings. 

 

140 18 nov 1516, quod cum quondam Perroneta filia quondam Johannis Paschit de Capella 

Voudanna uxor Petri Carrel de Orsens bequeathed to the ecclesia parrochiali Beate Marie 

Magdalenes de Cappella Voudanna 4 sols census from her dowry, now Petrus Pahyzant ? alias 

Faye de Capella Voudanna sells to Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduno 

curatus of that church. 

 

140v 29 nov 1516, Marriage:  Benedictus filius quondam Vuilliermi Foresteir de Tyerrens, and 

Bernardus Mingard de Capella Voudana nomine et pro parte Glaudie filie sue, with further 

proceedings. 

 

142 08 dec 1516, Marriage:  Vuilliermus Macquellyn de Billens, and Margareta relicta Petri 

Clot de laz Fayt. 

 



144 09 dec 1516, quod cum Anthonius de Curia burgensis Melduni sold to Ludovicus filius 

quondam Humberti Buctet de Rosczinges, videlicet medietatem medietatis tocius grangie et 

tenementi de Vallacrest pro indivisa cum dicto Ludovico ex acquisitione facta per quondam 

Hugonem Buctet fratrem dicti Ludovici sitam in territorio et fenagio de Vallacrest inter 

territorium Melduni ex una et territorium de Syens et de Belflori ex altera partibus… , and then 

dictus Ludovicus fecerit et concesserit dicto Anthonio de Curia graciam rehemptionem, now the 

said Anthonius de Curia with approval of his wife Nycolleta and of Bernardus de Curia his 

brother has received from the said Ludovicus Buctet, videlicet 20 florins ultra predictos quarter 

viginti florenos auri in augmentum precii predicti … 

 

145 18 dec 1516, Testament:  Glaudia relicta quondam Rodulphi Joliveti notarii et burgensis 

Melduni filia quondam Johannis Griset burgensis Lausanne, bequests toward the dowries of their 

daughters Jaqueta et Ysabella, universal heirs their sons Johannes, Glaudius, et Humbertus. 

 

145v 29 dec and 01 jan and 22 feb 1516, Anthonius et Franciscus de Putheo fratres, and Petrus 

Rappit ac Ysabella eius uxor de Melduni, dispute and arbitration.  Among other rulings of the 

arbiters, the children of the late Anthonius de Putheo by his late wife Colleta are to be 

usufrucutaires in her estate as is customary, and Petrus and Ysabella owe costs.  Colleta was the 

sister of Ysabella, and the dispute appears to involve a claim by Petrus and Ysabella on the estate 

of Colleta.  

 

146 06 jan 1516, Johannes filius quondam Francisci Cocquard de Vuybroyt with approal of 

Glaudius Coquart and Jaquetus Borgonyon, approving a sale to Petrus Perriard dicti loci de 

Vuybroyt by Franciscus Coquard frater dicti Johannis Coquart, de uno morsello clausi sito in 

territorio de Vuybroyt. 

 

146 07 jan 1516, Jacobus de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens filius quondam Jacobi de Sarsens 

sells to Anthonius Olevey de Chesalles. 

 

146v 07 jan 1516 (datum ut supra), Nycodus Charpillioz de Vuycherens sells to Johannes 

Placit et Anthonius Challet de Hermenges rectores et eo nomini confratrie Sancti Spiritus de 

Syens. 

 

147 20 jn 1516, Glaudius filius quondam Francisci Pictet suctoris et burgensis Melduni, 

quitclaim to Nobilis Nycodus de Prez et Petrus eius filius burgenses Rote. 

 

147v 31 jan 1516, Glaudius Boveir de Carrojoz sells to Petrus filius quondam Johannis 

Hugonyer dicti loci de Carrojoz. 

 

148 31 jan 1516, Marriage:  Franciscus filius Johannis Servent burgensis Staviaci, and 

Perrissona filia quondam Johannis Vuilliemyn burgensis Yverduni. 

 

150 16 feb 1516, Petrus et Johannes Boudyn fratres filii quondam Matney Boudyn de Tierrens 

sell to Johannes Mistralis de Tyerrens, with further proceedings. 

 



150v 17 feb 1516, Glaudius Jacquyer alias Jenyer, Benedictus et Jacobus Jacquyer filii dicti 

Glaudii Jacquyer de Tierrens, sell to Johannes Mistralis de Tyerrens, with further proceedings. 

 

151v 17 feb 1516, Agnes relicta quondam Petri Riguens ? de Chavornay filia quondam 

Mermeti Contoz de Tierrens ac Benedictus dictorum conjugum filius, and Anthonius Lugard 

antenatus et Anthonius Lugard junior filius dicti Anthoni Lugard antenati, exchange. 

 

152 20 feb 1516, Testament:  Petrus Riguet antenatus burgensis Melduni, universal heirs his 

son Anthonius and his wife Johanneta. 

 

152v 04 mar 1516, Testament:  Nobilis Jacobus Catellani burgensis Staviaci castellanus 

Melduni, universal heir his son Nobilis Glaudius Catellan, mention of the late Nobilis Margareta, 

wife of Jacobus. 

 

153v 04 jan 1516, Johannes Boveir de Carrojoz nunc morans Melduni sells to Humbertus Clot 

habitator de Vallacrest, with further proceedings. 

 

154 19 mar 1516, Petrus filius quondam Johannis Berchiez de Combremondo Magno, 

Glaudius Gabat ? (or Grivat ? ; however, Gabat and Cabat seem to be the most consistent 

readings throughout the text) tutor et eo nomine Georgie et Catherine filiarum suarum et 

quondam Glaudie filie predicti quondam Johannis Berchiez, Johanni[s] Gabat de Novilliez 

conjunctorio nomine Perronete uxoris sue filie predicti quondam Johannis Berchiez eciam dicti 

Glaudius et Johannis Gabat nominibus suis et quibus supra ac Nobilibus Ludovicus Cabat ? et 

Jaqueme uxoris sue ex una, et Nobiles Jacobus Cerjat dominus de Dinisiez, Petrus Cerjat 

dominus Combremondi Parvi et condominus de Dinisiez, et Colletus Girard de Dinissiez 

nominibus suis ac omnium proborum hominum de Dinisiez eciam Glaudii Collon alias Bocenti ? 

partibus ex altera, regarding claims based on several sales by Humbertus Cerjat and other 

transactions not cited in detail, settlement. 

 

156 26 mar 1517, Dominus Aymo de Balmis capellanus Melduni sells to Claudius de 

Martherenges mercator et burgensis Melduni, videlicet unam domum sitam in villa Melduni ante 

ecclesiam Sancti Stephani Prothomartiris de Melduno, etc. 

 

156v 06 apr 1517, Jacobus filius quondam Jacobi de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens sells to 

Johannes de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens, with further proceedings. 

 

157 24 a[r 1517, Glaudius filius quondam Francisci Pictet suctor et burgensis Melduni sells to 

Petrus Riguet suctor et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

157v 26 apr 1517, Testament:  Jacobus Rubat de Morlens, bequests to Roleta dilecta filia sua 

uxor Perrodi de Tecto, Johanneta soror sua uxor Johannis dou Tey, Glaudius, Johannes, et 

Glaudius liberi Petri Gasconel et quondam Guilliermete uxoris dicti Petri Gasconel uxoris dicti 

Jacobi testatoris, universal heir his son Jaquetus, provisions for daughters Glaudia, Agnes, et 

Francesia, and for his widow Perrissona. 

 



158v 27 and 28 apr 1517, before Nobilis Nycodus de Prez, burgensis Rote and castellanus 

Melduni, dispute, Nobiles Franciscus et Glaudius de Glanna fratres domini de Vallardensw et de 

Rospraz, and Panthaleo Vuanyeres alias de Tolles principal ac Nobilis Maria Cerjat relicta 

quondam Nobilis Ludovici de Sancto Germano mother of the said Panthaleo, regarding a cense 

bequeathed to the said Maria in the testament of the said Humbertus, arbitration and settlement 

generally in favor of the said Maria, with further proceedings. 

 

160v 01 may 1517, Johannes filius quondam Glaudii Davyd de Boloz parrochie Sancti Martini 

Vuaudi sells to Rodulphus Oliveir de Chesalles, with further proceedings. 

 

161 04 may 1517, Hudriodus Girod de Vuilliens sells to Petrus Rolaz de Bressonaz, with 

further proceedings. 

 

161v 12 may 1517, Claudia filia quondam Nycolleti Lausinaz ? relicta Anthonii Pontier de 

Melduno sells to Dominus Humbertus Nycati capellanus Melduni. 

 

162v 18 may 1517, Bernardus Rossat carpentator et habitator Melduni owes Ludovicus Buctet 

de Rosczinges for a loan, with further proceedings. 

 

163 19 may 1517, Petrus Romey de Forel sells to Providus vir Georgius Decimatoris sindicus 

et gubernator Melduni nomine tamen et ad opus confratrie Sancti Spiritus burgi et burgellorum 

inferius et superius de Melduno et eo nomine, with further proceedings. 

 

164 31 may 1517, Nycodus filius quondam Glaudii Davyd de Boloz parrochie Sancti Martini 

Vuaudi sells to Petrus filius quondam Nycodi de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, 

videlicet octo soldios Lausannensium bonorum census, et est facta huicmodum ? vendicio pro 

justo precio octo librarum bone monete cursibilis in patria Vaudi habitarum etc., quosquidem 

octo solidos dicte monete census dictus Nycodus Davyd debitor et venditor promictit pro se et 

suis quibus supra juramento suo etc., et obligacione omniuum bonorum suorum solvere et 

realiter satisfacere curato ecclesie parrochiali Sancti Mauricii de Morlens seu rectori eiusdem 

ecclesie licet absentis annis singulis et perpetuo in quolibet festo Beati Martini Yemalis in hoc et 

pro eo quod curatus seu rector predicte parrochialis ecclesie de Morlens et sui successores 

teneantur et debeant sibi perpetue celebrare seu celebrari facere in cappela Beate Marie Virginis 

de Cabanis supra Meldunum qualibet die Veneris quocienslibet ? quatuor temporum anni unam 

missam de requiem cum nota pro salute et remedio anime quondam Johannete matris ipsius 

Petri de Tecto parentumque et predecessorum suorum, et casu quo dictus curatus seu rector dicte 

parrochialis ecclesie de Morlens aut sui successores nolent acceptare dictam missam 

celebrandam eo tunc teneatur et debeat idem Nycodus venditor et debitor vel sui qui supra 

solvere dictos octo solidos dicte monete census dicto Petro de Tecto receptori et suis quibus 

supra annis singulis … (text becomes quite messy and vague at this point), fidejussor Rodulphus 

filius quondam Anthonii Oliveir de Chesalles, with further proceedings. 

 

165v 01 jun 1517, Testament:  Glaudius Oliveir de Chesalles, universal heirs his sons Johannes 

et Glaudius, provisions for his daughters Perrissona and Michaela, and for his wife Ludovica. 

 



166v 08 jun 1517, Rodulphus Bondeti ? (also apparently written once as Baudeti ?) clericus et 

burgensis Melduno velut heres substitutus quondam Vuilliermi Sarrectaz de Bussy sells to 

Glaudius Vuannyeres de Bussy. 

 

167v 17 aug 1517, Petrus Henry de Villard in Vuillier nomine Marie relicte quondam Johannis 

Boulard et Catherine filie quondam Johannis Long (Longy) relicte quondam Petri Molliex ex 

una, et Nycodus Molliex de Cudriffino tutorio nomine Johannis, Magdalene, et Anthonii 

librorum quondam predicti Petri Molliex, dispute, regarding Catherina’s share of her late 

husband’s estate, settlement. 

 

168 24 aug 1517, Marriage:  Jaquetus Abri alias Juquier ? (or Inquier ?) de Prez parrochie de 

Syvirier, and Claudius Gremoz ? de Vuarmarens nomine et pro parte Anthonie sororis sue filie 

quondam Roleti Gremoz, with further proceedings. 

 

169v 14 sep 1517, Marriage:  Jacobus Perret habitans de Seppey nomine et pro parte Johannis 

Perret sui fratris filii quondam Petri Perret, and Franciscus filius quondam Nycodi Detard 

habitans Melduni nomine et pro parte Katherine sororis sue, exceptionally long contract. 

 

172 06 oct 1517, quod cum debata et litigia fecerint mota inter Franciscum Paccoton 

burgensem Melduni ex una, et quondam Johannem Buctet de Rosczinges ex altera partibus, de et 

super occasioneque quorundam morsellorum prati sitorum in fenagio et territorio de 

Hermenges… several properties held jointly with Petrus Porchet, purchased from Franciscus 

Paccoton for 60 florins, after which there was an argument about whether the 60 florins had been 

paid, referencing a testimonial letter recorded by Jacobus Vallacrest die festi Beate Marie 

Magdalenes apud Capellam Voudannam 1507, now the said Franciscus Paccoton sells to 

Ludovicus Buctet dicti loci de Rosczinges the various documents and rights. 

 

173 Die festi Sancti Martini Yemalis 1517, Marriage:  Anthonius Lugard alias Bersin de 

Tyerrens nomine et pro parte Anthonii filii sui, and Nycolletus Girard de Dinisiez nomine et pro 

parte Johannete filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

174 15 nov 1517, Marriage:  Johannes Mistralis de Tyerrens nomine et pro parte Guilliermi 

filii [sui], and Jacobus Trolliet de Seignyoux nomine et pro parte Johannete filie sue, with further 

proceedings. 

 

176 15 nov 1517, Marriage:  Johannes Mistralis de Tyerrens nomine et pro parte Francisci 

Mistralis nepotis sui filiique Johannis Mistralis senior dicti loci de Tyerrens, and Jacobus Trolliet 

de Seignyod nomine et pro parte Humberte filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

178 05, 17, and 21 dec 1517, Marriage:  Petrus filius quondam Claudii Porchet de Melduno 

nomine et pro parte Johannis Porchet sui fratris filii quondam predicti Claudii Porchet, and 

Claudius Cavyn de Vuycherens nomine et pro parte Claudie filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

180 28 dec 1517 ab Annunciacione Dominica secundum stillum Vuaudi patrie sumpto, 

Testament:  Johannes de Villarsel dominus de Deley et de Middes ac condominus de Trey, 

Chastonaye, et de Marnant filiusque quondam Nobilis Boniffacii de Villarsel de Lucens, bequest 



to his wife Claudia filia quondam Nobilis Humberti de Molleria domini de Font, several 

particular bequests, universal heirs Johannes de Villarsel filius meus et quondam Nobilis 

Johannete prime consortis mee, et Guilliermus filius meus ac (=et) Nobilis Claudie consortis mee 

secunde (however, the possibility that the current wife, Claudia, is is third wife, after the death of 

the second wife also named Claudia seems not to be ruled out on a first reading of the 

document), also provisions for the children of his daughter Claudia now the wife of Nobilis 

Ludovici de Clerye de Friburgo, also for those of Amedea filia mea uxor Nobilis Vuilliermi 

Musard de Staviaco, acque liberos Ayme filie mee impuberis procreandos de legitimo thauro… , 

also provisions in case his son Franciscus is found still to be living (casu quo Franciscus de 

Villarsel filius meus viveret in humanis et patriam propriam repeteret, but the circumstances of 

his absense are not mentioned), also provisions for his daughter Anna uxor Egregii Leodegarii 

Fuseri procurator Gebennis, also to the sororibus Jheronime filie mee Sancte Clare Gebennis 

Religiose et Katherine Claustri Beati Marie Virginis Staviaci religiose, cuilibet ipsarum filiarum 

mearum, recorded by Michael Frossard and Andreas Nycodi alias de Salamis ? de Granges, 

datum et actum apud Cultilie in domo habitatis dicti Domini de Delleir testatoris.  Exceptionally 

detailed. 

 

185 29 dec 1517, quod cum Margareta relicta quondam Egregii Magistri Johannis de 

Chardenoto rectoris scolarum Melduni tutrix et eo nomine liberorum suorum et dicti Johannis de 

Chardenoto, et Magister Johannes Bonjour sirlogicus ? (the script is clear; this is apparently an 

attempt at surgeon, rendered as sirorgicus in another entry concerning this couple, DL 43/6 fol. 

91v, below) et burgensis Friburgi tanquam persona conjuncta et eo nomine Katherine uxori sue 

filie predictorum conjugum obtained a judgement by which they were placed in possession of 

certain properties held by Venerabilis Dominus Georgius de Sarrandens et Henricus de 

Sarrandens burgenses Melduni, and that the latter made a reconnaissance for the said Margareta 

recorded by Johannes Phillippon burgensis Melduni, now the said Georgius et Henricus de 

Sarrandens fratres sell to the said Margareta and Johannes Bonjour nominbus quibus supra, the 

said property, with further proceedings. 

 

186 31 dec 1517, Johannes Lombard alias Sallabrey faber Melduni filius quondam Johannis 

Lombard alias Sallabrey de Melduno sells to Humbertus Clot de Bressonaz en Nardin, videlicet 

unam domum sitam in oppido Melduni loco dicto in Castro Melduni. 

 

186v 03 jan 1517 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Petrus filius quondam Petri Trolliet de 

Chesalles, and Claudius Oliveyr dicto loci de Chesalles nomine et pro parte Michaele filie sue, 

with further proceedings. 

 

188 07 jan 1517 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Claudius Cavin nomine et pro parte 

Johannis Cavin filii sui, and Johannes filius quondam Claudii Gillieron de Ferlyn nomine et pro 

parte Perronete soriris sue filie predicti quondam Claudii Gillieron, with further proceedings. 

 

189v 14 jan 1517 Style of the Annunciation, Nobilis Nycolleta relicta quondam Anthonii de 

Curia burgensis Melduni veluti tutrix et gubernatrix et eo nomine liberorum suorum et dicti 

quondam Anthonii de Curia conjum heredum, de tamen consensu, consilio, et voluntate 

Discretorum virorum Petri de Curia alias Quin ? notarii et burgensis Melduni et Bernardi de 



Curia fratris dicti Anthonii de Curia, quitclaim to Nobilis Michael Musard burgensis Staviaci 

dominus de Vuycens. 

 

190 24 jan 1517 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Petrus Rolaz (Rollaz) alias Milliard de 

Bressonaz eis Nardyn parrochie de Syens nomine et pro parte Henrici filii sui, and Claudius 

Cavin de Vuycherens eiusdem parrochie nomine et pro parte Johannete filie sue, with further 

proceedings. 

 

191v 02 feb 1517 Style of the Annunciation, Jacobus filius quondam Francisci Rubat de Mont 

owes Jaquetus filius quondam Jacobi Rubat de Mollens. 

 

191v 01 feb 1517 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Symon Bellin de Chamony (in another 

record, from Campo Monito, parish of St. Michel; evidently Chamonix, in the Département of 

Haute-Savoie, France, whose oldest name was Campum Munitum, and whose church, from as 

early as the 12th Century, is dedicated to St. Michael Archangel), et Clara filia quondam Johannis 

Blam antenati de Brenles parrochie de Mollens, mention Perroneta, sister of Clara. 

 

193v 03 feb 1517 (anno premisso), quod cum Ludovicus Buctet de Rossinges held title to a 

purchase by the late Johannes et Hugo Buctet dicti loci de Rossinges from quondam Anthonius 

de Curia burgensis Melduni, videlicet medietatem et quartam partem grangie et tenementi de 

Vallacrest cunque fuerit necesse domifficare quattuor cursus domus et grangie dicti tenementi, 

pro quibus dictus Ludovicus Butet solverit seu solveri promiserit Bernardo Rozat carpentatori 

Melduni pro tachio dicti comifficationis, videlicet 40 florins (and some other amounts) …, now 

Nycolleta relicta dicti quondam Anthonii de Curia et Bernardus de Curia frater dicti quondam 

Anthonii tutores et gubernatores et eo nomine liberorum dicti quondam Anthonii de Curia et 

dicte Nycollete promise to pay Ludovicus the required amounts. 

 

194v 08 feb 1517 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Girardus Savari burgensis Gruerie, and 

Glaudia relicta quondam Nycodi de Gazel burgensis Melduni. 

 

195v 11 feb 1517 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Johannes filius quondam Claudii 

Gillieron de Ferlin, and Claudius Oliveyr de Chesalles parrochie de Mollens nomine et pro parte 

Perrissone filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

196v 15 feb 1517 Style of the Annunciation, Johannes Nobloz de Prahin (Prahyn) sells to 

Johannes Mistralis de Tyerrens, fidejussor Anthonius Ansel dicti loci de Prahyn, with further 

proceedings. 

 

198 28 mar 1518, quod cum Claudius Bosson mercerius residens Melduni purchased a house 

situm in oppido Melduni loco dicto in Grandadaz alias in Bastida juxta vias publicas ab 

occidente et borea, domum Petri Rappit a vento, domum Petri Guido ab oriente, a Discreto 

Jacobo Cornaz alias Cheres vexilliffero et burgense Melduni, que fuit quondam Rodulpho Veyrit 

sutori et burgensis Melduni, now Franciscus de Puteo nuncius castellanie Melduni ad instancium 

et requisitionem ipsius Claudii Bosson cridavit et proclamavit unum venale locis et more solitis 

in domo predicta, videlicet potum precio duorum denariorum Lausannensium bonorum, et hoc in 

signum vere et adepte possessionis eiusdem domus prelimitate secundum bonos usus et 



consuetudines patrie et loci, de quibus premissis omnibus et singulis supranominatus Claudius 

Bosson petet sibi fiere per me juratum subsignatum licteram testimonaliem ad rei futuram 

memoriam, presentibus ibidem Johanne Phillippon, Michaele Connet, Francisco Destrier, 

Jaqueto Degiez, Anthonio Jayet, Petro Rappit, Marmeto Collumbi, Johanne de Puteo, Benedicto 

Jordi alias Espa, Claudio Creaturaz, Johanne Sali, et Nycodo Burdet testibus… 

 

199 06 apr 1518, Claudius Jacod de Vouderens owes Perroneta filia quondam Anthonii Pictet 

alias Milliard de Olens 24 livres, et hoc ratione et ex causa compositionis facte per dictum 

Claudium Jacod debitorum et Nycodum et Johannem Pictet alias Milliard nomine et pro parte 

dicte Perronete de et super defloracione eiusdem Perronete, quequidem viginti quattuor libre 

dicte monete sunt pro maritando eandem Perronetam ultra tamen dotem et portionem eidem 

Perronete pertinentem et competentem in bonis suis paternis et maternis… , with further 

proceedings. 

 

199v 07 apr 1518, Marriage:  Petrus filius quondam Roleti Gremoz de Vuararens parrochie de 

Mollens, and Claudius de Tecto antenatus de Cabanis supra Meldunum nomine et pro parte 

Katherine filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

201 18 apr 1518, Guillierma filia quondam Nycolay Cordey de Villanova et quondam Girarde 

relicte dicti quondam Nycolay Cordet relicatque quondam Johannis Perret, has received from 

Johannes filius quondam Glaudii Ballifz de Villanova 16 livres that were from the dowry and 

marriage settlement of her mother Girarda, with quitclaim and further proceedings. 

 

202 28 apr 1518, Marriage:  Petrus de Tecto de Vuarmarens filius quondam Anthonii de Tecto 

dicti loci parrochie de Mollens, and Rodulphus filius quondam Anthonii Oliveyr de Chesalles 

eiusdem parrochie nomine et pro parte Paule sororis sue relicte quondam Petri Brulloz de 

Vuybroyt, with further proceedings. 

 

203v 01 may 1518, Jaquetus Taconat de Villario Comite owes Johannes Mistralis de Tyerrens, 

followed by another, similar transaction for the same parties, same date. 

 

204 03 may 1518, Johannes Brugnat de Sancto Ciriaco is required to pay Johannes Mistralis 

de Tyerrens. 

 

204 11 may 1518, Johanneta filia Glaudii Contoz de Tyerrens disvulsa et disgregata seu 

separata a conjugio Benedicti Jordi alias Espas alias mariti sui, de tamen laude, voluntate, et 

auctoritate dicti Benedicti Jordi alias Espa, quictat et remittit perpetue et irrevocabiliter per 

presentes provido viro Nycodo Bonallaz de Mivilliez et Anthonio Margueron de Tyerrens 

tutoribus et gubernatoribus eoque nomine Claudii et Claudie filiorum et heredum quondam 

Aymonis Contoz filii predicti Claudii Contoz, videlicet universa et singula bona sua paterna, 

materna, et fraterna quicumque etc., in return for 15 livres and annual censes, with further 

proceedings. 

 

205v Die Lune ante festum Sancte Penthecostes 1518, Anthonius deys Saulges de Bolens owes 

Dominus Jacobus Monachi curatus Cappelle Vaoudanne. 

 



205v 19 may 1518, Nobilis Andreas Bernard olim castellanus Rote et Johanneta eius uxor sell 

to Mauricius Monet de Rota et Petrus Roc de Eschiens, a house in Villa Rote. 

 

206v Die Sabbati ante festum Sancti Penthecostes 1518, Claudius Sonnet parrochie Sancti 

Martini Vuaudi owes Franciscus Championis. 

 

206v Bernardus filius quondam Claudii de Curia burgensis Melduni sells to Blasius Delex 

habitator Melduni, incomplete, no more text, no date. 

 

207v 31 may 1518, Petrus de Praz de Vuilliens sells to Johannes Nardyn et Johannes Burdyn 

rectores et eo nomine confratrie Sancti Spiritus de Vuilliens, cense originally from a bequest by 

Claudius Cavin. 

 

(Fol. 208v is blank.) 

 

209 31 may 1518, Petrus de Praz et Johannes de Praz junior fratres de Vuilliens sell to 

Johannes Nardyn et Johannes Burdyn de Vuilliens rectores et rectorio nomine confratrie Sancti 

Spiritus de Vuilliens, cense originally from Johannes filius quondam Stephani Fabri. 

 

209v 11 jun 1518, Johannes Marco (Marcod) de Vuilliens sells to Girardus Nycod dicti loci de 

Vuilliens, with further proceedings. 

 

210v 11 jun 1518, Girardus Nycod de Vuilliens and Johannes Marco (Marcod) dicti loci de 

Vuilliens, exchange. 

 

211 17 jun 1518, Stephanus Clert burgensis Melduni and Johannes et Petrus Meistre filii 

quondam Amedei Meistre barbitonsoris Melduni et Glaudie relicte dicti quondam Amedei, 

dispute, regarding succession of dowry of the said Glaudia, mention also of Dominus Claudius 

Meistre, brother of Johannes and Petrus, settlement. 

 

212 25 jun 1518, Petrus Aymonod de Somentier owes Claudius Grest de Bressonaz, videlicet 

duodecim libras Lausannensium bonorum, et hoc ratione et ex causa dotis Johannete eiusdem 

Claudii Grest uxoris sorisque dicti Petri, and when paid, Glaudius will return the letter of dowry 

for his wife Johanneta. 

 

212v 12 jul 1518, Nycodus et Rodulphus Charpilliod de Vuycherens owe Johannes Mistralis de 

Tyerrens. 

 

213 25 jul 1518, Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi capellanus Melduni curatus Capelle 

Voudanne sells to Venerabilis Dominus Stephanus Cactellam capellanus Staviaci et Claudius 

filius Egregii Ludovici Cactellam notarii et burgensis Staviaci, videlicet quattuor morsellos vinee 

sublimitatos,  

  

 Quorum primus est situs in territorio et vinoblio de Corsiez loco dicto en Crest de Plam 

juxta iter publicum ab occidente, vineam illorum de Mariliem ? a parte orientis, vineam Andree 



uxoris Glaudii Griset burgensis Staviaci a parte boree, et vinam capelle Sancti Trinitatis de 

Lustriaco a vento. 

 

 Item, secundus morsellus vinee est situs in territorio Lustriaci loco dicto en Collonges 

juxta vinam Petri, Johannis, et Glaudii Croserens burgensium Lustriaci a partibus orientis et 

boree, vineam Marmeti Geraujon ? a parte occidentis, et vineam Claudii Perdonet de Ursierez a 

vento. 

 

 213v Item, tertius morsellus vinee est situs in eodem loco (=en Collonges) juxta vineam 

Discreti Johannis de Torculari de Ultra Lacum (he was in fact from St. Paul en Chablais) ab 

occidente, vineam heredum Clementis deys Portes ab oriente, vineam helemosinarie prioratus 

Lustriaci a parte venti, et vinam officii camerarie Lustriaci a borea. 

 

 Item, et quartus morsellus vinee est situs in territorio de Savuyt loco dicto en Rierrotaz ? 

juxta vineam Petri _____ (blank space) ab occidente, vineam dominorum Sancti Marii Lausanne 

a borea, vineam Margarete relicte quondam Johannis Croserens a vento, et ruale ab oriente, for 

640 florins, and reservation of a cense that came from the Jolivet. 

 

214 27 jul 1518, Nobilis Petrus Cerjat dominus Combremondi Parvi and Petrus Fouchierres, 

Claudius Sarrectaz, et Nycodus Vouteir de Bussi, dispute, regarding rights of the dîme, with 

further proceedings. 

 

215 28 jul 1518, Michael [junior] filius Michaelis Connet sutoris et burgensis Melduni sells to 

Vuilliermus Ballifz sutor de Combremondo Magno nunc habitans Melduni, fidejussor Johannes 

Sali burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

216v 13 sep 1518, Clara filia quondam Johannis Blam antenati de Brenles parrochie de 

Mollens has received from Symon Bellin maritus suus, assignation of dowry. 

 

217 25 nov 1518, Claudius filius quondam Petri Connet et Stephaneta filia quondam Francisci 

Connet de Montet parrochie de Mollens, partage for properties at Montet, Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, and elsewhere.  Claudius gets the properties at Montet, Stephaneta gets those at 

Cabanis supra Meldunum and elsewhere, individual properties not specified, fidejussores 

Stephanus Jacod de Vouderens textor nunc residens Melduni, and Johannes de Tecto de 

Vuarmarens junior, with further proceedings. 

 

219v 08 dec 1518, Claudius Gabat de Combremondo Magno et Johannes Gabat de Novilliez 

fratres filii quondam Claudii Gabat dicti loci de Novilliez et quondam Johannete uxoris dicti 

quondam Claudii sororis Johannes de Sarsens dicti loci de Sarsens nominibus suir propriis, et 

Ludovici Gabat eorum fratris nominibus, quitclaim to the said Johannes de Sarsens. 

 

220 09 dec 1518, Margareta relicta quondam Egregii Magistri Johannis de Chardenoto olim 

rectoris scolarum Melduni veluti tutrix et eo nomine liberorum dicti quondam Magistri Johannis 

de Chardenoto, scilicet Johannes, Christophorus, Anthonia, et Jaquema, and Nycolaus de 

Chardenoto filius dictorum conjugum frater dictorum liberorum, dispute, settlement. 

 



221 12 dec 1518, Marriage:  Claudius Olivey de Chesalles parrochie de Mollens nomine et 

pro parte Claudii filii sui, and Facius (=Bonifacius) Emonyer de Enens parrochie de Billens 

nomine et pro parte Ysabelle filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

222v 26 dec 1518, Johannes Magistri (written magr͡ı, a typical abbreviation for the title 

Magistri, and confirmed by the partage that follows) filius quondam Amedei Magistri 

barbitonsoris Melduni appoints Venerabilis Dominus Claudius Magistri capellanus Melduni his 

brother to act as his procurator for business involving a house shared between the brothers and 

Vuilliermus Ballini sutor de Combremondo Magno. 

 

223v 03 jan 1518, Venerabilis Dominius Claudius Magistri (written out in full, just once—all 

the other mentions are abbreviated) nomine suo proprio et procuratorio nomine Johannis Meystre 

(apparent error:  he is Johannes Magistri in the title, and the reference to brothers is not logical 

without this correction) sarlorgissi (another attempt at surgeon ?) residens Melduni et nomine 

Petri Magistri fratris suorum filii quondam Amedei Magistri barbitonsoris Melduni ex una, et 

Vuilliermus Ballini sutor de Combremondo Magno nunc residens Melduni partibus ex altera, 

partage, involving the house identified in the preceding item.  The partage identifies the 

ownership of specific parts of the house, even to what should happen in the event transport is 

required “pro grossis rebus” through parts of the house. 

 

225 Die festi Sancti Anthonii Confessoris 1518, Marriage:  Jacobus Mistralis de Hermenges 

nunc residens ouz Plam, and Ludovicus Buctet de Rossinges nomine et pro parte Anthonie relicte 

quondam Hugonis Buctet dicti loci de Hermenges filieque quondam Anthonii Lymat, with 

further proceedings. 

 

226v Die Veneris post festum Sancti Hyllarii 1518, Jacobus Blam de Brenles owes Rodulphus 

Blam dicti loci de Brenles. 

 

226v Die festi Sanctorum Fabiani et Sebastiani Martirum 1518 Style of the Annunciation, 

Petrus Guex sutor et burgensis Melduni rector et rectorio nomine hospitalis pauperum Beate 

Marie Virginis de Melduno leases for 3 years to Petrus Mergy and Stephanus Chuat de Yvonant, 

videlicet decimam dicti hospitalis de Yvonant. 

 

227v 27 jan 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Johannes Luysii notarius et Pantheleo Vuanneres 

burgenses Melduni scindici et gubernatores et eo nomine oppidi et communitatis Melduni with 

approval of the notables (list of names), quitclaim to Johannes dou Fort and Anthonius et 

Claudius dou Fort his sons of Dinisiez, videlicet de et super omnibus hiis in quibus dicti pater et 

filii teneri possent quovismodo dicte ville et communitali eiusdem Melduni occasione 

computorum quondam Johannis dou Fort de Melduno de toto tempore quo ipse quondam 

Johannes dou Fort fuit sindicus et gubernator dicte ville Melduni… 

 

227v 12 feb 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Johannes filius quondam Claudii Ballifz de 

Villanova subtus Suprapetram parrochie de Granges sells to Venerabilis Dominus Georgius de 

Sarandens cappellanus procurator et eo nomine venerabili cleri Melduni, with further 

proceedings. 

 



229 12 feb 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Venerabilis Dominus Georgius de Sarandens 

capellanus procurator et eo nomine venerabili cleri Melduni with consent of other clergy (list of 

names), quitclaim to ? the heirs and coheirs of various clergy:  quondam Petrus Octhonyni filius 

quondam Anthonii Octhonyni burgensis de Suprapetram, Johannes Pictet de Cheriez, Johannes 

Dampuet ? de Capella, Guilliermus Ballini de Villanova subtus Suprapetram, et Anthonius 

Tierrens de Praraczod… 

 

229v 23 may 1519 (altered from 01 feb anno quo supra), Venerabilis Dominus Humbertus 

Nycati capellanus Melduni leases for 9 years to Johannes Bovet (or Bonet ?) habitator 

Combremondi Magni. 

 

230v 20 feb 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Johannes Paschit et Perrissona eius soror de 

Rospraz filii quondam Ludovici Paschit de Fellens parrochie de Mexieres, quitclaim to Petrus 

filius quondam Andree Paschit de Fellens. 

 

231 24 feb 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Georgius Macquellin de la Fayt suo et Marie eius 

uxoris nominibus sell to Jacobus Porchet saltor et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings 

including a reciprocal sale for the same parties, same date. 

 

232 24 feb 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Petrus Violat de Sancto Gervasio 

parrochie eiusdem loci diocesis Gebennarum faber nunc habitans Melduni, and Jacobus 

Jaquynod (Jaquenod) filius Johannis Jaquynod de Rospra parrochie de Vuilliens nomine et pro 

parte Collete eiusdem Jacobi sororis filieque predicti Johannis Jaquenod. 

 

233v 28 feb 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Johannes Charles tavernarius residens Melduni 

sells to Matheus Vaccat fuserius habitans Melduni et Perroneta eiusdem Mathei uxor. 

 

234 28 feb 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Claudia relicta quondam Nycodi de Gazel 

burgensis Melduni nunc uxor Girardi Savari burgensis Gruerie sells to Anthonius dou Ron 

mercerius Melduni, various properties, with further proceedings. 

 

235 02 mar 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Claudius Contoz de Arufens has received from 

Symon Bellyn habitator de Brenles full payment for the dowry of his wife Francesia daughter of 

the late Johannes Blam antenatus de Brenles. 

 

235v 15 mar 1518 Style of the Annunciation, Nycolleta relicta quondam Anthonii de Curia 

burgensis Melduni tutrix, gubernatrix, et eo nomine Karole, Ludovice, et Perronelle filiarum dicti 

quondam Anthonii de Curia et dicte Nycollete conjugum, necnon dicta Karola suo et dictarum 

Ludovice et Perronelle sororum suarum nominibus, have received from Ludovicus Buctet de 

Rossinges, a loan of 30 florins against all the letters of reachept that they hold contra dictum 

Ludovicum Buctet et suos precedessores quoscumque super grangia et tenemento de Vallacrest. 

 

236v 28 mar 1519 Style of the Annunciation, Anthonius Magnyn antenatus de Profondavalle 

sells to Colletus Girard de Dinisiez, a letter of reachept. 

 



236v 28 mar 1519, Claudius et Henricus Sarrectaz fratres filii quondam Johannis Sarrectaz de 

Bussi parrochie Melduni sell to Johannes Dey alias de Mont sutor et burgensis Melduni, with 

further proceedings. 

 

237v 29 jun 1519, Claudia relicta quondam Nycodi de Gazel burgensis Melduni nunc uxor 

Girardi Savari burgensis Gruerie sells to Petrus Riguet sutor et burgensis Melduni filius quondam 

Petri Riguet burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

239 17 jul 1519, Marriage:  Franciscus Destrier saltor et burgensis Melduni nomine et pro 

parte Anthonii filii sui, and Claudius filius quondam Ludovici de Martherenges alias Savateroz 

sutoris et burgensis Melduni nomine et pro parte Guillierme sororis sue filieque predicti 

quondam Ludovici de Martherenges, with further proceedings. 

 

241 01 aug 1519, Johannes dou Vernex alias Bastard de Siviriez sells to Petrus et Franciscus 

dou Vernex alias Bastard filii suis. 

 

241v 08 aug 1519, Johannes Escofferii de Cheres et Georgius Mongnerat de Noviliez tutores et 

gubernatores et eo nomine liberorum quondam Jacobi Bruchet burgensis Melduni sell to 

Humbertus Clot de Bressonaz et Johannes Perret, property in Moudon subtus laz Baulmaz. 

 

(The script at this point changes to a a messy, irregular hand, possibly that of the notary himself.) 

 

242v 24 jul 1520 (clear, but could easily be an error for 1519), Jacobus Monachi cappellanus 

Melduni sells to Petrus Gouchon burgensis Staviaci, property at Tyerrens. 

 

243 24 sep 1519, Glaudius Oliveir de Chesalles suo et Ludovice uxoris sue nominibus, and 

Johannes and Glaudius Oliveir dicti loci fratres their sons, partage, considerable detail, resulting 

in a pension for Glaudius and his wife. 

 

244v 24 sep 1519 (datum ut supra), Johannes Oliveir de Chesalles filius Glaudii Oliveir, and 

Glaudius Oliveir junior filius predicti Glaudii Oliveir frater dicti Johannes, partage, with further 

proceedings, including recognition of a debt owed to Perroneta Detard. 

 

246v 18 jan 1519, quod cum Jacobus Pin notarius et burgensis Meldun sold to Mermetus 

(Marmetus) Contoz de Tierrens a house and adjoining property at Tierrens, and then Mermetus 

sold a cense to the said Jacobus Pin, these transactions recorded by the late Anthonius Brideri 

and the copied by the late Johannes Nycati who had custody of his registers, now Boniffacius 

Brideri burgensis Melduni and his wife Humberta filia quondam Petri filii quondam predicti 

quondam Jacobi Pini sell to Benedictus Contoz son of Agnes Contoz de Tierrens and to 

Anthonius Margueron dicti loci Cultilie the censes from the previous transactions. 

 

248 09 feb 1519, Marriage:  Glaudius filius quondam Ludovici de Martherenges burgensis 

Melduni, and Johannes Cordey burgensis Yverduni nomine et pro parte Anthonie filie sue, with 

further proceedings. 

 



249v 23 feb 1519, Johannes Jaquier alias Cavin filius quondam Andree Jaquier alias Cavin 

deys Culayes, reconnaissance for Nobilis Jacobus Cerjat dominus de Dinisiez veluti persona 

conjuncta Nobilis Francesie uxoris sue, with further proceedings. 

 

250 02 mar 1519, Petrus Fouchieres de Bussy et Humbertus eius filius sell to Ludovicus 

Buctet de Rosczinges. 

 

251 02 apr 1520, Franciscus Meystre de Corevont sells to Johannes Mistralis de Tierrens, 

with further proceedings. 

 

251v 03 apr 1520, Glaudius Sarrectaz de Bussy suo et Henrici Sarrectaz fratris sui nominibus 

sell to Petrus de Mont sutor et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

252 12 apr 1520, Marriage:  Nobilis Guilliermus Ensis (=Espa, Espaz) condominus de 

Villarriard et de Chastonay, and Johannes filius quondam Vuilliermi Boree (=Bise, Bize, etc. in 

French) de Actallens nomine et pro parte Nobilis Glaudie Murisset relicte predicti Vuilliermi 

Boree patris dicti Johannis ecciam dicta Nobilis Glaudia Murisset adjuncta cum dicte Johanne 

nomine suo proprio, with further proceedings. 

 

252 (Attached here, request in French from Hanns Frisching ballifz de Mouldon et du pays de 

Vuaud to Michel Frossard bourgeoys et jadis notaire dudict Mouldon to provide a copy of the 

marriage of the late Guilliermus Espa and his late wife Glaudaz to their son Françoys, dated 24 

oct 1540.) 

 

254 03 may 1520, Nycolaus de Chardenoto filius quondam Discreti Magistri Johannis de 

Chardenoto rectoris scolarum Melduni sells to Marguerite relicte quondam predicti Magistri 

Johannies de Chardenoto, with further proceedings. 

 

254v 06 may 1520, Marriage:  Johannes de Praz parrochie Melduni nomine Francisci de Praz 

filii sui, and Glaudius Vuilliens faber de Bolens nomine Anthonie filie quondam Anthonii Martin 

eiusdem parrochie ac Marie relicte dicti quondam Anthonii Martin matris dicte Anthonie nomine 

et pro parte eiusdem Anthonie (the lined out text appears correct, and seems logically to be 

required). 

 

255v 08 my 1520, Nycolaus de Chardenoto filius quondam Discreti Magistri Johannis de 

Chardenoto rectoris scolarum Melduni owes Glaudius Clert alias Pisczon de Ruerit. 

 

257 14 may 1520, Nobilis Colleta relicta quondam Anthonii de Curia burgensis Melduni 

tanquam nomine suo proprio quam Karolete, Ludovice, et Perronele filiarum suarum dictorum 

conjugum acque tutorio nomine earundem sells to Ludovicus Buctet de Rosczinges, with further 

proceedings.  (The text ends on fol. 257v.) 

 

(The remaining folios are not numbered, but are here designated fols. [258] through [261].) 

 

(Fols. [258]-[258v] are blank.) 

 



[259] (In a different hand)  14 sep 1522, quod cum Nobilis Guilliermus Espaz domicellus et 

burgensis Melduni condominus de Villardriard et de Chastonay sold to Nobilis Anthonius 

Malliard vixilifferius (=vexilifferius) Rotondimontis condominus de Chastonay, scilicet reacheta 

inframentionata sibi dicto Guilliermo Estpaz, Petro et Bernardo Espaz filiis suis, et quilibet 

eorundem concessa et largita per personas inframentionatas et nominatas de censibus et 

redditibus… a long list of undated transactions, but naming at least some of the notaries 

involved, and then the said Anthonius Malliard granted the right of reachept to the said 

Guilliermus Espaz in a document recorded by Petrus Michodi clericus de Lucens 14 jul 1520, 

now the said Guilliermus Espaz, considering the many kind services rendered by the said 

Anthonius Malliard, returns the letters of reachept to the said Anthonius Malliard. 

 

(Inserted after the final flyleaf, or attached to the binding, a small sheet of paper listing the main 

transactions in the present register, from fols. 14 through 157.) 

 

 

DL 43/6: (Image group 009165391, image 5) 

 

Cover:  Quintum Registrum Egregii Michaelis Frossard inceptum anno 1520. 

 

(The foliation of this register is problematic.  There are presently three foliations:  The most 

recent is a 20th Century number in pencil, extending to fol. 111 only.  The next earlier foliation 

matches the first foliation, but in a 16th Century script (Roman numerals) in ink that has faded 

badly, not visible on the first 15 folios and some other folios due to damage to the corners of the 

pages, especially the first 37 folios, and ending at fol. 75.  The oldest foliation is in dark ink 

(Roman numerals), extending nearly to the end of the register but obscured in about the first 24 

folios by damage to the corners of the pages, and then lined out (in crayon ?) from the point 

where it first appears until the folio bearing the modern number 74.  The two older foliations 

predate the damage to the corners of the pages.  From fol. 112 to the end, there is only a single 

foliation, continuing the oldest numbering, but not lined out, and extending to the penultimate 

folio of the register.  The last folio bears the number Cxxi, completely out of sequence and not in 

the same style as any other folio in the register.  In view of the difficulty of navigating to any 

particular folio in the absence of a complete and continuous set of numbers that extends through 

the entire register, all three foliations are shown below, as follows: 

• 2-111:  pencil, 20th Century, and apparently the flyleaf bonded to the front cover is to be 

considered folio 1.  Folios after 111, where this style of number is not found, are here 

shown in [square brackets], i.e., fols. [112-___], to indicate that the number has been 

imputed. 

• (xvi)-(lxxiv):  faded ink, 16th Century script, missing on many folios due to damage, but 

where visible matching the 20th Century foliation. 

• {xxxviii}-{vxxxi} and {vxxxii}-{xxxxx}:  dark ink, 16th Century script, but a different 

hand, obscured or absent from some folios due to damage, and lined out from where it 

first becomes visible to fol. 111, after which it is not lined out and becomes the only folio 

number.  Here shown in {curly brackets} to distinguish it from the other two foliations. 

• The final folio is designated [146] [{viiixxxv}] (Cxxvii), physically numbered Cxxvii, but 

logically fol. 146 of the register following the 20th Century foliation, and logically also 

fol. 175 in the oldest foliation. 



Oddly, this is not the most complex foliation found in Medieval registers from the Pays de Vaud. 

Foliation on the verso is shown below only with the modern foliation. 

 

(The first folio is numbered 2, apparently treating the flyleaf that appears to be attached to the 

cover as 1.) 

 

2 (Damaged notation that the folio is from the tenure of Petrus de Belloforti as governor 

and baillif of Vaud, with large paraphe.) 

 

2 21 may 1520, Ludovicus de Praz filius Johannis de Praz parrochie Melduni, quitclaim to 

Jacobus de Praz eiusdem parrochie frater suus tam suo quam Francisci, Glaudii, et Michaelis de 

Praz fratribus suis nominibus, for his share of their jointly held property, with further 

proceedings. 

 

3 (Most of the first two lines are damaged and illegible)  21 may 1520, ….. (Rodulphus, 

subject of the next item) Bondet (or Boudet) clericus et burgensis Melduni sells to Stephanus 

[Ju]stivel (clearly written later in the text) de Bussy. 

 

3v 21 may 1520, Rodulphus Bondeti ? clericus et burgensis Melduni sells to Glaudius 

Vuannyeres alias Jordani de Bussy, a letter of reachept. 

 

4 23 may 1520 (anno quo supra), Ludovicus Chappuys de Vuilliens et Glaudius eius filius 

sell to Marguerita relicta quondam Discreti Magistri Johannis de Chardenoto rectoris scolarum 

Melduni. 

 

(Inserted here, a smaller piece of paper, folded, with writing on two sides: 

 24 nov 1520, Johanneta relicta quondam Johannis Alaz de Melduno owes Pantheleo 

Vuannyeres burgensis Melduni, with another similar transaction of the same parties and further 

proceedings, same date, all with signature and paraphe of Michael Frossard.  This sheet is 

numbered in pencil 4 bis, reflecting its placement in the register.) 

 

4v 09 jul 1520, Johannes Moctet de [laz ? F ?]ayt sells to Venerabilis Religiosus Frater 

Phillipus Petrodi rector et eo nomine hospitalis Sancti Johannis Jherualem de Melduno, with 

further proceedings. 

 

5 15 jul 1520, Marriage:  Johannes Placyt de Hermenges nomine Johannis eius filii 

parrochie de Syens, and Humbertus Monachon parrochie de Cappella Voudana nomine et pro 

parte Marie sororis sue relicte quondam Johannis Challet de Hermenges. 

 

5v 15 jul 1520, Marriage:  Johannes filius quondam Ludovici de Martherenges burgensis 

Melduni, and Boniffacius Brideri burgensis Melduni nomine Ysabelle filie sue, with further 

proceedings. 

 

6v 17 sep 1520, Anthonius Chynaud de Chaneaz sells to Jacobus Boveir filius quondam 

Johannis Boveir de Corevont. 

 



6v 16 sep 1520, quod cum Aymo Vuychard junior de Mexieres prope Joretum sold to 

Anthonius Monjoux habitator Melduni, part of a house with Marmeta relicta quondam Glaudii 

Rapaz partita et divisa, in Malo Burgello Melduni, the text describing it somewhat damaged but 

repeated legibly in what follows, that sale recorded by Johannes Joliveti 08 oct 1516, and then 

approved by the said Stephana filia quondam Glaudii Rapaz wife of the said Aymo Vuychard as 

recorded by the said Johannes Joliveti Die Mercurii post festum Beati Martini Yemalis 1516, and 

then Anthonius Monjoux de Orons residens Melduni sold that part of the house to Johannes 

Chollet saltor Rote residens Melduni, recorded by Stephanus Nycati 19 nov 1516, now the said 

Johannes Chollet with approval of his wife Perroneta sells the property to Johannes de Balmis 

sutor Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

8 27 dec 1520, Glaudius filius quondam Johannis Semoraud alias Rigot de Dinisiez sells to 

Colletus Girard de Dinisiez, with further proceedings. 

 

8v  02 jan 1520, Johannes Grivat et Francesia eius uxor are required to pay Petrus Clot de laz 

Fayt based on a transaction by the undersigned dated 23 jan 1511. 

 

9 02 jan 1520, Petrus Grivat filius quondam Johannis Grivat et Francesie filie Jacobi Pin 

burgensis Melduno (evidently the wife of Johannes and the mother of Petrus) sell to Georgius 

Macquellin de laz Fait, with further proceedings. 

 

9v 04 jan 1520, Girardus Lugard alias Bersyn de Tyerrens sells to Guilliermus filius 

Johannis Mistralis de Tierrens, with further proceedings. 

 

10 04 jan 1520, Matheus Collon alias B… ? de Tierrens sells to Franciscus filius quondam 

Johannis Mistralis de Tierrens. 

 

10v 14 jan 1520, Marriage:  Franciscus filius Glaudii Jan de Chastilliens, and Stephana filia 

quondam Francisci Connet de Montet. 

 

11 04 feb 1520, Henricus Sarrectaz de Bussy sells to Petrus de Mont sutor et burgensis 

Melduni. 

 

11v 12 feb 1520 and 09 feb 1521, Franciscus filius Johannis de Praz barbitonsor Melduni 

tanquam persona conjuncta et eo nomine Anthonie filie quondam Anthonii Martin alias de 

Agleran uxoris sue dicti Francisci sells to Jacobus Perret de Melduno. 

 

12 13 feb 1520, Petrus Fouchieres clericus et burgensis Melduno, Perroneta eius uxor filia 

quondam Jaqueti Nycolaz alias Mejoz de Bussy, Petrus et Glaudius Fouchieres fratres filii 

dictorum conjugum, reconaissance for Nobilis Guilliermus Ensis domicellus Melduni son and 

heir of the late Petrus Ensis notarius et burgensis Melduni. 

 

12v 13 feb 1520, Petrus Fouchieres et Humbertus eius filius de Bussy sell to Anthonius du 

Ron mercator et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 



12v 23 feb 1520, Johannes Corboz filius Anthonii Corboz de Turri Trema parrochie Gruerie 

sells to Nobilis Johannis de Sancto Germano domicellus Melduni a house in Moudon that was 

previously held by the late Anthonius Creaturaz. 

 

13 03 mar 1520, quod cum Nobilis Petrus Cerjat dominus Combremondi Parvi ex una, et 

Anthonius et Glaudius dou Fort fratres, Glaudius Crisinel junior, Glaudius Crisinel senior, et 

Anthonius Crisinel omnes de Dinisiez partibus ex altera, agreed to a settlement by arbitration, the 

settlement recorded by Petrus Decrevel clericus Combremondi Magni, now the arbiters make 

their pronouncement. 

 

14 04 mar 1520, quod cum Jacobus Mistralis de Villario Comicte tanquam principalis, et 

Vuilliermus Mistralis de Cappella Voudana eius fratre fidejussor sold to Venerabilis Dominus 

Johannes Vuicherens (written Vuychens) curatus de Actallens, recorded by the undersigned, now 

the said Dominus Jacobus Vuycherens has received from Franciscus Gantyn lathomus de Villario 

Comicte tanquam bonatenens et possessor dicti quondam Jacobi Mistralis for repayment of the 

amount owed. 

 

14v 07 jan ? 1521, Humberta filia quondam Petri Pyn uxor Boniffacii Brideri burgensis 

Melduni with approval of her husband sells to Anthonius Visyn sutor et burgensis Melduni, with 

further proceedings. 

 

15 09 dec and die Jovis post festum Conceptionis Beate Marie Virginis 1521, dispute, 

Venerabilis Dominus Petrus Monardi cappellanus Melduni and Nobilis Colleta relicta quondam 

Anthonii de Curia burgensis Melduno, regarding a judgement against her and her fidejussor 

Ludovicus Buctet which would have resulted in the confiscation of “totum tenementum dicti 

Ludovici Buctet fidejussoris de Rosczinges acque animalia sue carruce”, settlement, such that the 

property of Buctet is not at issue, payments by Colleta required, with further proceedings 

extending at least to the bottom of fol. 18. 

 

(At the top of fol. 18 there are two additional numbers:  an old but faded xviii (no similar 

numbers found on the surrounding folios), and perhaps also a very faint remnant from the same 

foliation on fol. 16, and a second number, {xxx…}, incomplete due to damage to the corner of 

the page and lined out in crayon.  From fol. 18 forward, the old numbers matching the modern 

foliation are generally legible or easily inferred.) 

 

18v 01 jan 1521, Guillieta filia quondam Vuilliermi Megrotet et Alexie eius uxor, quitclaim to 

Pantheleo Vaunnyeres alias de Tolles suo et Michael Vuannyeres frater suus. 

 

18v  Jaquetus de Giez burgensis Melduni tam suorum quam Stephani et Nycolay filiorum 

suorum nominibus, and Glaudius de Giez filius dicti Jaqueti ac Glaudie prime uxoris sue dicti 

Jaqueti, partage.  The wife of Glaudius is Katherina filia quondam Anthonii Jayet. 

 

20 {xxxviii} 03 feb 1521, Marriage:  Vuilliermus Mistralis de Cappella Voudana nomine 

Guilliermi filii sui, and Benedictus Jordy alias Espaz de Tierrens nomine Ysabelle sororis sue 

filie quondam Johannis Jordi alias Espaz, with further proceedings. 

 



20v 03 feb 1521. Marriage:  Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens, and Johannes Roscz de Eschiens 

nomine et pro parte Francesie relicte quondam Petri Roscz de Eschiens fratris dicti Johannis.  

 

21v {xxxix} 10 feb 1521, Rodulphus Charpilliod de Vuycherens has received from Glaudius 

Cavin dicti loci. 

 

21v 10 feb 1521, Marriage contract (the marriage has already been celebrated):  Benedictus 

Espaz alias Jordy habitator de Thierrens, and Johannes Hugonet nunc habitator de laz Cerjoulaz 

nomine Francesie filie sue uxorisque dicti Benedicti, with further proceedings. 

 

22 {xxxx} 22 feb 1521 (anno quo supra), Marriage:  Johannes Jaquynod de Rospraz nomien 

Jacobi filii quis, and Petrus filius quondam Andree Paschit de Ferlin nomine Johannete sororis 

sue, with further proceedings. 

 

23 {xxxxi} 05 mar 1521, Johannes Martin de Agleran et Vuilliermus eius filius sell to 

Discretus Johannes Luysii clericus et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

23v  21 may 1522 (clear), Girardus Lugard alias Bersens de Tierrens sells to Johannes 

Mistralis de Tierrens. 

 

24 {xxxx…} 02 and 22 apr 1522, Guilliermus Espaz burgensis Melduni condominus de 

Villarriard et de Chastonay, and Discretus Rodulphus Bondeti (or Boudet) notarius et burgensis 

Melduni veluti sindicus et gubernator eoque nomine ville et communtatis Melduni acque nomine 

hospitalis pauperum Beate Marie Virginis de Melduno, long-running dispute over a testamentary 

bequest of property from the late Jaqueta uxor quondam Magisti Johannis Crespy clerici et 

burgensis Melduni, sister of the said Guilliermus, recounting at length the provisions of her (or 

their) religious donations etc., arbitration and settlement.  The religious bequests are ruled the 

property of the hospital, while other properties not so encumbered are to remain with 

Guilliermus Espaz.  The text is unusually long and detailed (ending on fol. 29), worthy of further 

study.  

 

29v 18 sep 1522, quod cum Anthonius Burdyn de Vuilliens et Johannes eius filius sold to 

Johannes Drugnyens barbitonsor Melduni, the sale recorded by the undersigned, now Humbertus 

Pyn et Johanneta eius uxor causam habentes ex legitima successione in bonis dicti quondam 

Johannis Drugnyens sell to Venerabilis Dominus Johannis Generis rector et eo nomine dicte 

cappelle Sancti Bernardi Montisjovis, with further proceedings. 

 

30 {xxxxviii} 15 apr 1522, Testament:  Gillieta filia quondam Vuilliermi Megrotet de Melduno, 

universal heir her husband ? Pantheleo Vuannyeres, also bequest to her niece _____ (blank 

space), daughter of Johannes Grivet.  

 

30 {xxxxviii} 01 may 1522, Petrus filius quondam Andree Paschit de Fellyn and Glaudius filius 

quondam Anthonii Favex de Servion (Sarvion), exchange. 

 

30v 15 may 1522, Marriage:  Glaudius Escuer de laz Vaulx de Liez, and Johannes Reschoz de 

Ursy parrochie de Mollens nomine Guilliermete filie sue, with further proceedings. 



31v 17 may 1522, Glaudius Caschat de Mont sells to Nobilis Petrus Cerjat dominus 

Combremondi Parvi et de Syens, with further proceedings. 

 

32 (xxxii) {l} 17 may 1522 (datum ut supra), Glaudius Caschat de Mont, reconnaissance for 

Nobilis Petrus Cerjat. 

 

32v 17 may 1522, Nobilis Petrus Cerjat dominus Combremondi Parvi et de Syens, quitclaim 

to Glaudius Caschat de Mont for a cense sold by the late Nycodus Caschat de Mont to quondam 

Nobilis Guilliermus de Prez filius quondam Nobilis Aymonis de Prez de Rota, recorded by 

Girardus Jaquemeti notarius de Melduno castellanie Rote 21 jul 1455, and then the cense was 

ceded by the said Guilliermus de Prez to Humbertus Cerjat, recorded by quondam Johannes 

Monachi clericus Melduni 20 feb 1464. 

 

33 (xxxiii) {li} 20 may 1522, Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi curatus Cappelle 

Voudane et eo nomine, accensation for Thomas dou Bruyt de Soctens. 

 

33v 02 jul 1522, Humbertus Clot de Bressonaz sells to Glaudius Cavin de Carrojoz filius 

quondam Jaqueti Cavin de Vuycherens. 

 

34 {lii} 14 jul 1522, Anthonius Lugard alias Bersens de Tierrens tanquam tutor et tutorio 

nomine liberorum suorum et quondam Perronete uxoris sue, et Marguerita relicta quondam 

Anthonii Margueron de Tierrens, sells to Benedictus Contoz de Tierrens, 2/3 of 1½ poses at 

Tierrens, held jointly with the purchaser for the other ½ pose. 

 

34v 17 jul 1522, Marriage:  Humbertus Monachon nomine Francisci filii sui, and Venerabilis 

Dominus Anthonius Jayet filius quondam Anthonii Jayet et Johannes Jayet de Hermenges 

parrochie de Syens nomine Glaudie filie dicti quondam Anthonii Jayet sororis ipsius Domini 

Anthonii neptisque eiusdem Johannis Jayet, with further proceedings. 

 

35v 17 jul 1522, Nobilis Nycodus de Prez domicellus et burgensis Rote sells to Johannes 

Phillipon burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

36v 21 jul 1522, Humberta filia quondam Petri Pyn uxor Boniffacii Brideri burgensis Melduni 

sells to Anthonius Visin sutor et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

37 {lv}  27 jul 1522, Marriage:  Ludovicus filius Petri Jaquie burgensis Staviaci, and 

Marguerita relicta quondam Magistri Johannis de Chardenoto burgensis et rectoris scolarum 

Melduni nomine Anthonie filie dictorum Magistri Johannis et Marguerite. 

 

38 {lvi} 20 aug 1522, Nobilis Guilliermus Ensis condominus de Villarriard et de 

Chastonay has received from Nobilis Glaudia Murisset his wife pro una parte dotis eiusdem 

Glaudie. 

 

38v 06 sep 1522, Johannes Phillipon burgensis Meldun filius quondam Petri Phillipon et 

Glaudie eius uxor, quitclaim to Glaudius Jaquimet (Jaquymet). 

 



38v 14 sep 1522, Nobilis Guilliermus Ensis burgensis Melduno condominus de Chastonay et 

de Villarriard sells to Nobilis Anthonius Malliard burgensis et vexilliferus Rotondimontis, dîmes 

of Culayes and Montet, with further proceedings. 

 

39 {lvii} 25 sep 1522, Jacobus, Glaudius, et Michael de Praz fratres filii Johannis de Praz 

et quondam Agnetis filie quondam Jaqueti Moctaz de Syens, and Guilliermus et Petrus Moctaz 

(where the plural is appropriate, this name is here written Moctes) de Siens, dispute and 

settlement in the form of a quitclaim.  With inserted notations below this item at the bottom of 

fol. 40, 14 dec 1523, Glaudia filia dicti Johannis de Praz uxor Petri Mistralis de Soctens with 

approval of her husband approves the above quitclaim, and 21 dec 1523, Jacobus de Praz has 

received full payment for the above. 

 

40v 29 sep 1522, Petrus Collon de Dinisiez sells to Jacobus dou Fort de Dinisie filius 

Anthonii dou Fort, with further proceedings. 

 

41 (xli) {lix} 08 oct 1522, Ysabella filia Anthonii Lombard parrochie de Mollens sciens etc., 

pro se etc., de laude, consensu, et auctoritate dicti Anthonii Lombard sui patris presentis et ad 

infrascripta peragenda auctorizantis quoad verum esse, confitetur idem Anthonius quictat et 

solvit per presentis Providum Glaudium de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum presentem et 

Mauricium eius filium, dicti Glaudii presentis et dicto Mauricio absente, jurato subsignato ac 

dicto Glaudio eius patre presente stipulante vice nomine et ad opus eiusdem Mauricii, videlicet 

de et super defloracione sui corporis dicte Yesabelle sibi per dictum Mauricium facta taliter quod 

de ipso Mauricii (should be Mauricio, ablative case) est gravida, acque de omnibus dependenciis, 

emergenciisque et connexis ex eisdem, et hoc pro et mediante duodecim libris bone monete etc. 

et uno scuto auri ad solem habitis etc., cum pacto etc., renuncians etc., jurans ? etc., auctorizans 

etc. 

 

41 (xli) {lix} 29 oct 1522, Dompnus Glaudius Magistri (written out in full) cappellanus 

Melduni suo et Petri Magistri eiusdem Domini Glaudii fratris nominibus sell to Vuilliermus 

Ballif sutor Melduni, half of a house in villa Melduni in Planis Burgellis Melduni, specifying the 

parts of the house that are involved, with approval by Frater Phillipus Petrodi 13 nov 1523, and 

further proceedings. 

 

42 (xlii) {lx} 29 oct 1522, Vuilliermus Ballif sutor Melduni sells to Petrus Magistri, cense on a 

loan, with further proceedings. 

 

42v 29 oct 1522 (datum ut supra), degravancia, Vuilliermus Ballif sutor Melduni promises 

“degravare et indempnes reddere et servare” to the said Dompnus Glaudus and Petrus Magistri 

fratres de censibus et debitis subscriptis erga personas subscriptas:  the censiers named are the 

venerabilis cleri Melduni, from a reconnaissance by the late Stephanus Clert and the late Glaudia 

his wife, mother of the said Dominuis Glaudius and Petrus [Magistri], Guilliermus de Cresta, 

Rodulphus Bondet (or Boudet), Dominus Georgius de Sarandens tanquam procurator cleri 

Melduni, Dominus Philibertus Bernardi, Franciscus Calley, Jaquema relicta quondam Anthonii 

dou Ron, dominus curatus de Melduno (not named), rector Sancti Johannis (possibly the rector 

of the hospital of St. John of Jerusalem of Moudon). 

 



43 (xliii) {lxi} 29 oct 1522 (datum ut supra), degravancia, Vuilliermus ballif sutor Melduni 

promises “degravare et indempnem servare acque debrigare” to Glaudius de Martherenges 

burgensis Melduno, for a debt for which Ludovicus de Martherenges, father of Glaudius, was the 

fidejussor. 

 

43 (xliii) {lxi} 04 nov 1522, Franciscus Boveys de Pringin nunc residens in Novavilla versus loz 

Landeron traxerit in causam in opido Paterniaci loco communis marchie Jaquemam uxorem 

Henrici Bovet relictam quondam Johannis Boveys avunculi dicti Francisci Boveys, apparently a 

dispute over debts, arbitration and settlement. 

 

43v 03 jan 1522, Venerabilis Dominus Jacobus Monachi decanatus ? Orbe ? curatus Cappelle 

Voudane sells to Venerabilis Dominus Humbertus Nycati capellanus Melduni rector et eo nomine 

cappelle Sancti Georgii fondate in ecclesia Beate Marie Virginis superius de Melduni, cense 

secured by various properties, with further proceedings. 

 

44v 04 jan 1522, Venerabilis Dominus Anthonius Branchon cappellanus Melduni rector et eo 

nomine cappelle Sancti Martini in ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Stephani de Melduno fondate 

ecciam nomine suo proprio, sale and accensation to Johannes de Lormoz multor et habitator 

Melduni, videlicet unam domum dicto cappelle legatam per quondam Venerabilem Dominum 

Claudius Sapientis decanum Novicastri curatum de Promassens sitam in villa Melduni in Malo 

Borgeto Melduni. 

 

45v 18 jan 1522, Marriage:  Glaudius de Tecto antenatus de Cabanis supra Meldunum 

parrochie de Mollens nomine et pro parte Mauricii eius filii, and Johannes Trolliet de Seignioud 

parrochie de Dompnopetro nomine Anthonie eius filie, with further proceedings. 

 

47 (xlvii) {lxv} 29 jan 1522, Marriage:  Johannes Martin de Agleran nomine Anthonii filii 

sui, et Glaudius de Tecto antenatus de Cabanis supra Meldunum nomine Francesie filie sue, with 

further proceedings. 

 

48v 04 feb 1522, Boniffacius Brideri burgensis Melduni and his wife Humberta filia quondam 

Petri Pin burgensis Melduni sell to Nobilis Glauda de Moleria relicta quondam Nobilis Johannis 

de Villarsel dominus de Deley. 

 

49 (xlix) {lxvii} 09 feb 1522, Marriage:  Glaudius filius quondam Jacobi Challet junioris 

de Hermenges, and Johanneta filia Anthonii Pictet de Seignyoux relicta quondam Glaudii filii 

quondam Anthonii Crousaz dicti loci de Hermenges. 

 

50 (l) {lxviii} 15 feb 1522, Anthonius Boree (=Bise, Bize, Byze, etc. in French) filius quondam 

Discreti Jaqueti Boree de Tretorens burgensis Melduni and Petrus filius predicti Jaqueti frater 

paternus dicti Anthonii, partage, with further proceedings. 

 

51v 09 feb 1522, Bertrandus Jayet burgensis Melduno and Ludovicus filius Johannis de Praz, 

agreement, rights to a “furnus” (communal bread oven) belonging to Bertrandus, situm in villa 

Melduni in Vestri Bergo Melduni a parte Merone, with provisions in case the property is 

discovered to be subject to another seigneur or entity. 



52v 25 feb 1522 Style of the Annunciation, Venerabilis Dominus Georgius Sarandens 

cappellanus Melduni rector et eo nomine cappelle Beate Marie Virginis fondate in ecclesia 

parrochiali Beati Prothomartiris Stephani de Melduno, de laude, consensu, et voluntate Petri 

Guex rectoris et eo nomine hospitalis pauperum Beate Marie Virginis de Melduno necnon 

Nobilium Jacobi Cerjat domini de Dinisiez, Guilliermi Ensis condomini de Villarriard, Francisci 

de Bulo, Boniffacii Brideri, Johannis Luysii, Rodulphi de Monte, Rodulphi Bondeti, acque 

Johannis Phillipon sindici et gubernatores eoque nomine dicte ville et commnitatis, consiliumque 

proper hoc tenentium, considerantes et actiendes quod parta ? dicte cappelle sublimitata moveri 

dignoscuntur de feuda rurali illustrissimi domini domini nostri Sabaudie etc., ducis, quod que 

dictus rector dicte cappelle fuit compulsus judicialiter per Discretum virum Petrum Marchiandi 

commissarium feudorum ruralum prelibati illustrissimi domini domini nostri Sabaudie ducis ad 

vendendum seu remictendum ad manum capacis tenendum, cum cappella predicta sit manus 

mortua, et minime ipse commissarius assosfertere volint dicto rectori unde factis prius tribus 

cridis tribus diebus dominicis in tribus parrochiis more solito, scilicet in parrochia Sancti 

Stephani de Melduno, parrochia Cappelle Voudane, et in parrochia Sancti Ciriaci, necnon factis 

ecciam tribus cridis per Glaudium Vauleri nuncium generale ballivie Vuaudi et ville predicte 

Melduni tribus diebus dominicis more solito … , eventually sold to Bernardus Mingard de 

Cappella Voudana represented by Venerabilis Dominus Franciscus Mingard… , and then 

involving also Glaudius Jordani alias Vuannyeres de Bussy and Humbertus Monachon de 

Martherenges… 

 

54 (liiii) {lxxii} 25 feb 1522 (die et anno quibus proxime supra), Glaudius Jordani alias 

Vuannyeres de Bussy et Humbertus Monachon de Martherenges sell to Venerablis Dominus 

Georgious Sarandens cappellanus Melduni rector et eo nomine cappelle Beati Marie Virginis 

fondate per hospitale Melduni in ecclesia parrochialis Sancti Stephani de Melduno, with further 

proceedings, related to the previous item and with additional notations in the margin dated 30 

nov 1523. 

 

54v 09 mar 1522, Petrus Crisaugier ? de Jonnyer parrochie de Corsiez sells to Glaudius Cavin 

de Vuycherens, vines, in vinoblio de Jonnyer loco dicto eys Robertes, with further proceedings. 

 

55 (lv) {lxxiii} 15 mar 1522 Style of the Annunciation, Venerabilis Dompnus Thomas 

Mistralis vicarius Cappelle Voudane sells to Dominus Georgius Sarandens cappellanus Melduni 

rector et eo nomine cappelle Beate Marie virginis fondate in ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Stephani 

de Melduno, with further proceedings. 

 

(Fol. 56 shows also (lvi) and {lxxiii}, the latter a duplication of the previous folio number in the 

earliest foliation.) 

 

56v 06 apr 1523, Glaudius filius Glaudii de Giez burgensis Melduni sells to Glaudius 

Creaturaz sutor et burgensis Melduni. 

 

57 (lvii) {lxxiiii} 10 apr 1523, Venerabilis dominus Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni sells to 

Ludovicus Cavin de Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 



58 (lviii) {lxxv} 28 apr 1523, Glaudius filius quondam Johannis Baillif de Villanova has 

received from Johannes Ballif cognatus suus filius quondam Johannis Ballif dicti loci, full 

payment for the dowry of Katherina uxor Petrus Reys alias Moret de Menyeres matris dicti 

Glaudii Baillif. 

 

58 (lviii) {lxxv} 09 may 1523, Glaudius filius Petri Tappy de Pogney has received from 

Henricus et Petrus Juhanton de Pigney pro dote nomineque dotis Sermete sororis dictorum 

Henrici et Petri Juanton uxoris Glaudii predicti Tappi. 

 

58v 18 may 1523, Ludovicus Gantyn de Olens sells to Johannes Bellyn habitator de Villario 

Commite, with further proceedings. 

 

59 (lix) {lxxvi} 26 may 1523, Glaudius Penseyrit et Johannes Penseyrit fratres filii 

quondam Petri Penseryt de Corsalles prope Joretum sell to Petrus Jacod dicti loci de Corsalles, 

with further proceedings. 

 

59v 06 jun 1523, Jacobus de Praz de Challabruz and Franciscus de Praz eiusdem Jacobi frater, 

partage. 

 

60v 15 jun 1523, Ludovicus Gantyn de Olens sells to Johannes Bellyn habitator de Villario 

Commite, followed by added notation of approval by Ayma, wife of [Ludovicus ?] , dated 28 (die 

ultima) feb 1524 Style of the Annunciation (assuming that the leap day follows instead the 

calendar based on the year beginning on January 1). 

 

61 (lxi) {lxxviii} 16 jun 1523, Ludovicus Creaturaz burgensis Melduni suo ac Domini 

Humberti, Nycodi, et Jacobi Creaturaz filiorum suorum, Francesie et Magdellene filiarum 

suarum nominibus ex una parte, and Petrus Creaturaz filius predicti Ludovici sutor, ex altera 

partibus, partage. 

 

62 (lxii) {lxxviiii} 02 aug 1523 (anno quo supra), Ludovicus Gantyn de Olens sells to 

Johannes Bellyn habitator de Villario Commite, a letter of reachept. 

 

62v 08 aug 1523, Marriage:  Ludovicus Creaturaz burgensis Melduni nomine Jacobi 

Creaturaz filii sui, and Franciscus Tappi de Combremondo Parvi nomine Johannete filie sue. 

 

63 (lxiii) {lxxx} 08 aug 1523 (datum ut supra), Claudius Jenet filius Claudii Jenet de 

Sarvion sells to Claudius Marilliez de Actallens filius Aymonis Marilliez. 

 

63v 09 sep 1523, Johannes Destrier filius quondam Francisci Destrier burgensis Melduno 

sells to Janna relicta predicti Francisci Destrier tutrix et eo nomine Phillipi, Petri, Bernarde, 

Jaqueme, Claudie, et Perronete liberorum dictorum quondam Francisci et Janne conjugum, 

videlicet unam domum sitam in villa Melduni loco dicto in carreria Sancti Stephani. 

 

64 (lxiiii) {lxxxi} 09 sep 1523 (datum ut supra), Blasius de Lex nuncius castellanie Melduni 

proclamavit unum venale in domo prelimitata ad instancium dicte Jannen emptrici quo supra 

nomine, with further proceedings. 



64 (lxiiii) {lxxxi} 27 aug 1523, Marriage:  Vuilliermus de Mediavilla filius Jacobi de 

Mediavilla de Dompnopetro supra Lucens, and Thomas du Bruyt de Soctens nomine Marguerete 

filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

65 (lxv) {lxxxii} 31 oct 1523, Johannes Porterat de Syens sells to Venerabilis Dominus 

Georgius Sarandens cappellanus Melduni rector et eo nomine cappelle Beate Marie Virginis 

fondate in ecclesia parrochiali Beati Stephani de Melduno per hospitale pauperum Beate Marie 

Virginis de Melduni nomine et ad opus eiusdem cappelle, rectoris, et successorum suorum, with 

further proceedings. 

 

67 (lxvii) {lxxxiiii} 31 oct 1523 (datum ut supra), Servancia indempnitatis Nobilis Johannete 

Chartrey et Francisci eius filii, quod Johannes Porterat (given name omitted at the beginning, but 

found later in the text) … but the text seems defective, omitting a few essential words; it appears 

that Johanneta and Franciscus are his fidejussores for two properties at Syens, and “illo casu 

predicto adveniente, dictus Johannes Porterat … vendidit et vendit per presentes predictis 

Nobilibus Johannete et Francisco … prelimitatas tres posas cum dimidia…”  

 

67v 31 oct 1523 (dicti mensis), Claudius de Giez fornerius et burgensis Melduni sells to 

Venerabilis Dominus Georgius Sarandens cappellanus Melduni rector et eo nomine cappelle 

Beate Marie Virginis fondate per hospitale Melduni in ecclesia parrochiali Beati Stpehani de 

Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

(Fol. 69 (lxix) {lxxxvi} is blank.) 

 

69v 25 jan 1523 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Johannes filius quondam Ludovici 

Paschit de Rospraz, and Glaudius Cavin de Vuycherens nomine Girarde filie sue, with further 

proceedings. 

 

70v 01 feb 1523 (anno quo supra), Nycodus Charpillioz de Vuycherens de laude, consensu, et 

voluntate Venerabilis Dominus Johannis Charpillioz, Rodulphi, Ludovici Charpillioz (their 

relationship to Nycodus is not stated, they are likely his brothers or perhaps his sons) ac 

Johannete uxoris sue dicti Nycodi sell to Claudius Cavin dicti loci de Vuycherens, with further 

proceedings, including a later transaction in which the said Nycodus sells to the said Claudius the 

letter of reachept, 10 apr 1525. 

 

71v 08 feb 1523, Johannes Jacard de Dinisiez sells to Colletus Girard dicti loci de Dinisiez, 

with further proceedings. 

 

72 (lxxii) {lxxxviiii} 18 feb 1523 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Anthonius Lugard alias 

Berscins de Tyerrens nomine et pro parte Jacobi Lugard filii sui, and Colletus Girard de Dinisiez 

nomine et pro parte Marguerite (Margarete) filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

73v 30 oct 1524 (clear), Venerabilis Dominus Johnanes de Chardonoto cappellanus Melduni 

and Ludovicus Jaque burgensis Staviaci de Melduno (sic, without explanation), dispute, 

involving a debt incurred by the said Ludovicus, recorded by A. Brotelz ? juratus ballivie 



Novicastri, with subsequent history involving Marguerita relicta quondam Magister Johannis de 

Chardoneto ? mater dicti Domini Johannis, and others, settlement. 

 

74 (lxxiiii) {lxxxxi} 11 oct 1524, Anthonia filia quondam Hudriodi Girod de Vuilliens uxor 

Petri Clot de Melduno approves sale to Claudius Cavin of Vuycherens, for all the sales to the 

said Claudius made by the said Hudriodus. 

 

(After fol. 74, only the earliest set of the old folio numbers is found, not lined out, but the 

sequence of modern folio numbers in pencil continues.) 

 

74v 12 nov 1524, Claudius et Johannes Penseryt alias Cavin fratres filii Petri Penseryt de 

Corsalles have received from Petrus Jacod dicti loci de Corsalles. 

 

75 {lxxxxii} 23 and 29 dec 1524, Petrus de Bruello de Soctens principalis, Anthonius Grivat de 

Demoret et Guilliermus Cagney de Soctens fidejussores, sell to Venerabilis Dominus Georgius 

de Sarandens cappellanus Melduni rector et eo nomine altaris cappelle seu cappellanie Beate 

Marie Virginis fondate per hospitale Beati Prothomartiris Stephani de Melduno, with further 

proceedings, and with long additional item in the margin, poorly legible, apparently another, 

similar sale for the same parties, 31 dec 1529, with further proceedings. 

 

75v 28 feb 1524, Franciscus Everdoz ? de Suprapetram sells to Johannes Corboz dicti loci de 

Suprapetram, with further proceedings, including one dated 06 nov 1525. 

 

76 {lxxxxiii} 13 and 23 jan 1524, Claudius Cactyn, Petrus Cactyn, Claudius Hugonier, et 

Anthonia eiusdem Claudii Hugonier uxor, omnes de Carrojoz, sell to Ludovicus Cavin de 

Vuycherens, with further proceedings. 

 

76v 08 mar 1524, Amedeus Cordey de Cappella Voudana sells to Claudius Paschit dicti loci 

de Cappella Voudana, with further proceedings. 

 

77 {lxxxxiiii} 08 mar 1524, Petrus dou Fort et Claudia eius uxor filia Amedei Cordey de 

Cappella Voudana dicta tamen Claudia de laude et auctoritate dicti Petri eius viri sell to Claudius 

Paschit dicti loci de Cappella Voudana, with further proceedings. 

 

77v 08 mar 1524, Amedeus Cordey de Cappella Voudana et Claudia eiusdem Amedei filia 

uxor Petri dou Fort sells to Claudius Paschit dicti loci, a letter of reachept. 

 

77v 29 mar 1525, Claudius Cactyn, Petrus Cactyn, et Claudius Hugonier de Carrojoz, de 

tamen laude, consensu, assensu, voluntate, et mandato expresso Marie uxoris Claudii Cactyn, 

Johannete uxoris Petri Cactyn, et Anthonie uxoris Claudii Hugonier, sell to Ludovicus Cavin de 

Vuycherens, a letter of reachept. 

 

78 {lxxxxv} 06 may 1525, Anthonius Visyn sutor et burgensis Melduni, accensation to 

Johannes Guex sutor et habitator Melduni. 

 



78v 13 nov 1525, Venerabilis Dominus Petri Jugi cappellanus Melduni sells to Johannes 

Luysii clericus et burgensis Melduni. 

 

78v 12 dec 1525, quod cum Amedeus Cordey de Cappella Voudana sold to Claudius Paschit 

dicti loci, and then the said Claudius Paschit granted to the said Amedeus the right of reachept, 

now the said Amedeus sells the said letter of reachept back to the said Claudius. 

 

79 {lxxxxvi} 16 dec 1525 (anno quo supra), Johannes Boudaz ? de Mejevectaz diocesis 

Gebennarum nunc de Melduno has received from Colleta his wife filia quondam Petri Favrez 

dicti loci de Mejevectaz de bonis sue dicte Collete, videlicet 24 livres, assignation. 

 

79v 09 jan 1525 Style of the Annunciation, Paula filia quondam Petri Bicholley de Chesalles, 

quitclaim to Petrus Bicholley her brother for her marriage settlement.  (The name of her husband 

is not mentioned.) 

 

79v 03 feb 1525 Style of the Annunciation, Petrus de Belloforti dominus ipsius loci et Boschi 

gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, quod per Johannem de Martherenges et Claudium Creaturaz 

burgenses Melduni sindicos, procuratores, et eo nomine tocius ville et communitatis Melduni 

with approval of a long list of notables, have granted the status of burgenses to Magister 

Claudius Fabri rector scolarum Melduni and his legitimate sons. 

 

80v 03 feb 1525 Style of the annunciation, Claudius Violet junior de Melduno has received 

from his wife Ysabella her dowry, 26 florins, assignation. 

 

80v 05 feb 1525 Style of the Annunciation, Petrus Hugonier de Carrojoz with approval of his 

wife Perroneta sells to Johannes Luysii clericus et burgensis Melduni. 

 

81 {lxxxxviii} 06 feb 1525 Style of the Annunciation, Discretus Johannes Luysii clericus et 

burgensis Melduni and Petrus de Mont sutor et burgensis Melduni, exchange. 

 

81v 15 feb 1525 Style of the Annunciation (dicti mensis), Franciscus et Jacobus Perrusset 

fratres filii quondam Bissuncii Perrusset de Melduno sell to Petrus Violaz faber et burgensis 

Melduni, videlicet unam domum sitam in villa Melduni loco dicto in Vico Testoris (=Textoris) 

Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

82 {lxxxxviiii} 05 may 1526, Spectabilis et Potens Petrus de Belloforti dominus ipsius 

loci et Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi obiit, cuius anmina in pace requiescat, et vacabit 

officium ballivatis Vuaudi usque ad diem quindecimam mensis Junii anno quo supra, quaquidem 

die Spectabilis et Potens Anthonius de Belloforti dominus Heriaci assumed that office etc., 

apparently on an interim basis, until he took the required oath 06 aug 1526. 

 

82 {lxxxxviiii} 23 jul 1526, Anthonius Visin filius quondam Guilliermi Visin sutoris et 

burgensis Melduni and Franciscus et Johannes filii quondam Richardi Escoffey sutoris et 

burgensis Melduni, omnes filii quondam Perronete filie quondam Petri Frossard burgensis 

Melduni prime uxoris dicti Guilliermi Visin et ultime uxoris dicti quondam Richardi Escoffey 

dicti tamen Franciscus et Johannes Escoffey nominibus suis et Glaudii Escoffey eorum fratris ac 



Bartholomee et Francesie filiarum dictorum Richardi et Perronete conjugum sororum suarum, 

dispute concerning the estate of the said Perroneta, arbitrated partage. 

 

83 {Cviiii Cx} 06 aug 1526, again, but recounted in full, Anthonius de Belloforte takes the oath 

as gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, with approval of a list of notables.  (Note the error and 

correction in the old folio number, but in fact there has been an additional error, as fol. 

{lxxxxviiii} (={99}) should have been followed by fol. {C}, not {Cx}!  Thus, while the old 

numbers were at this point 17 greater than the modern numbers, from this point forward the old 

numbers are now 27 greater.) 

 

83 {Cviiii Cx} 02 sep 1526 (anno quo supra), Spectabilis et Potens Aymo de Gebennis miles 

dominus de Lulliens et de Vuilliens assumes the office of gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, taking 

the oath in the ecclesia Beate Marie Virginis superius de Melduno. 

 

83v 30 aug 1526, Marriage:  Nycodus Frascat burgensis Melduni nomine et pro parte 

Stephani eius filii, and Humbertus Monachon de Martherenges nomine et pro parte Ludovice 

filie sue, with further proceedings. 

 

84 {Cxi} 07 sep 1526, Jaquetus Choupoz de Leydereyt filius Johannis Choupoz antenati de 

Leydereyt parrochie et vallis de Charmey, testament, burial in the parish church of Charmey, 

bequests to Johanneta filia quondam Anthonii Pillivuyt soror mea materna, et Claudia eciam filia 

dicti Anthonii Pillivuyt soror mea materna, universal heir his nephew Jacobus filius quondam 

Johannis Choupoz, with signature and paraphe of Michael Frossard “cum Egregio Georgio de 

Verceil”. 

 

84v 09 oct 1526, Johannes Phillipon burgensis Melduni sells to Egregius Magister Claudius 

Fabri burgensis Melduni rectorque solcarum Melduni, various properties pro indiviso cum Nobili 

Viro Claudio de Cultillia domicello Viviaco dominus de Villario Rimbo causa habente in bonis 

quondam Nobilis Ludovici Assyneri. 

 

86 {Cxiii} 23 oct 1526, Dompnus Anthonius Branchon cappellanus Melduni sells to Petrus 

Riguet sutor et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

86v 16 dec 1526, Johannes Saly burgensis Melduni et Janna relicta quondam Johannis Gaule 

burgensis Melduni tutores et eo nomine Francisci, Anthonii, et Glaudii filiorum et heredum dicti 

quondam Johannis Gaule et Janne conjugum, consideranted utilitatem et commodum dictorum 

liberorum, sell to Anthonius Visyn sutor et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings, 

including a long item in the margin dated 14 and 27 jun 1527. 

 

87 {Cxiiii} 14 dec 1526, Dominus Franciscus Cabareti curatus parrochialis ecclesie de 

Dinisiez et eo nomine has received from Jacobus de Furno filius quondam Stephani de Furno de 

Profondavalle in dicta parrochia, various assets referencing a document recorded by Egregius 

Jacobus Boree (=Bise, Bize, etc.) 24 apr 1488, detailed history involving foundation of a weekly 

mass in the chapel at Profondavalle, with further proceedings. 

 



88 {Cxv} 27 jan 1526 Style of the Annunciation, Glaudius dou Russel alias Gremoz 

antenatus, Petrus Trolliet alias dou Russel filius quondam Petri Trolliet ex una parte et pro 

duabus partibus, et Glaudius Gremoz junior filius quondam Johannis Gremoz alias dou Russel 

pro tercia parte, partage, with further proceedings, and with an additional partage between the 

said Glaudius dou Russel and Petrus Trolliet, also with further proceedings, same date. 

 

90 {Cxvii} 18 feb 1526 Style of the Annunciation, Nycodus Vuycherens burgensis Melduni 

sells to Anthonius Visin sutor et burgensis Melduni. 

 

90v 02 mar 1526, Claudius Dey alias Mont de Chesalles sells to Ludovicus de Costel alias 

Bellaz de Cabanis supra Meldunum, property at Chesalles. 

 

90v 11 mar 1526 Style of the Annunciation, quod cum Johannes Escofferi de Cheres et 

Georgius Marguerat de Novilliez tutores et gubernatores et eo nomine liberorum quondam Jacobi 

Bruschet burgensis Melduni sold to Humbertus Clot de Bressonaz et Johannes Perret, videlicet 

unum massum terre situm in territorio Melduni loco dicto subtus laz Baulmaz, 8 poses, for 70 

florins, recorded by the undersigned 08 aug 1519, now Bernardus Bruschet filius dicti quondam 

Jacobi Bruschet nomine suo et sororum suarum approves the sale. 

 

91v 18 mar 1526 Style of the Annunciation, quod cum Petrus Girod filius quondam Hudriodi 

Girod de Vuilliens sold to Johannes Bonjour sirorgicus (surgeon) et burgensis Friburgi various 

properties at Vuilliens, recorded by Johannes Joliveti die Jovis Sancta 1523, and in another 

similar sale recorded by the same notary die Jovis ante festum Sancti Bartholomei Appostoli 

1524, now Margarita relicta quondam Egregii Magistri Johannies de Chardonoto rectoris 

scolarum et burgensis Melduni tutrix et tutorio nomine Perrissone filie dicti quondam Magistri 

Johannis Bonjour et Katherine filie dictorum Magistri Johannies de Chardonoto et dicte 

Marguerite conjugum sells to Petrus Girard de Blessens, all the above properties as well as the 

letters of sale, followed by a sale by Petrus Girard to Marguerita representing the said Perrissona 

of the cense on the above sale, same date, with further proceedings. 

 

93v 27 mar 1527, Johannes Perret de Melduno sells to Humbertus Clot de Bressonaz eis 

Nardin, his share of the property previously sold to them by Johannes Escofferi and Georgius 

Mimerat ? (uncertain script, but the name should be Marguerat, see that sale above, fol. 90v). 

 

(Fol. 94 {Cxxi} is followed by fol. 95 {Cxxiiii}, evidently a numbering error in the old foliation, 

as the text appears to continue without interruption, so that from this point forward, the old 

foliation now exceeds the modern foliation by 29.) 

 

94v 27 mar 1527 (datum ut supra), Humbertus Clot de Bressonaz et Girardus eius filius sell to 

Jacobus Perret habitator de Seppey, cense, with further proceedings. 

 

94v 11 apr 1527, Venerabilis Dominus Franciscus Cabareti canonicus Sancti Marii Lausanne 

et curatus de Dinisiez and Nobilis Bernardus de Adventhica dominus Combremondi Magni, 

dispute, property rights on a mill at Profondavalle, settlement. 

 

 



95v 20 may 1527, Vuilliermus Ballif sutor Melduni and Glaudius Bertex de Combremondo 

Parvo, exchange. 

 

96 {Cxxv} 02 oct 1527, Marriage:  Glaudius Tilliet faber et burgensis Melduni nomine 

Johannis Tilliet eius filii, and Petrus, Rodulphus, et Franciscus de Monte filii quondam Jacobi de 

Mont sutoris et burgensis Melduni nomine Anthonie filie quondam Johannis de Mont, with 

further proceedings. 

 

97 {Cxxvi} 29 oct 1527, Rodulphus Conchet alias Borron textor Melduni and his wife Agnes 

sell to Anthonius Visin sutor et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

(Fols. 98-98v are blank.  At this point, the old foliation that was lined out up to fol. 74 and after 

that point not lined out, has now reached {vixxvii}, or 127.) 

 

99 {viixxviii vixxviii} Sequitur registrum mis Michaelis Frossardi clerci et burgensis Melduni 

jurati ballivie Vuaudi ac castellaniarum eiusdem tempore Streni Militis Aymonis de Gebenis 

dominus Lulini et de Vuilliens gubernatoris et ballivi Vuaudi.  (Note the numbering error and 

correction, in the same hand, which occurs also at fol. 100.) 

 

99 {viixxviii vixxviii} 12 nov 1527, Cristinus de Crestas dicti loci de Crestaz parrochie de Cullie 

sells to Anthonius Visin sutor et burgensis Melduni, vines, vinoblio de Granvaulx. 

 

99v 20 nov 1527, Glaudius Richardet de Combremondo Parvo sells to Glaucius Bectex dicti 

loci. 

 

100 {viixxix vixxix} 06 dec 1527, Girardus Perdonet filius quondam Glaudii Perdonet de 

Vuycherens sells to Georgius Decimatoris burgensis Melduni rector et eo nomine confratrie 

Sancti Spiritus burgellorum Melduni inferius nomine tamen et ad opus dicte confratrie, with 

history of several cycles of loans and repayments of the funds involved, with further 

proceedings, and another similar sale by the same Girardus to Glaudius Paschon burgensis 

Melduni rector et eo nomine confratrie Sancti Spiritus burgellorum superius, same date, with 

similar proceedings amd guarantees. 

 

103 {vixxxii} 04 jan 1527, Petrus Girard de Dinisiez sells to Franciscus filius Colleti Girard de 

Dinisiez, with further proceedings. 

 

103v 17 jan 1527 Style of the Annunciation, Anthonius Aymonod de Brenles and Glaudius 

Aymonod eius filius, partage. 

 

104 {vixxxiii} 22 jan 1527, Ludovicus Hugonier de Carrojoz sells to Johannes Luysii clericus et 

burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

104v 06 feb 1527 Style of the Annunciation, Johannes Archangiez sells to Claudius 

Chastellignaz sutor habitator Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 



104v 25 feb 1527, Petrus Bonafey de Arans parrochie de Villictaz filius quondam Johannis 

Bonafey sells to Johannes Luysii clericus et burgensis Melduni, vines, in vinoblio vallis 

Lustriaci, with further proceedings. 

 

105v 03 mar 1527 Style of the Annunciation, Venerabilis Dominus Humbertus Nycati 

cappellanus Melduni et Stephanus Mycati eius frater filii quondam Johannis Nycati clerici et 

burgensis Melduni sells to Vuilliermus Ballif sutor Melduni. 

 

105v 03 mar 1527 (datum ut supra), prefatus Dominus Humbertus Nycati et Stephanus Nycati 

fratres sell to Glaudius Bectex filius quondam Francisci Bectex de Combremono Parvo, with 

further proceedings. 

 

106 {vixxxv} 06 mar 1527 Style of the Annunciation, Petrus Girard de Dinisiez et Glaudius 

Symon habitator dicti loci de Dinisiez sell to Franciscus Girardi filius Colleti Girardi dicti loci de 

Dinisiez. 

 

106v 27 mar 1528, Glaudia filia quondam Rodulphi Chappuys sutoris Melduni uxor Petri Clert 

de Savuens diocesis Gebennarum sutoris habitatorisque Melduni, quitclaim to Jacobus Chappuys 

filius dicti quondam Rodulphi Chappuys frater eiusdem Glaudie, based on marriage contract for 

Petrus and Glaudia recorded by Rodulphus Bondeti, with further proceedings. 

 

107v 27 mar 1528 (datum ut supra), dictus Jacobus Chappuys sells to predictus Petrus Clert, 

part of one of the properties in the preceding item, with further proceedings. 

 

108 {vixxxvii} 21 mar 1527 ? (anno quo supra, but likely 1527, not 1528) Petrus Girard et 

Anthonius Girard de Dinisiez sell to Johannes Jaquard habitator dicti loci. 

 

108 {vixxxvii} 14 apr 1528, Girardus Perdonet de Vuycherens sells to Johannes Luysii clericus et 

burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 

108v 13 oct 1528, Claudius Mandrocti notarius de Rances and Egregius Amedeus Mandrocti 

frater dicti Claudii dicti loci tam nomine suo proprio quam Guilliermi et Francisci Mandrocti 

fratrum suorum, partage, without specifying individual properties, and lacking any explanation 

of why this agreement was recorded by this notary. 

 

109 {vixxxviii} 13 oct 1528 (die et anno predictis), Nobilis Vuillent de Prato Romano (=de 

Praroman) dominus de Eschandens has received from Roletus Goumenoz ? dicti loci per manus 

Nobilis Jacobi Cerjat dominum ? de Dinisiez viceballivii Vuaudi. 

 

109 {vixxxviii} 19 oct 1528, Nobilis et Potens Petrus Cerjat dominus Combremondi Parvi 

approves all previous sales to Claudius Bectet that are subject to his dominion. 

 

109v 13 jan 1528 Style of the Annunciation, Jacobus Perret morans in grangia de Seppey sells 

to Johannes Luysii clericus et burgensis Melduni, with further proceedings. 

 



109v 13 jan 1528 Style of the Annunciation, Marriage:  Anthonius Forestier de Tierrens 

parrochie eiusdem loci, and Hugo dou Bos de Rosczinges et Petrus Buctet dicti loci nomine 

Agnetis relicte quondam Ludovici Buctet fratris dicti Petri, sororisque dicti Hugonis. 

 

110v Die festi Sancti Petri in Cathedra 1528, Marriage:  Petrus Bulloz de Villario Comite, and 

Colletus Girard ac Franciscus eiusdem Colleti filius de Dinisiez nomine Claudie filie dicti Colleti 

sororisque dicti Francisci, with further proceedings. 

 

111v 19 mar 1528 Style of the Annunciation, Petrus Buctet de Rosczinges has received from 

Pantheleo Vuannyeres alias de Tolles. 

 

111v Existente gubernatore et ballivo Vaudi Strenno milite Aymone de Gebenis domino 

Lullini, de Vuilliens, etc., 25 mar 1529. 

 

111v 24 may 1529 (anno predicto), Francesia filia quondam Jacobi Pin notarius et burgensis 

Melduni relictaque quondam Johannis Grivat burgensis Orbe, Petrus et Bernardus Grivat fratres 

filii dictorum conjugum, sell to Anthonius Visin sutor et burgensis Melduni. 

 

[112] {viixxi} (The modern numbering stops at fol. 111.  From this point forward, only the 

oldest foliation that was lined until fol. 74 remains, shown here along with the imputed modern 

foliation.) 

 

[112] {viixxi} 31 may 1529, Venerabilis dominus Petrus Jugi cappellanus Melduni sells to Petrus 

Buctet de Rosczinges, with further proceedings. 

 

[113] {viixxii} 14 jul 1529, Franciscus et Anthonius Gaule filii quondam Johannis Gaule notarii 

et burgensis Melduni, et Johannes filius quondam Johannis Sali notarii et burgensis Melduni 

nominibus suis dictorum Francisci et Anthonii ac Claudii Gaule eorundem fratris (inserted by 

reference mark:  de laude et auctoritate dicte Janne eorundem venditorum matris) (the text is 

ambiguous at best, clarified below on fol. [115], where it is revealed that Janna was the daughter 

of the notary Johannes Sali, Saly, or Saloz) sell to Petrus Clert de Sauvens ? diocesis Gebenarum, 

with further proceedings. 

 

[113v]  21 jun 1529 (written anno domini millesimo quingentesimo nono, omitting viginti !), 

Venerabilis dominus Jacobus Monachi curatus Cappele Voudane rector et eo nomine cappelle 

Sancti Elegii Melduni has received from Johannes Burdin de Vuilliens. 

 

[114] {viixxiii} 21 may 1529, quod cum Jacobus Morel de Vuilleins sold to Johannes Burdyn, 

videlicet unam posam terre sitam in territorio de Vuilliens, recorded by Glaudius Meczacti 

notarius Rote castellanie Rote 04 feb 1507 Style of the Annunciation, and with further 

proceedings recorded by the same notary 29 oct 1527, and with further proceedings having 

occurred that involved other debts owed by Johannes Burdyn, now the said Johannes Burdyn 

sells to Petrus Buctet de Rosczinges. 

 



[115] {viixxiiii} 28 jun 1529, Janna relicta quondam Johannis Gaule burgensis Melduni 

soror et heres universalis quondam Johannis Sali sells to Nobilis Johannees de Sancto Germano 

domicellus Gruerie. 

 

[115] {viixxiiii} 18 jul 1529, Marriage:  Johannes Paqualet de _____ (blank space) diocesis 

Gebenarum, and Petrus, Glaudius, et Jaquetus Blan de Brenles nomine Michaele sororis 

dictorum Petri, Glaudii, et Jaqueti filiorum quondam Johannis Blan de Brenles lathomi. 

 

[116] {viixxv} 08 aug 1529, Johannes de Villaz saltor Melduni et Janna eius uxor heres 

universalis dicta Janna testamentaria ordinacione quondam Venerabilis Domini Nycollay de 

Curia cappellani Melduni, with approval of her husband, sell to Magnifficus Dominus Miles 

Aymo de Gebenis dominus Lullini et de Vuillier etc.  

 

[116v] 19 aug 1529, Petrus Crisaugier ? de Jonnyer parrochie de Corsiez sells to Glaudius Cavin 

de Vuicherens, vines, in vinoblio de Joannier loco dicto eis Robertes. 

 

[117v] 13 oct 1529, Humbertus Pin burgensis Melduni et Johanneta eius uxor sell to Johannes 

Phillipon. 

 

[117v] 13 oct 1529, prenominatus Humbertus Pin et Johanneta eius uxor sells to Jacobus 

Mallinjoz carpentator Melduni. 

 

[118] {viixxvii} 26 oct 1529, Johannes Phillipon burgensis Melduni sells to Venerabilis 

Dominus Anthonius Jayeti cappellanus Melduni. 

 

[118v] 09 nov 1529, Marriage:  Boniffacius Brideri burgensis Melduni nomine Anthonii filii sui, 

and Bernardina filia quondam Michaelis Connet relictaque Johannis Sali burgensis Melduni. 

 

[119] {viixxviii} 23 nov 1529, Franciscus dou Bruyt de Soctens sells to Venerabilis 

Religiosus Frater Phillipus Petrodi rector et eo nomine hospitalis Sancti Johannis Jherusalem de 

Melduno et ecclesie eiusdem hospitalis nomineque et ad opus eiusdem hospitalis et ecclesie et 

rectoris et successorum eiusdem, tracing the funds involved back to a bequest from Agnes, first 

wife of Glaudius Vuannyeres de Bussy, with further proceedings. 

 

[119v] 31 dec 1529, Anthonius Visin sutor et burgensis Melduni and Petrus filius quondam Petri 

Pictet alias Milliard de Olens with approval of Boniffacius Riguet dicti loci, exchange, many 

properties, with further proceedings, including one added later at the bottom of fol. [122] dated 

13 feb 1530 Style of the Annunciation. 

 

[122v] 31 jan 1529, Marriage:  Georgius Marmod (=Mermod) de Cugiez nomine et pro parte 

Jacobi filii sui licet sit minoris etatis, and Glaudius Bondallaz de Novilliez nomine et pro parte 

Katherine filie quondam Jacobi Foresteir de Tierrens et Perronete eiusdem Jacobi relicte, with 

further proceedings. 

 

(Inserted here, a folded and very ragged piece of paper:  Jaquetus Allamant de Benex nunc 

residens in Profondavalle owes Venerabilis Dominus Franciscus Cabareti canonicus Sancti Marii 



Lausanne curatusque de Dinisiez 10 scuti auri ad solem, ex causa emptionis et remissionis 

molendini et rasie ipsius loci Profondevallis, with signature and paraphe of Petrus ? Bercheri 

(=Berchier).) 

 

[123v] 01 feb 1529 Style of the Annunciation, Nos, Aymo de Gebenis miles dominus Lullini, de 

Vuilliens, etc., gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, appointment of Magister Glaudius Fabri as notary. 

 

[124] {viixxxiii} 02 apr 1530, Bernardus Contoz de Tierrens and Anthonius dou Villard 

dicti loci sell to Jacobus Lugard alias Bersens, with further proceedings. 

 

[124v]  04 feb 1529 Style of the Annunciation, Petrus filius quondam Petri Piot de Tierrens sells 

to Petrus Boudyn et Jacobus Lugard alias Bersens dicti loci de Tierrens sindici et gubernatores 

ville et communitatis ipsius loci nomine tamen et ad opus confratrie Sancti Spiritus et rectoris 

eiusdem dicti loci de Tierrens, with further proceedings. 

 

[125v] 28 mar 1530, Girardus Piot filius quondam Petri Piot de Tierrens sells to Glaudius 

Monachi de Tierrens consindicus et eo nomine tocius communitatis dicti loci de Tierrens nomine 

tamen et ad opus confratrie Sancti Spiritus de Tierrens et rectoris eiusdem, with further 

proceedings, and with marginal item dated 24 dec 1536 with signature and small paraphe of 

Rodulphus Demonte. 

 

[126] {viixxxv} 04 mar 1529 Style of the Annunciation, Testament, Guilliermus de Cresta 

burgensis Melduni, universal heirs Petrus and Johannes (if he ? is still living) and Glaudius de 

Cresta his sons, bequest to his wife Maria. 

 

[126v] 08 mar 1529 Style of the Annunciation, Petris Piot de Tierrens sells to Franciscus Piot 

dicti loci frater suus, with further proceedings. 

 

[127] {viixxxvi} 02 may 1530, Marriage, Franciscus filius quondam Petro Tondu parrochie 

de Myousiez diocesis Gebennarum, and Glaudia relicta quondam Girardi Lugard de Tierrens 

nomine Francesie filie sue et dicti quondam Girardi Lugard. 

 

[128] {viixxxvii} 08 may 1530, Petrus Piot filius quondam Petri Piot de Tierrens sells to 

Franciscus Pot frater suus, with further proceedings. 

 

[128v] 09 may, 13 jul, and 27 jul 1530, quod cum Petrus Pictet alias Milliard de Olens de laude 

[et] voluntate Nycodi Pictet alias Milliard morans apud Demoret, Johannis Pictet alias Milliard 

avunculorum suorum sold to Venerabilis Dominus Johannis Vuycherens curatus de Actallens, 

and then granted the right of reachept, recorded by Rodulphus Joliveti notarius et burgensis 

Melduni and then copied and signed by his son Johannes Joliveti datum die Jovis post 

Dominicam Bordarum 01 mar 1514, and then Anthonius Visin sutor et burgensis Melduni and 

Petrus filius quondam Petri Pictet alias Milliard de Olens made an exchange recorded by the 

undersigned 31 dec 1529 (see above, fol. [119v]), now Boniffacius Brideri burgensis Melduni 

heres universalis testamentaria ordinacione quondam Venerabilis Dominus Johannis Vuycherens 

cappellani Melduni curati de Actallens possessorque bonorum prementionatorum has received 



from the said Anthonius Visyn 400 florins for the rehemption of the said tenement, with further 

proceedings. 

 

[132v] 01 jun 1530, Guilliermus Cagney et Glaudius Bralliard filius quondam Petri Bralliard de 

Soctens sell to Glaudius Paschon et Bertrandus Jayet burgenses Melduni rectores et eo nomini 

confratrie Sancti Spiritus burgellorum Melduni superius nomine et ad opus dicte confratrie, with 

further proceedings. 

 

[133] {viiixxii}  10 jun 1530, Petrus Falconier de Vuilliens sells to Petrus Buctet de 

Rosczinges. 

 

[133v] 15 jun 1530, Glaudius Paschit de Cappella Voudana tam nomine suo proprio quam 

Ludovici, Glaudii, Johannis, Anthonii filiorum suorum, et Glaudie filie sue dicti Glaudii Paschit 

nominibus ex una, and Jaquetus Paschit dicti loci filius dicti Glaudii Paschit partibus ex altera, 

partage. 

 

[134v] 18 jun 1530, Petrus Piot filius quondam Petri Piot de Tierrens, reconnaissance for 

Jacobus Lugard filius quondam Anthonii Lugard alias Bersens et Perronete eiusdem Jacobi 

matris tam suo dicti Jacobi quam aliorum fratrum suorum et sororum suarum nominibus, 

videlicet unam domum sive duos cursus domus sitos in villa de Tierrens loco dicto en Borjaux 

Davant. 

 

[135] {viiixxiiii} 18 jun 1530, Petrus Piot filius quondam Petri Piot de Tierrens and Jacobus 

filius quondam Anthonii Lugard alias Bersens dicti loci, exchange. 

 

[135v] 18 jun 1530, Petrus filius quondam Petri Piot de Tierrens sells to Humbertus Lugard filius 

quondam Anthonii Lugard alias Bersens, with further proceedings. 

 

[136] {viiixxv}  19 jun 1530, Marriage:  Johannes Mistralis de Tierrens nomine Guilliermi 

Mistralis filii sui, et Johannes Justival de Bussy filius quondam Stephani Justivel nomine 

Anthonie sororis sue filie dicti Stephani Justivel, with further proceedings. 

 

[137v] 11 dec 1530, Stephanus filius quondam Nycodi Fraschat burgensis Melduno sells to 

Humbertus Monachon de Martherenges, with further proceedings. 

 

[138v] 20 dec 1530, quod cum Glaudius filius quondam Francisci Pictet burgensis et sutoris 

Melduni sold with approval of his mother Perronete and his wife Katherina to Johannes Meystre 

alias de laz Portaz sutor Melduni, videlicet medietatem domus sue site in villa Melduni, that sale 

recorded by Bernardus Burschet clericus Melduni 21 may 1527, and then the said Johannes 

Meystre alias de laz Portaz sold it to Franciscus Calley alias de Fonte sutor Melduni as recorded 

by the same Bernardus Burschet 13 nov 1528, now the said Franciscus Calley alias de Fonte sells 

the said letters of sale to Katherina relicta dicti quondam Glaudii Pictet. 

 

[139] {viiixxviii} 19 jan 1530 Style of the Annunciation, Johannes Nygra Aqua alias Loys 

de Mollens sells to Discretus Magister Glaudius Fabri burgensis Melduni rector et rectorio 

nomine confratrie Sancti Spiritus burgellorum inferius de Melduno, videlicet quinque cupas boni 



medii frumenti et unam cupam boni et pulcri frumenti totum mensure Melduni annui et perpetui 

redditus census, et est facta presens huiusmodi vendicio pro bono, justo, et legitimo precio ac 

precii nomine quinquaginta florenorum auri boni parviponderis… habitorum etc., quiquidem 

quinquaginta floreni sunt,  

 

 Primo, quindecim libre de rehemptione facta per Mauricium de Tecto filium quondam 

Glaudii de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum principalem venditorem et Glaudium de Tecto 

filium quondam Petri de Tecto, scilicet dictum Petrum fidejussorem dicti quondam Glaudii 

principalis, pro duabus cupis boni et pulcri frumenti mensure Melduni census, et duabus cupis 

silliginis dicte mensure census. 

 

 Item, et septem libre bone monete sunt de rehemptione facta per heredum quondam 

Jacobi Roleti Vuilliquier et per Johannem Vuilliquier pro duabus cupis medii frumenti et uno 

quarterono mensure Melduni census tam pro una cupa bladi census debita per Roletum Daux et 

quadraginta solidi de rehemptione facta per Johannem Placyt pro una cupa bladi census, et 

viginti solidi de legato facto per Michaelem Frossard,  

 

 Alie vero peccunie sunt de herragiis dicte confratrie, quemquidem census bladi solvere 

promictit dictus Johannes Loys juramento suo etc., et obligacione bonorum suorum dicto rectori 

et suis quibus supra anno quolibet et perpetue in quolibet festo Sancti Martini Yemalis apud 

Meldunum, fidejussores Roletus et Johannes de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, with further 

proceedings. 

 

[140] {viiixxix} 14 feb 1530 Style of the Annunciation, Ludovicus Hugonier filius 

quondam Jacobi Hugonier de Carrojoz sells to Johannes Luysii clericus et burgensis Melduni, in 

effect a loan with a term of 3 years, with further proceedings. 

 

[140] {viiixxix} 22 may 1531, Glaudius Monachi de Tierrens sells to Petrus Boudyn de 

Tierrens. 

 

[140v] 22 may 1531 (datum ut supra), Glaudius Rod de Combremondo Parvo sells to Glaudius 

Bectex filius quondam Francisci Bectex, a letter of reachept. 

 

[141] {viiixxx} 30 may 1531, Marguerita relicta quondam Egregii Magister Johannis de 

Chardonoto burgensis Melduni, Ludovicus Jaque burgensis Staviaci, Katherina eiusdem 

Ludovici uxor, Johannes Lombard junior burgensis Friburgi, et Aymo Vuychard de Mexieres 

prope Joretum, quitclaim to Petrus filius quondam Humberti Buctet de Rosczinges, videlicet de 

et super omnibus censibus rectentis… arising from the properties of Johannes Burdin, Jacobus 

Morel, Glaudius Nardin, Petrus Girod, and all others purchased by the said Petrus Buctet de 

Rosczinges and his predecessors at Vuilliens, to be ratiffied by the said Johannes Lombard and 

Katherina upon the request of the said Petrus, datum quoad dictos Margueritam, Ludovicum 

Jaque, et Aymonem Vuychard die penultima mensis Maii anno domini mo vc trigesimo primo. 

 

[141v] 19 jun 1531, quod cum Ysabella filia quondam Anthonii Vouteir alias Gastabin de Bussy 

parrochie Sancti Stephani Melduni Lausanne diocesis relicta quondam Anthonii Martin 

mistrali[s] de Cyrian parrochie Augustensis ? sells to Glaudius et Anthonius de Cresta fratres filii 



quondam Jacobi de Cresta burgensis Melduni, videlicet totum suum tenementum de Bussy sibi 

dicte Ysabelle eventum per mortem Johannis Vouteyr dicte Ysabelle fratris, that sale recorded by 

Egregius Petrus Fabri burgensis Montis Joveti Augustensis diocesis ductali Sabaudie auctoritate 

notarius publicus 10 apr 1509, and the said Glaudius et Anthonius de Cresta fratres ceded the 

said tenement to Guilliermus de Cresta burgensis Melduni their brother, as recorded by Egregius 

Johannes Generis de Chynaulx parrochie Sancti Germani diocesis Augustensis 26 may 1510, 

now Petrus de Cresta filius quondam Guilliermi de Cresta burgensis Melduni suo ac Glaudii de 

Cresta fratris sui nominibus de laude et auctoritate Marie relicte dicti quondam Guilliermi de 

Cresta sell to Nycodus Voutey (but in the title, Vouteir, the names are equivalent) de Bussy the 

said tenement and all of the letters of sale mentioned above, as well as a letter of acquisition by 

the late Roletus Ressyere et dictus Nycodus Voutey for the price of 14 livres recorded by 

Johannes Sali notarius et burgensis Melduni and copied by Jacobus Monachi clericus et 

burgensis Melduni 25 jun and 10 aug 1490, and copied [die] Lune ante festum Sancti Andree 

1524, with further proceedings. 

 

[142v] 05 jul 1531, Rodulphus dou Russel de Chesalles filius quondam Vuilliermi dou Russel 

dicti loci de Chesalles sells to Petrus de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum, videlicet unum 

clausum continens unam bonam seytoratam clausi situm in fenagio de Chesalles loco dicto in 

Clauso de laz Combaz juxta terram Glaudii Mont ab oriente, viam publicam ab occidente, 

chousiatam commune terram Rodulphi Oliveur et Rodulphi Saloz a borea, et chouciatam 

commune a vento, for 100 florins, with further proceedings, as well as a marginal notation, 

“annullata est presens lictera et nunquam relevetur de ipsarum pacium voluntate quia facta est 

rehemptio datum die xxiia mensis Novembris anno domini mo vc trigesimo quarto”, with 

signature and paraphe of Michael Frossard, even though there are also marginal notations of 

“levata est” adjacent to both the main transaction and the additional proceeding. 

 

[143] {viiixxxii} 05 jul 1531 (datum ut supra), Glaudius Chappuys de Olens sells to 

Anthonius Visin sutor et burgensis Melduni. 

 

[143] {viiixxxii} 20 aug 1531, Colletus Marguet filius Glaudii Marguet de Dompnomartino 

has received from his wife Francesia filia Petri Anczonet de Rospraz nunc residentis apud 

Brenles, videlicet decem libras bone monete cursibilis in patria Vuaudi pro dote sua ipsius 

Francesie, with further proceedings. 

 

(Inserted here:  a sheet of paper written on one side, apparently the preliminary text for the above 

item:  Ego Colletus Marguet filius quondam Glaudii Marguet de Dompnomartino, notum facio 

universis presentibus et futuris, quod ego … me habuisse et realiter receipisse a Francesia 

dillecta uxore mea filia Petri Anzonet de Rospra nun residentis apud Branles…, but the 

document ends at the bottom of the sheet in the “confitens” section, just short of the logical end 

of the document, incomplete, no date.) 

 

[144] {viiixxxiii} 10 sep 1531, Stephanus Frachat (Fraschat) de Martherenges filius 

quondam Nycodi Fraschat burgensis Melduni sells to Humbertus Monachon de Martherenges. 

 

[144v] 09 oct 1531, quod cum Glaudius Gremoz de Vuarmarens sold to Hugo Huguet de Mont 

for 100 florins, and the said Hugo granted the right of reachept, recorded by Anthjonius Guillion 



26 nov 1522, and then the said Glaudius Gremoz received from the said Hugo Huguet an 

additional 10 scuti (each valued at 23 sols), recorded by Gabriel Peczardi, now the said Glaudius 

Gremoz makes a perpetual sale to the said Hugo Huguet of the said letter of reachept. 

 

[145] {viiixxxiiii} (In a very different, round hand not seen elsewhere in this register, very 

similar to a script found in some items in the notarial records of Rodulphus Demont, see below)  

Die Sabbati 08 nov 1533, Petrus Barbeyr mercator et burgensis Melduni, and Johannes deys 

Gerbolles lathomus morans Melduni, dispute regarding construction by the said Johannes that 

impinged on a wall of the house of the said Petrus (de et super certa lubea et latomis quas idem 

Johannes deys Gerbolles composuerat et preficere volebat in sponda muri domus ipsius Petri 

Barbeyr site Melduni loco dicto in Vico Castri a parte oriente), quod cedebat in grande dampnum 

et prejudicium ipsius Petri Barbeyr, ratione gravitatis et ponderis eiusdem lubee…, arbitration 

(but the arbiters are not named) and settlement.  The text appears to continue from the bottom of 

fol. [145v] to the top of the next folio, numbered Cxxvii (127), containing four lines of text, 

concluding with the date, with signature and paraphe of Michael Frossard.  (This dispute is 

illuminated in Monique Fontannaz, La Ville de Moudon (2006, Monuments d’art et d’histoire du 

canton de Vaud, VI), p. 310, with source notes on fol. 521:  concerning the house at rue du 

Château 13, “En 1531, Jean des Gerbolles, maçon et cabaretier, obtint d’établir des latrines sur la 

ruelle située derrière la maison de Jacques Wagnières, soit à l’arrière du no 11 239, ce qui entraîna 

les protestations du marchand Pierre Barbier, propriétaire de la cuisine située en dessous 240.”  

Sources:  239 DL 33/6 (register of Rodulphus Demont), fol. 152v, 27 aug 1531; 240 DL 43/6 (the 

present register of Michael Frossard) fol. 174 (the folio we designate as [145] {viiixxxiiii}, 08 

nov 1533.  Regarding the citation in the records of Rodulphus Demont, the transaction in 

question turns out to be in a very similar hand, a grant by Jacobus Vuanyerres barbitonsor et 

burgensis Melduni to Johannes deys Gerbolles to build latrines behind the house of the said 

Jacobus, and adjacent to the house of the said Johannes, not mentioning the house of Petrus 

Barbeyr.) 

 

(Inserted after fol. [145v], a sheet of paper written on both sides, script somewhat resembling 

that on fol. [145]:  27 aug 1532, Johannes Cordeyr et Petrus dou Fort de Capella Voudanna, debt 

to Discretus Ludovicus Constantin clericus et burgensis Lausanne, with further proceedings, each 

item with the small paraphe of Michael Frossard, and with his signature and paraphe after the 

last additional item.) 

 

 

DL 43/7: (Image group 009165392, image 5) 

 

(Artificial register, original title on the cover badly faded and mostly illegible, “… judicialia 

plura … “, and a later title in French indicating “1514 et suivant”, and a 19th or 20th Century title, 

“Registre des Actes judiciels de la Cour de Moudon”.  Acts in various hands, not in strict 

chronological order, modern pencil foliation only, those of Michael Frossard frequently very 

messy and faded.  Some of the paper was of poor quality, resulting in the ink bleeding through 

and rendering some passages illegible.  The dates are sometimes Style of the Nativity, sometimes 

Style of the Annunciation, often uncertain as to which calendar was in use.) 

 



(Many transaction dates shown below are uncertain, because the final date is often “quo supra”, 

referring to passages buried in the text such as “on the following Monday”, not easily found.  In 

view of the difficulty of deciphering the text and the frequent ambiguities, the most useful 

information in presenting the material proves to be the date of the initial claim and the names of 

the parties involved.) 

 

1 19 sep 1514, Georgius de Castro capellaunus rector capelle Sancti Petri fondate in 

ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Laurencii Martiris de Staviaco et eo nomine appoints as procurator 

Nobilis Jacobus Catellan domicellus Staviaci castellanus Melduni, with small paraphe of 

Michael Frossard but no signature. 

 

2 Sample document for recording a procuration, with blanks, etc., or gaps where pertinent 

information should be inserted, no date, no signature or paraphe. 

 

3 Another sample form, with gaps for elements of the date, for an agreement between 

Nobilis Johannes de Villarsel dominus de Deley and Anthonius Malliard burgensis 

Rotundimontis, appointment of the latter as procurator, no date, no signature or paraphe. 

 

4 28 aug 1515, Dominus Philibertus de Prato Romano (=de Praroman) canonicus ecclesie 

Lausanne rector capelle sub vocabulo Sancti Nicolay in ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Stephani 

Melduni Lausannensis diocesis fondate et dotate, concerning revocation of a general procuration 

for Venerabilis Domini Johannes Vuycherens curatus d’Attallens et _____ (long blank space) 

cappellanus Melduni ? , likely a copy, recorded by M. Barberii. 

 

(Fol. 4v is blank.) 

 

5 20 may 1515, recounting that on die Jovis festi Ascensionis Domini Nostri Jesu Christi 

hora decima de nocte vel circa Nycodus de Gazel burgensis Melduni obinaverit in carreria 

publica Melduni Nobili Bernardo Espaz burgensi Melduni associato de Stephano Clerc, Glaudio 

Degiez burgensibus Melduni et Glaudio Besson mercerio Melduni, cum quondam alio ignoto 

habentis inter dictum Nycodum et Bernardum certos verbos injuriosis fueritque idem Nycodus 

arciter verberatus per dictum Bernardum taliter quod ex dicto verbere credit et intendit mori, hinc 

est quod dictus Nycodus sanis mente licet valde debilis corpore ob amore et reverentiam 

passionis Domini Nostri Jesu Cristi necnon amore honorabilis consilii Melduni … (text is 

difficult to follow, but it appears he admits to the charge), no signature or paraphe. 

 

5v (This folio is blank, except for a rough list of notables at the bottom, plausibly a list of 

those present at some judicial or governmental session not specified.) 

 

6 Die Lune post festum Translacionis Sancti T… ? 09 jul 1515, Petrus de Bello Forti 

dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, coram Nobilis Jacobo Catellam domicello 

Staviaci, Dominus Jacobus de Staviaco states that his brother Philipus de Staviaco condominus 

dicti loci Staviaci has made to him a donation inter vivos, which he presents to the court, here 

copied into the record:  Philipus de Staviaco filius quondam Nobilis Glaudii de Staviaco, 

donation inter vivos to his brother Dominus Jacobus de Staviaco for his many kind services, 

videlicet omnia universa et singula bona mea…, and asking the ballif of Vaud and the officialis 



curie Lausanne to approve, recorded by Ludovicus Catellani et Johannes Glanna Staviaci notarii 

19 aug 1514, now approved by a list of notables at Moudon, with signature and paraphe of 

Michael Frossard, with further approvals from Lausanne, 01 dec 1514, recorded by Baptista de 

Aycardis and Johannes Gigniliatti, copy. 

 

8v 17 and 30 sep 1515, quod cum Franciscus Mallagnier de Gland ex una, et Urbanus de 

Compesio miles dominus Pringini et Michael Barbey alias Mistralis eiusdem domini militis 

castellanus, dispute, Urbanus claimed the estate of his late father Jacobus Mallanier, arbitration 

and settlement. 

 

10 Petrus de Belloforti dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, die Lune ante 

Dominicam de Occuli 1514, dispute involving Dominus Guilliermus Folliardi curatus de 

Syviriez and Aymonetus et Johannes Bastard alias dou Vernex, including transcript of claim on 

this matter before the castellanus of Rotondimontis as well as other transcribed documents, very 

long. 

 

13v Subject uncertain, no date, the title not completely legible, possibly relates to preceding 

or following item. 

 

14 Andreas de Bruello dominus Montisadrici ? castallanus Melduni, quod die Veneris post 

festum Sancti Hillarii 1506 Style of the “Inunciation”, Johannes Nycati clericus et burgensis 

Melduni made a claim against Jacobus Cornaz mercator et burgensis Melduni, apparently 

resulting from Nycati’s participation in an action between Jacobus and his father Stephanus 

Cornaz, a payment of 11 florins 10 sols payable to Nycati that had not yet been paid, judgement, 

possibly on the following Monday. 

 

16 Petrus de Belloforti dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, quod die Lune ante 

festum Translacionis Sancti Nycollay 1514, Venerabilis Dominus Nycollaus Gaschet curatus 

de Yvonant fecit clamam de Spectabili Magistro Domini Johanni de Alingio domino de Cudreaz, 

de Langin, et Sancti Martini Quercus, including transcript of letter to Johannes d’Alinge (in 

French):  Le gouverneur et ballif de Vuaud, Noble Jehan d’Aline seigneur de Cudreaz, de 

Langin, et de Sainct Martin du Chagnoz, Nous vous saluons.  Sçaches que Venerable home 

Domp Nycollas Gaschet curé de Yvonant se clame de vous es mains de nostre lieutenant, pour 

quoy à la clame et instance dudict Domp Nycolas vous citons et assignons, mandons citer et 

assigner par nostre message porteur de ces presentes par devant nous ou ledict nostre lieutenant à 

Moudon à ce Lundi prochant aprest feste Sainct Urban Pape à heure dehue et lieu acoustumé de 

plaidoier à faire raison à vous les parties et plus oultre procedir selon raison et coustume de pays; 

present en ladicte clame Françoys Destrier et Glaude Vouleri bourgeoys de Mondon, et à Dieu 

soyes.  Donné à Moudon soub le contre seault du baillivage de Vuaud le Lundi avant feste 

Translacion Sainct Nycolas mille vC et quatorze (1514).  Additional transcripts are included, 

revealing that nature of the claim:  quod cum decime novalium terrarum existientium in 

parrochia de Yvonant seu de dicta parrochia de Yvonant pertineant et fuit dicte parrochialis 

ecclesie Sancti Ursy seu rectori eiusdem nichilominus tamen prefatus dominus reus, per se aut 

alium vel alios conjunctim vel divisim eius nomine a quinque annis citra venerunt…  There 

follows a list of the specific properties, several of them lined out without an obvious explanation.  

Gaschet supplied a vidimus of a letter supporting his claim:  Nos Henricus de Ruppe prepositus 



et canonicus ecclesie cathedralis Lausanne ex una parte et Dompnus Petrus Grivat curatus 

ecclesie parrochialis de Yvonant ex alia parte, quod cum debatum et questionis materia 

verterentur inter nos…, with a judgement by the Bishop of Lausanne, declaring that “dictus 

curatus de Yvonant et sui successores in dicta ecclesia habeant et teneant et possideant perpetue 

omnes decimas novalium quascumque factoras in dicta parrochia de Yvonant a duodecim annis 

nuper lapsis citra et eciam ex nunc et imperpetuum”, this declaration recorded by Petrus 

Gallandat de Yvonant clericus dicte curie nostre Lausanne, dated 19 apr 1434.  Testimony from 

the present land holders who have been subject to the dîme was gathered.  At length, a settlement 

was reached and the proceedings terminated, in favor of Gaschet, but the explicit settlement 

itself, presumabloy in the form of a separate document, does not seem to appear here.  One loose 

document is inserted here, the actual summons to Jehan d'Alinge dated le Lundi avant feste 

Translacion Sainct Nycolas 1514 cited above.  The last date found in the proceedings (which are 

not very legible in places, with many changes and insertions) is die Lune post festum Sancti 

Galli, presumably still in 1514. 

 

34 La Dimanche avant feste Sainct Mathieu Appostre 1512, letter from the gouverneur et 

ballif de Vuaud, to Noble Michiel Musard seigneur de Vuycens, notifying of a claim against him 

by Antoyne Mesytre, Claude Contoz, Jehan Fabvre le devant netz, Jehan Favre le jeune, Pierre 

Piot, Girard Bersyn, Anthoenne Bersyn, Humbert Jenier, Anthoenne Foresteir, et Benoyt 

Grangier de Tierrens, nature of the claim uncertain and possibly not stated, very messy and not 

clearly legible, with statement on the back, fol. 34v, with signature and paraphe of Michael 

Frossard. 

 

34v Petrus de Belloforte, statement about an action involving Aymo de Combes locumtenens 

castellanie Nyviduni, safeconduct and security for his appearance in Moudon ?  Date uncertain. 

 

35 Die Lune post festum Sancti Bartholomei Appostoli 1512, Johannes de Staviaco dominus 

de Bussy et condominus de Mexieres gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, quod die Sabbati ante 

festum Penthecostes 1512, Glaudius Roz antenatus dou Chastellard made a claim against his 

uncle Johannes Rocz. 

 

37v 28 ? (die penultima) feb 1512, “salvagardia”, concerning property at Rolle apparently 

reserved for Nobilis Guilliermus de Alingio burgensis Rotuli, two items with signature and 

paraphe of Michael Frossard. 

 

38 Die Sabbati ante Dominicam de Occuli 1511, Johannes Guillion de Nerieux made a claim 

against Petrus Clerjat dicti loci de Nerieux, regarding terms of a marriage contract, specifically, 

unus par calligaris usque ad valorem unius scuti boni auri cugni regis Francie ad solem, 

concluded apparently die Sabbati post Dominicam de Judicame 1511. 

 

40 Die Sabbati post festum Beati Michaelis Archangelli 1512 Style of the Annunciation, 

Nobiles Petrus et Bernardus Espaz filii Nobilis Guilliermi Espaz made a claim against their 

father to receive their partage, for which they request 10,000 florins (originally written mille 

florenos, then altered to decem mille florenos), coccluded apparently die Jovis post festum Sancti 

Mauricii 1512. 

 



42v Die Sabbati post festum Sancti Galli 1512, Nycodus de Gazel burgensis Melduni made a 

claim against Jacobus Cornaz burgensis et vexilliferus Melduni, a debt. 

44 Die Lune ante festum Sanctorum Symonis et Jude Appostelorum 1512, record of dispute 

over the validity ? of a settlement ? recorded by Anthonius Guilliez, of whose registers Roletus 

Bondeti is the current custodian, between Jacobus de Chastonay dominus de Vuycens and the 

citizens of Tierrens. 

 

44v Die Lune ante festum Sancti Galli 1512, involving Johannes de Canali de Ursy and 

others, and a brown horse. 

 

46 Die Sabbati ante festum Nativitatis Beate Marie Virginis 1512, Anthonius de Curia 

burgensis Melduni made a claim against Petrus Clot nunc residens de Vuilliens, debt. 

 

47v Die Mercuri ante festum Nativitatis Beate Marie Virginis 1512, Johannes Guilliez made a 

claim against Glaudius Margueron faber in the amount of 10 livres, dicens verum esse quod certa 

die nuper lapsa dictus reus [=Claudius Margueron] verberaverat eidem actori [=Johannes 

Guilliez] unum cabriolum taliter quod ex dicto verbere mortuus est… 

 

49 Die Jovis post festum Translacionis Sancti Nycollay 1512, Dompnus Jacobus Ponnaz 

presbiter rector cappelle Sancti Georgii fondate in ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Stephani de 

Melduno made a claim agains Nobilis Benedictus de Glana dominus de Cugiez, regarding a 

previous sale by Nobilis Maria Cerjat relicta Nobilis Jacobi de Glana tanquam tutrix et 

administratrix liberorum suorum et prefati Nobilis Jacobi de Glana sold to Venerabilis Dominus 

Jacobus Ponne cappellanus rector cappelle predicte Sancti Georgiii Martiris in ecclesia Sancti 

Stephani de Melduno fondate… 

 

53v Die Sabbati ante festum Sancti Andree Appostoli 1512, appointment of guardian for 

Franciscus, Humbertus, et Johannes filii et heredes quondam Anthonii Clot de Melduno, in 

minori etate et impuberis, requested by Agnes, relicta dicti quondam Anthonii Clot and mother of 

the children, Petrus Clot their uncle, and Johannes Detard husband of their aunt Anthonia, and 

certain others, and Humbertus Clot their uncle is appointed, with conditions of his guardianship. 

 

55 Die Jovis post festum Sancti Galli 1512, Petrus Clot de laz Fayt made a claim against 

Johannes Grivat and his wife Francesia for payment for a sale of property. 

 

57 Die Lune ante festum Sancti Clementis Pape 1512, Johannes Boveyt textor Melduni 

tanquam persona conjuncta Jaqueme uxoris sue against Glaudius Perdonet de Vuycherens.  

Jaquema is the daughter of Petrus Rachinier de Syens, and the sum of 12 livres from her father is 

her dowry for her previous marriage to Johannes Perdonet (Glaudius Perdonet is his uncle ?), 

citing a document from 1505. 

 

58v Die Sabbati post festum Sancti Galli 1512, Stephanus Cornaz burgensis Melduni made a 

claim against Glaudius Pollat, concerns a sacculus of money, both gold and silver, that was 

entrusted to Glaudius and who promised not to give it to Jacobus, son of Stephanus, or possibly 

not, the parties disagreeing on the facts. 

 



61 15 dec 1513, (in French) dispute involving Pierre Callier mongnier de Cossonay and a 

judgement from the indefinite past requiring him to pay a certain cense, apparently retracted. 

62 Die Sabbati post festum Inventionis Sancti Stephani 1515, Guido de Tecto de Cabanis 

supra Meldunum made a claim against Nycodus et Petrus dou Russel alias Veyre (Veyrit) de 

dictis Cabanis, regarding a route by which Guido had accessed a certain field with his cart and 

animals through a certain path for 30 years or more (at least since the battle of Morat, according 

to one witness), which has now been blocked with stones, the dispute apparently ruled in favor of 

Guido. 

 

66 Die Sabbati ante festum Purifficacionis Beate Marie Virginis 1514, Nobilis Jacobus 

Cerjat dominus de Dinisiez made a claim against Glaudius de Gazel burgensis Melduni, stating 

that Humberta filia quondam Nobilis Nycodi de Illens domicelli Melduni uxor Nobilis Henrici 

de Praromant de Lausanna sold to Nobiles Jacobus et Johannes Cerjat de Melduno, videlicet 

quandam grangiam sitam extra portam Maliburgi… for 80 florins, recorded by Nycodus 

Monachi notarius et burgensis Melduni and then copied and signed by Discretus Rodulphus 

Decimatoris custodian of the registers of the late Nycodus Monachi 22 apr 1471, saying as well 

that the said Glaudius de Gazel, without just and reasonable cause, entered, holds, and possesses 

the said property, of which the claimaint should be entitled to half, as son and heir of the said late 

Johannes Cerjat, extensive proceedings, eventually resulting in a public sale.  (In this and other 

claims, the involvement of the defendant often seems to trace back to a “fidejussor” who 

obtained an interest in property by virtue of alleged default or non-payment by the purchaser.)  

On fol. 79, below, and with a marginal reference mark 𝙸, an item apparently belonging here, 

although the insertion point in the present item is not clear:  “Prenominatus Glaudius de Gazel 

reus dixit et proposuit quod virtute premissorum ipse veniabat liberandus… “, with various 

approvals.  Another, similar reference mark and a corresponding marginal notation are found on 

fol. 69, not related to the contents of the item on fol. 79.  Also, another reference mark, an 

ornamented I something like 
o
I

o
, occurs on fol. 70v, with a corresponding paragraph at the bottom 

of fol. 71 and continuing to the bottom of fol. 71v. 

 

72 Die Sabbati post festum Translacionis Sancti Nycollay 1515, Boniffacius Birderi clericus 

et burgensis Melduni veluti persona conjuncta et eo nomine Humberte filie quondam Petri filii 

quondam Jacobi Pini notarii et burgensis Melduni made a claim against Ludovicus Creaturaz 

antenatus burgensis Melduni, stating that Johannes Joliveti clericus Melduni natus et heres 

quondam Johannis Joliveti notarii et burgensis de Melduno, de laudibus et auctoritatibus Agnetis 

relicte predicti quondam Johannis Joliveti et Johannete uxoris sue dicti Johannis junioris, sold to 

Rodulphus Decimatoris clericus et burgensis Melduni a cense of 15 sols out of a total of 20 sols 

cense owed to the claimant Johannes [Joliveti junior] by the late Michael Creaturaz de Melduno 

and his wife Perrissona with various additional complications, recorded by Nycodus Escofferii 

clericus Melduni and later copied and signed by Jacobus Escofferii custodian of the registers of 

the said Nycodus, dated 06 apr 1476, and then the said Rodulphys Decimatoris clericus et 

burgensis Melduni sold the cense to the said Discretus Jacobus Pini notarius et burgensis 

Melduni, with additional complications (among others, involvement of Nycodus Creaturaz alias 

Michiel burgensis Melduni, son of the said Michael and Perrissona, thus explaining the origin of 

the alias). 

 

79 Apparently an insertion that belongs with the item on fol. 66, see above. 



 

79v Die Lune post Dominicam de Quasimodo 1515, regarding a debt owed to Luquinus de 

Pane burgensis et mercator Gebennis by Nycodus filius quondam Francisci Marmon burgensis 

Melduni recorded by the undersigned. 

 

(Fol. 81v is blank.) 

 

82 Die Lune ante festum Sancti Andree Appostoli 1514, Franciscus Suchet burgensis Viviaci 

made a claim against Johannes Lambellet for a debt. 

 

(Fol. 83v is blank.) 

 

84 Die Lune post Dominicam Bordarum 1514, regarding a claim by Johannes Boveir testor 

(=textor) Melduni against Michael Boveir de Carrojoz, citing various previous actions and 

documents. 

 

(Fols. 87 and 87v are blank.) 

 

88 “Actus Fiscalis”, Die Lune post festum Sancte Trinitatis 1511, Egregius Anthonius Boree 

(=Bise, Bize, etc. in French) procurator Vuaudi pro parte Illustrissimi Dominus Dominus Karoli 

dominus Sabaudie et eo nomine ad denunciacionem honesti viri Girardi Girgaz suo et Nycolay 

eius filii nominibus, necnon predictus Girardus Girgaz et Nycolaus eius filius tam conjunctim 

quam divisim virtute cuiusdam mandamenti prefati illustrisimi domini domini nostri ad 

supplicacionem et instancium predicti Girardi Girgaz factum cum predicto Anthonio Boree 

egregio procuratore Vuaudi, quorum supplicacionis et mandati tenor sequitur et est talis:  

Illustrisime princeps, humiliter exponitur parte honesti viri Girardi Gergaz de Cuarnens 

habitatoris de Cossonay patrie vostre Vuaudi, quod Nycolaus eius filius contraxit matrimonium 

cum Johanneta filia quondam Johannis Moctet de Moyriez, cui constituit eius bana in dotam, que 

Johanneta est penes nobilem et potentem dominam duageriam de laz Sarra que illam detinet et 

illa de causa habet in maximum odium supplicantem licet non sit homo suus nec censerius des 

solum jurisdiciarius racione domus et hec in tantum quod non andet manere in eius domo in qua 

facit ipsum assignare per eius officiarios et alios et criminaliter et civiliter acque peraliter, et 

querit eundem tantum fatigari quod predictum matrimonium destravatur dicta Johanneta volens 

morari cum eius viro… this supplication dated at Geneva 14 may 1511, with other documents 

and proceedings in French and Latin.  Proceedings continued below, fol. 93v. 

 

93 12 jul 1515, Petrus Joliveti clericus et burgensis Melduni filius quondam Johannis 

Joliveti clerici et burgensis Melduni owes Rodulphus Decimatoris clericus et burgensis Melduni, 

as a result of a judgement. 

 

93v Die Mercuri post festum Sancti Andree Apostoli 1514, further proceedings in the matter 

of the marriage of Nycolaus Girgaz and Johanneta Moctet, see above, fol. 88. 

 

96 05 and 22 mar 1505, “copia compromissa”, dispute, Glaudius Vuanyerez de Bussy actor 

ex una, et Johannes Sarron ? et Johannes Vouteir de Bussy rei ex altera.  Glaudius had made a 



criminal complaint against Sarron and Vouteir for a beating he sustained, and for which they 

were incarcerated in the tower of Moudon, arbitration and settlement. 

(Fols. 99 and 99v are blank.) 

 

100 16 sep and 13 nov 1504, “copia instrumenti”, Stephanus Cornaz mercator et burgensis 

Melduni, and Jacobus Cornaz eiusdem Stephani filius mercator et burgensis Melduni, dispute, 

Jacobus requesting a partage, arbitration and settlement, copy of document recorded by Johannes 

Nycati. 

 

(Fol. 107v is blank.) 

 

108 05 oct 1511 and 13 nov 1500 Style of the Nativity, “copia compromissi”, Nobilis 

Nantermetus Tissotti (Tissocti) civem Gebennarum, and Jenonus ? (perhaps Jeronimus, but at 

least once with only enough strokes for Jenonus, nominative case, and Jenono, dative case) 

Varamberti (mercator, pelliparius), dispute regarding the dowry of Noblis Maria, wife of the said 

Vuaramberti, sister of the said Tissocti, two separate items. 

 

(Fols. 111 and 111v are blank.) 

 

112 02 nov 1512, Henricus Noblet alias Vuilliard locumtenens castellanie de Bayoes 

(=Bavois) parte ex una, et Johannodus Mymard alias Vincent dicti loci, the said Johannodus 

makes a claim against the said Henricus, property rights. 

 

114 Die festi Sancti Petri in Cathedra 1510, a claim is made ad instanciam Petri de Tecto 

junioris de Cabanis supra Meldunum filii quondam Nycodi de Tecto, against Johannes Coschard 

de Billens for all his property in the district of Moudon, and also Die Sabbati post festum 

Translacionis Sancti Nycholai 1512, Petrus de Tecto de dictis Cabanis supra Meldunum made a 

cloim against the said Johannes Coschard based on the previous claim, saying that Anthonius 

Coschard de Billens, contutor Francesie filie quondam Petri de Costel, recognized a debt of 17 

livres that he, Anthonius, owed to Francesia, recorded by Johannes Sali and copied and signed by 

Jacobus Monachi custodian of his registers, dated 29 mar 1484, and then Nycodus de Tecto de 

Cabanis supra Meldunum tam nomine suo proprio quam tutorio nomine Francesie filie quondam 

Petri de Costel junioris de dictis Cabanis uxor Johannis de Mont sutor et burgensis Melduni parte 

ex una, et dicta Francesia filia predicti quondam Petri de Costel junioris de dictis Cabanis de 

laude, consensu, consillio, et auctoritate predicti Johannis de Mont viri sui made an agreement, a 

quitclaim by the said Francesia to the said Nycodus, videlicet, omnia universa et singula debitat 

pro semel, recorded by Johannes Crespy 25 oct 1495, and also that the said Anthonius had 

recognized another debt of 9 florins to the said Nycodus de Tecto, recorded by Discretus 

Rodulphus Decimatoris clericus et burgensis Melduni 02 sep 1497, which he asks to be repaid by 

the said Johannes Coschard.  At length, Johannes Coschard produced a quitclaim by the said 

Nycodus de Tecto de Cabanis supra Meldunum tam nomine suo proprio quam tutorio nomine 

Francesie filie quondam Petri Costel uxoris Johannis de Mont burgensis Melduni to Anthonius 

Coschard de Billens prope Rodundimontis de hec totum quod sibi teneri posset a toto tempore 

preterito, et hoc pro bona et legitima satisfacione, recorded by Petrimandus Joffrey de 

Rotundimontis clericus and copied and signed by Johannes Deriard clericus Rotundimontis 

custodian of his prothocols, dated 24 feb 1500, and thus apparently resolved in favor of the said 



Johannes Coschard, final date die Sabbati post festum Sanctorum Symonis et Jude Appostelorum 

1512. 

121 Die Lune post festum Sancti Martini Yemalis 1512, request by Nobiles Bernardus et 

Guido Cerjat fratres filii quondam Nobilis Ludovici Cerjat domini Combremondi Parvi, quod 

ipse Nobiles Bernardus et Guido fratres intendebant ire ad scolas et servicia, saying that there 

should be a rector appointed to deal with their affairs in Moudon, and so their brother Petrus 

Cerjat dominus Combremondi Parvi maioris etatis will serve in that capacity, approved by 

various notables present, listing the many conditions and obligations of this appointment.  The 

text does not say that Bernardus and Guido are minors, and they were old enough to swear an 

oath in the hands of the locumtenens. 

 

122v Die Lune post festum Translacionis Sancti Martini 1512, Petrus Clerjat residens apud 

Nerioux made a claim against Johannis Guillion dicti loci Nerioux, saying that Frater Phillipus 

Petrodi cappellanus ordinis Sancti Johannis Jherusalem rector et eo nomine cappelle et hospitalis 

Sancti Johannis Jherusalem fondate in villa Melduni made an accensation to Petrus Clerjat 

monrans apud Nerioux for a tenement and heritage that was formerly held by Anthonius Feney ? 

subject to the said hospital, recorded by Rodulphus Joliveti clericus et burgensis Melduni 15 jul 

1509, and further, the said rector made another accensation to the said Petrus Clerjat and Colletus 

Boschard morantes apud Nerioux, recorded by Johannes Luysii 14 jul 1510. 

 

129v Die Jovis post festum Sancti Andree Appostoli 1512, Octhonynus Loup de Mommagnyel, 

claiming that die Lune ante festum Sancti Andree Appostoli before the castellanus Cudriffini or 

his locumtenens, an action was heard ? between the said Octhoninus and Petrus de Bellaripa alias 

Bron de Mommagniel, with detailed history of actions and appeals. 

 

131v Le Lundi avant feste Sainct Andrée 1513, (in French) letter to the gouverneur et ballif de 

Vuaud, from Magniffique Aymé baron de Viry et nobles _____ (long blank space) vostre filz 

seigneurs de Coppet et de Roloz, nous vous saluons.  Saches que Noble Michiel Musard seigneur 

de Vuycens vous a demandé et alegué en guerant l’ung et l’aultre conjointement et divisemant et 

chacun du tous, en une cause pendant par devant nous ou nostre lieutenant à Moudon entre 

proveable homme Anthoenne de laz Court bourgoys de Moudon acteur d’une part, et ledit Noble 

Michiel Musard réé d’aultre part, pour quoy à laz clame et instance dudict Noble Michiel vous 

citons et assignons, mandons citer et assigner par devant nous ou ledict nostre leiutenant à 

Moudon à cest Lundi prochant avant feste Sancti Thomas Appostre… 

 

132 Die Lune post Dominicam Occuli 1512, Jacobus Challet de Hermenges made a claim 

against Jacobus Porchet de Melduno, saying that the said Porchet had custody of certain hams ? 

(or pigs ? – porcorum) for the community of Hermenges, including “unum dimidium porcum” of 

the claimant, which was lost, and so he requests payment for the value of the item.  The 

defendant did not contest the facts, and the claim against him was eventually dismissed die Lune 

post Dominicam de Lectare, through the participation of many notables and citizens in several 

court sessions during that period. 

 

135 19 mar 1512, “salvagardia unius conventus et religiosorum eiusdem ac famulie et 

servitorum ipsius”, die et anno subscriptis locum nostrum tenens exposuetur Venerabilis Frater 

Michael de Turre in sacra theologia doctor, prior et eo nomine conventus Beate Katherine 



Virginis de Joreto, nomine tocius dicti conventus et religiosorum eiusdem, quod ipse dubitat per 

nonnullos eius emulos molestari, verberari, per operibus facti in corporibus et bonis causantibus 

quam plurimus mimi ac eciam operibus facti per dictos eorum emolos de facto factis in eorum 

personis et bonis et maxime in eorum clauso situato in Joreto penes conventum ipsorum 

predictum et intinere publico tendente Lausanne et rueto de laz Perreyre que est ab oriente, et 

prout infra limites suos jacet ibidem appositos, et quia ipsi supplicantes contra predictos emulos 

minime resistere possent, requesting protection etc.  The sense of this item depends on the 

meaning of “emulos”, which could mean either “rivals” or “imitators”, the latter in the sense 

possibly of lay persons affiliated with the convent in some way.  Also uncertain is the sense of 

dubitat, which might mean that the prior denies (questions) the abuse, but seems more likely to 

mean something like deplore.  Further, the first verb, written exposuet…, followed by two 

indistinctly altered letters and an abbreviation mark that might also have been altered or even 

lined out, does not match the standard conjugation of expono.  It might be an attempt at exposuit 

(indicative active perfect), or exposuerat (indicative active pluperfect), or, if the possibly 

ambiguous locum nostrum tenens should in fact be read as locum nostrum tenenti (dative, the 

last part is written tenen, with an indistinct general abbreviation sign that does not signify a 

particular grammatical case), an entirely incorrect attempt at exponitur (indicative passive 

present).  Toward the end of this item, there appears to be a prohibition against harming the 

priory, the religious, as well as their servants and property, but here again, the terminology is 

problematic:  nec in dictos priore et religiosis eorum familiam servitores et bona quovismodo 

actempleret seu actentare … ? nec in clauso intrare depasquorum ? facere nec … ? in suis clausi 

destruere. 

 

136 Die Lune ante festum Sancti Laurencii 1515, Johannes Grivat habitator de Melduno 

veluti persona conjuncta et eo nomine Francesie filie quondam Jacobi Pini notarii et burgensis 

Melduni made a claim against Boniffacius Brideri burgensis, saying that he, Johannes Grivat de 

Orba conjunctorio nomine Francesie uxoris sue ex una, and Boniffacius Brideri conjunctorio 

nomine Humberte uxoris sue filie quondam Petri Pini filii quondam Jacobi Pini ex altera, sought 

a partage, with arbitation, recorded by Johannes Sali 17 and 23 aug 1495, citing later 

transactions, further proceedings.  In light of the lengthy proceedings involving these parties in 

1511-1512 (see below, fol. 242v), further study of this item might be undertaken. 

 

140 Die Veneris post festum Translacionis Sancti Martini 1515, citation against Stephanus 

Cornaz alias Cheres burgensis Melduni seu Glaudius Cornaz filius Jacobi Cornaz filii predicti 

Stephani, debt to Michael Frossard, and another similar transaction (fol. 142) dated 11 aug 1515. 

 

144v 28 apr 1517, quod cum Girardus Bergiez de Turri Treme repertus fuerit in villagio de 

Menyres gerendo super se duas vestes muliorum… (other items) quas ceperat in villa Paterniaci 

fuerit que captus per officarios ipsius loci de Menyeres super casu criminus latrocinii, deinde 

ruerit remissus Nobili Ludovico Ponnelli castellano de Suprapetra qui eundm Girardum ad 

carceres illustrissimi domini nostri ducis etc., in castro de Suprapetra incarceravit fueritque idem 

Girardum inquisitus per dictum castellanum factis sibi tribus moncioniez more consuetudinis 

recognoverit suumque processum fecerit cuisquidem procexxum tenor sequitur et est talis etc., 

Per quandquidem regiquinam ? veniebat stranglari debere et ? in furchis more dicte consuetudine 

suspendiri, Hinc est quod nos gubernator et ballivus prefatis virtute petantis ? nobis per 

illustrissimum dominum dominum nostrum ducem Sabandie etc., artigute ad requestam et 



supplicaciam ? illustris domini commitis Gruerie Spectabilis Petri Faulcon milites advocati 

Friburgi ac quam plurimorum consiliariorum consilli ville Melduni necnon supplicacoini Cristini 

Bergiez de Turri Trema, Glaudii Bergiez de Bulloz, Anthoni Boryn de Vauru, et Petri Chynaud de 

dicta Turri parentes et consanguinei eundem ? Girardo detento indulgemus et graciam facimus 

eundemque de gracia speciali a dictis carceribus ac de dictis male perpetratis et feratis ? 

licensiamus mandando per presentes dicto Nobili Ludovico Ponnelli castellano prefato that the 

said Girardus be set at liberty, his relatives apparently pledging that he will stay out of trouble. 

 

(Fols. 146-147v are blank.) 

 

148 29 oct 1512, Nobilis Guilliermus Espaz burgensis Melduni gives guarantees for a 

judgement of contempt obtained against him by his sons. 

 

149 20 dec 1512, Nobilis Hugueta de Sancto Triverio relicta Magniffici Domini Bartholomei 

de Serrata domini et baronis ipsius Serrate parte ex una, ac Anthonius Favey burgensis de 

Cossonay ex alia parte, prefata domina Serrate dixit eidem Anthonio Favey et vulgariter 

proposuit hec verba au in effectu similia, “Favey, vous m’aves fayt citer par devant Monseiur le 

gouverneur et ballif de Vaud affermant que je vous ait dit quelque injure.  Je vous dit en la 

presence de toutes ces gens de biens que sont icy que je ne sçait en vous que tous biens et vous 

tient par homme de bien et de cellà prequies en lectre testimoniale, laquelle je commande”, de 

quibus premissis omnibus dictus Anthonius Favey petiit et requisiit per me notarium et juratum 

subscriptum sibi fieri et concedi licteram testimonialem, quam ex meo tabellionatus officio 

concessi actum ubi supra presentibus Spectabili viro Johanne de Staviaco domino de Bussy et 

condomino de Mexieres gubernator et ballivo Vuaudi ac Nobilibus viris Johanne de Villarsel 

domino de Deley, Petro Cerjat domino Combremondi, Jacobo Cactellan castellano Melduni, 

Guilliermo Villard, ac providis viris Rodulpho Decimatoris, Jacobo de Bulo, Petro Quoman ? , 

Rodulpho Joliveti, Petro Bonihominis, Boniffacio Brideri, Bernardo de Curia, actum Melduni in 

domo prefati domini gubernatoris et ballivi Vaudi in aula anteriori, with signature and paraphe of 

Michael Frossard. 

 

149v 07 oct 1511, guardianship, Stephanus Cornaz burgensis Melduni, Ysabella relicta 

quondam Claudii Clavoz burgensis Melduni, Petrus Berthod burgensis Melduni, consanguinei 

parentesque et affines Henrici filii dicti quondam Claudii Clavoz et dicte Ysabelle pupilli et in 

minori etate existentis, requesting that a guardian be appointed for the said Henricus, 

appointment of Ludovicus Savateroz and Petrus Berthod. 

 

151 Nycodus Michit (=Michel) alias Creaturaz burgensis Melduni, quod cum Petrus Ensis 

tanquam gubernator ville et communitatis Melduni michi dicto Nycodo dederit nomine spacio 

unius anni … videlicet marcellum Melduni, with conditions and obligations. 

 

152 Die Lune ante festum Sancti Laurencii 1514, complaint by citizens of Tierrens against 

Johannes Vijat castellanus seu officiarius de Vuicens, who beat Humbertus Meystre of Tierrens, 

with letter from Petrus de Belloforti dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi to Nobilis 

Michael Musard dominus de Vuicens regarding this complaint, die Veneris ante festum Beate 

Marie Magdalenes 1514, with a further subscription on the back dated die Lune post festum 



Beate Marie Magdalenes 1514 (anno quo retro), followed a similar letter to Johannes Vijat, dated 

die Lune ante festum Sancti Laurencii 1514. 

 

(Fol. 155v, which is blank, appears to be followed by fol. 157, but this appears to be an artefact 

in the production of the original microfilm.  It appears from the visible edges of the pages that 

fols. 155v-156 are blank and were not photographed.) 

 

157 Die Lune post Dominicam de Quasimodo 24 apr 1514, Maria relicta quondam Francisci 

Marmon alias Burlet appothecarii burgensis Melduni, in recognition of the many kind services 

rendered by Franciscus de Bulo notarius et burgensis, donation inter vivos of all her estate, 

approval by long list of notables. 

 

158 Die Jovis post festum Assumptionis Beate Marie Virginis 1514, Humbetus Meystre and 

Petrus Boudyn sindici et gubernatores villagii et communitatis de Tierrens, reconfirmation of the 

judgement they obtained against Johannes Vijat, see above fol. 152. 

 

160v (no date, only “die Lune…” at the bottom), Anthonius de Curia burgensis Melduni filius 

quondam Anthonii (but should this be Glaudii ? – see below) de Curia burgensis Melduni made a 

claim against Rodulphus Joliveti clericus et burgensis Melduni as custodian of the registers of his 

father the late Johannes Joliveti who was in turn custodian of the registers of the late Henricus de 

Sarandens, regarding a letter produced in court by the said Anthonius, of a donation by the late 

Anthonia filia quondam Nobilis Jaqueti de _____ (blank space) de Melduno relicta quondam 

Petri de Gallera de Ligneroules domicelli to the said late Glaudius de Curia, recorded by the said 

Henricus de Sarandens 06 nov 1453, but this document is “perforated” (in the title), “lacerated”, 

and otherwise damaged, and from its appearance not reliable, and the said Rodulphus Joliveti is 

required to make a new copy from the original registers. 

 

161v Die Jovis ante festum Beate Marie Magdalenes 1514, Francesia uxor Johannis Grivat 

burgensis de Orba with approval of her husband makes a claim against Boniffacius Brideri 

clericus et burgensis Melduni, that in a previous settlements of these parties, Brideri was required 

to pay a cense on the dîme dou Plan, recorded by Johannes Gaule notarius et burgensis Melduni 

29 and 30 dec 1513. 

 

165v Die Lune ante festum Sancti Clementis 1513, Oddo Perrusset de Balmis ordered to pay 

Discretus Johannes Mandrocti locumtenens castellanie Cletarum, Petrus dou Bos, and Petrus 

Olevey. 

 

166 Die Lune ante festum Sancti Clementis 1513, regarding revocation of a judgement 

against Franciscus de Bulo notarius et burgensus Melduni in favor of Nobilis Petrus Vuengier ? 

(could this be Berengier?) burgensis Lausanne, very messy. 

 

166v (date uncertain), proceedings relating to a dispute previously heard in loco Cleratrum 

before the locumtenens there, Johannes Mandroti, between Johannes Chevalleys subtus Rances 

and Oddo Perrusset de Balmis, see above, fol. 165v.  Followed by a letter (in French) to the ballif 

of Vaud from Jehan Mandrot lieutenant du chastellain deisdicts Clées concerning this dispute, 



apparently no date, but with the signature and paraphe of Johannes Mandroti, followed by further 

proceedings, the last dated die Lune ante festum Sancti Clementis Pape 20 nov 1513. 

 

(Fol. 173v is blank.) 

174 Die festi Omnium Sanctorum, apparently the verso of a previously folded page, Oddo 

Perrusset presented to me the preceding letters…, with signature and paraphe of Johannes 

Mandroti, likely referring to the documents that follow, including that on the other side of this 

page. 

 

174v Various documents or copies concerning the matter of Oddo Perrusset, see above. 

 

176v Die Sabbati post festum Euchariste Domini Nostri Jhesu Christi 1514, Venerabilis 

Dominus Johannes Vuycherens capellanus Melduni curatus de Actallens rector et eo nomine 

capelle Sancte Trinitatis fondate in ecclesia parrochiali Prothomartiris Sancti Stephani de 

Melduno made a claim against Guilliermus de Cresta burgensis Melduni, stating that quod cum 

Jacobus Vuallacrest filius quondam Johannis Vuallacrest burgensis de Melduno was constituted 

as heir in the testament of his late wife Ayma filia quondam Johannis Evrardi burgensis de 

Nyunduno Gebennensis diocesis, who made a bequest to the said capella, recorded by Jaquetus 

Malle et Johannes Bollion 05 jun 1442, and following the subsequent history of the censes down 

to the present, settlement. 

 

180 Die Lune post festum Epiphanie Domini Nostri Jhesu Christi 1514, dispute between 

Humbertus Bruschet burgensis Lausanne and Johannes Alaz also burgensis Lausanne, the said 

Alaz saying that on a certain day recently past, the said Bruschet made a criminal complaint 

against him, the reason for which he does not know, with further proceedings, suggesting 

vaguely some sort of assault, and in one passage, that he beat a woman so badly that she died, 

and other passages mentioning a slave (mancipius) he assaulted (acciderit) and who subsequently 

died. 

 

183 Die Veneris post festum Conceptionis Beate Marie Virginis 1514, Glaudius filius 

quondam Petri de Tecto de Cabanis supra Melduni, regarding a claim first made coram castellano 

Rote seu eius locumtenente agains Jacobus Meczacti et Johannes Fabri clerici Rote commissarii 

illustrissimi domini nostri Sabaudie, very messy, the nature of the dispute not clear. 

 

186 Die Lune post Dominicam de Reminiscere 1514, (a very difficult script, written with a 

wide quill), Stephanus Cornaz, too ill to manage his affairs, requests his grandson Glaudius son 

of Jacobus Cornaz to be his coadjutor. 

 

188 Die Mercuri post Dominicam Bordarum 1514, Petrus Jayet burgensis Melduni made a 

claim against Nycodus filius quondam Francisci Marmon, regarding a debt. 

 

189v Die Sabbati post Dominicam de Reminiscere 1514, quod cum Roletus Pictier de Bussy 

was require to pay for a horse purchased from Dominus Humbertus Creaturaz, now Creaturaz 

makes a claim against Roletus. 

 



190 Die Sabbati post Dominicam Bordarum 1514, (the very difficult script again) Petrus 

Flamen[t]z ? (the corner of the page is torn off) residens Melduni made a claim against Nycodus 

filius quondam Francisci Marmon alias Burlet ? , regarding a debt owed for the marriage of 

Jaquema, wife of the said Petrus and sister of the said Nycodus. 

 

192 Die Veneris post festum Inventionis Sancti Stephani 04 aug 1514, Claudius et Petrus 

Decrevo (=Decrevel) de Combremondo Magno burgenses Melduni made a claim against Guido 

Pidoux, Petrus Murisat, Jaquetus Reys, et Petrus Escueir de Combremondo Magno, dicentes 

verum esse… (no more text, incomplete). 

 

192 29 jan 1514 Style of the Annunciation, Franciscus filius Glaudii Chamoex (Chamoys) 

mercator et burgensis Gebennis sit in minori etate et impuber, his guardian Johannes Malliard 

antenatus of Geneva, unable to continue in this capacity ? , request appointment of a new 

guardian, appointment of Discretus Henricus Lamberti clericus de Aranthonis ?  

 

194v Die Lune post Dominidam Bordarum 1514 Style of the Annunciation, Jenonus 

Vuarambert burgensis Gebennis esse taliter in infirmitate constitutus tam causante eius senectute 

quam ecciam causam certis infirmitatibus tam intrincecis quam extrcincecis in eius corpore 

urgentibus, appointment of a coadjutor, Johannes Gaule notarius et burgensis Melduni. 

 

196 Die Lune post Dominicam Bordarum 1514 Style of the Annunciation, Nobilis et Potens 

Johannes de Blonay condominus ipsius loci de Blonays, de Carrojoz, et condominus Mexieres, 

exposing that Nobilis Georgius de Sarrata dominus de Bossonens et de Chessaulx Lausannensis 

diocesis filius quondam Spectabilis Glaudii de Sarrata made a donation to the said Nobilis 

Johannes cognatus suus, videlicet termille florenos, for the dowry of Mathia de Blonay his wife 

(i.e., the wife of Georgius!  Mathia was the daughter of Johannes de Blonay), recorded by 

Discreti Petrus Marchandi notarius Lausanne et Leodegarius Martine de Sancto Leodegario 

notarii curie decanatus Viviaci 30 sep 1505, reconfirmed by the said Georgius in a document 

recorded by Jacobus Martiniaci decanatus Viviaci 27 jan 1515 (possibly Style of the Nativity ?), 

transcribed in full (beginning at fol. 196v – and the situation is explained differently and more 

clearly in these documents, with many additional relationships), further proceedings. 

 

202 Die Sabbati ante festum Annunciacionis Beate Marie Virginis 1514, letter from Petrus de 

Belloforti dominus Boschi gubernator et ballivus Vuaudi, to the castellanus Sancti Martini 

Quelcus (=Quercus !), regarding Petrus filius Jaqueti Silvent ? de Quelcu (=Sancti Martini 

Quercus !) and his father, the script changes abruptly at the top of fol. 202v, the subject is 

uncertain. 

 

203 (no date found), (in French) le gouverneur et ballif de Vuaud, letter to Magniffique Amey 

de Viry baron et seigneur dudict lieu et seigneur de laz Perreyrit, et Noble Michiel de Viry 

Seigneur de Coppet et de Rolaz, nous vous saluons, sçaches que Discret homme Anthoenne Bize 

(=Boree in Latin) de Tretorens procureur fiscal et à celluy nom de nostre Tresreddoubtés 

Seigneurs au pays de Vuaud et à laz denunciacion de honeste homme Henry Lambert de 

Aranthon ? trieur ? substituy et à celluy nom de honeste filz Françoys Chamoys pupille borgoys 

de Geneve et aussi de honneste Jehan Cristin serviteur dudict pupille, c’est clamé de vous eys 

mains de nostre lieutenant sus une saulvegarde comment il asserment pour vostre serviteur et à 



vous nons rompre ? et aussi ledict Henri et Jehan pour leurs droict interests et dommage … (the 

text is badly faded in places, and the script is vague or even obscure). 

 

(Fol. 203v is blank.) 

 

204 08 jun 1528, dispute between Georgius Macqullyn de la Faye ex una parte, et Petrus 

filius Humberti Belaz de Cabanis supra Meldunum parte ex altera, they agree to arbitration, 

followed by well-spaced paragraphs describing successive meetings, 25 jun 1528, die Dominico 

post festum Sancti Bartholomei Appostoli 1528, unable to reach agreement, with signature and 

paraphe of A. Guillion, then in another hand, in French, a statement on this matter by Jaques 

Cerjat seigneur de Dynisie, 01 may 1539, with signature and paraphe of J. Luysii.  

 

(Fol. 205v is blank.) 

 

206 Die Lune ante festum Sancti Andree Appostoli 1512, Hugueta (Hugoneta, Huguete) de 

Sancto Triverio relicta quondam Magniffici Domini Bartholomei de Sarrata baronis et domini 

ipsius loci Sarrate presents various document from the court of Lausanne and from the duke of 

Savoie, appears to mention a claim by Nobilis Georgius nutriti sive bastardi Sarrate against the 

estate, including transcript in French of a “supplication” by Hugueta 17 nov 1512, settlement. 

 

210v Die Lune ante festum Sancti Andree Appostoli 1512, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes 

Vuycherens curatus de Actallens made a claim against Jacobus Cornaz alias Cheres vexillifer 

Melduni, regarding a debt. 

 

212v “copia tutele”, a model text for appointing guardians, but apparently in error, the 

“pupillus”, Henricus, and two guardians are in fact named in the text, Ludovicus Savateroz and 

Petrus Berthodi burgenses Melduni.  All the other specifics relating to the case, such as names, 

dates, places, are omitted or indicated as “talis”.  Also, the locumtenens is named, Jacobus 

Cactellan, and the notary, Johannes Nycati.  See above for the actual document from which this 

“copia” is derived, fol. 149v. 

 

214 28 jan 1512, ego Tacinotus ? (uncertain and altered script) Morel habitator Melduni, quod 

cum Nobilis Johannes de Staviaco dominus de Bussy condominus de Mexieres in consideration 

of many kind services, donation inter vivos to me, prenominatus Tamolo ? Morel servitor suo 

vita mei Tacinoti ? durante, videlicet two contiguous houses in carreria de la Bastia juxta domum 

Nobilium de Glana a borea, domum Johannes Gerbaz a vento, … now the said Tacinotus Morel 

quitclaims the said property back to Johannes de Staviaco. 

 

(The following items report actions before the castellanus de Lucens, Johannes Villarsel.) 

 

215 Die Sabbati ante festum Sancti Andree Appostoli 1512, Johannes Guilliez de Lucens and 

Petrus Tintoris, action regarding debt from marriage settlement, owed for the dowry of the wife 

of Johannes.  

 



216v Die Sabbati post festum Sancti Martini Yemalis 1512, Humbertus Frossard de Brenles 

made a claim against Jacobus Trossier de Lovatyn, saying that about 10 years ago Frossard sold 

a brown horse to the defendant and has still not been paid in full, settlement. 

 

219 Die Sabbati post festum Sancti Galli 1512, Mermetus dou Rier made a claim against 

Humbertus Frossard de Brenles, a debt for his labor. 

 

220v Die Sabbati post festum Sancti Galli 1512, Petrus Paccaud and Petrus Tintoris, for a debt. 

 

221v (no date, at Moudon, in French) letter from the ballif of Vuaud to the Chastellan de la 

Molleyrit ou vostre lieutenant, action against Pierre Gigoux l’enné, Pierre et Anthoenne Gigoux 

de Malbourget, for refusal to pay “gaiges”. 

 

222 Die Lune post festum Sancti Barnabe Apostoli 1513, ad instanciam Bernardi filii 

Boniffacii Brideri burgensis Melduni tanquam rector capelle Sancti Michaelis Archangelli in 

ecclesia parrochiali Sancti Prothomartiris Stephani fundate, payment is required from Francesia 

wife of Johannis Quinat burgensis Melduni, the script is very poorly legible, and the ink has bled 

through the paper. 

 

223 Die Lune post festum Beati Marie Magdalenes 1514, judgement in favor of Anthonius 

Challet contra Anthonium Mistralis. 

 

223v 18 feb 1514, “liberacio” Jacobi Gilliard de Mexieres, requested by Petrus and Glaudius 

Gilliard.  The script is extremely difficult and uncertain. 

 

224v Die Lune post Dominicam de Letare 1514, Anthonius Jayet de Hermenges, donation to 

his son Anthonius, judicial approval. 

 

226 Die Jovis post festum Penthecostes 1513, Glaudius Tilliet faber et burgensis Melduni, 

dispute with Johannes Bralliard faber Rote, script is extremely messy and also faded. 

 

228v 08 aug 1513, Venerabilis Dominus Johannes de Staviaco curatus Melduni supplicans et 

requirens vigore certarum bullarum per summum pontifficem sibi concessarum ac virtute 

certarum licterarum dominicalum per illustrissimum dominum nostrum ducem Sabaudie etc. 

ecciam sibi concessarum, Nobilem virum Jacobum Cactellan domicellum Staviaci castellanum 

Meldun tanquam gardianum per obitum quondam Venerabilis viri Domini Humberti Bertheri 

canonici Lausanne olim prioris seu commendataris prioratus Montispresbiteri eiusdem prioratus 

conventus ? eidem remicteret ecclesiam et domum dicti prioratus cum omnibus pertinenciis 

eiusdem. 

 

229 Die festi Translacionis Sancti Martini 1513, Francesia uxor Johannis Grivat de Melduno 

made a claim against Boniffacius Brideri burgensis Melduni, quod cum Jacobus Pini notarius et 

burgensis Melduni made a testament, with bequests to Phillipus filius quondam Petri Pini filii sui 

dicti Jacobi Pini, also to Francesia filia sua, various details, and also to Johannes Grivat husband 

of the said Francesia for 6 years to cultivate a certain property of 12 poses, that testament 

recorded by Jacobus de Bulo 11 mar 1491, et quod cum differencie et discordie forent … 



between Francesia and Boniffacius Brideri acting for this wife Humberta, daughter of Petrus Pini 

son of Jacobus, very long settlement, final date uncertain due to extremely messy script with 

insertions and alterations.  Another item that should be studied further. 

 

238v Die Lune post festum Sancti Barnabe Appostoli 1513, Glaudius dou Bruyt indendat ire ad 

aliquam peregrinacione extra patriam, and requests a “coadjutor” for his son Franciscus in 

minore etate existens, appointment of Thomas dou Bruyt uncle of the said Franciscus. 

 

240 Die Sabbati post festum Sancti Georgii Martiris 1513, Roletus Petyer de Bussy prope 

Meldunum made a claim agains Vuilliermus Servion dicti loci de Bussy, for a debt. 

 

241 Die Lune post festum Nativitatis Beati Johannis Baptiste 1513, Stephanus Cornaz made a 

claim against Johannes Martin alias de Agleran, for a debt. 

 

242v Die Lune ante festum Conversionis Sancti Pauli 1511 (Style of the Annunciation), 

Boniffacius Brideri tanquam persona conjuncta Humberte eius uxoris made a claim against 

Glaudius Grest de Bresonaz, to be heard die Sabbati ante dictum festum Conversionis Sancti 

Pauli 1511 (Style of the Annunciation), Brideri at that session presenting the following petition: 

 

(Margin:  Prima lictera)  Dicens verum esse quod cum Jacobus Pini notarius et burgensis 

Melduni made a testament, naming as his universal heir Philippus son of the late Petrus son of 

the said Jacobus Pini, including provisions for the marriage settlement of Humberta, sister of the 

principal heir Philippus, and in the case that Philippus had died, substituting his (i.e., Jacob’s) 

daughter Francesia and the said Humberta (with additional details about the terms of the 

testament), recorded by Jacobus de Bulo 11 mar 1491;  

 

243 (Margin:  Secunda lictera et narretur ultima)  Dicens ulterius quod Petrus Grest de 

Bressonaz made a reconnaissance for the said Jacobus Pini notarius, for certain properties:  

videlicet res sequentes sitas et jacentes in territorio de Bressonaz et de Nardin,  

 

 Et primo, quatuor posas terre sitas loco dicto in Prato dicto Burnat ? juxta terram Girardi 

Millard a parte orientis, et pratum dicti Girardi a parte occidentis et venti, et pratum dicti Petri 

Grest a parte boree. 

 

 Item, ibidem duas falcatas prati sitas juxta prelimitatas quatuor posas terre a parte venti, 

et terram dicti Petri Grest recognoscentis et dicti Girardi Miliard a parte orientis et boree. 

 

 Item, unum morsellum prati situm subtus Bressonaz prope Grosse Lapidem a parte boree, 

et aquam Bressone a parte occidentis, et terram Girardi Milliard a parte orientis, prout in longum 

dicte res protenduntur et in latum, cum omnibus universis et singulis suis fondis, juribus, et 

pertinenciis earundem rerum et possessionum quibuscunque, et hoc videlicet sub annuo et 

perpetuoque censu tercium cuparum boni pulcri et receptibilis frumenti mensure Melduni annui 

et perpetue redditus census… , in quolibet festo Beati Martini Yemalis, recorded by Johannes 

Crespy 22 jan 1477;  

 



243v (Marginal notation:  Tercia lictera, compromissa et pronunciationis)  Dicens 

ulterius quod cum a dispute arose between these parties, resulting at length in a settlement 

recorded by Johannes Sali 17 and 23 aug 1495 (not very clear, possibly 1494);  

 

244v (Marginal notation:  Primum partagium)  Dicens ulterius that another dispute 

occurred between the same parties, resulting in a partage of specific properties described here, 

including among many others (fol. 245v) that went to Humberta, a cense of 6 sols owed by 

Petrus de Tecto, 34 sols owed by Petrus de Costel, an enormous number of properties and censes 

described very briefly, recorded by Johannes Sali 12 apr 1496;  

 

247 (Marginal notation:  Contractus matrimonii)  Dicens ulterius that a marriage 

contract was made between Boniffacius Brideri filius Anthonii Brideri clerici et burgensis 

Melduni and Humberta filia quondam Petri filii quondam Jacobi Pini notarii et burgensis 

Melduni, recorded by Jacobus de Bulo 13 jul 1495;  

 

247v (Marginal notation:  Ultimum partagium)  Dicens ulterius that another dispute 

arose between these parties, especially regarding debts owed to the estate of Jacobus, citing a 

number of letters of debts etc., and other assets, citing a document recorded by Johannes Luysii 

12 aug 1510;  

 

249 (Margin:  ☞  nota)  Et cum Petrus Grest de Bressonaz tanquam sciens etc., 

gueratur retro ubi dicit secunda lictera et narretur (referring to the marginal notation on fol. 243, 

above), Dicens et proponenens idem Boniffacius conjunctorio nomine Humberte uxoris sue quod 

dictus Glaudius Grest intravit, tenet, et possidet res, bona, et possessiones in dicta ultima lictera 

limitatas, que obligantur ad solvendum dictas tres cupas pulcri frumenti mensure Melduni 

census, de quibusquidem tribus cupis dicti frumenti census due partes devenerunt dicto actori 

quo supra nomine, seu dicte Humberte uxori sue tam virtute prenarrate lictere compromissa et 

pronunciacionis quam ? prime lictere partagiorum, et alia tercia cupa dicti frumenti dicte 

mensure census eidem Boniffacio conjuctorio nomine dicte Humberte seu dicte Humberte in 

partagium devenit et sibi pertinebat maxime virtute ultimi partagii manu predicti Johannis Luisii 

recepti, quarem petebat idem Boniffacius actor quo supra nomine predicto Glaudio Grest reo sibi 

solvi rectentas viginti quatuor annorum dicte tercie cupe frumenti mensure predicte census aut 

pro qualiter cupa sibi solvi viginti soidos Lausannensium bonorum necnon sibi recognosci 

debere dictam terciam cupam frumenti unacum regust quibus dicta tercia cupa debetur, et hoc 

pro principali ? et totidem pro dampnis, missionibus, et expensis jam factis de …… ; without 

stating the relationship of Petrus Grest from the past and Glaudius Grest in the present, the fact 

that Petrus had made a reconnaissance for these properties in 1477, had led in some way to 

Glaudius Grest being liable for certain censes, including a cense in arrears for 24 years. 

 

249v Upon conclusion of the presentation by Boniffacius of the above account, and 

having presented the documents to the court, the next proceeding, to include a presentation by 

Glaudius Grest and his counsellors, to be held die Sabbati post festum Conversionis Sancti 

Pauli [1511], at which time Glaudius then requested a continuance of 1 week,  

 

250 Die Sabbati post festum Purifficacionis Beate Marie Virginis [1511], parties 

requested a continuance for another week, reconvening die Sabbati ante festum Sancti Petri in 



Cathedra, at which time Glaudius added others on his behalf, including Johannes Grivat and his 

wife Francesia, requesting a continuance of another week, reconvening die Sabbati ante 

Dominicam Bordarum [1511], at which hearing the parties requested a continuance of another 

week, to reconvene die Sabbati post Dominicam Bordarum [1511], at which time they 

requested another continuance, to reconvene die Sabbati post Dominicam de Reminiscere 

[1511], continuing again to the die Sabbati post Dominicam de Occuli [1512], and delayed 

again until die Sabbati post Dominicam de Lectare [1512], and again until die Sabbati post 

Dominicam de Judicame [1512], and yet again until die Sabbati post Dominicam de 

Ramispalmarum [1512], and then until die Sabbati post Dominicam de Quasimodo [1512], 

and again until die Sabbati post festum Ascencionis Domini Nostri Jhesu Christi [1512], and 

again until die Sabbati ante festum Penthecostes [1512], and then until die Sabbati post 

festum Penthecostes [1512], and again until die Sabbati post fesutm Nativitatis Beate Marie 

Virginis [1512], and again until die Sabbati post festum Exaltacionis Sancte Crucis [1512], 

and then until die Sabbati post festum Sancti Galli [1512], and then another week, finally, to 

die Sabbati post festum Omnium Sanctorum [1512], which works out to November 6, 1512. 

 

At that session, die Sabbati post festum Omnium Sanctorum, dicta Francesia, rea guerens, 

respondens, dicit quod venit absolvendi a clama et peticione dicti actoris causis et racionibus 

sequentis: 

 

Primo, negabat totam peticionem dicti actoris in generali et speciali acque dampna, 

missiones, et expenses. 

 

Item, dicit quod lictera partagioum superius narrata et per actorem producta tantum 

faciebat pro dicta rea continere pro dicto actore maxime in tercia parte unius cupe frumenti 

census. 

 

Item, dicti quod lictera ultimi partagii est reciproca, ergo bene intelligenter quod acto 

debit facere contentum dicte lictere partagii, actento quod est reciproca, quod tamen non facit, 

dicens quod dicta cupa frumenti census debet sibi remanere virtute licterarum per actorem 

productorum, qua responcione per ream guerentem sit facta, actor replicavit et dixit quod dicte 

lictere sunt levate nomine et ad opus dicti actoris et predicte Humberte uxoris sue ut constat in 

pede ipsarum licterarum, quarem non faciunt nisi pro actore quo supra nomine tamen, et quod 

satis constat quod dicta cupa frumenti census sibi actori pertinet virtute ultime lictere partagii per 

quam licteram satis probato suam peticionem ? per ream negatam, acque replicat dicta rea quod 

in lictera ultima partagii specifficat unam partem et aliam non specifficata, quare est confusa, et 

dicto per actoris prout supra premissa posuerunt ipse partes in ire judicio et cognare curie si quod 

a dicta curia removerunt, quibus remotis fuit in ipsa curia concorditer cognitum et judicatum per 

providos viros Jacobum de Bulo, Nobilem Jacobum Cerjat, Petrum de Curia ? alias Quin, 

Stephanum Cornaz, Jacobum Cornaz, Rodulphi Bondeti, et plures alios fidedignes, mecum dicto 

castellano dicta die Sabbati ultimo dicta, in dicta curia sedentes cogniscentes, et judicentes quod 

lictera ultimo partagii non derogat lictere primi partagii et actento, quod contra in ipsa lictera 

primi partagii quod rea debet habere et sibi in parte et partagio devenit tercia partis omnium 

bonorum quodam Jacobi Pini, quod ego Castellanus prefatus eandem ream guerentis absolvi 

debebam a clama et peticio dicti actoris… , which apparently also relieved Glaudius Grest of any 

liability to the claimant.  While it might appear that the issues between the heirs of Jacobus Pini 



were thus settled for all time, there are several other later disputes between the same parties 

elsewhere in these registers that have yet to be studied in light of the above proceedings. 

 

252v Die Lune anter festum Sancti Andree Appostoli 1513, Boniffacius Brideri clericus et 

burgensis Melduni, emancipation of his son Bernardus. 

 

254 (no date, in French), testament of Jehan d’Estavaye seigneur de Bussy et de Mexieres 

gouverneur et baillif de Vuaud, universal heir his nephew Phillippe d’Estavayer seigneur dudict 

lieu d’Estavayer. 

 

254v Die Lune anter festum Penthecostes 1514, uncertain, concerns “licteras domincales”. 

 

255 31 may 1514, Johannes filius quondam Petri de Costel alias Bellaz de Cabanis supra 

Meldunum, quod cum Johannes de Costel alias Bellaz pater predicti Petri de Costel made a 

reconnaissance for Jacobus Pini, videlicet res et possessiones subscriptas et limictatas sitas et 

jacentes in territorio de Cabanis supra Meldunum,  

 

 Et primo, duas posas terre loco dicto en Plam de longitudine terre Petri dou Russel ac de 

longitudine terre Petri et Glaudii de Tecto que fuit quondam Jacobi de Tecto et mis dicti Johannis 

Bellaz a parte occidentis supra terram Francesie filie quondam Petri de Costel uxoris Johannis de 

Monte sutoris Melduni a parte boree, et affrontat marichio communi dicti loci de Cabanis a parte 

venti. 

 

 Item, ouz Grassy unam bonam posam terre de longitudine terre mis dicti Johannis de 

Costel que fuit Johannete uxoris Johannis de Sarvion domicelli a parte venti, affrontat iteneri 

publico tendenti a villa de Cabanis en Plan a parte occidentis, affrontat iteneri publico de Dorel a 

parte orientis, affrontatque terris plurium personarum a parte boree, et hoc sub censu annuo et 

perpetuo duarum cuparum medii frumenti mensure Melduni et trium solidorum Lausannensium 

bonorum census. 

 

256 27 jul 1514, Jacobus Catellan domicellus Staviaci castellanus Melduni, letter to 

Rodulphus Joliveti clericus et burgensis Melduni, saying that Glaudius and Petrus Decrevel de 

Combremondo Magno burgenses Melduni, their property being separated and divided… had 

made a complaint against Nobilis Jacobus Dedini tutor Nobilium Bernardi, Glaudii, et Jacobi de 

Adventhica and others, apparently involving some damage to property, contrary to the customs 

and laws of the Pays de Vaud…  

 

END. 

 

 

 


